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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY

DOCKET NO, 348

IN THE MATTER
OF PAUL X. TIVNAN

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement}) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Paul X. Tivnan (Mr. Tivnan) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On April 27, 1987, the Commission initiated a pre-
liminary inquiry into possible violations of the conflict of
interestlaw, G.L. c. 2684, involving Mr. Tivnan, a County
Commissioner in Worcester County. The Commission
concluded its inquiry and, on May 18, 1987, found rea-
sonable cause to believe that Mr. Tivnan violated G.L. c.
2684, §13.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Tivnan is an clected Worcester County
Commissioner and was a County Commissioner at all
times relevant to this proceeding. As a County Commis-
sioner, Mr. Tivnan is a county employee as that term is
defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(d).

2. Mr. Tivnan's son, Michael Tivnan, and Mr.
Tivnan's daughter, Maureen Anderson, are members of
Mr. Tivnan'simmediate family as defined in G.L. c. 268A,
§1(e). Michael Tivnan and Maureen Anderson are em-
ployees at the Worcester County House of Correction.

3. On January 6, 1987, Worcester County Sheriff-
elect John Flynn requested, in writing, a transfer of
approximately $18,000 from the Worcester County Re-
serve Account to the House of Correction budget to fund
certain promotional changes involved in Flynn's pro-
posed re-organization of the Jail and House of Correc-
tion. The approval of reserve fund transfers requires the
presence of three voting County Commissioners. After
approval by the County Commissioners, a request for
reserve fand transfer is sent to the Worcester County
Advisory Board for the approval of that Board.

4. TheSheriff-elect’srequestwassent to the County
Commissioners through the Worcester County Manager
and included a list of the promoticnal changes. The list
named seventeen individuals and included Michael
Tivnan (Michael) and Maureen Anderson (Maureen)
among those being promoted and set forth the respective
dollar amounts by which their annual salaries were being
increased (Michael - $506.75, Maureen - $519,93).
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5. OnJanuary15, 1987, the County Commissioners
voted to request the approval of the County Advisory
Board of a transfer of $17,754.30 from the Reserve Fund
to the Jail and House of Correction to be used to fund
salary increases for the promoted employees. Mr. Tivnan
was present, voted in favor of the request and signed the
request. The request form which Mr. Tivnan signed
referred to a copy of the Sheriff-elect’s request which was
attached to it.!/

6. On January 18, 1987, the Executive Committee
of the County Advisory Board voted to approve the
transfer request.

7. OnJanuary 28, 1987, Sheriff Flynn submitted to
the County Commissioners, pursuant to G.L. c. 35, §§48-
56, Notice of Intent to Filla Vacancy or to Establish a New
Position forms relating to the promotions and salary
increases of Michael and Maureen which were funded by
the January 15, 1987 vote. On February 4 and February
11, 1987, the County Commissioners respectively ap-
proved Michael's and Maureen’s promotions, by signing
the Notice of Intent forms relating to them. Mr. Tivnan
did not sign Michael’s or Maureen's Notice of Intent
forms, which were signed by the two other County Com-
missioners,

8. Onorbefore February4, 1987, there were media
reports concerning Mr, Tivnan's participation in the
January 15, 1987 vote of the County Commissioners.

9. OnFebruary9,1987, at Mr. Tivnan'srequest, the
attorney for the County called the Legal Division of the
Commission concerning Mr, Tivnan's participation in
the January 15, 1987 vote. The County’s attorney was
advised that Mr. Tivnan should self-report to the Com-
mission’s Enforcement Division in order to resolve the
matter.

10. On February 10, 1987, at the request of Mr.
Tivnan, the County’s attorney contacted the Comimis-
sion’s Enforcement Division and informed the division
that Mr. Tivnan intended to seek Commission review of
his role in the fanuary 15, 1987 vote. The County’s
attorney confirmed this information by letter dated Feb-
ruary 11, 1987.

11. OnFebruary10,1987,atameeting ofthe County
Commissioners, Mr. Tivnan informed the other two
County Commissioners of his intent to request a Com-
mission review of his participation in the January 15, 1987
vote and stated that he would leave the room if there was
to be any further discussion of that matter. At the same
meeting, while Mr. Tivnan was not present, the remain-
ing two County Commissioners voted to reconsider the
January 15, 1987 vote on February 17, 1987.

12. On February 17, 1987, Charles Hudson was ap-
pointed as acting County Commissioner because Mr.
Tivnan had disqualified himself, pursuant to G.L. c. 34,
§12.2/

13. At the County Commissioners’ meeting of Feb-
ruary 17, 1987, the January 15, 1987 vote was rescinded



and cancelled. Mr. Tivnan did not attend the meeting,
and Mr. Hudson participated as acting County Commis-
sioner.

14. AlsoattheFebruary 17,1987 meeting, the County
Commissioners, with Mr. Hudson as acting County
Commissioner, voted to approve the transfer request
after a presentation by Sheriff Flynn.

15. Mr.Tivnansubmittedaletter to the Commission
dated February 26, 1987 disclosing the relevant facts in
this matter and included copies of pertinent documents.

16. Exceptas permitted in thatsection, G.L. ¢. 268A,
§13 prohibits a county employee from participating as
such in a particular matter in which to his knowledge he,
or a member of his immediate family, has a financial
interest. None of the exceptions to §13 applies to this
matter,

17. The approval of the Reserve Fund transfer re-
quest to fund promotional changes on January 15, 1987
was a particular matter as that term is defined in G.L. c.
268A, §1(k). By voting on the transfer request, Mr,
Tivnan participated in a particular matter in which he
knew members of his immediate family had a financial
interest, thereby violating §13.

18. The Commission has found no evidence sug-
gesting that Mr. Tivnan intentionally violated the conflict
of interest law./

Based upon the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Mr. Tivnan:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount

of five hundred dollars ($500.00) as a civil pen-

alty for violating §13;

2. thatin the future he refrain from participat-

ing in any particular matter in which any mem-

ber of his immediate family has a financial inter-

est; and

3. that he waive all rights to contest the find-

ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and

conditions proposed under this Agreement in

this or any related administrative or judicial civil

proceedings in which the Commission is or may

be a party.

DATE: January 1, 1988

'/ Mr. Tivhan knew when he signed the request that it would affect the
organization and salary structure of the department in which his son and
daughter were employed, matters in which Mr, Tivnan was aware his
children had a financial interest.

*/Section 12 of G.L. c. 34 states in pertinent part:

In case of inability w attend, or interest in a question before the commis-
sioners, orifany partofa highway relative to which they are to act lies within
the town where a commissioner resides, the commissioners qualified to act
and the elerk of courts for the county shall appoint ane or more persons,
not residing in the same town as any commissioner, nor in the same town
with each ather, if more than one, 1o act as commissioners in place of those
absent or disqualified, until such absence or disqualification ceases.

*/Ignorance of the law is no defense to a violation of G.L. ¢. 268A. In
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the Matter of C, joseph Daoyle, 1980 SEC 11, 13 Secalso, Scolav Scola, 316
Mass. 1, 7 (1943)

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJjUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 352
IN THE MATTER
OF
ROBERT EGAN
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement {Agreement) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Robert Egan (Mr. Egan) pursuant to section 11
of the Commission’s Enforcement Procedures. This
Agreement constitutes a consented to final Commission
order enforceable in the Superior Court pursuant to G.L.
c. 268B, §4(j). '

On April 6, 1987, the Commission initiated a prelimi-
nary inquiry into possible violations of the conflict of
interest law, G.L. c. 2684, involving Mr. Egan, a former
Natick Zoning Board of Appeals member, The Commis-
sion concluded its inquiry and, on October 5, 1987,
found reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Egan violated
G.L.c.268A,8§17and 18. Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(c},
the Commission also authorized the initiation of an adju-
dicatory proceeding to determine whether there had
been a violation.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. The Selectmen of the Town of Natick appointed
Mr. Egan, an architect who had been employed by John
Sharratt Associates, Inc. (Sharratt Associates) for 16years,
to Natick’s Board of Zoning Appeals (ZBA) in 1978. Mr.
Egan served as a member of the ZBA and as its Chairman
until he resigned in 1985, He received no remuneration
for these services.

2. In July, 1984, the Zoning Board of Appeals
members were designated special municipal employees
by the Board of Selectmen.

3. Inorabout August, 1985, Baseball F actory Trust
(Trust) asked Sharratt Associates to produce architec-
tural drawings for the rehabilitation of an old baseball
factory located in the Town of Natick.

4. Mr. Egan expended approximately 40-50 hours
on the project before he left Sharratt Associates. He was
compensated for that work by Sharratt Associates as part
of his regular salary.

5. On October 28, 1985, Sharratt Associates filed a
Notice of Appeal with the ZBA on behalf of the Trust
from the decision of the Inspector of Buildings withhold-
ing a special permit that the Trust needed to construct



multi-family housing in the area where the baseball
factory was located. In order to be eligible for such a
permit, the ZBA would have to find that the Trust had
made adequate provision for off-street parking there,

6. Mr. Egan resigned his position with Sharratt
Associates on November 4, 1985, In order to compensate
Mr, Egan for the fees that they owed him, Sharratt
Associates asked Mr. Egan to assume responsibility for
the baseball factory job that he had been working on as
well as other jobs that Sharratt Associates was responsible
for,

7. . On November 6, 1985, Mr. Egan submitted a
letter to the Board of Selectmen, tendering his “resigna-
tion from the Zoning Board of Appeals, effective Novem-
ber 6, 1985." The Board of Selectmen voted to accept Mr.
Egan’s resignation on November 18, 1985. Mr. Egan's
resignation was effective asof November 18, 1985 and any
matters initiated with the ZBA prior to that time were the
subject of his responsibility.

8. Mr. Egan did not act as a member of Natick's
ZBA nor did he participate as a ZBA member in any
matter that was pending before the ZBA after November
6, 1985.

9. OnNovember 15, 1985, the ZBA held a hearing
upon the appeal filed by the Trust. The developers, their
attorney and Mr. Egan appeared before the ZBA and
presented plans and arguments in support of the appeal
that had been filed by the Trust. Mr. Egan presented and
explained the architectural plans and was compensated
for the appearance by the Trust.

10. On November 18, 1985, the Board of Selectmen
senta letter to Mr. Egan advising hirn that they had voted
to accept his resignation.

11. On November 20, 1985, Mr. Egan again ap-
peared before the ZBA and indicated that the Trust was
in the process of negotiating a lease for the property
across the street from the baseball factory that would
provide additional parking spaces for use by the develop-
ment. Mr. Egan further explained that the lease would
likely be for a two year period and that possible changes
in the existing retail uses of the building might negate the
need for these additional spaces in the future. On that
evening the ZBA made formal findings regarding the
special permit application and these were filed with the
town clerk on December 5, 1985.

12. On December 9, 1985, Mr. Egan entered into a
formal written contract with the developers which pro-
vided for hisarchitectural services on the baseball factory
project. Mr. Egan was compensated through this con-
tract for his appearances before the ZBA on November
13 and November 20, 1985.

18. Section 17(a) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a munici-
pal employee from, otherwise than as provided by law for
the proper discharge of official duties, directly or indi-
rectly receiving or requesting compensation from any-
one other than the town in any particular matter in which
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the town is a party or hasa direct and substantial interest.

14. Section 17(c} of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a munici-
pal employee from, otherwise than as provided by law for
the proper discharge of official duties, acting as agent for
anyone in connection with a particular matter in which
the town is a party or has a direct and substantial interest.

15, Section 17(a) and (c) apply to special municipal
employees, like Mr. Egan, “only in relation to a particular
matter (2} in which he has at any time participated as a
municipal employee, or (b) which is or within one year
has been the subject of his official responsibility ...”

16. By receiving compensation from the Trust in
relation to its appeal heard at the November 13, 1985
ZBA meeting and by acting as agent for the developersin
connection with said appeal at that meeting, Mr. Egan
violated Section 17(a) and Section 17(c), respectively.

17. Section 18(b} prohibits a former municipal em-
ployee, within one year after his last employment, from
appearing personally before an agency of the town as
agent for anyone other than the town in connection with
any particular matter in which the town hasa direct and
substantial interest and which was under his official
responsibility asa municipal employee at any time within
two years prior to the termination of his employment.

18. By acting as agent for the Trust before the ZBA
on November 20, 1985 (2 days after his resignation was
accepted by the Board of Selectmen} in connection with
the special permit application of the Trust, Mr. Egan
violated Section 18(b).

19. In view of the foregoing violations of G.L. c.
268A, §§17 and 18, the Commission has determined that
the public interest would be served by the disposition of
this matter without further enforcement proceedings on
the basis of the following terms agreed to by Mr. Egan:

1. That he pay to the Commission the amount

of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) as a civil

penalty for his alleged violation of G.L. c. 2684,

8817 and 18;

2. That he waive all rights to contest the find-

ings of fact and the terms and conditions pro-

posed under this Agreement in this or any re-
lated administrative or judicial civil proceeding

in which the Commission is a party.

DATE: February 10, 1988

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO., 327
IN THE MATTER
OF

CLARENCE D. RACE



Appearances: Marilyn Lyng O'Connell, Esq.
Stephen P. Fauteux, Esq. Counsel for
Petitioner
Alan |. Rilla, Esq.
John J. McQuade, Esq. Counsel for
Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Gargiulo, Jarvis
DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-
ings on March 13, 1987 by filing an Order to Show Cause
pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure, 930 CMR 1.01(5}(a). The Order alleged that
Clarence D. Race {Respondent) had violated G.L. c.
268A, §19'/on Novemnber 8, 1983 by requesting, by letter
and as Chairman of the Egremont Board of Selectmen,
that the Department of Environmental Quality Engineer
(DEQE) review a particular set of septic plans in which
the Respondentand hisimmediate family had a financial
interest.

The Respondent’s Answer raised a statute of limita-
tions defense and denied that Respondent personally
and substantially participated in a matter in which he
knew he or his family had a financial interest in violation
of §19.

In lieu of a hearing, the parties stipulated to the
relevant facts. The parties filed briefs and presented oral
arguments before the Commission on January 6, 1988. in
rendering the Decision and Order, the Commission has
considered the evidence and arguments of the parties.

. Findings of Fact

1. Respondentisa member of and chairman of the
Egremont Board of Selectmen and has been since 1981,

2. In 1980, Respondent formed Egremont Con-
tractors, Inc., a family owned business engaged primarily
in the construction of single family homes. At all times
relevant hereto, Respondent’s son, Thomas Race, has
been the president and chief operating officer of the
corporation. Also at all times relevant hereto, Respon-
dent, his wife, Thomas Race and one other son were the
sole owners of the corporation.

3. In September, 1980, Respondent, his wife and
two sons purchased a 5.8 acre parcel of land located on
Mt. Washington Road in Egremont for $8,000. The land
was purchased as a valid building lot with satisfactory per-
colation test.

4. In the fall of 1983, the Races agreed to sell the
Mt. Washington Road property to Lindsey Crawford for
$12,000. There was no formal purchase and sale agree-
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ment nor any other written agreement, although in the
fall of 1983 (and prior to November, 1983) Lindsey
Crawford gave Respondenta $1,000 deposit on the prop-

erty.

5. On October 31, 1983, aregistered engineer per-
formed a percolation test on the Mt. Washington Road
property and designed a septic system. The chairman of
the Egremont Board of Health reviewed the percolation
test results and system design and requested that the
president of the privately owned South Egremont Water
Company also review the test results and system design
because the property was within the watershed. The
water company president then requested an opinion
from the State Department of Environmental Quality
and Engineering (DEQE) as to whether this system
conformed to Title 5 of the State Sanitary Code.

6. OnNovember8, 1983, Respondent met with the
Chairman of the Egremont Board of Health at the Egre-
mont Town Hall. Also present were Thomas Race and
Mary Brazie, the Selectman’s secretary. A discussion
ensued concerning the request by the president of the
Egremont Water Company for an opinion from the
DEQE as to whether the system, as designed, complied
with the requirements of Title 5 of the State Sanitary
Code. It was decided that the request be made in writing
and that it be signed by Respondent, in his capacity as
Chairman of the Egremont Board of Selectmen, to elicit
a prompt reply.

7. In the letter to the DEQE, dated November 8,
1983, Respondent enclosed for its review the engineer's
plans for a septic system on the Mt. Washington Road
property which his family intended to sell to Lindsey
Crawford. Respondentinformed DEQE in thisletter that
atleast nine homes had been builtin the watershed area.
The letter included a post-script signed by the Chairman
of the Egremont Board of Health which indicated his
approval on behalf of the Board of Health of the system
design. DEQE responded to the November 8, 1983 letter
by letter dated November 18, 1983.

8. On December 2, 1983, Thomas Race, on behalf
of Egremont Contractors, Inc., applied for a permit to
construct a sewage disposal system on the Mt. Washing-
ton Road property. The permit was approved on Decem-
ber 15, 1983.2/

9. The sale of the property became final by deed
dated January 30, 1984. Respondent’s share of the profits
in the sale amounted to less than $1,000.

10. On February 10, 1984, Lindsey Crawford ap-
plied for and received a building permit, in which he
listed Egremont Contractors as the contractor. The esti-
mated cost of the construction was listed at $35,000.

11. Egremont Contractors, Inc. did not participate
in the construction of the house or the sewage disposal
system on the parcel purchased by Lindsey Crawford.

O
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I Decision

For the reasons stated below, the Commission con-
cludes that the Order to Show Cause wasissued inatimely
fashion and that Respondent violated G.L. c. 2684, §19.

A, Statute of Limitations
1. Sufficiency of Affidavits

The Commission has promulgated a regulation
concerning the assertion of a statute of limitations de-
fense. 930 CMR 1.02(10) (c). When a statute of limita-
tions defense has been asserted, Petitioner has the bur-
den of showing thata disinterested person learned of the
violation no more than three years before the order was
issued. Petitioner has submitted the affidavits of Ms.
Gallant, Mr. Roberto, and Mr. Krant to satisfy this bur-
den.

Respondent claims that District Attorney Roberto's
affidavit is legally deficient because it fails to explain
whether such a complaint has been received and fails to
speak with certain clarity. We decline to adopt a reading
of 930 CMR 1.02(c)(2) that would require District Attor-
ney Roberto to have left no stone unturned in his efforts
to determine if such a complaint had been filed. The
regulation atissue does notappear to have contemplated
any such requirement even when, as here, there are no
complaint files to search. District Attorney Roberto’s
assertion thatsuch acomplaintwould have been brought
to his attention and his lack of recoliection of such a
complaint, coupled with his consultation with present
and former staffwho similarlyhad no recollection of such
a complaint, is sufficient.

The second claim is related to the first. District
Auorney Roberto stated what efforts he made to ascer-
tain whether a complaint had been filed. His conclusion,
at each stage of his inquiry, was that no complaint had
been made. This also satisfies the requirements of 930
CMR 1.02(c)(2), as applied reasonably to the situation
where no complaint files are kept.

2. General Knowledge in the Community

930 CMR 1.02 (10}(d) (1) provides that if the Pet-
tioner meets his burden under 930 CMR 1.02(10) (c}, the
Respondent will prevail on his statute of limitations
defense only if he shows that more than the three (3)
years before the order wasissued the relevant eventswere
a matter of general knowledge in the community. Re-
spondent argues that the facts that four people were
present at the Selectmen’s office on November 8, 1983,
when the letter which is the subject of the Order to Show
Cause was signed, that a deed evidencing Respondent’s
(and his family’s) ownership interestin the subject prop-
erty was recorded at the Registry of Deeds, that a design
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for a sewage disposal system was prepared and percola-
tion test was conducted on the subject property by engi-
neer George Adote, that the water company president
received a copy of the November 8, 1983 letter and then
wrote a fecter to the Board of Selectmen and the Board of
Health (November 26, 1983), and that certain officers of
the water company may have been aware of that Novem-
ber 26 letter as well, all indicate that, in a town with a
population of approximately 1,300, the matter was of
general knowledge in the community.

Notall of the people listed above knew enough of the
relevant events to be described as members of the com-
munity who knew about the relevant events. Respondent,
for example, makes no claim that the selectmen (other
than Respondent) knew that Respondent’s family owned
the property which was a subject of dispute. The fact that
Respondent, as a Selectman, knew the relevant facts is
irrelevant. Nantucket v. Beinecke, 379 Mass. 345, 350
(where the court refused to attribute the knowledge of
the defendant municipal employees to the municipality
being wronged by their acts). Neither the letter of No-
vember 8, 1983 nor the letter of November 26, 1983 refers
to Respondent and his family's financial interest in the
subject property. Moreover, this crucial relevant fact was
notknown by those listed above. We conclude, therefore,
that the relevant facts were not a matter of general
knowledge in the community.

B. Substantive Violation

There is no dispute that as a member of the Egre-
mont Board of Selectmen, Respondent is a municipal
employee, as that term is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).
Section 19 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits him from participat-
ing as a municipal employee in a particular matter in
which, to his knowledge, he or his immediate family, has
a financial interest.

There is also no dispute that the November 8, 1983
request to DEQE to review the septic plans was a
particular matter as that term is defined in G.L. c. 268A,
§1(k). This definition includes a “request for a ruling or
other determination.”

Respondent argues that G.L. c. 2684, §1(j) requires
personal and substantial participation and that this re-
quirement was not met by the November 8, 1983 request
to DEQE. He contends that the letter wasa ministerial act
thatdid notdirectlyaffecta particular matterand that the
letter neutrally conveyed another’s request for review to
DEQE. Petitioner responds that Respondent bath re-
quested DEQE review and suggested the result which
DEQE should reach.

We conclude that Respondent’s sending of the letter
as Chairman of the Board of Selectmen amounted to
personal and substantial participation as defined in G.L.
c. 268A, §1(j). Respondent’s contention that his was a
ministerial act fails here because, aithough not every



action by a public official will satisfy the substantiality
requirement, In the Matter of John R. Hickey, 1983
Ethics Commission 158 at 159, this was more than a pro
forma act. “For purposes of §19, ‘participation’ is not
limited to discretionary and/or final decisions.” In the
Matter of George Najemy, 1984 Ethics Commission 223
at 224. The November 8, 1983 letter’s inclusion of infor-
mation about other, obviously acceptable, completed
septic plans in the area is clear evidence that this was not
merely a ministerial act by Respondent.

We conclude that the financial interests of Respon-
dent and his immediate family in the November 8, 1983
letter were both obvious and reasonably foreseeable.
Respondent knew of the agreement to sell the lot to Mr.
Crawford and of Mr. Crawford's intent to build 2 house
on the property. Respondent and his immediate family
had afinancial interestas owners of the parcel and as pro-
spective sellers of the parcel. '

IV. Sanction

The Commission may require a violator to pay a civil
penalty of not more than two thousand dollars for each
violation of G.L. c. 268A. G.L. c. 268B, §4(j) (3). Although
the potential maximum fine in this case is $2,000, we
believe that the imposition of the maximum fine is not
warranted. Thisviolation involved lessattempted and less
actual affect on a particular matter than is found in some
Commission precedent on §19 violations. See, In the
Matter of Paul A. Bernard, 1985 Ethics Commission 226
(viclation of §19 by member of planning board who
approved and signed a plan when he was also privately
acting as a real estate broker for the sale of the property
involved).

Respondent's personal profit from this particular
matter was less than $1,000. There was no large personal
stake here. His personal participation did not have a
determinative effect on DEQE's decision. His participa-
tion was an attempt to effect DEQE's decision on a
disputed matter, however. Respondent’s act was not
ministerial and not neutral. Therefore, a fine reflecting
these facts is appropriate.

V. Order

On the basis of the foregoing pursuant to its author-
ity under G.L. c. 268B, §4, the Commission orders Re-
spondent to pay two hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00)
to the Commission as a civil penalty for violation of G.L.
c. 2684, §19.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988

'/* ...a municipal employce who participates as such an emplayer in
a particular matter in which to his knowledge he, his immediate family or
partner, a business organization in which he is serving as officer, director,
trustee, partner or employee, or any person or organization with whom he

i

is negotiating or has anv arrangement concerning prospective employ-
ment has a financial interest, shall be punished by a line of not more than
three thousand dollars or by imprisonment for not more than two years, or
both.” G.L.c. 2684, §19.

*/When a statute of limitations defense has been asserted, the
Petitioner will have the burden of showing that a disinterested person
{earned of the violation no more than three {3) years before the order was
issued. The burden will be satisfied by: (1) an affidavit from the investigator
currently responsible for the case that the Enforcement Division’s com-
plaint files have been reviewed and no complaint relating 10 the violation
was received more than three {3) years before the order wasissued, and (2)
with respect to any violation of M.G.L. c. 268A othcr than 23, affidavits from
the Department of the Attorney General and the appropriate Office of the
District Attorney that, respectively, each office has reviewed its files and no
complaint relating to the violation was received more than three (8) years
before the order was issued, or {3) with respect to any violation of M.G.L.
c. 268, 23, an affidasit from respondent’s public agency that the agency has
reviewed its files and the agency was not aware of any complaint relating to
the violation more than three (3) years before the order was issued.

*/G.L. c. 2687, §1(X) defines “particular matier” as any judicial or
other proceeding, application, submission, request for a ruling or other de-
lermination, centract, claim, controversy, charge, arrest, decision, determi-
nation, finding, but excluding enactment of general legislation by the
general court and petitions of cities, towns, counties and disiricts for special
laws refated 10 their governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances
and praperty

1/Commissionera Basile and Jarvis concur with the conclusions of this
Decision and Order regarding the violation of 19 but believe that the pub-
licity of this finding, without a fine, is a sufficient sanction under these
circumsiances.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 330
IN THE MATTER
OF
MICHAEL RILEY

Appearances: Robert L. Levite, Esq.
Counsel for the Petitioner

Matthew E. Dwyer, Esq.
Counsel for the Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Gargiulo, Jarvis
DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History

Michael Riley (Respondent), has served since 1983 as
a full time custodian with the Boston Public Library and
alsoasa full time custodian for the Boston School Depart-
ment. On July 18, 1986, Respondent was sent a letter by
the Enforcement Division of the State Ethics Commis-
sion explaining G.L. c. 268A, §20 and itsapplication to his
employmentarrangement. The letter informed him that
§20 prohibits a municipal employee from having a finan-
cial interest in a contract with an agency of the same
municipality and that, as a School Department custo-
dian, he was a municipal employee who has a financial
interestin the compensation he receives as Library custo-



dian. He was directed to inform the Enforcement Divi-
sion within thirty days of his plans to resolve the matter.
Respondentadmitsthat hereceived thisletter butelected
not to resign from either position.

On February 23, 1987, the Commission voted to
initdate a preliminary inquiry into whether the Respon-
dent had violated §20. On that same date, the Commis-
sion also found reasonable cause to believe that a viola-
tion of §20 had occurred and authorized adjudicatory
proceedings.

On November 13, 1987, the parties submitted Stipu-
lation of Facts and Exhibits in lieu of a formal adjudica-
tory hearing, On January 5, 1988, the parties presented
oral argument before the full Commission. In rendering
this Decision and Order, the Commission has considered
the stipulations, evidence and arguments of the parties.

H. Findings of Fact

1. Respondent has been employed by the Boston
Public Library since july 9, 1976. On that date, Respon-
dentwas appointed provisionally to the position of custo-
dian by the Director of the Library. Respondent’s ap-
pointment was made pursuant to G.L. c. 31, §12, 13,
Respondentserved under his provisional appointmentat
the Library from July 9, 1976 to October 9, 1984.

2. On October 8, 1984, after Respondent’s success-
ful completion of an open, competitive examination ad-
ministered under G.L. c. 31, §16, Respondent was perma-
nently appointed to the position of custodian at the
library and has since served therein on a full-time, con-
tinuous basis.

3. On or about October 31, 1983, Respondent
successfully completed an open, competitive school cus-
todian examination pursuant to G.L. c. 31, §16, 18 .
Respondent was permanently appointed to the position
of junior building custodian within the Department of
Facilities Management of the Boston School Committee
on November 27, 1984, and has since served at the Lewis
Middie School in that capacity on a full-time, continuous
basis,

4. Respondent’s hours of employment at the Bos-
ton Public Library are from midnight to 8:00 a.m. His
hours of employment with the Boston School Depart-
ment are from 2:30 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.

5. As of the date of this decision, Respondent has
continued to hold both his position at the Library and his
position at the Lewis Middle School, receiving compen-
sation for each position.

6. Respondent was compensated for more than
500 hours work on each job in calendar year 1986.

IH. Discussion

Section 20 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits 2 municipal
employee from having a financial interest in a contract

made bya municipal agency of the same cityand in which
the city is an interested party. Respondent concedes that
he is a full-time salaried custodian of the Boston School
Department and, as such, isa municipal employee within
the meaning of §1(g). Respondent also concedes he has
a financial interest in his employment contract with the
Boston Public Library, a municipal agency of the same
City. Therefore, Respondent has violated and continues
to violate §20. In the Matter of Kenneth R. Strong, 1984
Ethics Commission 195; In the Matter of Paul T. Hickson,
1987 Ethics Commission 316; see also, In the Matter of
Henry M. Doherty, 1982 Ethics Commission 115.

Respondent initially questioned Commission prece-
dents in arguing that an individual does not have a
“financial interest” in a personal service arrangement
with his own municipality. That past precedent estab-
lished a reasonable proposition that, where a public
employee performs a service to a public agency in ex-
change for compensation, he has a financial interestin a
contract within the meaning of the conflict law. As con-
ceded by Respondent in oral argument, any doubt upon
the issue was recently settled by the Supreme Judicial
Court in the case of Robert J. Quinn v, State Ethics
Commission, 401 Mass. 210 (1987), which held “barring
an exemption or exception under §7, an employee of
one state agency may not receive compensation for per-
forming personal services under contract with another
state agency.” Therefore, Respondent is a full-time
municipal employee who has a financial interest in his
second employment contract. Since no exemption ap-
plies® Respondent has violated, and continues to violate
G.L. c. 268A, §20.

IV. Remedy

In light of the remedial purposes of §20, it is the
Commission’s opinion thatthe publicinterest will be best
served by Respondent’s resignation from one of his
positions within thirty days. This opinion is based on the
fact that Respondent’s status as a municipal employee
had no bearing on his obtaining his second position nor
compromised his services to the City. See, In the Matter
of Robert]. Quinn, 1986 Ethics Commission 265. Respon-
dent has offered to resign one of his two positions in light
of the recent pronouncement of the Supreme Judicial
Court in Quinn, infra; and thereby negate a need for a
civil enforcement action. If Respondent does not resign,
on the other hand, the circurnstances of this case warrant
a substantial fine. Past Commission precedent and the
past advice of the Enforcement Division have bcen un-
equivocal. Any good faith reliance on Respondent’s
counsel’s representation of ambiguity regarding §20 has
now been resolved by the Supreme Judicial Court. There
is no possible continuing justification for failing to resign
one of the two positions.



V. Order

Pursuant to the authority of G.L. c. 268B, §4(j), the
Commission orders Respondent to cease and desist
continued violation of G.L. c. 2684, §20 by resigning one
ofhis two positions within thirty days of the date of notice
of this Decision.

If the Respondent continues to violate G.L. c. 2684,
§20 by failing to resign one of his two positions within
thirty days of the date of this Decision, the Respondent
will be ordered to pay a civil penalty of one thousand
dollars ($1,000.00).

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 24, 1988

'/Section 7 is the state counterpart to §20.

*/Specifically, the exemption in §20(b) does not apply because Re-
spandent has worked more than 500 hours in both positions. (See Finding
of Fact 6).

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO, 354
IN THE MATTER
OF
FRANK MAGLIANO
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Frank Magliano (Mr. Magliano) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On July27, 1987, the Commission initiated, pursuant
to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), a preliminary inquiry into a
possible violation of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A, by Mr. Magliano, the Building Inspector for the
City of Brockton. The Commission has concluded that
inquiry and, on October 26, 1987, found reasonable
cause to believe that Mr, Magliano violated G.L. c. 268A,
§19.

The Commission and Mr. Magliano now agree to the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Magliano is the Building Inspector in Brock-
ton and, as such, has overall supervision of the Public
Property Department. Mr, Magliano is therefore a
municipal employee as defined in §1(g) of G.L. c. 268A.

2 Mr. Magliano has a son, Daniel J. Magliano
(Daniel). Daniel is a member of Mr, Magliano’s immedi-
ate family within the meaning of G.L. c. 2684, §1(e).
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3. Onjune 2, 1986, Mr. Magliano posted a promo-
uonal bulletin in the Public Property Department shop
giving notice of an opening for a permanent storekeeper
at $9.16 per hour, starting July 1, 1986. The bulletin was
posted for five working days asrequired by G.L. c. 31, §29.

4. The creation of the position of storekeeper had
been approved by the Brockton City Council in the
spring of 1986, with an annual salary of $19,125.00.

5. On June 11, 1986, Mr. Magliano filed a munici-
pal Civil Service Requisition and a Position Description
with the Division of Personnel Administration (DPA).
The requisition stated that the position of storekeeper
would be a newly-created, full-time, permanent position.
The requisition also stated that the appointment would
be made by certification from an existing eligible list es-
tablished as a result of an open competitive examination
or, ifthere was nosuitable eligible list, by holding an open
competitive examination. Mr. Magliano signed the re-
quisition in certification that he was the officer author-
ized by law to make the appointment. Mr. Magliano also
signed the position description as the appointing author-
ity. There was, in fact, no existing eligible list in June,
1986 from which applicants could be appointed to the
storekeeper position.

6. Byletter dated June 17, 1986, Mr. Magliano no-
tified the DPA that he had made a provisional appoint-
ment of Daniel as storekeeper, effective June 30, 1986.In
the letter, Mr. Magliano certified that he had been
unable to find a veteran qualified for the position who
was available and that he had complied with all the
provisions of G.L. c. 31, §25'. Daniel was the sole appli-
cant for the position. At no time did Daniel take an open
competitive examination for the storekeeper position;
between June, 1986 and April, 1987, no such examina-
tion was held to create an eligible listof applicants for the
position.

7. OnAugust 6, 1986, Mr. Magliano sent a letter to
DPArequesting that the requisition, dated June 11, 1986,
be changed to reflect a salary of $9.25 per hour (instead
of $9.16 per hour). Mr. Magliano also requested that the
notification of provisional appointment be changed to
reflect an effective date of July 14, 1986.

8. On January 16, 1987, The Brockton Enterprise
printed an article alleging that Mr. Magliano had created
the new position of storekeeper and appointed his son
Daniel to the position. The article raised the issue of
whether Mr. Magliano’s hiring of Daniel violated the
state conflict of interest law.

9. OnApril17, 1987, Daniel submitted his resigna-
tion from his position, citing a possible conflict of interest
as his reason for taking the action. On the same date, Mr.
Magliano sent a letter to City Solicitor Paul Adams in-
forming him of Daniel's resignation “[d]ue to a possible
conflict of interest.”

10. Mr. Magliano has maintained throughout these
proceedings that when he took the steps involved in

O
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hiring Daniel, he was unaware that his actions would
create a conflict of interest. The Commission knows of no
evidence indicating that Mr. Magliano knowingly or
intentionally violated the conflict of interest law. Mr.
Magliano understands that ignorance of the law is no
defense to a violation of G.L. c. 268A.2

11. Section 19 of G.L. c. 268A provides in relevant
part that, except as permitted by §19,® a municipal em-
ployee is prohibited from participating, as such an em-
ployee, in a particular matter in which, to his knowledge,
amember of hisimmediate family hasa financial interest.

12. The appointment of Daniel to the storekeeper
position was a “particular matter.” Mr. Magliano “partici-
pated” in that matter by making the appointmentand by
taking the other actions concerning the appomument
which are set forth above. Because the position was a paid
position, Daniel had, at the time of the appointment, a
“financial interest” in the appointment. Mr, Magliano
was aware at the time he appointed his son that his son
would receive compensation for his services as a store-
keeper. As Mr. Magliano’s son, Daniel was a member of
Mr. Magliano’s immediate family within the meaning of
G.L. c. 268A, §19. G.L. c. 2684, §1(e).

13. By appointing his son to the storekeeper posi-
tion, as described above, Mr. Magliano participated as
the Brockton Building Inspector in a particular matterin
which his son had a financial interest, thereby violating
G.L. c. 268A, §19.

Inview ofthe foregoingviolation of G.L. c. 268A, §19,
the Commission has determined that the public interest
would be served by the disposition of this matter without
further enforcement proceedings on the basis of the
following terms and conditions agreed to by Mr. Magli-
ano:

1. that he pay to the Commission the sum of one
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) as a civil penalty for violat-
ing G.L. c. 268A, §19 by appointing his son to the
storekeeper position; and

2, that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions con-
tained in thisagreement in any related administrative or
judicial proceeding to which the Commission is or may
be a party.

DATE: March 3, 1988

'/General Laws e. 31, §25 governs the establishment of a certified
eligible list by DPA and certain aspects of the appointment of persons from
that list.

*/1n the Mauer of C. Joseph Doyle, 1980 SEC 11, 13. See also, Scola
v. Scola, 318 Mass, |, 7 (1945),

3/ None of the §19 exceptions applies 1o this case,

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
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Counsel for Petitioner

Lawrence T. Perera, Esq.
Diane C. Tillotson, Esq.
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Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Gargiulo, Jarvis

COMMISSION’S RULING ON RESPONDENT’S MO-
TION TO DISMISS OR FOR DECISION ON THE
PLEADINGS

I. Introduction

The Enforcement Division of the State Ethics Com-
mission (Commission) issued an Order to Show Cause
on October 1, 1987 alleging that a state judge, William
Highgas, Jr. (Respondent}, violated §23(b)(3) of the
conflict of interest law. Respondent has filed 2a Motion to
Dismiss or For Decision on the Pleadings challenging the
Commission’s jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of
§23(b)(3) of G.L. c. 268A against a member of the
Jjudiciary on the basis that the Commission lacks both
statutory and constitutional authority to do so.

II. Procedural History

On December 8, 1986, the State Ethics Commission
initiated a preliminary inquiry into allegations that Re-
spondent made beneficial guardian ad litem appoint-
ments to an attorney who had done significant financial
favors for Respondent, thereby violating §23(b)(3) and
other related sections of the conflict of interest law.! On
April 27, 1987, the Commission found reasonable cause
to believe that Respondent violated §23(b) (3) of G.L. c.
268A.2

On September 24, 1987, Respondent soughtan order
from the Supreme Judicial Court to restrain the Commis-
sion’s Enforcement Division from issuing an Order to
Show Cause on the §23(b)(3) violation. Respondent
contended that the application of.. §23(b)(3) to a
member of the judiciary, coupled with the assertion of
power by the Ethics Commission to enforce that statute
againstamember of the judiciary, violates the separation
of powers clause of Article XXX of the Declaration of
Rights of the Massachusetts Constitution.

Respondent’s Complaint in the Nature of Mandamus
and Cert. and Temporary Restraining Order, Septem-
ber 24, 1987, A single justice of the Court entered the re-
straining order which, after review by the full Court, was
vacated one week later. -



The Enforcement Division subsequently issued an
Order to Show Cause In the Matter of William Highgas,
Jr. on October 1, 1987. On November 19, 1987, Respon-
dent requested the Supreme Judicial Court to stay the
Commission proceedings against Respondent until the
Court could rule on the merits of his jurisdictional
claims. The Courtindicated that the Commission should
initially address the jurisdictional question on the basis of
the allegations made in the Order to Show Cause. Ac-
cordingly, Respondent filed with the Commission his
Motion to Dismiss or For Decision on the Pleadings on
December 18, 1987. The Commission issues this Decision
and Order on Respondent’s Motion.

II1. Findings of Fact

For purposes of deciding the jurisdictional question
raised by Respondent’s Motion, the Commission takes
notice of the facts alieged in the Order to Show Cause.®
The factual allegations which form the basis of Respon-
dent’salleged §23 (b} (3) violation are largely undisputed
and are summarized herein:

1. Respondent is an Associate Justice of the Massa-
chusetts Probate and Family Court. He lives in Lynnfield
where his property was part of a subdivision developed by
Wildewood Realty Trust (Wildewood). Attorney Anthony
R. Rizzo (Rizzo), a friend of Respondent, resides in the
same development.

2. Respondentlearned of the Wildewood Develop-
ment through Rizzo. In December 1982, when Wilde-
wood wanted to sell the property which interested Re-
spondent, Respondent did not have the money on hand
to buy it. Rizzo offered to buy the property for Respon-
dent and transfer it to him later.

3. OnJanuary 19, 1983, thirteen days after Respon-
dent was sworn in as a probate judge, Respondent sold
some stock to pay Rizzo for the property but did not pay
any interest. Rizzo continued to hold title to the property
for two years so that the Respondent could take advan-
tage of Rizzo’s agreement and relationship with Wilde-
wood to ensure that he could build the house he wanted
{for example, by getting an easement overanotherlot for
a driveway).

4. During the approximately two year period in
which title to the property was in Rizzo's name, he
received and paid all but one of the bills for real estate
taxes. Respondent reimbursed Rizzo sometime after the
payments were made butdid not payRizzo intereston the
tax payments.

5, As a probate judge, Respondent makes master,
administrator, counsel and guardian ad litem (GAL) ap-
pointments. From 1983 to 1986, Respondent made 242 ap-
pointments to about 117 different persons. Respondent
appointed Rizzo to be a master once, an administrator
once or twice and a GAL 28 times. These appointments
were made from November 2, 1983 through August 1,
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1986. Rizzo received fees totaling over $22,000 for the
GAL appointments. These appointments were made ata
time when Rizzo was doing significant favors for Respon-
dentin connection with Respondent’s purchase of prop-
erty.

6. Respondent did not make any public disclosure
in connection with his appointments of Rizzo as a guard-
ian ad litem pursuant to G.L. c. 268A, §23(b) (3).

IV. Decision

For the reasons stated below, the Commission con-
cludes thatit has statutory jurisdiction to enforce the pro-
visions of §23(b) (3} of G.L. . 268A against Respondent,
a member of the judiciary, and that the exercise of such
jurisdiction on the facts alleged in the Order to Show
Cause is constitutionally permissible.

A The Conflict of Interest Law is Applicable to the
Conduct of a State Judge

The plain language of G.L. c. 268A and c. 268B
endows the Commission with statutory jurisdiction to
enforceall sections of the conflict law against judges. The
conflict law defines “state employee” as “a person per-
forming services for or holding an office, position, or
membership in a state agency ...", G.L. c. 2684, §1(q),
and defines “state agency” to include “the judiciary.” G.L.
c. 268A, §1(p). Thus, a state judge is a state employee
within the meaning of the conflict of interest law and is
subject to its provisions. Further, the Commission’s au-
thority to enforce all sections of G.L. ¢. 2684, including
§23, is explicit. G.L. c. 2688, §3(i). Accordingly, the Com-
mission may apply §23 and other sections of the conflict
of interest law to Respondent.

Respondent contends that the legislature did not
intend this result. However, a brief review of the law's
development demonstrates that this is precisely what the
legislature intended. In the conflict law’s original enact-
ment, St. 1962, ¢, 779, the definitions of “county em-
ployee™ and “state employee” excluded members of the
Jjudiciary. St. 1962, <. 779, §1(d) and (g). The conflict of
interest law was amended by the enactment of St. 1969, c.
350, “An Act Making Members of the Judiciary Subject to
the Law Governing the Conduct of Public Officials”. This
amendment eliminated the exclusion of members of the
judiciary from the definitions of state and county employ-
ces. Consequently, members of the judiciary have been
subject to the provisions of G.L. c. 268A since 1969. The
conflict of interest law was subsequently amended giving
the Commission explicit statutory power to enforce §23
after Apcil 8, 1986, the date of enactment. St. 1986, c. 12.5

The course of legislative amendments therefore
reveals that G.L. c. 268A applies to judges and that the
Commission is empowered to enforce every section of
G.L. c. 2684, including §23. Thus, the Commission has
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statutory authority to exercise §23 jurisdiction over
Respondent.®

B. The Commission’s Exercise of Jurisdiction over
Respondent is Constitutional

I. 'The Application of Section 23(b){3) to Respon-
dent Does Not Impermissibly Interfere with His
Appointments of Guardians ad Litem

Article XXX of the Massachusetts Declaration of
Rights? provides that there shall be three branches of gov-
ernment and that “[t] he legislative and executive depart-
ments are prohibited from exercising powers entrusted
to the judicial department.” Opinion of the Justices to
the Senate, 375 Mass. 795, 813 (1978). The Supreme
Judicial Court hasrecognized, however, that there is “the
need for some flexibility in the allocation of functions
among the three departments.” Id. “{A]n absolute divi-
sion” of the three branches of government is “neither
possible nor always desirable.” Opinion of the Justices,
365 Mass. 639, 641 (1974). What is prohibited in a case
such as this is “...impermissible interference by the legis-
lative or executive branches with the functions of the ju-
dicial branch.” Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass. 795, 813
(1978) (emphasis added).

Respondent contends that the Commission’s exer-
cise of jurisdiction over him on the basis of a possible
violation of G.L. c. 268A, §23(b) (3) is an unlawful inter-
ference with the powers of the judiciary to exercise its
discretion in the appointment of a GAL. These appoint-
ments, Respondent asserts, are governed by G.L. c. 201,
§34 which authorizes the appointment of a “suitable
person” in the judge’s discretion. Respondent’s counsel
stated in oral argument that when a judge acts in his or
her discretionary capacity as a judge, i.e., performing a
core judicial function, the application of §23(b)(3) to
any such discretionary act (such as the appointment of a
GAL) is impermissible interference. We do not agree.

First, it is not clear that the appointment of a GAL is
properly characterized as a core judicial function. The
appointment of a GAL seems more of an administrative
actthanasubstantive legal action. Core judicial functions
would more logically include actions taken during trials
and other court proceedings, such as the issuing of
rulings on legal questions and the rendering of legal
decisions. The appointment of a “suitable person” to be
a GAL would appear to require primarily judgment of
personnel, as opposed to the exercise of expert legal
analysis. The GAL statute does not even require the
“most” or “best” suited person for the job — it merely
requires a “suitable person.”

More important, we are not persuaded that, however
one defines core judicial functions, they are entirely
insulated from the application of the conflict of interest
law. As Respondent's counsel conceded in oral argu-
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ment, were a judge to accept a bribe in exchange for the
appointment of a GAL, surely the Ethics Commission
could enforce the bribery section of the conflict of
interest law against the judge. See G.L. c. 268A, §2. This
is so notwithstanding the characterization of the GAL ap-
pointment as a core judicial function. By the same token,
the Commission could presumably enforce the anti-
nepotism provisions of the law, §6, to a judge who ap-
peinted an immediate family member to be a GAL. We
can discern no legitimate basis for characterizing the
Commission’s jurisdiction as appropriate when bribery
or nepotism is involved, but inappropriate when an
appearance of undue influence is at stake.

Furthermore, Respondent has failed to demonstrate
that the effect of the application of §23(b)(3) would
constitute an impermissible interference, regardless of
whether the appointment is a “core” or administrative
act. The application of §23 of the conflict law to Respon-
dent’s appointment of a GAL merely requires that, if a
reasonable person knowing the relevant circumstances
would believe that Respondent is making a GAL appoint-
ment to one who could unduly enjoy Respondent’s favor,
Respondent should dispel this appearance of favoritism
by “disclos[ing] in writing to his appointing authority ...
the facts which would otherwise lead to such a conclu-
sion.” G.L. ¢. 2684, §23(b) (3). This disclosure remedies
any appearance of a conflict. Section 23 of the conflict
law does not require Respondent to appoint a different
person or even instruct Respondent concerning who is a
suitable person. Section 23 merely requires a disclosure
when an appointment is made which gives the appear-
ance of favoritism. Such a requirement permits the
appointing authority to intervene when appropriate, in
this case to maintain appropriate ethical standards, and
to that extent the requirements of §23 can properly be
characterized as complementary to the Judicial Code of
Conduct.?

Respondent’s contention that the application of
§23(b)(3) would create a chilling effect on his GAL ap-
pointments is belied by the sheer number of appoint-
ments he has made which did not raise §23 concerns. In
a three year period, excluding the twenty-eight appoint-
ments to Rizzo, Respondent made approximately 242
appointments to 17 different persons, or about two
appointments per lawyer every three years, Accordingly,
the argument that §23(b) (3) will chill the judge’s ability
to exercise his discretion to appoint GAL's is unpersua-
sive. The limitation on a judge’s discretion to appoint a
GAL is minimal. A judge is merely required to dispel any
appearance of bias and, in the same way that a judge is
prohibited from appointing his immediate family mem-
bers as GAL's and from appointing GAL's who offer
bribes, a judge must make his appointments in accor-
dance with §23(b) (3) of the law, concerning the appear-
ance of favoritism. Therefore, we do not find that the
application of §23 to Respondent impermissibly inter-



feres with his exercise of discretion or the performance
of his judicial function.

2, The Application of Section 23(b)(3) to Respon-
dent Does Not Impermissibly Interfere with the
Judiciary’s Power to Regulate its Members

The Commission on Judicial Conduct (CJC) was
established in 1978 pursuant to St. 1978, c. 478 to assist
the Court in the superintendence of judges. The CJC's
enabling act provides that

Notwithstanding any other provision of the law,

the commission shall investigate, upon com-

plaint of any person ... the action of any judge

that may ... constitute a breach of the Canons of

Judicial Ethics as promulgated by the Supreme

Judicial Court -

G.L.c. 211G, §2.

Respondent argues that the proceedings of the State
Ethics Commission constitute an unconstitutional inter-
ference with the “exclusive and paramount” power of the
Jjudiciary (as assisted by the CJC) to regulate its members.
Respondent’s Brief at 7. Respondent’s argument over-
looks the very language of the CJC's enabling act (...not-
withstanding any other provision of the law...) which
expressly contemplates that other laws and entities may
govern the conduct of judges. Furthermore, contrary to
Respondent’s assertion, we do not find that the Supreme
Judicial Court has ever declared that it alone may exclu-
sively address the conduct of a member of the judiciary,
nor do we agree that the authorities upon which the
Respondent relies for this proposition so state. See, e.g.,
In the Matter of Troy, 364 Mass. 15, 21-22 (1973) (where
the Court held that, in addition to the responsibility of
the Governor and General Court for removing judges,
the Court had the authority to review a judge’s conduct);
O’Coins, Inc. v. Treasurer of the County of Worcester,
862 Mass. 507, 509-510 (1972) (where a judge, in addi-
tion to the executive branch, not exclusive of it, may
contractually bind the state for expenses reasonably
necessary for the operation of his court); In the Matter of
Edward J. DeSaulnier, 360 Mass. 757, 758-759
(1971) (where the court, as well as the executive branch,
may take action “to protect the integrity and reputation
of the judicial process™).

The Commission finds the Supreme Judicial Court’s
decision in Edgartown v. State Ethics Commission, 391
Mass. 82 (1984), instructive in light of Respondent’s con-
stitutional claim that the judiciary has “exclusive” power
over members of the judiciary and that application of the
conflict law violates Article XXX of the Massachusetts
Declaration of Rights. In Edgartown, the court found
unpersuasive a municipal attorney’s claim that the appli-
cation of the conflict law to his conduct as an attorney
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violated Article XXX of the Massachusetts Declaration of
Rights. The Court held that the conflictof interest law did
not “contradict[], impair[] or otherwise affect[}" the
Jjudiciary’s disciplinary rules and, thus, was not an imper-
missibleinterference with the functioning of the judiciary.
1d. a1 90. Where, ashere, the conflict of interest standards
of conduct do not contradict, impair or otherwise affect
the canons of ethics, there is no unconstitutional exercise
of jurisdiction.!! As in the case of a municipal attorney, a
court judge may also be “properly regulated by statute
[the conflict law] as well as by rules promulgated by [the)
Court.” Id.12

The Supreme Judicial Court has already held thatits
authority to establish standards of conduct does not
preempt other legislation “establishing complementary
standards.” Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass. 795, 813
(1978) (addressing the application of the financial disclo-
sure law, G.L. c. 268B, to all judicial department employ-
ees and officials, other than judges). Thus, it follows that
the existence of the Code of Judicial Conduct does not
and cannot preclude regulation of all judicial conduct
arguably covered by that Code; if it did, the Commission
would be unable to enforce that section of law prohibit-
ing bribery, G.L. c. 2684, §2, or nepotism, G.L. c. 268A,
§6, against a state judge. Respondent does not dispute
thatjudges may be subject to prosecution for bribery and
other crimes. In fact, the notion that the separation of
powers principle would insulate a judge from an execu-
tive branch indictment and prosecution for criminal
conductalready has been unequivocally rejected. United
States v, Issacs, 493 F.2d 1124 (7th Cir. 1974), cert.
denied, 417 U.S, 976 (1974). Judges are not exempt from
theapplication of criminal laws, and, although it does not
contain criminal penalties, §23(b)(3) is a general stan-
dard of conduct applicable to all public employees,
including judges.

The conflict of interest standards of conduct are
consistent with and complementary to the judicially-
imposed standards in the Code of Judicial Conduct and
are therefore permissible.'”® Compare, Opinion of the
Justices, 375 Mass. 795, 813-814 (discussing the standards
ofthe conflict ofinterestlawand the Code of Professional
Responsibility). As we previously noted, supra at p. 12,
the requirement of §23(b) (3} is nothing more than a
written disclosure to one’s appointing authority when a
Jjudge proposes to act in a manner which would reasona-
blylead toan impression ofundueinfluence. Itis difficult
to imagine how such a requirement could be viewed as
anything but complementary, since it would enable a
supervising judge to apply the judicial canons when
appropriate. Indeed, we do not understand Respondent
to claim that the conflict law deprives the Court of the
power to impose stricter standards of conduct on judges
or forces the Court to accept lower standards. Id. at 795;
Collins v. Gregory, 324 Mass. 574, 576 (1949); United
States v. Miller, 624 F.2d 1198 (3rd Cir. 1980). Yet, short

\



of such a claim, the Respondent has not demonstrated a
constitutional defect in the application of §23 of c. 268A
on the basis that it impermissibly “interferes with the
internal functioning of the judicial branch” and offends
the principle of separation of powers. New Bedford
Standard Times Publishing Co. v. Clerk of the Third
District Court of Bristol, 377 Mass. 404, 410-411 (1979).

Respondent’s counsel also stated in oral argument
that the Commission should adopt the “doctrine of self
restraint.” The Respondent’s argument appears to be
that the judiciary has primary authority to address a
judge’sconduct, and accordingly, the Comnmission should
defer taking any action in this case. However, the Com-
mission is not inclined to defer on a question of conflict
of interest where, as here, the CJC proceeding is confi-
dential and the Commission has no knowledge that the
CJCis reviewing the same conduct as is the Commission.
In fact, although Respondent's counsel has indicated
that the CJC is investigating certain (unspecified) con-
duct of Respondent, the Commission has no way of
knowing how or when the CJC will resolve its investiga-
tion,

The Commission'saction to proceed with this case in
no way diminishes or contradicts the judiciary’s impor-
tant function in regulating the conduct of its own mem-
bers. When previously faced with a question of whether
G.L. c. 268B was constitutionally permissible asapplied to
alt judiciary employees and officials, other than judges,
the Supreme Judicial Court stated that

The critical inquiry here is whether the require-
ments which the proposed law would impose on attor-
neys and employees and officials of the judicial depart-
mentwould interfere with the functions of that branch of
government. See Opinion of the Justices, 372 Mass. 883,
B892 (1977). Opinion of the Justices, 365 Mass. 639, 641-
642 (1974) There is nothing in the provisions to which the
question refers which would constitute an impermissible
interference by the legislative or executive brancheswith
the functions of the judicial branch. Although we have
the authority by rule to establish standards of conduct for
judicial employees and officials, as we have done for
attorneys and judges, [footnote omitted] this does not
preclude legislation establishing complementary stan-
dards and providing administration and enforcement
through a commission whose decisions would be subject
to judicial review. [footnote omitted} See Burnside v.
Bristol County Bd. of Retirement, 352 Mass. 48, 482-483
(1967). As to artorneys admitted to practice before the
courts of the Commonwealth, we retain the ultimate
authority to control their conduct in the practice of law.
Collins v. Godfrey, 324 Mass. 574, 576 (1949). “Legisla-
tion,” nevertheless, “may be enacted in aid of the judicial
department, and doubtlessin appropriate instances stan-
dards of conduct may be set up by statutes...” Id. If the
judicial department promulgates a rule imposing stan-
dards higher than or in conflict with those imposed by
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the legislation, the judicial rule would prevail. [footnote
omitted] Id.

Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass. 795, 813-14 (1978).
The same reasoning asarticulated above supports the ap-
plication of §23(b)(3) to judges. To decide otherwise
would permit a stricter standard of governing law for all
Jjudicial departments employees and officials other than
judges. In essence, such a standard would hold judges
above the law.

Separation of powers does not prohibit the enact-
ment of legistation which sets up standards of conduct for
the judiciary provided that “ ... such statutes [do] not
preclude the judicial department from imposing higher
standards or deprive that department of its ultimate
power of control.” Collins v. Godfrey, 324 Mass. 574, 576
{1949). We do not find that the standards of conduct
provisions of the conflict law work such a deprivation on
the court or divest it of its power of control. The power to
determine the appropriateness of the Commission's
actions and decisions always ultimately rests with the
judiciary. G.L. c. 268B, §4(k); Opinion of the Justices,
375 Mass.at813. Consequently, in thisand all other cases,
the judiciary has the opportunity to exercise its ultimate
review."

V. Conclusion

For all the reasons set forth above, the Commission
finds that its exercise of jurisdiction is statutorily sound
and constitutionally permissible as applied in this case.
The Commission denies Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss
or For Judgment on the Pleadings.

DATE AUTHORIZED: March 14, 1988

1/Section 23(b) (3) of G.L c. 2684 provides that
No current officer or employee of a state, county or municipal agency shall
knowingly, or with reasen to know ... act in 2 manner which would cause a
reasonable person, having knowledge of the relevant circumstances, o
conclude that any person can improperly influence or unduly enjoy his
favor in the performance of his official duties, or that he is likely 1o act or
fail to act as a result of kinship, rank, position or undue influence of any
party or person It shall be unreasonable to so conclude if such officer or
employee has disclosed in writing to his appointing authority or, if no
appointng autherity exists, disclose in a manner which is public in nature,
the facts which would otherwise lead to such a conclusion.

*/The Commission also found reasonable cause to belicve that Re-
spondent violated G L. c. 268B, 7 for filing a false statement of financial
interest which failed to disclose the fnancial relationship between Respon-
dentand the attorney whom he appointed twenty eight times as a guardian
ad litem. On September 24, 1987, Respondent admitted that he violated
thissection of kaw in a signed Disposition Agreementand, accordingly, paid
a fine of $1500. Respondent did not contest the Commission’s jurisdiction
to enforce G.L. ¢, 2688, §7 against him.

3/ The Order to Show Cause and Respondent's Answer are attached
to this Decision as Exhibits A and B.

{/Members ol the judiciary were subject to G.L. ¢, 268A, 2and 3 {con-
cerning bribery and the receipt of gratuities) by specific inclusion.

*/The 1986 amendment was passed by the General Court in response
to Saccone v. State Ethics Commission, 395 Mass. 326 (1985) which held
that the conflict law did not give the Commission jurisdiction over §23
violations.

¢/Memarandum in Support of Respondent’s Motion 1o Dismiss (Re-
spondent’s Brief} at §14 However, it appears that the legislature has given
2 number of agencies and commissions jurisdiction over the conduct of
judges (e.g., the disirict attorney; Auomey General, the Governor and



General Court, Staie Ethics Commission, the judiciary and Commission on
Judicial Conduct all, 10 varying degrees, have the power to regulate the
conduct of judges). In addition, there is no indication in the legislative
history that there wasany intent to carve outan exceptionin the present law
concerning the application of §23 1o judges.

?/ Article XXX, In the government of this commonwealth, the legis-
lative department shall never exercise the executive and judicial powers, or
eitherof them: the exceutive shall never exercise the legislative and judicial
powers, or cither of them; the judicial shatl never exercise the legislative and
executive powers, or cither of them: to the end it may be a government of
laws and not of men.

"/G.L. c. 201, 34 provides that:

If, under the terms of a written instrument or otherwise, a minor, a mentally
retarded person, an autistic person, or person under disability. or a person
not ascertnined or not in being, may be or may become intercsted in any
property real or personal, or in the enforcement or defense of any legal
rights, the court in which any action, petition or proceeding of any kind
relative 1o or affecting any such estaie or legal rights is pending may, upon
the representation of any party thereto, or ofany person interested, appoint
a suitable person to appear and act herein as guardian ad litem or next
friend of such minor, mentatly retarded person, autistic person, or person
under disability or not ascertained or notin being; and a judgment, order
or decree in such proceedings, made after such appointment, should be
conclusive upon all persons for whom such guardian ad litem or next friend
was appointed.

?/While technically 2 judge's appointing authority would be the
Governor, the Commission has already indicated to 2 member of the
judiciary (a district court judge) that, for the purposes of the disclosure
provisionsofc. 2687, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court would
appear to be the appropriale appointing authority EC-COI-85-117; B4-28.

%/ The Commission is aware that G.L. c. 21 1C was recenty amended
by St. 1987, c. 656 By virtue of section 4 of St. 1987, c. 656, the efective date
of the amendments is April 1, 1988 and, therefore, they do not affect this
case,

"/This conclusion is supported by a New Jersey Supreme Court
decision, Knight v. Margaie, 86 NJ. 374 (1981). There, the conflict of
interest law imposed stricter restrictions on members of the judiciary than
those contained in the state’s Code of Judicial Conduct. The Court upheld
the legislatively imposed standards of conduct because they were not
tncompatible with the Court rules. In Pennsylvania, on the other hand,
where the state constitution specifically preempis certain legislative activity
(e.g.. the regulation of attorneys}, courts have concluded differently See,
Wajert v. State Ethics Commission, 420 A. 2d 439 (Pa. 1980); sce alsn,
Kramer v. State Ethics Commission, 469 A. 2d 593, 595 (Pa. 1983) {(where
the Supreme Count of Pennsylvania held that it did have the “exclhusive™
power to supervise the conduct of attorneys and judges based on the state's
constitution). Massachusents’ Constitution does not preempt the activity at
issue here.

*/We do not accept Respondent’s effort 1o distinguish the Edgar-
town case on the basis that Respondent's actdons were solely as a judge and
not as a public employee (whereas, Respondent contends, the attorney in
Edgartown acted in an identifiably municipal capacity), Respondent ar-
gues that he “was not representing the interests of the staie when he made
the appainunents in question, but was carrying out his duties asa member
of the judiciary.” Respondent’s Bricf at 10. We find the *distinction”
neither accurate nor persuasive Respondent’s public employee status and
identity as a judge are inscparable; Respondent is subject to the laws
governing both and may not insulate himself from one set by claiming to
be governed only by the other. If this distinction had validity, Respondent's
“public employee” self could eschew the judicial canons by claiming to be
responsible only o the conflict law.

*/Canon 2 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, adopted as Rule 3:09 of
the Supreme Judicial Court, provides that(a} A judge should respect and
complywith the lawand should conduct himselfatall imes in a manner that
promotes public confidence in the integrity and impaniality of the judici-
ary. {b} A judge should not allow his Farily, social or other relationships to
influence his judicial conduct or judgment. He should not lend the
prestige of his office to advance the private interests of others; nor should
he convey or permit others 1o convey the impression that they are in a
special position 1o influence him. He should not tesiify voluntarily as a
characier witness,

H/Commissioner Jarvis, while concurring in the majority’s decision
that the Commission possesses the autharity to consider allegations against
Respondent, concludes that authority possessed must be distinguished
from authority exercised. On the grounds of both administrative efficiency
and the principle of restraint, Commissioner Jarvis conciudes that the
Commission should defer action in light of the CJC's proceeding.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
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COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 355

SUFFOLK, ss

IN THE MATTER
OF
REV. BENJAMIN LOCKHART

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered

into between the State Ethics Commission {Commis-
sion) and the Rev. Benjamin Lockhart (Rev. Lockhart)
pursuantto section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement
Procedures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to
final Commission order enforceable in the Superior
Court pursuant to G.L. ¢, 268B, §4(d).
On June 30, 1987, the Commission initiated a preliminary
inquiry into possible violations of the conflict of
interest law, G.L. c. 2684, involving Rev. Lockhart, Aga-
wam Town Councillor. The Commission concluded its
inquiry and, on September 16, 1987, found reasonable
cause to believe that Rev. Lockhart violated G.L. c. 268A,
§19.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Rev. Lockhart has been an Agawam Town Coun-
cillor since October, 1985. This is a part-time, elected po-
sition, for which he receives $2,000 annually. As such he
isa municipal employee subject to the conflict of interest
law, G.L. c. 268A.

2. Rev. Lockhart’s son, Peter Lockhart, is an Aga-
wam firefighter and has been so since 1969. In July, 1986,
Rev. Lockhart’s son held the rank of private.

3. OnJuly7, 1986, the Agawam Town Council, ata
reguiar council meeting, considered an ordinance au-
thorizing salary increases for the Agawam Fire Depart-
ment. The ordinance specifically listed privates, lieuten-
ants, mechanics, inspectors and drill masters as the re-
cipients of the salary increases. The salary increase listed
for privates ranged between $1,072 and $1,238, depend-
ing upon the step level of the particular individual.

4. The salary increases called for in the ordinance
being considered by the Council had been negotiated
between town counsel and the firefighter’s union during
the previous year. Town councillors did not participate in
any matters concerning the negotiations.

5. The ordinance was passed by a 13 to zero vote,
with Rev. Lockhart voting favorably on the ordinance.
Town counsel was present at the council meeting at the
time of the vote, but there was no discussion regarding
G.L. c, 268A.

6. Except as otherwise permitted in that section,
§19 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a municipal employee from
participating as such an employee in a particular matter
in which to his knowledge his immediate family has a
financial interest.!
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7. The salary increase proposed for the particular
categories of firefighters in the ordinance is a particular
matter as that term is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(k).

8. Rev. Lockhart’s son's interest in the proposed
raise listed in the ordinance gave him a financial interest
in the passage of the ordinance.

9. By voting on passage of the pay raise ordinance,
Rev. Lockhart was personally and substantially involved
in its passage,? knowing his son had a financial interestin
the ordinance. Therefore, Rev. Lockhart thereby vio-
lated §19.

10. Inviewofthe foregoingviolation of G.L. c. 2684,
§19, the Commission has determined that the public
interest would be served by the disposition of this matter
without further enforcement proceedings on the basis of
the following terms and conditions agreed tc by Rev.
Lockhart:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount

of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) as a civil

penalty for his violation of §19; and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the find-

ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and

conditions proposed under this Agreement in

this or any related administrative or judicial civil

proceeding in which the Commission is or may

be a party.

DATE: May 17, 1988

'/None of the exceptions in 19 is relevant here.

?/The plain language of §19 does not require that the participation
be influential or determinative of a result. A §19 violation can arise despite
the fact that the vote was unanimous In the Matter of James Geary,
Commission Docket No. 323, October 5, 1987; Sce, also, In the Matter of
John Rogers, Jr., 1985 SEC 227. The fact that it was 2 unanimous vote may
be considered in mitigation when determining a fine, however. Geary,

supra.
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1. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-
ings on December 8, 1986 by filing an Order to Show
Cause pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice
and Procedure, 930 CMR 1.01(5) (a). The Order alleged
that Respondent Paul H. Sullivan had viclated G.L. c.
268A,§17(c) and §19. Specifically, Respondent allegedly
acted as agent for either FIC Carter and Sons or FIC As-
sociates by personally appearing before the Tewksbury
Planning Board (Board) on September 24 and 26, 1984,
and by discussing particular mattersin which the Town of
Tewksbury (Town) was a party or had a direct and
substantial interest. Further, the Order alleged that
Respondent participated during the Board of Selectmen
meeting on September 25, 1984 in discussions concern-
ing the water and sewer availability for the Carter Green
Condominiums (Carter Green) in which Respondent’s
father, KEevin Sullivan, had a financial interest.

The parties stipulated to a number of facts and
documentswhich are included in the record. In addition
to the stipulation of facts, an adjudicatory hearing was
held on September 25, 1987. Respondent was the only
witness to testify at the adjudicatory hearing.

Respondent hasraised two procedural defenses. The
first is that Petitioner’s action is barred by a two year
statute of limitations contained in G.L. ¢, 260, §5. The
other procedural defense is that Commission’s failure to
extend the preliminary inquiry within ninety days of the
initiation of the preliminary inquiry entitles Respondent
to an Order of Dismissal.!

The parties filed briefs and presented cral argu-
ments before the Commission on April 13, 1988. In
rendering the Decision and Order, the Commission has
considered the evidence and arguments of the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. Respondent, at all relevant times, served as a
member of the Tewksbury Board of Selectmen. In 1983
and 1984, he was Chairman of the Board of Selectmen.

2. Respondent, at all relevant times, worked for his
father’s real estate agency. Respondent’s father is Kevin
Sullivan and the name of the real estate agency is Sullivan
Real Estate.

3. The Carter Green condominium development
was being developed by FIC Associates, a partnership.*
The development required a special permit by the Plan-
ning Board. In order for the Planning Board to approve
FIC Associates’ application for a special permit, the
Board required final assurance from the Department of
Public Works (DPW) that Carter Green had adequate
water and sewer availability.

4. InJune 1984 Kevin Sullivan, at the request of the
Board, soughtaletter from the DPW certifying that there
were adequate water and sewer hookups available for



Carter Green.

5. The DPWsuperintendentissues certification let-
ters certifying that there are adequate water and sewer
hookups available at development sites, which letters are
then subject to approval by the Selectmen who also serve
as Commissioners of the DPW. On August 21, 1984, the
DPW issued a letter certifying that adequate water and
sewer hookups were available for Carter Green. This
letter is a standard letter given to developers during the
approval stage of a project.

6. OnSeptember 24,1984 Respondent and John B.
Hodges were presentata meeting of the Planning Board.
Mr. Hodges is an attorney in private practice who, on
previous occasions, has represented Carter Green. Mr.
Hodges did not request Respondent to accompanying
him to the Planning Board meeting for any specific
purpose except that they were going out afierwards
socially. Respondent was not given explicit authority to
speak on behalf of FIC Associates at this meeting.

7. At the September 24, 1984 meeting, the sub-
stance of the DPW letter referred to in finding of fact §4
and Carter Green were subjects of the discussion. Toward
the end of the meeting Respondent asked the Planning
Board whether “we” could expect to be on the agenda for
the meeting two days later on Wednesday. Respondent
stated “we'll expect that Wednesday we'll be here for a
meeting”. Respondent further stated that “we are just
looking and you people are satisfied that we have com-
plied and you people have stated that you are”. The “we
have complied” refers to the requirements set forth by
the Planning Board regarding water and sewer require-
ments for Carter Green. Respondent further asked the
Planning Board whether theyhad everything they needed
from FIC Associates or from Jack Hodges. The “we” that
Respondent was referring to was the development entity,
Carter Green, or FIC Associates.

8. Jack Hodges did not address the Board relative
to Carter Green or respond to questions at the Septem-
ber 24, 1984 meeting.

9. Respondent did not attend the September 24,
1984 Planning Board meeting as a member of the Board
of Selectmen. The purpose of his comments was to
ascertain whether the Planning Board would give a deci-
sion on that evening as to whether the requirements in
connection with the application for a special permit had
been met.?

1Q. Respondent spoke at the September 24, 1884
meeting on behalf of FIC Associates.

11. The discussion between Respondent and the
Planning Board at the September 24, 1984 meeting was
in connection with requirements set forth by the Plan-
ning Board regarding water and sewer availability for
Carter Green. These requirements in turn were in con-
nection with an application for special permit by FIC
Associates.

12. The discussion of Carter Green and water and
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sewer requirements were continued to ascheduled meet-
ing of September 26, 1984,

13. On September 25, 1984 Respondent attended a
regularly scheduled Board of Selectmen meeting. Re-
spondent was sitting as a Selectman that evening. Re-
spondentrequested that the Board forward aletter to the
Planning Board relative to FIC Associates.

14. Atthe September 25, 1984 meeting the Board of
Selectman unanimously voted, with Respondent abstain-
ing, to forward correspondence to the Planning Board
confirming that FIC Associates, developers of Carter
Green, had access to and would be allowed to tie in to the
municipal Main Street sewer system, and that upon
completion and acceptance of the plans by the DPW
Commissioners, work would commence.t

15. On the same evening, the Board of Selectmen
went into executive session.? After the executive session
had ended, Respondent was asked by another Selectman
whether he had the DPW letter certifying the availability
of water and sewer with him. Respondent stated that he
did not have the letter with him, having no reason to have
it, but would bring it in the following day. The letter was
correspondence dated August 21, 1984, signed by Philip
Pattison, the Superintendent of Public Works, relative to
the availability of water and sewer to Carter Green.
Respondentalso requested that the Board agree with the
correspondence contingentupon production of the letter
to the Board the following day. The Board informally
agreed to this. No vote was recorded. '

16. Respondent’s suggestion that the Board of Se-
lectmen agree with the correspondence contingentupon
production of the letter to the Board on the following day
was included in the minutes at the suggestion of Respon-
dent. He was concerned about possible violations of the
Open Meeting Law. He intended to avoid the Board of
Selectmen voting on a decision at a time when they were
not permitted to conduct public business under the
Open Meeting Law.

17. Respondentsubsequently delivered the letter 10
the Board of Selectmen, pursuant to §15.

18. On September 26, 1984, Respondent attended a
scheduled Planning Board meeting. At that meeting the
Planning Board continued a discussion from September
24, 1984, regarding Carter Green and the availability of
adequate water and sewage.

19. Present at the September 26 meeting was Kevin
Sullivan, Respondent’s father. Kevin Sullivan had a finan-
cial interest in FIC Associates, and had represented FIC
Associates in the past.

20. Respondent accompanied his father to the
meeting after encountering him outside Respondent’s
home which was adjacent to his father’s office. At the
meeting Respondent submitted and the Planning Board
reviewed two letters from the Board of Selectmen dated
September 26, 1984 regarding water and sewer availabil-
ity for Carter Green. The substance of one letter was that



the Board of Selectmen had voied at its meeting of
September 25, 1984 to concur with the correspondence
dated Septemnber 21, 1984 signed by Philip Pattison,
Superintendent of Public Works, relative to the availabil-
ity of water. The second letter stated that the Board of
Selectmen, at its meeting of Septemnber 25, 1984, had
voted to concur that the developers of Carter Green had
access and would be allowed to tie into the municipal
main street sewer system.

During the meeting, Respondent submitted a sketch
showing the sewer route from Carter Green and pointed
on the sketch to the proposed route. Respondent also
stated that the sewer route had been approved by the
Board of Selectmen. At the same meeting Respondent
also stated that the building inspector, in order to issue
building permits, would like a letter from the Planning
Board, saying that “we have complied with the condi-
tions” listed in the building inspector’s letter to the
Planning Board.

21. Respondent spoke at the Planning Board meet-
ing of September 26, 1984 on behalf of FIC Associates.

22. No vote was taken at the September 26, 1984
meeting. The matter was continued to a later meeting.%

23. Respondent had knowledge that Kevin Sullivan
had a financial interest in the decision by the Tewksbury
Planning Board regarding adequate availability of water
and sewer at Carter Green.

II1. Decision
A. Statute of Limitations

The Commission has promulgated a three-year stat-
ute of limitations pursuant to its regulatory authority,
G.L. c. 268B, §3(a); 930 CMR 1.02(10).”

Thereis no dispute that the Order to Show Cause was
issued within three years after the violations alleged
therein, as required by the regulation. Nor does Respon-
dent allege as a defense that the three year statute of
limitations promulgated in 930 CMR 1.02(10) has run.
Therefore, there was no need for Petidoner to show that
a disinterested person learned of the violation no more
than three years before the Order was issued by affidavit
or otherwise. See, 930 CMR 1.02(10) (c).

Respondent argues that 930 CMR 1.02(10) is unlaw-
ful because it is inconsistent with G.L. c. 260, §5, which
establishes a two year statute of limitations in actions for
penalties under penal statutes if the penalty “isgiven ... to
the Commonwealth.” The Commission concludes that
this statute does not apply because an enforcement pro-
ceeding pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4 is not reasonably
construed as enforcement of a penal statute.

The essence of a civil enforcement action under
G.L.c. 268B is a breach of official duty or fiduciary
obligation of a public employee. In upholding the use
of a civil standard of proof, and rejecting the application
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of a criminal standard in Commission proceedings, the
Supreme Judicial Court has held, “The sanctions which
the Commission may impose do not implicate particu-
larly important individual interests or rights.” Craven v.
State Ethics Commission, 390 Mass. 191, 200 (1984). The
controlling purpose of an adjudicatory proceeding under
G.L.c. 268B, §4 is not punishment. The Commission’s
mandate is remedial in nature, to enforce civilly the
provisions of G.L. c¢. 268A, to provide advice and educa-
tion, (see, G.L.c. 268B, §3(g)), and to act as a respository
of disclosures and other information. See, c¢. 268A, §6,
§7(d). Although G.L. c. 268A provides for a criminal
penalty enforceable by criminal law enforcement agen-
cies, as well as civil relief, the existence of an alternate
criminal penalty does not defeat the broad civil remedial
purposes given to the Commission in G.L. c. 268B. The
fact that the Commission may potentially impose a civil
fine after an adjudicatory hearing does not render the
proceeding penal. The Commission’s regulation, estab-
lishing a three year statute of limitations, reasonably
rejects the application of G.L. c. 260, §5 to a civil admin-
istrative agency which has no criminal enforcement au-
thority.

The reasonableness of the regulation is further
supported by examination of precedents. The Supreme
Judicial Court held in the case of Beinecke v. Nantucket,
379 Mass. 345 (1979) that the essence of an action under
G.L. c. 268A, §21 is a breach of official duty which sounds
in tort, and therefore the three year statute of limitations
applies.®

A regulation by a duly constituted administrative
agency has the full force and effect of law and is entitled
to “all rational presumption in favor of its validity ..."Levy
v. Board of Registration, 373 Mass, 519, 525 (1979) cited
in Borden v. Commissioner of Public Health, 388 Mass.
707 (1984). Given the broad civil remedial nature of an
enforcement proceeding under G.L.c. 268B, §4 and
relevant prior case law, there is no inconsistency between
930 CMR 1.02(10) and G.L.c. 260, §5 so as to render the
regulation void.

B. The Seven Day Delay

There is no merit to Respondent’s contention that
the delay in the vote to extend the preliminary inquiry,
which took place 97 days after the initial vote to initiate
the preliminary inquiry, requires dismissal of the case.
Dismissal is notrequired as a matter of law because the 90
day rule derives from internal enforcement policy, and
not by statute, regulation or other authority having the
force of law; therefore, the policy is not jurisdictional.

It is well established that “a statute imperative in
phrase ... where itrelates only to the time of performance
of adutybya public officer and does notgo to the essence
of the thing to be done ... is only a regulation for the
orderly and convenient conduct of public business and



notacondition precedent to the validity of the actdone.”
Chencey v. Coughlin, 201 Mass. 204, 211 (1909). Accord,
Cullen v. Building Inspector of North Attleborough, 353
Mass. 671, 679-680 (1968) (decision of appeal from
issuance ofabuilding permit filed five dayslate); Monico’s
Case, 350 Mass. 183, 185-186 (1966) (decision of Indus-
trial Accident Board filed over 10 months late); Amherst-
Pelham Regional School Committee v. Department of
Education, 376 Mass. 480, 496-497 (1978) (failure of De-
partment of Education to issue timely decision in contra-
vention of own internal procedure).

Even assuming that Respondent has suffered ex-
pense, humiliation, anxiety and public suspicion as a
result of Petitioner’s proceedings,® there has been no
showing that Respondent suffered prejudice asaresultof
the seven-day delay in initiating the preliminary inquiry.
This case is thus indistinguishable from the case of In the
Matter of Thomas W. Wharton, 1984 Ethics Commission
182, where we held

The 90-day rule is not based on any statute, but

reflects the Commission’s desire that inquiries

be conducted as expeditiously as possible. Its

principle purpose is to make the Commission

aware of the length of inquiries and to require its
acquiescence for them tc go beyond 90 days.

That purpose is satisfied whether the extension

is granted before or after the initial 90-day pe-

riod ends. With respect to the time period after

the finding of reasonable cause, it should be

noted that neither the provisions of c. 268B

dealing with investigations (see §4) nor the Com-
mission’s procedures impose any requirement

as to when the Order to Show Cause must issue.

Here again, there is no showing that Mr. Whar-

ton was prejudiced or that the Petitioner gained

any undue advantage by the delay ... Accord-

ingly, this Motion to Dismiss is denied.
Accordingly, the seven-day delay in extending the pre-
liminary inquiry does not require dismissal.

C. Substantive Violations
1. Section 17(c)

The portion of §17(c) applicable to this case states
that no municipal employee shall, otherwise than in the
proper discharge of his official duties, act as agent for
anyone in connection with any particular matter in which
the same town is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest. Respondent has stipulated to all the elements of
a§17(c} violation, except the element of acting as agent.

The basic principle set forth by §17(c) is that “public
officials should not in general be permitted to step out of
their official rules to assist private entities or persons in
their dealings with government.” Perkins, The New
Federal Conflict Law, 76 Harv. L. Rev. 115, 1120 (1963).
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Regardless of whether any evil results from the conduct,
“confidence in government is undermined because the
public cannot be sure that no [evils] will result.” Buss,
The Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analy-
sis, 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 322 (1965). Buss suggests that
“merely speaking or writing on behalf of a non-state party
would be acting as agent.” Buss, supra, at 326. Consistent
with the above remedial purpose, the Commission has
concluded that the distinguishing factor of acting as
agent within the meaning of the conflictlaw is “acting on
behalf of” some person or entity, a factor present in
acting as spokesperson, negotiating, signing documents
and submitting applications. EC-COI-84-116.

Upon reviewing the facts, the Commission concludes
Respondent was acting on behalf of FIC Associates.
Repondent’s consistent use of the term “we” in his discus-
sions with the Board demonstrates that he was not speak-
ing on his own behalf at the September 24th or 26th
meeting of the Board. He had no interest in FIC Associ-
ates nor had he received any benefits from that entity.
Logically, if Respondent was not speaking for himself, he
must have been speaking for FIC Associates. There is no
evidence that the Respondent was acting on behalf of his
own interest, as opposed to the interest of FIC Associates.
In fact, Respondent denied that he had any present or
future interest in Carter Green on the applicable dates.
The Planning Board required some evidence that there
was adequate water and sewer availability at the projects.
That requirement was placed on FIC Associates and not
the Respondent.

Respondent’s primary defense, as advanced in oral
argument, was that Respondent was notgiven explicit au-
thority by his father to speak on behalf of FIC Associates,
nor was Respondent subject to the “direction and con-
trol” of FIC Associates at the September 24th and 26th
meetings. The defense has no merit. If the conductof the
party is such that an inference is warranted that one is
acting on behalf of and with knowledge and consent of
another, an agency exists as a matter of law, irrespective
of the party’s [scope] of actual authority. Choates v.
Board of Assessors of Boston, 304 Mass. 298, 300 (1939).1°
In this case, Respondent spoke on behalf of FIC Associ-
ates and thus it would reasonably appear to members of
the Planning Board that he had authority to further the
interests of his father or his father’s partnership. This is
especially true given that Respondent worked for his
father’s real estate business.

Respondent argues that the presence of a recog-
nized spokesperson, Jack Hodges, negates agency. The
existence of a recognized spokesperson might negate a
finding that someone other than the spokesperson is an
agent. In the Robert Sullivan Decision and Order, the
Commission stated “the presence of arecognized spokes-
person for the corporation, other than Respondent, such
asan attorney might dispel the appearance of an agency”
(at footnote 7, p.20). This assumes, of course, that the



spokesperson participates in the discussion in some way.
In this case Jack Hodges remained silent. Furthermore,
just as a company can have more than one employee, or
hire more than one independent contractor, it can have
more than one agent. 2A G.].S. Agency, §31 (1985), at p.
593. The mere presence of a recognized spokesperson,
without more, does not prevent a finding that someone
else is also acting as agent.

In conclusion, the preponderance of evidence is that
Respondent was speaking on behalf of FIC Associates at
the September 24th and 26th meetings. Speaking on
behalf of another entity constitutesacting asagent within
the meaning of §17."

2. Section 19

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits a municipal
employee from participating as such an employee in a
particular matter in which to his knowledge his family
member has a financial interest. Participate is defined in
§1(j) as to participate in a particular matter “personally
and substantially.” Although there is no doubt that Re-
spondent participated in the discussion to forward the
certification letter to the Planning Board, the Commis-
sion concludes his participation was not substantial.

Notall participation by a municipal employee will be
deemed personal and substantial, In the Matter of John
Hickey, 1983 SEC 158, 159 the Commission stated:

[Njoteveryaction bya public official satisfies the

substantiality requirement. In those instances

where a government employee is involved in

ministerial activity not directly affecting a

particular matter, the conduct maynotconstitute

substantial participation asdefined in the statute,

There are certain terms by which the Commission
has described non-substantial participation. These terms
are ministerial, pro forma, preliminary, after the fact, or
not part of or integral to a decision-making process.
See, e.g. EC-COI-8246 (the filing of an appearance by
an attorney is not personal and substantial involvement);
EC-COI-82-138 (submission of a non-binding list of
qualified contractors, absent any order or indication of
preference, to someone other than the ultimate deci-
sion-maker does not constitute participation in the con-
tract award); EC-COI-82-82 (providing general informa-
tion to decision-makers may not constitute participation
in the decision; “your role was more in the nature of
providing information than decision-making, and some-
what peripheral to the decision-making process”); EG-
COI-82-62 (“[e]diting alone [of a procedural order]
does not constitute participation”); and EC-COI-82-58
(explanation of agency regulations in connection with a
licensing determination does nat constitute participa-
tion in that determination).

In the Matter of John Hickey, 1983 SEC 158, the
Commission found the Respondent not to have partici-
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pated “personally and substantially.” The Commission
stated that as a selectman, Hickey's announcement of a
board of selectmen vote “was ministerial and after the
fact.” Id. The Commission went on to state that Hickey's
presiding over the board of selectmen’s meeting was also
not substantial. The Commission characterized his pre-
siding as “pro forma.” Id. The Commission distinguished
Graham v. McGrail, supra, on the grounds that the
presiding in McGrail was more significant:

At a subsequent meeting where the opponents

to the budgetwere absent, the abstaining member

and the other member alternated disqualifying

themselves from the actual vote but presiding

[sic] over the process undl a budget reflecting

salary increases to their family members was

passed. Presiding over the vote was the mecha-
nism used to ensure completion of the budget
process at a time when those who contested the

budget were absent. Id, n. 3.

A majority vote of a qualified quorum was necessary to
approve the items. Apparently 2 quorum required three
members present, and Hickey's presence was not neces-
sary to the result.

The Hickey case can be contrasted with arecent case,
In the Matter of James Geary, 1987 SEC October 6, 1987,
Adjudicatory Docket No. 323, at 5. In Geary, the subject
voted for his brother’s appointment as police chief and
signed his contract. His participation was not determina-
tive because his brother had the unanimous support of
the other members of the board of selectmen. The
Commission concluded that:

By voting for his brother’s appointment and

signing his brother’s contract, Mr. Geary’s par-

ticipation was “more than a casual or incidental
encounter” but involved a “decision-making
role.” Buss, The Massachusetis Conflict of Inter-

est Statute, An Analysis, 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 335

(1965).

Applying the above precedent to the facts, the
Commission concludes that Respondent’s participation
was not substantial. Respondent requested the Board of
Selectmen to forward a letter to the Planning Board
relative to FIC Associates. Forwarding the letter is best
described as ministerial — the physical act of forwarding.
The letter would have been forwarded in any event. At
best the request was superfluous. These facts do not, by
themselves, rise to the level by “substantial participation.”
The participation was ministerial and after the fact and,
therefore, not substandal.

With respect to the events that occurred after the
Board came out of executive session, Respondent was
drawn into the conversation by other Board members
who carried on public business after the termination of
an executive session meeting. The other Board members
had previously voted to forward the DPW letter to the
Planning Board. Therefore, as a practical matter, it was



necessary for the Board to obtain possession of that letter
and to accomplish this the Board members requested

Respondent to play a role of messenger. Therefore,’

Respondent's statement that he did not have the letter
with him, but would bring it in the next day, after the
executive session had terminated, cannot be deemed to
be participation in an official capacity.

Respondent’s later comment, however, requesting
that the Board of Selectmen agree with the DPW Super-
intendent’s letter contingent upon his producing it the
next day is more problematic." Although no formal vote
was taken, the Board decided that itwould agree with the
" letter contingent upon seeing it. Since the Board of
Selectmen had alreadyvoted to forward its consent to the
Planning Board, it is unclear why the Respondent asked
the Board to agree to the correspondence contingent
upon seeing the letter. [tappears Respondent was under-
taking to assure that the Board of Selectmen would
forward the correspondence to the Planning Board. Not
only was the discussion and decision informal, it was also
superfluous. As noted in Geary, infra, the Commission
has previously drawn a line between casual or incidental
encountersand involvementin the decision-making role.
Although a close question, Respondent’s participation
here appears to be casual discussion.

Petitioner argues that the communication was sub-
stantial by inferring that there was some question whether
the correspondence was actually going to be sent to the
Planning Board pursuant to the earlier discussion. Peti-
tioner’s inference however is not supported by any evi-
dence in the record and in any event is not persuasive.
Therefore, the Commission finds there is insufficient
evidence in the record to find that the communication
was substantial within the meaning of §1(j) of the conflict
law.

IV. Sanction

The Commission may require a violator to pay a civil
penalty of not more than two thousand dollars for each
violation of G.L. c. 268A. G.L. c. 268B, §4(j) (3). Although
the potential maximum fine in this case is $2,000, the
Commission believes that the imposition of the maxi-
mum fine is not warranted. Respondent made an effort
to comply with G.L. c. 268A by not participating as a
member of the Board of Selectmen in particular matters
in which his father had a financial interest. See G.L. c.
268A, §19. Thereisinsufficient evidence for the Commis-
sion to assume that Respondent’s participation had any
determinative effect on the outcome of decisions made
by the Board of Selectmen acting as the Department of
Public Works, whereby they determined there was ade-
quate water and sewerage for Carter Green. Finally, there
was no effort by Respondent to conceal his participation;
Respondent on one occasion made his participation a
matter of public record in an effort to comply with the
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Open Meeting Law.

The violation in this case, on the other hand, cannot
be viewed as technical. Forwarding of the letter was a nec-
essary precondition to the granting of a subdivision.
Expediting the forwarding of that letter was, therefore, of
advantage to Respondent’s father even if there was no
controversy over its contents.'”” As Chairman of the Board
of Selectmen, Respondent was in a position to exert
consciously or unconsciously undue influence upon the
actions of the Planning Board. The public could reasona-
bly ask how members of the Planning Board could make
an objective unbiased decision when a request for action
was made by the chairman of the Town's governing
body." Moreover, there is no evidence Respondent sought
advice as to the propriety of his actions prior to engaging
in what an ordinary person would understand to be ques-
tionable conduct.

In conclusion, Respondent sought to intervene him-
selfon behalf of a private developmenteffortin which his
immediate family had a financial interest. Seeking to
expedite a determination which is critical to a private
development is not inconsequential. A fine reflecting
this fact is appropriate.

V. Order

On the basis of the foregoing pursuant to its author-
ity under G.L. c. 268B, §4, the Commission orders Mr.
Sullivan to pay five hundred dollars ($500.00) to the
Commission asa civil penalty for violation of G.L. c. 268A,

§17(c).

DATE AUTHORIZED: May 19, 1988

!/Specifically, on June 10, 1986, the Commission voled 1o initiate a
preliminary inquiry into whether Respondent violated 17. On Sepiember
15, 1986, the Commission voled to extend the preliminary inquiry. There-
fore, the vole toextend took place 97 daysafier the initial vote to initiate the
preliminary inquiry.

7/Kevin C. Sullivan told the Planning Board at the September 26, 1984
meeting that FIC Associaies, a partnership, was developing Carter Green
The deed assigning ownership to FIC Associates, a partnership, from FIC
Carter and Sons was not recorded until September 25, 1985. Both FIC
Carterand Sons, which was the property holder in September, 1984 and FIC
Associates, a partnership, were compaosed of the same three individuals:
Kevin Sullivan, D. Harold Sullivan, and Costa Psoinos.

The Order to Show Cause refers to the entity other than the Town of
Tewksbury as FIC Carter and Sons, rather than FIC Associates. The Order
constituted sufficient notice ta Respondent of the substance of the allega-
tions. Respandent makes no claim of prejudice. Petitioner moved in his
brief to amend the Order 10 reflect the correct name of the development
cntity. The motion is allowed.

/Robert P, Sullivan, the brother of Kevin Sullivan and Respondent
in the case of In the Mauter of Robert P. Sullivan, Docket Na. 320 (October,
1987} was a member of the Planning Board at the time, but had stepped
dowm from the Planning Board for the discussion.

‘*/Respondent had previously excused himself from participation
and discussion of the availability of watet and sewer hookups at past Board
of Selectmen meetings.

*/The Board did not state that it would be returning to any public
session. This is a requirement of the Open Meeting Law if the Board were
to return to public session. G.L. c. 39, §24B.

*/There is no record of what transpired afier the Scpiember 26, 1984
meeting.

7/Suwie of Limitations: (a) An Order to Show Cause must be issued
within three (3) years after a disinterested person learned of the violation
(b} Arespondent must set forth affirmatively a statute of limitations defense
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{c} When a statute of imitations defense has been asseried, the petitioner
will have the burden of showing that a disinterested person learned of the
violation no more than three (3) years before the Order was issued. That
burden will be satisfied byz 1, an affidavit from the invesugator currently
responsible for the case statlng that the Enforcement Division's complaint
files have been reviewed and no complaint relating to the violation was
recetved more than three (3) years before the Order was Issued, and 2, with
respect to any viokatlon of ¢, 268A other than 23, effidaviu from the
Department of the Attorney General and the appropriate office of the
District Attorney that, respectively, each office hasreviewed its files and no
complaint relating to the viclation was recelved more than three (3) yeans
before the Order was hisued.

*/Even in the absence of a duly promulgated regulation, the use of a
three year statute of limitations codified in G.L.c. 260, 2A would be
appropriate to thiscase. Prior tothe promulgation of 930 CMR 1.02(10) the
Commission decided In its case law on a three year statute of limitations.
The essence of allegations of violations of 17 or 19 s that Respondent
violated his duty to the public, which sounds in tort See In the Matter of
John P, Saccone, 1982 Ethics Commission 87; Saccone v. State Ethics
Commission, 395 Mass. 526 (1985) (reversed on other grounds).

9/This claim was made by Respondent’s autorney, although there is
nothing in the record to support it.

#/Respondent's argument that the doctrine of srict construction re-
quires proof of acual authority and actual direction and control by a
principal is not persuasive. The docurine of strict construction does not
apply to a clvi! administrative agency interpreting a remedial statute See,
Robert J. Quinn v. State Ethics Commission, 401 Mass, 210, footnote 10
(1987).

1 /The Commission has recently summarized in its past precedent re-
garding the phrase “acting as agent” in Commision Advisory #13, dated
January 6, 1988, This advisory states:

Anagentisone whoacts on behalf of another. A municipal employee
acts as agent when he or she appears before or otherwise communi-
cates with a municipal board or agency on behalf of another, submits
an application, petition or ather documentation for another, ar
merely attends a municipal meeting and answers questions for an-
other.

"/The letter was a correspondence signed by Philip Pattison, dated
August 21, 1984, relative to the availability of water and sewer for Carter
Green.

13/Respondent’s counsel, Kevin Sullivan, represented at oral argu-
ment that there was no controversy concerning the adequacy of water and
sewer for the development. There s nothing in the record which supports
or negates this representationt,

14/Althaugh planning board members are elected, they would not be
immune from potential political pressure from the board of sclectmen
{e.§., budget determinations}.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY

DOCKET NO. 335
IN THE MATTER
OF
JOSEPH D. CELLUCCI

Appearances: David A. Wilson, Esq.
Counsel for Petdtioner

Paul G. Holian, Esq.
Counsel for Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps
DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-

ings on September 17, 1987 by filing an Order to Show
Cause pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice
and Procedure, 930 CMR 1.01 (5) (a). The Orderalleged
that Joseph D. Cellucci (Respondent) had violated G.L.
c. 268A, §19 by:

1. onJune 11, 1986, ordering Cambridge Inspec-
tional Services Department (CISD) inspectors to termi-
nate the inspection of a dwelling at 150 Holworthy Street,
Cambridge, a matter in which he and/or members of his
immediate family had a financial interest;

2. between June 11 and July 9, 1986, ordering a
CISD inspector toreinspect 150 Holworthy Street despite
instructions to the contrary from the state Department of
Public Health (DPH) Director of Community Sanitation;

3. onJuly?21, 1986, sending a letter to the Director
of Community Sanitation for DPH defending CISD’s ac-
tions concerning 150 Holworthy Street and questioning
the DPH’s assertion of jurisdiction over the inspection of
150 Holworthy Street;

4. on September 9, 1986, representing the City of
Cambridge ata DPH hearing concerning 150 Holworthy
Streetand raising the issue of whethera CISD inspector’s
request for court orders as to uncorrected violations at
150 Holworthy Street would interfere with DPH’s asser-
tion of jurisdiction over 150 Holworthy Street; and

5. onSeptember 9, 1986, making a notation in the
CISD official file regarding 150 Holworthy Street, which
read:

Pursuant to a directive at a hearing on this date,

only the State will be responsible for the Enforce-

ment of the State Sanitary Code regarding this

property until such time that jurisdictional en-

forcement is resolved.
The Respondent filed his Answer to that Order on Octo-
ber 28, 1987, denying that he ordered CISD inspectors,
on June 11, 1986, to terminate the inspection of 150
Holworthy Street, denying that he, between June 11 and
July 9, 1986, ordered a CISD inspector to reinspect 150
Holworthy Street. Cellucci denied all other material
allegations contained in the Order.

Prior to the hearings, Respondent filed a Motion to
Dismiss contending that Petitioner failed to comply with
the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure by
disclosing confidential information. The Motion was
taken under advisement for the full Commission by
Commissioner Andrea W. Gargiulo, who was designated
as the Presiding Officer.!

Adjudicatory hearings were held on November 30,
1987, December 7, 1987, January 11, 1988 and February
1, 1988. The parties filed posthearing briefs and pre-
sented oral arguments before the Commission on April
13, 1989. In rendering this Decision and Order, each
undersigned member of the Commission has considered
the testimony, evidence and argument of the parties.

H. Findings of Fact
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11,

12.

At all times relevant to these proceedings, Respon-
dent was the CISD Commissioner and, as such, an
employee of the City of Cambridge.

As Commissioner, Respondent is responsible for
overseeing a staff of sanitation inspectors whose re-
sponsibility is to respond to complaints alleging
unsanitary conditions in residential buildings in
Cambridge.

The CISD inspectors enforce the state Sanitary Code.
As CISD Commissioner, Respondent is responsible
for the enforcement of the Code in the City of Cam-
bridge.

At all dmes relevant to these proceedings, a two-
family dwelling at 150 Holworthy Street, Cambridge,
was owned by members of Respondent’s immediate
family. Respondent was a record owner of an undi-
vided onesixth interest in 150 Holworthy Street
from October 20, 1983 until June 20, 1986, when he
sold and transferred that interest to members of his
immediate family.

As of June, 1986, the downstairs apartment at 150
Holworthy Street was occupied by tenants Michael
and Marie Stanley. As of June, 1986, the Stanleys had
been served with an eviction notice for non-payment
of rent. Marie Stanley’s father, Joseph Talarico, was
a former inspector for CISD.

On June 11, 1986, Marie Stanley called the CISD to
complain about conditions at 150 Holworthy Street.
She originally spoke to Joseph Nicoloro, senior sani-
tation inspector at CISD, a good friend of Marie
Stanley’s father who referred the call to John Court-
ney’s department. John Courtney was an inspector
with CISD, Marie Stanley requested that John Court-
ney be assigned to her complaint.

Rudy Williams, a trainee at CISD, fielded the com-
plaint and filled out the official CISD complaint
form.

Complaints received by the CISD are recorded on
complaint record forms which consist of two joined
sheets, the top one being white and the bottom one
being a yellow carbonless copy referred to as the
“back-up copy.”

The CISD inspector writing up the complaint dates
and time stamps the complaint record and files the
yellow back-up copy for logging in an in-basket at the
front of the CISD office. The white original is placed
into the CISD file folder for the particular property
inspected.

CISD office procedure requires that an office super-
visor assign a complaint to an inspector for investiga-
tion.

CISD inspectors were, at all relevant times, assigned
to specific field districts in Cambridge and not ex-
pected to investigate complaints outside their dis-
tricts, The Cellucci house was located in Joseph
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13.

14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

19,

20.

Cremen’s district. As of June 11, 1986, John Court-
ney was an inspector with CISD. He was also, as of
June 11, 1986, the CISD shop steward of the Ameri-
can Federation of State, County and Municipal Em-
ployees. Respondent and John Courtney had a his-
tory of animosity over union disputes. As of March
24,1987, John Courtney was suspended from his job
at CISD for misconduct. The complaints leading to
this suspension had been received as of June 11,
1986.

Courtney took it upon himself to inspect 150
Holworthy Street on June 11, 1986 without seeking,
from a supervisor, assignment of the complaint or
permission to inspect property outside his district.
Courtney asked Joseph Cremens and Rudy Williams
to accompany him to 150 Holworthy Sireet at about
9:45 a.m.

Courtney, Cremens and Williams proceeded to the
Cellucci house, and Courtney conducted a full in-
spection of 150 Holworthy Street. Courtney then
called Howard Wensley, Director of Community Sani-
tation at the DPH, on behalf of the Stanleys, left a
message with the Stanley’s name, and left the house
at 150 Holworthy Swreet.?

At home on the evening of June 11, 1986, Courtney
wrote up Housing Inspection Reportand Order No.
12263 on 150 Holworthy Street from notes he had
made while conducting the inspection and filed his
inspection reporton June 12, 1986, after it had been
co-signed by Cremens and Mr. Williams.® The Cel-
lucci family ultimately spent approximately $5,000
correcting code violations at 150 Holworthy Street.
On June 12, 1986, Respondent conferred with Attor-
ney Robert Amoroso, CISD’s consultant attorney,
concerning the inspection already undertaken and a
future course of conduct for the building depart-
ment. Mr. Amoroso indicated to Respondent that,
because of the inspection already undertaken, juris-
diction over the matter rested with CISD.

Howard Wensley, DPH Director of Community Sani-
tation, received phone calls on June 20, 1986 from
Courtney and Michael Stanley expressing concerns
about multiple outstanding violations of the state
sanitary code and requesting DPH involvernent in
the enforcement. Howard Wensley ordered DPH
supervising sanitarian Jeffrey Lane to inspect 150
Holworthy Street. These inspections took place on
June 23, 1986,* August 5, 1986 and September 8,
1986.5

Sometime between June 12and July9, 1986, Wensley
told Courtney not to reinspect 150 Holworthy Street
because DPH had assumed jurisdiction over the
property.

Courtney reinspected 150 Holworthy Street on July
16, and 28, 1986.” Courtney twice made the entry
“Court order, please” in the CISD file as to the June
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22

23.

24.

25.

26

27.

28,

29.

11,1986 Housing Inspection Reportand onceasto the
separate July 16, 1986 Housing Inspection Report.®
The purpose of these notationswas to indicate to the
CISD court officer that a court order should be
sought ordering the owner to show cause why the
owner should not be found in violation of the Code
because there had been insufficient progress in
correcting the previously cited violations. CISD in-
spectors request that a court order for a show cause
hearing before a magistrate be sought when in their
judgment there has been insufficient progress in
correcting cited Code violations. Courtney’s request
for a court order was denied by the CISD court
officer.

On July 17, 1986, Wensley wrote a letter to Respon-
dent informing him of the DPH inspection of 150
Holworthy Street, highlighting the fact that Respon-
dent's ownership interestin the property created an
appearance of a conflict of interest, and informing
him that DPH would issue an order concerning the
violations at 150 Holworthy Street.

Respondent wrote to Wensley on July 21, 1986, to
assure the state that his department was effectively
enforcing the Code with regard to 150 Holworthy
Street and arguing that the state would not have to
intervene.

On July 21, 1986, Wensley on behalf of DPH, issued
to Respondent, as owner of 150 Holworthy Street, an
order to correct code violations at 150 Holworthy
Street.’

On August 19, 1986, Attorney Jeffrey M. Graber
wrote to Wensley on behalf of the owners of 150
Holworthy Street requesting a hearing concerning
the DPH’s July 21, 1986 order.

The DPH show cause hearing, conducted by Hear-
ing Officer Priscilla Fox, was held on September 9,
1986.

Respondent attended the September 9, 1986 DPH
hearing, as the representative of CISD, to ay o
resolve the jurisdictional dispute over 150 Holworthy
Street.

At the September 9, 1986 hearing, two main issues
were discussed: the status of the violations at 150
Holworthy Street, and whether the CISD or the DPH
had jurisdiction.

Respondent’s participation at the hearing consisted
of listing himself on the attendance sheet as repre-
senting the City of Cambridge, discussing Courtney's
outstanding requests for court orders as they might
interfere with DPH's jurisdiction, and indicating
that he would talk to Courtney about holding off on
the court orders while the jurisdictional issue was re-
solved.

Afterthe hearing on September9, 1986, Respondent
went to the CISD office and wrote on the notation
sheet for the CISD file for 150 Holworthy Street:
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Pursuantto the directive from Howard Wensley, State Di-
rector ata hearing on this date, only the state will be
responsible for the enforcement of the State Sanitary
Code regarding this property until such time that ju-
risdictional enforcement is resolved. J. Cellucci.
Respondent’s purpose in making this entry was to
inform his department’s personne! that no further
action was to be taken in connection with 150
Holworthy Street.

30.

IT1. Decision

The Respondent has been charged with five separate
violations of G.L. c. 2684, §19. We will address each of
these alleged violations separately. Before turning to the
five alleged violations, however, we will discuss certain
preliminary issues.

A. Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss

Respondent moved, in accordance with 930 CMR
1.01(6){d), for dismissal on the grounds of Petitioner’s
failure to complywith the Commission’s Rules of Practice
and Procedure. Specifically, Respondent asserted that
G.L.c.268B, §4 wasviolated by a conversation arepresen-
tative of the Enforcement Division had, sometime in
October of 1987, with Howard Wensley of the state De-
partment of Public Health (a witness in the case} indicat-
ing that information was being sought to help settle the
case. Petitioner has responded that there was no disclo-
sure of any information required to be kept confidential
by either G.L. c. 268B, §4 or 930 CMR 3.01.

Respondent has claimed no prejudice or harm from
this alleged breach of confidentiality. The issue of this
breach of confidentiality, if it was breached by Peti-
tioner’s disclosure that the parties were discussing a
settlement agreement, is best raised in a separate pro-
ceeding brought pursuant to 930 CMR 3.01(9) and
referred to the Attorney General for investigation.!® Ac-
cordingly, Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss is denied. We
would note, however, that the Order to Show Cause in
this case wasissued in September of 1987. This case, at the
time of the November, 1987 conversation at issue, was
already public in accordance with G.L. c. 268B, §4(c) and
(h)."

B. Exemption Burden of Proof

Respondent hasargued, in his post-hearing brief, for
the dismissal of the Order to Show Cause for failure to
state a cause of action. Since our Rules of Practice and
Procedure make no provision for a post-hearing motion
to dismiss, 930 CMR 1.01(6) (d), Respondent’sargument
as to statutory construction is discussed below as an
affirmative defense.

Respondent asserts that Petitioner was required to



plead and prove that Respondent’s conduct was not
within the exception to G.L. ¢. 2684, §19 set forth in
§19(b)(1). Petitionerresponds that Respondent had the
burden of pleadingand provinga§19(b) (1) exceptionas
a matter of defense,

It is well established in Massachusetts law that, as a
general rule of pleading, when an exception or provisg is
embodied in the clause which defines the offense (the
enacting clause), it must be negatived in the indictment
or complaint; but that if it is only found in a subsequent
distinct clause of the same or another statute, it need not
be so negated. Commonwealth v, Jennings, 121 Mass. 47,
49 (1876); G.L. c. 277, §37. “When an exception is not
stated in the enacting clause otherwise than by merely
referring to other provisions of the statute, it need not be
negatived, unless necessary to a complete definition of
the offense.”Id. at51; G.L. c. 277, §37. The exceptions of
§19(b), not being embodied in the enacting clause of
§19, are matters of defense or excuse which must be
plead and proven by the Respondent.

Were we to assign the burden of proof of the exemp-
tion to the Petitioner, such an allocation would be plainly
inconsistent with the expressed intent of the original
framers of G.L. c. 268A. In its Final Report, the Special
Commission on Code of Ethics explained that the format
they had chosen for the statute “was deliberately de-
signed in order to avoid the necessity of indictment and
proof which must carry the burden of negating all such
possible exceptions and exemptions” and declared that
“[i]t was the judgment of the Commission that the bur-
den of proof of an exception or exemption should be on
the public official who claims it.” Mass. House Doc, No.
3650, Final Report of the Massachusetts Special Commis-
sion on Ethics, (April, 1962), at 10. But see, Buss, The
Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analysis,
45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 360 (1965).

Even assuming for the sake of argument that we were
to adopt Respondent’s position, the evidence establishes
that the §19(b)(1) exception is not applicable. Para-
graph 20 of the Order to Show Cause alleges that Respon-
dent failed to comply with §19(b)(1) prior to the acts
charged as constituting violations of §19. In addition,
substantial evidence in the record establishes that Re-
spondent’s participation was not authorized by his ap-
pointing official under §19(b)(1). Respondent testified
that he approached only CISD's consultant Attorney
Joseph Amoroso to discuss the conflict of interest law
after the CISD inspection of 150 Holworthy Street.

C. Substantive Violations

There is no dispute that as Superintendent of CISD,
Respondent is a municipal employee as that term is
defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g). Section 19 of G.L. c. 268A
prohibits him from participating as a municipal em-
ployee in a particular matter in which, to his knowledge,
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he or his immediate family has a financial interest.

Participation for purposes of G.L. c. 268A, §19 is
defined as participation in agency action or in a particu-
lar matter personally and substantially as a municipal
employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, rec-
ommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation or
otherwise. G.L. c. 268A, §1(j)."* A particular matter is any
Jjudicial or other proceeding, application, submission,
request for a ruling or other determination, contract,
claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision,
determination, finding, but excluding enactment of
general legislation by the General Court. G.L. ¢. 2684,
§1(k). The Commission finds that the determinations of
whether there were violations of the Code at 150
Holworthy Street, whether those violations had been cor-
rected and which agency (CISD or DPH)} would enforce
the Code as to the property were “particular matters”
within the meaning of G.L. ¢. 268A, §1 (k), aswas the DPH
show cause hearing concerning 150 Holworthy Street,
and as was the determination of whether court orders
would be sought or otheraction taken by CISD to enforce
the Code as toviolationswhich had not been corrected by
the owners of 150 Holworthy Street within the time
stipulated in the housing inspection reports and orders
filed by Courtney. The Commission also finds that the
Respondent participated in these particular matters by
disapproving, in hisJuly21, 1986 letter to Howard Wensley,
of DPH'’s assertion of jurisdiction over the inspection of
150 Holworthy Street, by representing, on September 9,
1986, the City of Cambridge at a DPH hearing concern-
ing 150 Holworthy Street and raising the issue as to
whether a CISD inspector’s request for court orders as to
uncorrected violations at 150 Holworthy Street would
interfere with DPH's assertion of jurisdiction over 150
Holworthy Street, and by making a notation in the CISD
file on 150 Holworthy Street, on September 9, 1936,
indicating that only the state would be responsible for
enforcement at 150 Holworthy Street.  Petitioner has
also alleged additional violations of G.L. c. 2684, §19
based on Respondent’srole in ordering CISD inspectors
to leave an ongoing inspection of 150 Holworthy Street
on the morning of June 11, 1986, and Respondent’s
ordering a CISD inspector, sometime between June 11
and July 9, 1986, to reinspect 150 Holworthy Street. The
Commission finds that there is insufficient credible evi-
dence to support these twoallegations. The Commission,
in particular, finds CISD Inspector John Courtney's tes-
timony on both of these allegations not to be credible.
Finally, the Commission finds that Respondent and his
immediate family had a financial interest in the contro-
versy surrounding the inspection of 150 Holworthy Street
because as owners of the property, Cellucci’s immediate
family would bear the cost of repairs.

Respondent contends that his July 21, 1986 letter to
DPH, his September 9, 1986 appearance at the DPH
hearing and his September 9, 1986 addition to the file on
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150 Holworthy Street were all acts that did not violate
G.L. c. 268A, §19 in that these acts were done solely with
regard to the jurisdictional conflict with DPH. Respon-
dent'sattempt to draw a line between his participation in
resolving the jurisdictional dispute between CISD and
DPH and participation in the actual inspection at 150
Holworthy Street fails. The determination of whether
there were violations of the Code at 150 Holworthy Street
is one of the particular matters in this case. The jurisdic-
tional issue arose in the context of the controversy sur-
rounding the inspection and a resolution of the jurisdic-
tional issue would have had a reasonably foreseeable
impact on the financial interest of Respondent and his
immediate family in this case. The determination of
whether the violations occurred and which agency would
enforce the Code as to the property were “particular
matters” within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A. These
matters were particular matters in which members of
Respondent’s family had a direct financial interest. Re-
spondent's letter to Wensley on July 21, 1986 indicates
clear knowledge of his immediate family members’
ownership interest of 150 Holworthy Street.

Respondent’s discussion of the particular status of
the inspection and reinspection of 150 Holworthy Street,
in that letter, demonstrates participation in thatdetermi-
nation. The Commission has held that, for the purposes
of §19(a), “participation” is not limited to discretionary
and/or final decisions; rather it is enough that one has
interjected oneself into the making of a decision by a
municipal agency, whether one’s duties required it or
not, and that one’s participation is deemed substantial.
See, In the Matter of George Najemy, 1984 SEC 223, 224,
rev'd on other grounds Najemy v. State Ethics Commis-
sion, Worcester Superior Court No. 85-31001 (1986); In
the Matter of James J. Craven, Jr., 19800 SEC 19, 22 aff'd
sub nom. Craven v, State Ethics Comrmission, 390 Mass.
191 (1983). Respondent’s July 21, 1986 letter falls well
within this standard.’

Respondent’s participation in the September 9, 1986
DPH hearing was clearlyin his official capacity. The juris-
dictional and inspectional controversies were both ad-
dressed at the meeting. His raising at the hearing Court-
ney's requests for court orders on 150 Holworthy Street
was participation in a particular matter in which he knew
his immediate family member had a financial interest.
Respondent, by raising the issue, was attempting to se-
cure exclusive state jurisdiction over 150 Holworthy Street,
justas the July 21, 1986 letter to Howard Wensley, before
Respondent knew of CISD inspector requests for court
orders, sought to secure exclusive CISD jurisdiction over
150 Holworthy Street. Similarly, Respondent’s Septem-
ber 9, 1986 notation to the CISD file, in light of the
unsettled jurisdictional question, was a further attempt
to secure exclusive state jurisdiction over 150 Holworthy
Street. We find that each of these three acts amounts to
personal and substantial participation as defined in G.L.
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c. 268A.81(j).
IV. Sanction

The Commission may require a violator to pay a civil
penalty of not more than two thousand dolars for each
violation of G.L. c. 268A. G.L. c. 268B, §4(j) (3). Although
the potential maximum fine in this case is $6,000, we
believe that the imposition of the maximum fine is not
warranted. This is because we find Respondent’s motives
in these acts to have been a desire to repress insubordina-
tion at CISD and to assert his authority against Howard
Wensley, intertwined with a desire to protect his family’s
financial interests. A genuine complaint to CISD started
this case, but it was a complaint advanced by Respon-
dent's antagonists at CISD that created the context for
Respondent’s acts in violation of §19. The context of
these violations serves as a mitigating factor. Respon-
dent's acts were not neutral, however, and did seek to
protect his family’s financial interest. Therefore, a fine
reflecting these facts is appropriate.

V. Order

On the basis of the foregoing pursuant to its author-
ity under G.L. c. 268B, §4, the Commission orders Re-
spondent to pay one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for three violations of G.L.
c. 2684, §19. '

DATE AUTHORIZED: May 24, 1988

!/Commissioner Gargiulo rt;igncd from the Commission prior 1o
theissuance of this Decision and Order and, therefore, she is not a signatory
hereto.

/Although the record reflects considerable evidence as to an alleged
telephone conversation between Courtneyand Cellucciwhile Courtney was
at 150 Holworthy Street on the morning of June 11, 1986, the Commission
doces not find credible Courtney's testimony that he spoke with Cellueci or
that Cellucci ordered him to werminate the inspection, Accordingly, Peti-
tioner has not carried the burden of proof on allegation number one from
Ppage one, supra.

3/This report listed 12 vielations of the State Sanitary Code including
the necd for the repair of selected stairs, selected walls and ceilings, tilesin
the bathroom, selected floars, windows, the kitchen stove, the front exterior
door, a second exterior door, a leak in the cellar, exposed wires in the
bathroom, and the bathroom water pressure. In addition, the landlord had
not posted his name, address and phone number in the appropriate
manner. The report gave the owners 21 days to reciify the deficiencies and
stated 2 reinspection date of July 9, 1986.

4/This report listed twentysix violations of the State Sanitary Code, in-
cluding the need for the repair of the front porch's ceiling paing, the fromt
doar, the door to the second floor, the front hall ceiling, the kitchen fleor,
the kitchen oven, the pantry floor, the bathroom wall tiles and grouting, the
bathroom faucet, the bathroom ceiling, a bedroom window, the living
raom ceiling, a living room window, the front room’s windows, the rear
closet walls, the leak in the cellar, the front steps, and the rear stairs to the
second floor. In addition, the kitchen was infested with cockroaches, an old
mauress needed to be moved from the celiar, and the owner's name and
address was not posted.

3/This report listed fifteen violations of the State Saniury Code
including eleven outstanding violations from the June 28, 1986 inspection.
In addition, there were problems with a lack of hot water, rodent infesta-
tion, the paniry windows and a hole in the cellar floor.

8/This report listed fourteen violatiens of the State Sanitary Code
including a fack of hot water, rodent infestation, problems with the pancry
windows, the bathroom grouting, the bedroom windows, the froni room
windows, a leak in the cellar, an old sofa pad covering a hole in the cellar



Noar, debris in the storage arca. the front steps, the rear stairway and the
garage foundation

"/ The Julv 16, 1986 reinspection prompted Courtney to write up
another report indicating that the Stanley’s refrigerator was not working
Courtney, on thay date, noted that, of the viokaions listed in his report of
June 11, 1986, numbers 1 and 2 were partially done and there was no
progress on numbers 5,9, and 12. Violations numbers 3,4, 6. 7, 8, 10, and
11 were corrected Courtney subsequently reporied these developments on
the 150 Holwerthy Street file notation sheet. The July 28, 1986 reinspection
found that no progress had been made on the outstanding (as of July 16,
1986) vielatons from either the June 11, 1986 or july 16, 1986 reporis
Courtney reported his findings on the CISD notation sheet.

*/Although Courmney testified that he reinspected on the order of Re-
spondent, the Commission does ol find this testimony credible. We find
more credible Respondent's westimony that he did not discuss the inspec-
tion of 159 Holworthy Street with Courtney.

?/This letter called upon Respondent to adjust the hot water, exter-
minate for roach infestation, repair the oven clement, repair broken
windaws, fix a leak in the front hall, fix the kitchen and pantry floors, repair
bathroam tiles, repair bathroom grouting, repair tle walls at the faucet
spout, repair bathroom and living room ceilings; repair the bath Faucet,
repair bedroom, living room and front room windows, repair the rear
closet, remove debris from the cellar, repair the rear railing and suairway 1o
sccond floor, provide railing on both sides of the front steps, investigate and
repair the cause of mold growth on the living room ceiling and to post the
building with the name, address and telephone number of the owner,

1/ Complaints that Commission members and employees have vio-
lated the provisions of M.G.L. ¢. 268B, 3, 4 or 7 of these regulations shall be
referred to the Attorney Generat for investigation. Such referral shall not
preclude additional sanctions by the Commission.

"/G.L, c. 268A,4{c) states;

“If a preliminary inquiry indicates reasonable cause for belief
that this chapter or said chapter two hundred sixiyeight A has
been vielated, the Commission may, upon a majority vots,
initiate an adjudicatory proceeding 10 determine whether
there has been such aviolation ... (h) All adjudicatory proceed-
ings of the Commission carried out pursuant to the provisions
of this section shall be public, unless the members vote to go
into executive session.”

"/ “Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim,
controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding,
but excluding enactment of general legislation by the general courtand pe-
titions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their
governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 356
IN THE MATTER
OF

WILLIAM E. TURNER, JR.
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and William E. Turner, Jr. (Mr. Turner) pursuant
to section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On September 16, 1987, the Commission initiated a
Preliminary Inquiry into possible violations of the con-
flict of interest law, G.L. ¢. 268A, involving Mr. Turner,
Chairman of the West Bridgewater Zoning Board of
Appeals (Board of Appeals). The Commission concluded
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its inquiry and on February 3, 1988, found reasonable
cause to believe that Mr. Turner violated G.L. c. 2684,
§17.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

Mr. Turner is the Chairman of the Board of Appeals
and was a member of the Board of Appeals at all times
relevant to this proceeding. As a member of the Board of
Appeals, Mr. Turner isa municipal employee as that term
is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).

At all times material herein, Mr. Turner has been a
stockholder and member of the board of directors of the
Turner Steel Company, Inc. (Turner Steel). Mr. Turner

has also been a trustee and one-third beneficial owner of -

the Turner Industrial Park Realty Trust (TIPRT). TIPRT
has owned the real estate, including the buildings, which
houses Turner Steel, and has leased that property to the
company.

On October 27, 1982, Mr. Turner presented a re-
quest to the Board of Appeals on behalf of TIPRT for a
special permit to construct a new building. Mr. Turner
did notactas a Board of Appeals member at the meeting.
The permit was granted unanimously.

On September 16, 1985, an application was made to
further extend the Turner Steel buildings. The building
permitapplication was signed by Mr. Turner on behalf of
TIPRT and was subsequently approved.

Prior to their reprinting in 1980, the West Bridgewa-
ter Zoning Bylaws read, concerning land and industrial
zones, that “no building shall be erected, altered or
placed within 50 feet of any street line, or within 40 feet
of a sideline, nor within 40 feet of a rear lot line.” (Site
plans for the first extension of the Turner Steel facility,
dated July 26, 1982, indicate the 40-foot setback line.)
When the bylaws were reprinted for the town in 1980, the
sideline setback requirement was omitted. The sideline
setback requirement was reinstated in 1986, after its
omission was brought to town officials’ attention. The
1985 extension of the Turner Steel buildings brought the
structures to within 40 feet of the sideline,

A complaint was submitted to the Board of Se-
lectmen in January, 1986, asserting that Turner Steel had
viclated the sideline setback requirement. The chairman
of the Board of Selectmen asked TIPRT to apply to the
Board of Appeals for a variance. Mr. Turner, as a trustee
on behalf of TIPRT, filed a request for a variance on
January 24, 1986, pleading hardship and unintentional
error. Shortly thereafter, and prior to any advertisement
or notice to abutters, Mr. Turner withdrew his variance
appeal.

On March 24, 1986, the West Bridgewater Building
Inspector issued an occupancy permit for the expanded
Turner Steel building.

On June 30, 1986, an appeal of the Turner Steel
building permit was filed with the Board of Appeals.

The Board of Appeals held a public hearing on this

O
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appeal on August 18, 1986. Mr. Turner appeared at this
hearingasatrustee on behalf of TIPRT in order toanswer
questions addressed to him by the Board of Appeals. Mr.
Turner was not there, nor did he act, as a member of the
Board of Appeals.

On September 11, 1986, the Board of Appeals issued
its decision on this appeal. The Board of Appeals deter-
mined that TIPRT must request a vartance within 60 days
of the decision. Mr. Turner, as a trustee on behalf of
TIPRT, filed such a request on October 27, 1986.

On November 25, 1986, the Board of Appeals held a
public hearing to consider TIPRT's request for a vari-
ance. Mr. Turner appeared at the hearing as a trustee on
behalf of TIPRT. Mr. Turner requested that the Board of
Appeals approve the variance and allow the building to
stand due to financial hardship if the building had to be
torn down.

The Board of Appeals issued its decision on

January 7,1987, granting TIPRT avariance on the 40-foot

sideline restriction. The Board of Appeals cited its rea-
sons for the decision as hardship and lack of knowledge
of the sideline restriction by both the applicant for the
variance and the building inspector.

General Laws ¢, 268A, §17 prohibits a municipal
employee, otherwise than as provided by law for the
proper discharge of his official duties, from acting as
agent or attorney for anyone in connection with any
particular matter in which the same town is a party or has
a direct and substantial interest.

Byappearing before the Board of Appealsasa rustee
on behalf of TIPRT on October 27, 1882, August 18, 1986
and November 25, 1986, Mr. Turner acted, otherwise
than in the proper discharge of his duties, as agent for
TIPRT in connection with particular mattersin which the
town had a direct and substantial interest, thereby violat-
ing G.L. c. 268A, §17(c) on each of those occasions.

By filing the September 16, 1985 building permit
application and the January 24, 1986 variance applica-
tion on behalf of TIPRT, Mr. Turner acted, otherwise
than in the proper discharge of his duties, as agent for
TIPRT in connection with matters in which the town had
adirect and substantial interest, thereby violating §17(c)
on each of those occasions.

The Commission has found no evidence suggesting
that Mr. Turner was aware that his actions violated the
conflict of interest law.

WHEREFORE, the Commission hasdetermined that
the public interest would be served by the disposition of
this matter without further enforcement proceedings on
the basis of the following terms and conditions agreed to
by Mr. Tumer:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) as a civil penalty for his
course of conduct in violation of §17(c); and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions pro-

posed under this agreement in this or any related admin-
istrative or judicial proceeding to which the Commission
is or may be a party.

DATE: May 27, 1988

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY

DOCKET NO. 357

IN THE MATTER
OF
DONALD P. ZERENDOW

DISPOSITIONAGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Donald P. Zerendow (Mr. Zerendow) pursuant
to section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On July 27,1987, the Commission initiated a prelimi-
nary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into pos-
sible violations of the conflict of interestlaw, G.L. c. 2684,
involving Mr. Zerendow, the former Chief of the Medi-
caid Fraud Control Unit (MFCU) in the Department of
the Attorney General. The Commission concluded its
inquiry on December 9, 1987, finding reasonable cause
to believe that Mr. Zerendowviclated G.L. c. 268A, §5(b).

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Zerendowwasan Assistant Attorney General
from January, 1975 until January, 1987. Mr. Zerendow
was MFCU Chief from 1978 until January 29, 1987. On
November 7, 1986, Mr. Zerendowinformed the Attorney
General of his intent to resign on or about January 20,
1987. On January 29, 1987, Mr. Zerendow did resign.
Thereafter, he practiced law privately. While MFCU Chief,
he was a state employee as that term is defined in G.L. c.
268A, §1(q).

2. As MFCU Chief, Mr. Zerendow had direct and
intermediate administrative authority to approve, disap-
prove or otherwise direct all MFCU activities, including
decisions such as whether and how to investigate a com-
plaint, whether formally to open a case based on the
initialinformation received and developed, and towhom
such tasks should be assigned. In practice, with respect to
some of these decisions, Mr. Zerendow delegated his
authority to subordinates such as his Chief of Investiga-
tions, among others.

3. InearlyNovember, 1986,aninvestigator at MFCU
received a telephone complaint that a certain podiatrist



(Podiatrist) had requested an allegedly unlawful supple-
mental payment from one of his patients (i.e., a payment
beyond what Medicaid would cover). The initial com-
plaint was reduced to writing in a memo dated November
3, 1986, and forwarded to the Chief Investigator. In a
memo dated November 10, 1986, the Chief Investigator
directed asecond investigator to do a preliminary screen-
ing of the complaint. The Chief Investigator was con-
cerned about the Podiatrist requesting supplemental
payments from his patients as well as so-called upgrades
in services (i.e., charging Medicaid for a more costly
procedure than the one thatwasactually performed). On
November 28, 1986, after the Chief Investigator and the
aforementioned second investigator discussed the re-
sults of the additional investigative steps that had been
taken, the Chief Investigator formally opened and as-
signed the case to that investigator. The Commission
knows of no evidence which would indicate that Mr.
Zerendow was ever made aware of the Podiatrist case
while he was MFCU Chief. Fle wasnot personallyinvolved
in the decision to open the case, nor did he participate in
any discussions or reviews regarding the case during his
remaining two monthsas Chief (MFCU employmentrec-
ords reflect that Mr. Zerendow was on vacation between
November 19 and December 2, 1986). At no time did any
confidential information regarding the case come into
his possession.

4. Little additional investigation was done on the
Podiatrist’s case until in or about February-March, 1987,
when allegedly substantial billing abuses were discov-
ered. After Mr, Zerendow's departure on January 29,
1987, the Podiatrist’s case was assigned to an MFCU
attorney (the MFCU attorney).

5. In mid-April, 1987, the MFCU attorney notified
the Podiatrist's attorney of the foregoing allegations and
disclosed to him the salient facts of the MFCU investiga-
tion. On April 21, 1987, the Podiatrist’s attorney con-
tacted Mr. Zerendow requesting thatMr. Zerendow actas
co-counsel regarding the MFCU investigation of the Po-
diatrist. Mr. Zerendow informed the Podiatrist’sattorney
that before agreeing to act as co-counsel, he had to

inquire of MFCU regarding any potential conflict of

interest problem.

6. On April 22, 1987, Mr. Zerendow contacted the
Acting Chief of the MFCU. Mr. Zerendow testified: that
he told the Acting Chief that he had been contacted to
represent the Podiatrist and was calling to determine if
the Acting Chief saw any conflict problem in such repre-
sentation; that the Acting Chieftold Zerendowhe did not
see a problem and referred Mr. Zerendow's call to the
MFCU attorney. The MFCU attorney told Mr. Zerendow
thatifthe Podiatrist matter was there while Zerendowwas
Chief, then it took a new direction after he left state
employ, that he knew nothing about the case, and that
the MFCU attorney saw no conflict problem. After these
conversations, Mr. Zerendow and the MFCU attorney
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discussed the salient facts of the MFCU'’s investigation.

7. The acting MFCU Chief testified that he could
recall Mr. Zerendow checking with him on one occasion
regarding whether he might have a conflict problem re-
garding a case where Mr. Zerendow was going to be
private counsel in an MFCU matter, but the Acting Chief
could not recall whether Mr. Zerendow checked regard-
ing the Podiatrist case or another case.

8. The MFCU attorney testified that Mr. Zerendow
did raise the conflict issue early in his contacts concern-
ing the Podiatrist case but could not recall the precise
date. He did recall it came up some time early in his
contacts with Mr. Zerendow. When it did arise, according
to the MFCU attorney, he told Mr. Zerendow that the
case had been opened while Mr. Zerendow was Chief,
that Mr. Zerendow had not participated in the case as
Chief, and that the investigation had been relatively
inactive until after Mr. Zerendow resigned. (Neither the
MFCU attorney nor the Acting Chief testified that they
told Mr. Zerendow that there was a conflict problem.)

9. On or about April 22, 1987, Mr. Zerendow in-
formed the Podiatrist’s attorney that he had contacted
MFCU, was told he did not have a conflict problem, and
then had discussed the Podiatrist’s case with the MFCU
attorney. Mr. Zerendow then agreed to act as co-counsel
for the Podiatrist.

10. On April 29, 1987, Mr. Zerendow met with the
MFCU attorney and investigator for approximately one
hour. The MFCU attorney disclosed in more detail the
facts, nature and scope of the investigation.

11. OnMay 1, Mr. Zerendow called the MFCU attor-
neyand requested copies of all of the Podiatrist’s records
that the Podiatrist had submitted to MFCU investigators.

12. On May 8, 1987, Mr. Zerendow and the MFCU
attorney had a telephone conversation regarding the
Podiatrist and other podiatry providers’ billing practices.

13. OnMay29, 1987, Mr. Zerendow had a telephone
conversation with the MFCU attorney regarding involve-
ment of federal investigators in the Podiatrist case. Mr.
Zerendow also requested that the MFCU attorney join
with him in asking the Department of Public Welfare
(DPW) toclarify certain Medicaid procedures. The MFCU
attorney orally declined that request. On the same day,
Mr. Zerendow wrote the MFCU attorney to offer further
medical records of the Podiatristand to request a second
meeting. No additional meetings occurred between Mr.
Zerendow and the MFCU attorney from that day to the
present.

14. On June 4, 1987, the MFCU attorney wrote Mr.
Zerendow confirming that he would not join in Mr.
Zerendow’s request to the DPW.

15. On June 5, 1987, Mr. Zerendow voluntarily dis-
closed his representation of the Podiatrist to the Com-
mission and has had no further contact with MFCU
personnel regarding the Podiatrist's case, Although Mr.
Zerendow has to the present continued to act as counsel



for the Podiatrist except as described above, he has never
appeared before a court, grand jury or any other state or
federal administrative or investigative agency with re-
spect to the Podiatrist’s case.

16. Section 5(b) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a former
state employee, within one year after his last employment
has ceased, from appearing personally before any agency
of the commonwealth as attorney for anyone other than
the commonwealth in connection with any particular
matter in which the commonwealth or a state agencyisa
party or has a direct and substantial interest and which
was under his official responsibility as a state employee at
any time within a period of two years prior to the termi-
nation of his employment.

17. Based on the evidence discussed above, as of
April 22, 1987, Mr. Zerendow was a former state em-
ployee,

18. The conduct which is the subject of this Agree-
mentoccurred between April 22, 1987 and May 29, 1987,
i.e., within one year after Mr. Zerendow’s last employ-
ment with the commonwealth ceased.

19. The investigation of the Podiatrist which began
in November of 1986 and was still continuing as of May
29, 1987, involved a controversy, proceeding and/or
charge(s) and was therefore a particular matter.!

20. Because Mr. Zerendow's subordinates received
the complaint regarding the Podiatrist, did initial screen-
ing of the complaint, and decided to open formally an in-
vestigation into the Podiatrist’s billing practices and
assign an investgator to the case, all in November of
1986, the investigation of the Podiatrist was a particular
matter which was under Mr. Zerendow's official respon-
sibility as a state employee within a period of two years
prior to his resigning on January 29, 1987.

21. By his telephone conversations and meeting, as
described above between April 22, 1987 and May 29,
1987, and by his May 29, 1987 letter, Mr. Zerendow
appeared personally before the MFCU in connection
with the Podiatrist's criminal investigation, thereby vio-
lating G.L. c. 2684, §5(b).

22. The Commission acknowledges Mr. Zerendow's
contention that he did not “appear personally” in the
sense lawyers use that term, i.e., submitting oneselfto the

jurisdiction of a court or administrative tribunal. As the
Commission has previously held, however, “appears
personally” should not be equated with the term “appear-
ance”as used in the law of jurisdiction, and involves more
than one's physical presence before the agency. It can
also involve telephone or written communications. EC-
COI-87-27 (issued July 27, 1987).

23. The Commission also acknowledges Mr. Zeren-
dow’s contention that the Podiatrist matter in the spring
of 1987 involved different allegations than those made
while Mr. Zerendow was Chief. As indicated in §19-20,
however, the matter on which Mr. Zerendow appeared
personally in the spring of 1987 arose out of and was a
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continuing part of the original investigation begun in
November of 1986, Therefore, it did involve the same
particular matter.

24, The Commission is unaware of any evidence to
indicate that Mr. Zerendow knew he was violating §5(b)
when he acted as described above.? In addition, the Com-
mission considers as a mitigating factor Mr. Zerendow's
efforts to determine whether he had a conflict preblem.
Those efforts, however, do not provide a defense Lo this
violation, The Commission will insist on careful and com-
plete compliance with the law from former state employ-
ees. To accept anything less is to invite situations where,
for example, former managers will be able to take advan-
tage of their prior position when subsequently dealing in
their private capacity with former colleagues and subor-
dinates. Questions of preferential treatment inevitably
will arise and resultin a diminishing of public confidence
that such matters are being handled strictly on their
merits,

Mr. Zerendow should have known that since the Po-
diatrist case was opened within the two years preceding
his resignation as chief of MFCU, he could not appear
personally before any court or state agency, including
MFCU, as counsel for the Podiatrist for one year after his
resignation. Even if MFCU personnel told him he would
have no problem, he cannot shift responsibility to others
for his failure to comply with the law.? In order to protect
himself from the risk that his own or others’ analysis of
the situation was incorrect, Mr. Zerendow was entitled to
seek a written opinion from the Commission. Such an
opinion, sought in advance and based on an accurate
representation of the material facts, provides a complete
defense against an alleged violation of the conflict of
interest law.

In view of the foregoing course of conduct in viola-
tion of G.L. c. 2684, §5(b), the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings on the basis of the following terms and
conditions agreed to by Mr. Zerendow:

(1) that he pay to the Commission the sum of one

thousand dollars ($1,000.00)" as a civil penalty for

violating G.L. c. 268A, §5(b); and

(2) that he waive all rights to contest the findings of

fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions

contained in this agreement in any related adminis-
trative or judicial proceeding to which the Commis-
sion is or may be a party.

DATE: May 27, 1988

1/“Particular mauter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim,
controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding,
but excluding enactment of general legislation by the general courtand pe-
titions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws refated 1o their
governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property G.L. c.
2684, §1(k).

1/Ignorance of the law is no defense 1 a violation of G.L. ¢. 268A In



the Matter of Joseph Dovle, 1980 SEC 11, 13 See also, Scola v. Scola, 318
Mass. 1, 7 (1945).

*/See In the Mauer of John | Hanlon, 1986 SEC 253, 253
But for the mitigating factors described above, the Commission would have
insisied upon a higher fine, The Commission may impose a fine of up 10
$92,000 lor each violation.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 359
IN THE MATTER
OF
KENNETH CIMENO
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Kenneth Cimeno (Mr. Cimeno) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures, This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

OnJune 8, 1987, the Commission initiated a Prelimi-
nary Inquiry into possible violations of the conflict of
interestlaw, G.L.c. 2684, involving Mr. Cimeno,aDedham
building inspector. The Commission concluded its in-
quiry, and on October 26, 1987 found reasonable cause
to believe that Mr. Cimeno violated G.L. c. 2684, §19.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Kenneth Cimeno has been an assistant building
inspector for the Town of Dedham since September 22,
1986. As such he wasa municipal employee subject to the
conflict of interest law, G.L., c. 268A.

2. Richard Cimeno is the father of Kenneth Ci-
meno and a former building inspector for the Town of
Dedham. He and his wife founded CKC Realty Trust
(Trust) in 1971 with their children, including Mr. Ci-
meno, as beneficiaries. On July 12, 1984, Mr. Cimeno
joined his parents asa trustee of the Trust, and remained
a beneficiary as well.

3. On August 15, 1986, the Trust purchased a
vacant lot at 78 Bingham Avenue. On December 3, 1986,
an application for a permit to build on the property was
filed on behalf of the Trust by Rita G. Cimeno, Mr,
Cimeno’s mother. Mr. Cimeno submitted the applica-
tion documents to the building inspector for approval.

4. On December 10, 1986, prior to the building
permit application being reviewed by the building in-
spector, Mr. Cimeno signed his (Mr. Cimeno’s) name
approving the plans and application and granted a per-
mit.

5. In 1970, the Trust purchased a property at 502

Sprague Street in Dedham. In 1972, the Trust con-
structed an 80°x 80’ cement block building on the prop-
erty. The Trust has rented the building since that time to
Video Com,

6. Sometime during 1986, Video Com contacted
Richard Cimeno (Mr. Cimeno’'s father) regarding the
possibility of constructing a structure on the property de-
signed to receive microwave iransmissions.

7. Video Comsubmitted a building permitapplica-
tion for the structure in February, 1987. Mr. Cimeno
issued a building permit for the structure on February 19,
1987.

B. Except as otherwise permitted in that section,
§19 of G.L. . 268A prohibits a municipal employee from
participating as such an employee in a particular matter
in which to his knowledge he, his immediate family, ora
business organization in which he is serving as trustee has
a financial interest.!

9. Decisions to issue building permits are particu-
lar matters as that term is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(k).

10. Mr. Cimeno’sand hisimmediate family's owner-
ship interestin the Trust and the Trust's ownership of 78
Bingham Avenue and 502 Sprague Street gave Mr. Ci-
meno and his family a financial interest in the issuance of
the building permits for 78 Bingham Avenue and 502
Sprague Street.

11. By signing and issuing the building permits for
construction of a single family residence at 78 Bingham
Avenue and the microwave reception tower at 502 Spra-
gueStreet, Mr. Cimeno participated in particular matters
in which both he and his immediate family had a finan-
cial interest and thereby violated §19.

12. The Commission has no evidence to suggest that
Mr. Cimeno was aware that his actions violated G.L. c.
268A when he signed and issued the building permits for
78 Bingham Avenue and 502 Sprague Street.?

13. In view of the foregoing violations of G.L. c.
268A, §19, the Commission has determined that the
public interest would be served by the disposition of this
matter without further enforcement proceedings on the
basis of the following terms and conditions agreed to by
Mr. Cimeno:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount

of five hundred dollars ($500.00) as a civil pen-

alty for his violations of §19; and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the find-

ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and

conditions contained in this agreement in any
related administrative or judicial proceeding to
which the Commission is or may be a party.

DATE: June 21, 1988

!/None of the exceptions in §19 is relevant here

*/Ignorance of the law is no defense to a violation of G.L. c. 268A In
the Matter of C. Jaseph Doyle, 1980 SEC 11, 13 See, also, Scola v. Scola, 318
Mass. 1, 7 {1945).



Board of Directors

United States Trust Company
30 Court Street

Boston, MA 02108

RE: PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT LETTER 89-1
Dear Directors:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted a preliminary inquiry into allegations that United
States Trust Company (USTC) entertained a number of
Massachusetts municipal treasurers in the hope of ob-
taining or maintaining banking business, such entertain-
ment involving paying expenses related to Florida golf
trips, in-state golf excursions and numerous dinners,
lunches and beverages.

The results of our investigation, discussed below,
indicate that from 1983 through November, 1985 USTC
appears to have violated the conflict of interest law in this
case. Nevertheless, in view of certain substantial mitigat-
ing factors, also discussed below, the Commission has
determined that adjudicatory proceedings are not war-
ranted. Rather, the Commission has concluded that the
public interest would be better served by disclosing the
facts revealed by our investigation and explaining the
applicable provisions of law, trusting that this advice will
ensure USTC’s continuing compliance with and under-
standing of the conflict law. By agreeing to this public
letter as a final resolution of this matter, USTC does not
necessarily admit to the facts and law as discussed herein.
The Commission and USTC are agreeing that there will
be no formal action against USTC and that USTC has
chosen not to exercise its rights to a hearing before the
Commission.

I. Facts

1. OnNovember 23, 1985, the Office of the Inspec-
tor General, in a document entitled “Report on Munici-
pal Banking Relations” (IG Report), disclosed its find-
ings regarding a number of issues involving the manner
in which municipal weasurers did business with banks.
Included in the IG Report was the following:

The records revealed that banks’ municipal
calling officers entertain public officials and
their guests in a variety of ways, including meals,
drinks, theatre performances, sporting events,
and golf.

Seven Boston-based banks — Bank of Bos-
ton, Bank of New England, Boston Safe Deposit
& Trust, Patriot Bank, Shawmut Bank, State
Street Bank, and U, 8. Trust Company —gave to
municipal treasurers and other public officials
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during the period August 1, 1982 through 1984
hundreds of gratuities worth in total approxi-
mately $138,000. Of this amount, the banks
spent over $85,500 on gratuities given to identi-
fied municipal treasurers and other public offi-
cials, and an additional $52,500 on gratuities
given to municipal treasurers and other public
officials not identified in banks’ entertainment
records.
(1G Report, at xi)! The IG Report also found that of the
seven banks identified, USTC, based on the records it
had submitted, provided more gratuities to certain pub-
lic officials than any other bank (a little over $40,000 for
the period August, 1982 through December, 1984) (IG
Report, at xi, chart). {(The Commission's investigation,
however, found that USTC maintained more complete
records than did some other banks; as the 1G Report
stated, the incomplete and in some instances illegible
records maintained by some other banks could “grossly
understate the scope and value of banks’ gratuities.” (IG
Report, at 70)) The IG Report also noted:

During 1984 alone, 104 municipal treasurers,

almost one-third of all treasurers, apparently

accepted gratuities of substantial value from the
sevenreporting banks ... 24 municipal treasurers
each were given gratuities totaling over $1,000.

Half were given gratuities exceeding $2,000,

seven were given gratuities exceeding $3,000,

and one was given gratuities exceeding $7,000.
(IG Report, at xii).

2. As you know, on June 8, 1987, the Commission
began a formal inquiry into allegations that USTC had
violated the conflict of interest law in its dealings with
certain municipal treasurers.®

3. In addition to reviewing the IG Report (along
with substantial supporling documentation), we con-
ducted an independent examination of USTC’s records,
and certain municipal records, and conducted numer-
ous interviews under oath. Our investigation determined
the following:

a. Asindicated in the chartappearing immediately
below, from 1983 through 1985 USTC paid the expenses
of one or more of the five identified treasurers on 316
occasions involving a total amount of $11,267. These ex-
penses included lunches, dinners, greens fees, and the-
atre tickets. The figures in the chart are minimums
because, when a treasurer has disputed a USTC record
showing an expense payment to him, we generally gave
him the benefit of the doubt and deleted that item.

CHART
Total Total # Fla. Trips Total $ Value
$ Grat’s 83/84/85 Fla. Trip Exp
Collas $4,253 138 83, 84,85 $1,107



Scafidi $2,599 78 83, 84,85 $1,107
Brunelli $1,772 37 B3, 84,85 $1,107
Lewis $1,534 41 83 &84 $743
Croaui  $1,109 32 84 $375

311,267 316

b. Regarding the Florida trips, USTC paid for golf
greensand carts fees, balls, in-state transportation, meals
and liquor. The individual treasurers paid for their own
transportation to and from Florida and for their hotel
rooms. Meal expensesinvolved the payment of groceries,
inasmuch as food was cooked by the treasurers in their
hotel rooms.

¢. Forthree of the five identified treasurers, USTC
paid for expenses in connection with Massachusetts golf
excursions where those expenses (greens and cart fees,
and food and beverage expenses) exceeded $100 for a
given event.®

d. USTC paid the foregoing expenses through
expense accounts provided to its employees in its Munici-
pal Services Department. Most of those expenses were au-
thorized and paid through Richard Brown, Sr., a former
vice president in charge of the department. All of these
expenses were duly noted on monthly expense account
reports submitted by Brown and each of his staff mem-
bers, and reviewed by officials at the bank.

e. Whenasked why the bank provided these gratui-
ties to municipal treasurers, Brown stated it was because
all the banks were selling basically the same services and
that each of his competitors was engaged in the same
practice. It was USTGC's goal to develop a personal rap-
port with the municipal treasurers to ensure obtaining
and retaining their business, According to Brown, USTC
was willing to spend a substantial amount a year having
Brown out on the road developing these personal rela-
tonships in order to bring municipal money into the
bank, Brown stated it was USTC’s view that a municipal
treasurer did not identify with a bank as much as it
identified with the person representing a bank. Brown's
way of handling this was to get to know the treasurers
personally by taking them out for meals or goif or some
other type of entertainment, according to Brown, Brown
also noted that those municipal treasurers on whom he
spent expense account money at dinners, golf, plays, and
other entertainment more often than not did more
business with USTC than treasurers who were notreceiv-
ing such gratuities.

Brown stated that it was he who suggested the initial
golf trip to Florida. He stated that the understanding he
had with the treasurers was that USTC would pay for the
golf and accompanying fees and the cost of dinner each
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night. He stated that USTC also covered the ground
transportation costsin Florida. He admitted that the trips
were strictly social, but asserted that there was no quid
pro quo involved in the sense of any understanding that
the treasurers would give any preferential treatment 1o
USTC in exchange for the entertainment they received.

f.  Eachofthe treasurers acknowledged that he was
aware that the purpose of USTC paying for certain golfor
meals expenses was that the bank was trying to obtain
more of the town’s or city’s business. At the same time,
each treasurer insisted that he always made his banking
decisions on objective grounds and was not in fact influ-
enced by his expenses being paid by USTC.

g. The amount of business that any one of these
treasurers could and did give to USTC was substantial.
For example, one treasurer estimated that he deals with
receipts of approximately $100 million dollars a year, all
of which have to be deposited in banks at his discretion,
subject to fiduciary guidelines. From June, 1983 through
January, 1987, his city purchased 54 certificates of deposit
from USTC ranging in duration from 14 days to 205 days,
with total average balances at USTC of approximately
$2,000,000. In addition, the city (like other municipali-
ties dealing with other banks) maintained a non-interest
bearing account with USTC during that time period
which had an average monthly balance of approximately
$225,000.00 before December, 1985 (prior to the IG's
Report) and approximately a $20,000.00 monthly bal-
ance from December, 1985 through June, 1987.

h. Prior to 1984 USTC had confirmed with its
outside public accounting firm that the expenditures for
entertainmentbyits Municipal Services Departmentwere
consistent with the entertainment expenses of other
banks in this field. In 1984, after becoming aware of the
ongoing Inspector General investigation, senior officials
at USTC discussed the issue of the foregoing expense ac-
counts. The bank reached no decision to change its
course of conduct at that time. According to USTC
officials, in the spring of 1985 USTC began to formulate
awritten Code of Conduct regarding the entertainment
of public officials. After the IG Report was made public
on November 23, 1985, the new Code of Conduct was re-
viewed for consistency with the recommendations in the
Report. On December 5, 1985 the Code of Conduct was
adopted by USTC and distributed to its employees. The
USTC Code of Conduct directs its employees to be
sensitive to conflict of interest concerns, and to keep
their expenses in dealing with municipal officials to
below $50 on any given occasion. It also states that such
expenses should not be repetitive.

i. Based on the evidence the Commission has re-
viewed, it appears that USTC employees have complied
with the December 5, 1985 Code of Conduct.

J-  The Commission is not aware of any evidence
indicating any of the foregoing treasurers has been of-
fered oraccepted anyentertainment of substantial value
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from USTC after the IG Report was issued on November
28, 1985.

k. Brown stated that one or more of the treasurers
raised the issue of whether it was legal for USTC to pay for
a portion of their expenses on the Florida trips. Brown
stated thatin 1985 he consulted with USTC officials, and
then informed one or more of the treasurers that in
USTC's view it was legal for USTC to pay these expenses.

II. Discussion

Section 3(a) of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
2684, in relevant part, prohibits anyone, otherwise than
as provided by law for the proper discharge of official
duties, from giving an item of substantial value to a
municipal employee for or because of any official act
performed or to be performed by such employee.

As the Commission stated In the Matter of George
Michael, 1981 SEC 55, 68:

Apublicemployee maynotbeimpelled towrong-
doing as a result of receiving a gift or gratuity of
substantial value in order for a violation of §3 to
occur. Rather, the gift may simply be a token of
gratitude for a well-done job or an attempt to
foster goodwill, All that is required to bring §3
into play is a nexus between the motivation for
the gift and the employee’s public duties. If this
connection exists, the giftis prohibited. To allow
otherwise would subject public employees to a
host of temptations which would undermine the
impartial performance of their duties, and per-
mit multiple remuneration for doing what
employees are already obliged to do — a good
job.

For §3 purposes, it is unnecessary to prove that the
gratuities given were generated by some specific identifs-
ableactperformed or to be performed. Itis sufficient that
the gratuities are given to the official “in the course of his
everyday duties for or because of official acts performed
or to be performed by him and where he was in a pesition
to use his authority in a manner which could affect the
gift giver.” United States v, Standefer, 452 F. Supp. 1178,
1183 (W.D. Pa. 1978) (aff’d on other grounds, 447 U.S.
10 (1980)), citing United States v. Niederberger, 580
F.2d 63 (8rd Cir. 1978). See also United States v. Evans,
572 F. 2d 455 (5th Cir. 1978). As the Commission ex-
plained in Advisory No. 8:*

In fact, even in the absence of any specifically

identifiable matter that was, is or soon will be

pending before the official, §3 may apply. Thus,
where there is no prior social or business rela-
tonship between the giver and the recipient,
and the recipient is a public official who could
affect the giver, an inference can be drawn that

the giver was seeking the goodwill of the official

because of a perception by the giver that that
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publicofficial'sinfluence could benefit the giver.

In such a case, the gratuity is given for as yet

unidentified “acts to be performed.”

In Commission Advisory No. 8 the Commission
declared that gratuities to public officials such as tickets
to theatre or sporting events which exceed $50 would be
considered “substantial value.” The Commission further
stated thata gift of several tickets, each valued at less than
$50, is a gratuity of substantial value if the total value of
the tickets exceeds $50. Finally, the Commission noted,

A §3 issue may arise if there is a standing offer to

be accepted atany time for tickets, Itislikely that

any such offer would be deemed to involve sub-

stantial value. Similarly, if there is a matter of

periodically giving a public official tickets, the
course of conduct will be evaluated as toits value.

This would be the case, for example, if someone

gaveapublic official aticket toan entertainment

event each and every weekend.

The facts set forth in this letter, if proven, would
appear to establish a violation of §3(a) by USTC. Thus, as
no one disputes, USTC on numerous occasions paid for
golfing expenses in Florida and Massachusetts for mu-
nicipal treasurers where those expenses substandally
exceeded $50. Indeed, for three treasurers those ex-
penses exceeded $1,000. Consequently, USTC did pro-
vide municipal officials with items of substantial value.

In addition, the evidence would indicate that at least
as to Treasurers Collas and Scafidi, USTC paid for their
expenses on a sufficient number of instances within a
shorttime period that even though each paymentwasless
than $50 in value, the payments should be aggregated.
Therefore, USTC gave these two treasurers items of
substantial value in this respect as well. Thus, the Com-
mission views USTC’s having provided two treasurers
with 138 and 78 gratuities in a two-year period as indicat-
ing either that those treasurers had a standing offer to
have USTC pay for their expenses, or, alternatively, that
the pattern of payments was such that it should be
considered as a course of conduct within the meaning of
Advisory No. 8.

That there was a standing offer is supported by
Brown's statement that whenever he saw a treasurer, it
was his standard procedure to invite the treasurer for
lunch or dinner, One treasurer stated that he knew that
he could have a lunch or dinner whenever bank officials
visited him. It is also reasonably clear from the evidence
that each of the treasurers knew that he could have
Brown pay for a round of golf at USTC's expense at any
time, including food and beverages afterwards.

The numbers are also probative. For example, 138
gratuities over a two-year period indicates that USTC was
paying Treasurer Collas’s expenses more than once a
week. In addition, the total value of those 138 occasions
was $4,253, a total which is again suggestive of a standing
offer.



Alternatively, in light of the frequency of the expense
payments for these two treasurers, the Commission would
conclude that USTC was involved in a course of conduct
with each treasurer which involved substantial value.
Therefore, whether considered a standing offer or a
course of conduct, USTC was giving these treasurers
items of substantial value by virtue of the numerous occa-
sions on which it paid for their entertainment expenses,
even where those individual occasions did not exceed
§50.5

The facts would also indicate that there was a clear
connection between USTC paying for these expenses
and USTC's objective that these municipal treasurers
would either continue or expand their town'’s or city's
business with USTC. Thus, former vice president Brown
stated that by entertaining these treasurers, he could
establish personal relations with them, which in turn
would likely result in their doing more business with
USTC. In other words, USTC's motive in expending
these monies was to foster goodwill with these treasurers,
That is precisely the motive or intent which lies at the
heart of a §3 violation. Thus, the prohibited connection
or nexus between these entertainment expenditures and
the treasurers’ duties would be established by these facts.

On the other hand, the Commission has not found
any evidence that any of these treasurers provided USTC
with preferential treatment as a result of these expendi-
tures. In addition, there is no evidence that USTC made
any personal loans to these five treasurers. Nor is there
anyevidence thatany of these treasurers entered into any
kind of corrupt agreement by which USTC would pro-
vide payments in exchange for specific official acts to be
taken by the treasurer. Had the Commission found sub-
stantial evidence of preferential treatment or ofa corrupt
agreement, this matter would not have been resalved
with a public enforcement letter.®

It could be argued that to the extent these expenses
were necessary and appropriate to legitimate business
transactions, such asa business lunch to discussa banking
proposal, then the expenditures should not be consid-
ered unlawful gratuities. There is some support for this
view. See, e.g., State v. Prybil, 211, N.W. 2d 308 (Iowa
1973). The Commission, however, has taken the position
that a public employee cannot accept private reimburse-
ment for his business expenses. See, e.g., EC-COI-88-5.7

The Commission precedents, such as EC-COI-88-5,
deal with vendors paying for business trip expenses, in-
cluding transportation, lodging, meals and so forth. The
Commission has not, however, addressed the specific
issue ofa meal perse,and, more specifically, the so—called
“business lunch.” For purposes of §3, there is no logical
distinction between transportation and lodgings on the
one hand and meals and beverages on the other, so long
as “substantial value”is involved. Therefore, the Commis-
sion takes the position that vendors should not directly
pay for any of the expenses of public officials whether or

359

not in connection with conducting official business, if
those payments involve substantial value. The potential
for abuse is too great in those situations. Instead, either
the public agency in question should pay for the official’s
expenses, or consideration should be given to whether
the statutes and ordinances which apply allow for the
vendor to pay for the public official’s expenses by making
a payment to the public treasury specifically earmarked
for those expenses. In turn the public official can have his
expenses paid for in the ordinary way. (See, e.g., G.L. c.
41, §53A.)

In any event, there are several important mitigating
factorswhich point toa public enforcement letter, rather
than some more serious sanction, as being the proper
resolution of this matter. One, prior to the IG Report, the
practice of banks paying for public officials’ entertain-
ment expenses including meals, beverages, sporting
events, theatre tickets, and golf was clearly a widespread
practice, and one which remains acceptable in the pri-
vate sector. That the practice was widespread is well-
illustrated by the IG Report noting that 104 treasurers
received such gratuities, and all seven banks which were
contacted appear to have been involved in the practice.?
Two, after the IG Report wasissued in November of 1985,
USTC promptly adopted a policy requiring its staff to
comply strictly with the conflict of interest concerns
articulated in that report. As far as the Commission is
aware, USTC employees have complied with that stated
policy. Three, until today, the Commission has not had
the occasion to articulate a position regarding private
parties paying for meals and beverages incidental to the
transaction of business, nor had the Commission, prior
to its May, 1985 Advisory No. 8, indicated it would
aggregate items of value to meet the substantial value
threshold.

The Commission's decision to allow USTC to resolve
this matter with a public enforcement letter should not
be construed as indicating it does not consider the issues
raised by USTC's conduct to be serious. But for the
mitigating factors just described, the Commission would
have pursued this matter through adjudicatory proceed-
ings. It is of critical importance that the public have
complete confidence that municipal treasurers make in-
vestment decisions, often involving millions of dollars of
public funds, in a manner which best serves the public
interest. The public hasa right notonly to insist on actual
impartality and objectivity in the performance of such
fiduciary duties, but also the right to expect that munici-
pal treasurers will avoid even the appearance of impro-
priety in dealing with banking institutions.’ When a bank
pays for any of the personal expenses of a municipal
treasurer, but particularly when those expenses climb
into the thousands of dollars and involve payments oc-
curring as frequently as once aweek, then there is at least
the appearance of impropriety, and enormous potential
for real abuse. Based on the evidence, it appears that
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USTC has stopped this practice. The Commission trusts
that all other banks have done so as well.!®

III. Disposition

Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter should be
sufficient to ensure USTC's continued compliance with
and understanding of the conflict law. This matter is now
closed.

DATE: August 15, 1988

'/ The “gratuities™ referred to in the IG Report are for the most part
entertainment expenses.

*/The Commission’s investigation of this matter was delayed while
the Department of the Attorney General reviewed the issues raised by the
1G Report. It was subsequently agreed that the matter should be resolved
by the Commisston. After careful consideration the Commission chose to
focus its inquiry on those treasurers who allegedly received each of the
following: (1) out-of-state golf expenses; (2) in-state expenses greater than
3100; and {3) expenses paid on 50 or more instances occurring from 1983
through 1884. Application of these criteria resulted in the Commission in-
vestigating five municipal treasurers (Plymouth Treasurer Andrew Collas,
Newton Treasurer Theodore L. Scafidi, Franklin Treasurer Albent R
Brunelti, Evereut Treasurer Frank E. Lewis, and Framingham Treasurer
Donald Croatti). Finally, the Commission chose 1o focus on the relation-
ship between those five treasurers and USTC because (a) most of the
cxpense paymenu involving those five treasitrers were attributable 1o
USTC, and (b} arcording to the IG Report, 23 discussed above, USTC by far
paid more expenses for municipal treasurers than any other bank {(Again,
as stated above, apparently not all of the banks submitted adequate
records, ),

%/ Treasurer Collas had such expenses paid by USTC on two occasions
involving a total payment of $217 by USTC. Treasurers Scafidi and Brunelli
cach attended one Massachuseus golfing event where their expenses paid
for by USTC exceeded $100 ($108 each).

*/Tssued May 14, 1985.

*/Some treasurers have rised an issue as to whether the expenses of
a treasurer’s guest should properly be anributed to the treasurer for
purposes of determining whether he received substantial value. Section 3
does require that the item of substaniial value be for the municipal official
as opposed to someone else, Compare 2 {bribes) which is not so limited.
In the Commission’s view, however, where presumably the treasurer would
have had to pay for his guest’s expenses if USTC did not pay for them, the
value of USTC paying for the wreasurer’s guest can be attributed to the
treasurer.

Certain treasurers have also raised an issue as to the unfairness of
dividing a total meal cost by the number of people present to determine the
value the treasurer reccived. Treasurers have stated that on some occasions
they may not have caten asmuch as the others present, or they may not have
eaten anything but only had a drink, or where there was a large liquor bill,
they inzy have only had soft drinks. kn the Commission's view, it is appro-
priate to infer that when 2 group participates in an enlertainment event,
whether it be golf, a meal, or drinks, the expenses are generally shared
equally. That inference, of course, could be overcome by the testimony of
those present.

*/The Commission can impose up to a $2,000 fine for cach violation

of G.L. c. 268A. The Commission can also bring an action in $uperior Count
under G.L. ¢. 2684, 21(b) to seck to obtain up to three times the amount
of any unjust enrichment derived by any party from having violated the
conflict of interest law,
See alsa the Office of Governmenual Ethics Memorandum dated October
23, 1987, stating in part, "In generad, an Executive branch employee’s
acceptance of ‘one-on-one’ meals from someone who hosts that individual
because of his or her government position is prohibited, regardless of the
cost of the meal.”

7/In singling out the five treasurers and USTC for public serutiny, we
are mindful that many others appear to have violated the gratuities section
of the conflict law, and thus fiirness considerations should playarole in the
dispasition of this matter.

*/ As the Supreme Judicial Court said in Board of Selectmen of Avon
v. Linden, 352 Mass, 581, 583 (1967): “The Legislature found it advisable 10
enact a conflict of interest law. This was as much 1o prevent giving the
appearance of conflict as to suppress all iendency to wrongdoing. [Tlhe
Legislature did not see fit o rely upon the restraints of decency, propriesy
and fair play, upon the law of libel, or upon the power of the electoraie o
climinate unworthy office holders.”
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"*/The Commission does not mean to imply that it would not
investgate and ke sterner action against a bank which was found to
violate §3 after the IG Report was issued but before the date of this leuer.,

Andrew Collas

Town of Plymouth Treasurer
c/o George M. Matthews, Esq.
Kopelman & Paige, P. C,

77 Franklin Street, Suite 1000
Boston, MA 02110

Theodore L. Scafidi

City of Newton Treasurer

¢/0 Donald L. Conn, Jr., Esq.
Conn, Austin, Conn & Senior
USTC Building

331 Montvale Avenue, Suite 601
Woburn, MA 01801

Albert R. Brunelli

Town of Franklin Treasurer
¢/ o0 Paul A. Cataldo, Esq.
Bachner, Roche & Cataldo

55 West Central Street
Franklin, MA 02038

Frank E. Lewis

City of Everett Treasurer
¢/o Richard J. O'Neil, Esq.
433 Broadway

Everett, MA 02149

Donald Croatd

Town of Framingham Treasurer

c/0 Michael S. Gardener, Esq.

Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky & Popeo, P. C.
One Financial Center

Boston, MA 02111

RE: PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT LETTER 89-2
Dear Sirs:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted a preliminary inquiry into allegations that United
States Trust Company (USTC) entertained the five of
you as municipal treasurers in the hope of obtaining or
maintaining banking business, such entertainment in-
volving paying expenses related to Florida golf trips, in-
state golf excursions and numerousdinners, lunchesand
beverages.

The results of our investigation, discussed below,
indicate that from 1983 through 1985 you appear to have
violated the conflict of interest Jaw in this case. Neverthe-
less, in view of certain substantial mitigating factors, also
discussed below, the Commission has determined that



adjudicatory proceedings are not warranted. Rather, the
Commission hasconcluded that the publicinterestwould
be better served by disclosing the facts revealed by our
investigation and explaining the applicable provisions of
law, trusting that this advice will ensure both your under-
standing of and compliance with the conflict law. By
agreeing 1o this public letter as a final resolution of this
matter, you do not necessarily admit to the facts and law
asdiscussed herein. The Commission and each of you are
agreeing that there will be no formal action against you
and you have chosen not to exercise your rights to a
hearing before the Commission.

I. Facts

1. OnNovember 23, 1985, the Office of the Inspec-
tor General, in 2 document entitled “Report on Munici-
pal Banking Relations™ (IG Report), disclosed its find-
ings regarding a number of issues involving the manner
in which municipal treasurers did business with banks,
Included in the 1G Report was the following:

The records revealed that banks’ municipal
calling officers entertain public officials and
their guests in a variety of ways, including meals,
drinks, theatre performances, sporting events,
and golf,

Seven Boston-based banks — Bank of Bos-
ton, Bank of New England, Boston Safe Deposit
& Trust, Patriot Bank, Shawmut Bank, State
Street Bank, and U. 8. Trust Company — gave to
municipal treasurers and other public officials
during the period August 1, 1982 through 1984
hundreds of gratuities worth in total approxi-
mately $138,000. Of this amount, the banks
spent over $85,500 on gratuities given to identi-
fied municipal treasurers and other public offi-
cials, and an additional $52,500 on gratuities
given to municipal treasurers and other public
officials not identified in banks’ entertainment
records.

(IG Report, at xi.)! The IG Report also found that of the
seven banks identified, USTC, based on the records it
had submitted, provided more gratuities to certain pub-
lic officials than any other bank (a little over $40,000 for
the period August, 1982 through December, 1984) (IG
Report, at xi, chart). (The Commission’s investigation,
however, found that USTC maintained more complete
records than did some other banks; as the IG Report
stated, the incomplete and in some instances illegible
records maintained by some other banks could “grossly
understate the scope and value of banks’ gratuities.” (IG
Report, at 70))
The IG Report also noted:

During 1984 alone, 104 municipal treasurers,

almost one-third of all treasurers, apparently

accepted gratuities of substantial value from the
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seven reporting banks... 24 municipal treasurers

each were given gratuities totaling over $1,000.

Half were given gratuities exceeding $2,000,

seven were given gratuities exceeding $3,000,

and one was given gratuities exceeding $7,000.

(IG Report, at xii}.

2. Asyou know, on June 8, 1987, the Commission
began a formal inquiry into allegations that each of you
had violated the conflict of interest law in your dealings
with USTC.

3. In addition to reviewing the IG Report (along
with substantial supporting documentation), we con-
ducted an independent examination of USTC's records,
and certain municipal records, and conducted numer-
ousinterviews under oath. Our investigation determined
the following:

a. Asindicatedin the chari appearing immediately
below, from 1983 through 1985 USTC paid expenses of
one or more of the five of you on 316 occasions involving
a total amount of $11,267. These expenses included
lunches, dinners, greens fees, and theatre tickets. The
figures in the chart are minimums because, when one of
you disputed a USTC record showing an expense pay-
ment, we generally gave you the benefit of the doubt and
deleted that item.

CHART
Total Total # Fla. Trips Total § Value
$ Grat’s 83/84/85 Fla. TripExp.
Colls  $4,258 138  83,84,85 $1,107
Scafidi  $2,599 78  83,84,85 $1,107
Brunelli $1,772 87  83,84,85 $1,107
Lewis  $1,584 41 83 &84 $743
Croati $1,100 32 84 $375

$11,267 316

b. Regarding the Florida trips, USTC paid for golf
greensand carts fees, balls, in-state transportation, meals
and liquor. The five of you paid for your own transporta-
tion to and from Florida and for your hotel rooms. Meals
expenses involved the payment of groceries, inasmuch as
food was cooked by you in your hotel rooms.

c. For three of you, USTC paid for expenses in
connection with Massachusetts golf excursions where
those expenses (greens and cart fees, and food and
beverage expenses) exceeded $100 for a given event.’

d. USTC paid the foregoing through expense ac-
counts provided to itsemployeesin its Municipal Services
Department. Most of those expenses were authorized
and paid through Richard Brown, Sr., a former vice



president in charge of the department. All of these
expenses were duly noted on monthly expense account
reports submitted by Brown and each of his staff mem-
bers, and reviewed by officials at the bank.

e. Whenasked why the bank provided these gratui-
ties to municipal treasurers, Brown stated it was because
all the banks were selling basically the same services and
that each of his competitors was engaged in the same
practice. It was USTC's goal to develop a personal rap-
port with the municipal treasurers to ensure obtaining
and retaining their business. According to Brown, USTC
was willing to spend a substantial amount a year having
him out on the road developing these personal relation-
ships in order to bring municipal money into the bank.
Brown stated it was USTC’s view that a municipal treas-
urer did not identify with a bank as much as it identified
with the person representing a bank. Brown's way of
handling thiswas to get to know the treasurers personally
by taking them out for meals or golf or some other type
of entertainment, according to Brown. Brown also noted
that those municipal treasurers on whom he spent ex-
pense account money at dinners, golf, plays, and other
entertainment more often than not did more business
with USTC than treasurers who were not receiving such
gratuities.

Brown stated that it was he who suggested the initial
golf trip to Florida. He stated that the understanding he
had with the treasurers was that USTC would pay for the
golf and accompanying fees and the cost of dinner each
night. He stated that USTC also covered the ground
transportation costsin Florida. He admitted that the trips
were strictly social, but asserted that there was no quid
pro quo involved in the sense of any understanding that
the treasurers would give any preferential treatment to
USTC in exchange for the entertainment they received.

f. Each of you acknowledged that you were aware
that the purpose of USTC paying for certain golf or meals
expenses was that the bank was trying to obtain more of
the town's or city’s business. At the same time, each ofyou
insisted that you always made your banking decisions on
objective grounds and were notin factinfluenced by your
expenses being paid by USTC.

g. The amount of business that each of you could
and did give to USTC was substantial, For example, one
of you estimated that you deal with receipts of approxi-
mately $100 million dollars a year, all of which have tobe
deposited in banks at your discretion, subject to fiduciary
guidelines. From June, 1983 through January, 1987, your
city purchased 54 certificates of deposit from USTC
ranging in duration from 14 days to 205 days, with total
average balances at USTC of approximately $2,000,000.
In addition, the city (like other municipalities dealing
with other banks) maintained a non-interest bearing
accountwith USTC during that time period which had an
average monthly balance of approximately $225,000.00
before December, 1985 (prior to the IG’s Report) and
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approximately a $20,000.00 monthly balance from De-
cember, 1985 through June, 1987.

h. Prior to 1984 USTC had confirmed with its
outside publicaccounting firm that the expenditures for
entertainmentbyits Municipal Services Departmentwere
consistent with the entertainment expenses of other
banks in this field. In 1984, afier becoming aware of the
ongoing Inspector General investigation, senior officials
at USTC discussed the issue of the foregoing expense ac-
counts. The bank reached no decision to change its
course of conduct at that time. According to USTC
officials, in the spring of 1985 USTC began to formulate
awritten Code of Conduct regarding the entertainment
of public officials. After the IG Report was made public
on November 23, 1985, the new Code of Conduct was re-
viewed for consistency with the recommendations in the
Report. On December 3, 1985 the Code of Conduct was
adopted by USTC and distributed to its employees. The
USTC Code of Conduct directs its employees to be
sensitive to conflict of interest concerns, and to keep
their expenses in dealing with municipal officials to
below $50 on any given occasion. It also states that such
expenses should not be repetitive.

i. Based on the evidence the Commission has re-
viewed, it appears that USTC employees have complied
with the December 5, 1985 Code of Conduct,

j- The Commission is not aware of any evidence
indicating any of you have accepted any entertainment of
substantial value from USTC after the IG Report was
issued on November 23, 1985.

k. Brown stated that one or more of you raised the
issue of whether it was legal for USTC to pay fora portion
of your expenses on the Florida trips. Brown stated that
in 1985 he consulted with USTC officials, and then
informed one or more of you that in USTC's view it was
legal for USTC to pay these expenses.

II. Discussion

As municipal treasurers each of you is a municipal
employee subject to the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A. Section 3(b) of G.L. c. 2684, in relevant part,
prohibits a municipal employee, otherwise than as pro-
vided by law for the proper discharge of official duties,
from soliciting or accepting an itemn of substantial value
from anyone for or because of any official act performed
or to be performed by such employee.*

As the Commission stated In the Matter of George
Michael, 1981 SEC 59, 68:

A public employee maynotbe impelled to wrong-

doing as a result of receiving a gift or gratuity of

substantial value in order for a violation of §3 to
occur. Rather, the gift may simply be a token of
gratitude for a well-done job or an attempt to

foster goodwill. All that is required to bring §3

into play is a2 nexus between the motivation for



the gift and the employee's public duties. If this

connection exists, the giftis prohibited. To allow

otherwise would subject public employees to a

host of temptations which would undermine the

impartial performance of their duties, and per-

mit muliiple remuneration for doing what

employees are already obliged to do — a good

job.

JFor §3 purposes, it is unnecessary to prove that the
gratuities given were generaled by some specific identifi-
ableact performed or to be performed. Itissufficient that
the gratuities are given to the official “in the course of his
everyday duties for or because of official acts performed
or to be performed by him and where he wasin a position
to use his authority in 2 manner which could affect the
gift giver.” United States v. Standefer, 452 F. Supp. 1178,
1183 (W.D. Pa. 1978} (aff’d on other grounds, 447 U.S.
10 (1980)), citing United States v. Niederberger, 580
F.2d 63 (3rd Cir. 1978). See also United States v. Evans,
572 F. 2d 455 (6th Cir. 1978). As the Commission ex-
plained in Advisory No. 8:

In fact, even in the absence of any specifically

tdentifiable matter that was, is or soon will be

pending before the official, §3 may apply. Thus,
where there is no prior social or business rela-
tionship between the giver and the recipient,

and the recipient is a public official who could

affect the giver, an inference can be drawn that

the giver was seeking the goodwill of the official

because of a perception by the giver that that

public official'sinfluence could benefit thegiver.

In such a case, the gratuity is given for as yet

unidentified “acts to be performed.”

In Commission Advisory No. 8 the Commission
declared that gratuities to public officials such as tickets
to theatre or sporting events which exceed $50 would be
considered “substantial value.” The Commission further
stated thatagift of several tickets, each valued at less than
$50, is a gratuity of substantial value if the total value of
the tickets exceeds $50. Finally, the Commission noted,

A §3 issue may arise if there is a standing offer to

be accepted at any time for tickets. Itislikely that

any such offer would be deemed to involve sub-

stantial value. Similarly, if there is a matter of

periodically giving a public official tickets, the
course of conductwill be evaluated as toitsvalue.

This would be the case, for example, if someone

gave a public official a ticket to an entertainment

event each and every weekend.

The facts set forth in this letter, if proven, would
appear to establish a violation of §3(b) by each of you.
Thus, as no one disputes, USTC on numerous occasions
paid for golfing expenses in Florida and Massachusetis
for each of you where those expenses substantially ex-
ceeded $50. Indeed, for three of you those expenses
exceeded $1,000. Consequently, USTC did provide you
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with items of substantial value,

In addition, the evidence would indicate that at least
as to Treasurers Collas and Scafidi, USTC paid for your
expenses on a sufficient pumber of instances within a
shorttime period that even though each paymentwasless
than $50 in value, the payments should be aggregated.
Therefore, USTC gave these two treasurers items of
substantial value in this respect as well. Thus, the Com-
mission views USTC's having provided two treasurers
with 138 and 78 gratuities in a two-year period as indicat-
ing either that those treasurers had a standing offer to
have USTC pay for their expenses, or, alternatively, that
the pattern of payments was such that it should be
considered as a course of conduct within the meaning of
Advisory No. 8.

That there was a standing offer is supported by
Brown's statement that whenever he saw a treasurer, it
was his standard procedure to invite the treasurer for
lunch ordinner. One ofyou stated thatyou knew thatyou
could have a lunch or dinner whenever bank officials
visited you., It is also reasonably clear from the evidence
that each of you knew that you could have Brown pay for
around of golf at USTC's expense at any time, including
food and beverages afterwards.

The numbers are also probative. For example, 138
gratuilies over a two-year period indicate that USTC was
paying Treasurer Collas’s expenses more than once a
week. In addition, the total value of those 138 occasions
was $4,253, a total which is again suggestive of a standing
offer.

Alternatively, in light of the frequencies of the ex-
pense payments for these two treasurers, the Commis-
sion would conclude that USTC was involved in a course
of conduct with each treasurer which involved substan-
tial value, Therefore, whether considered a standing
offer or a course of conduct, USTC was giving these two
treasurers items of substantial value by virtue of the
numerous occasions on which it paid for their entertain-
ment expenses, even where those individual occasions
did not exceed $50.%

The facts would also indicate that there was a clear
connection between USTC paying for these expenses
and USTC'’s objective that these municipal treasurers
would either continue or expand their town’s or city’s
business with USTC. Thus, former vice president Brown
stated that by entertaining these treasurers, he could
establish personal relations with each of you, which in
turn would likely result in your doing more business with
USTC. In other words, USTC's motive in expending
these monies was to foster goodwill. That is precisely the
motive or intent which lies at the heart of a §3 violation.
Thus, the prohibited connection or nexus between these
entertainment expenditures and your duties would be
established by these facts.”

On the other hand, the Commission has not found
any evidence that any of you provided USTC with prefer-

™
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ential treatment as a result of these expenditures. In
addition, there is no evidence that any of you obtained
personal loans from USTC. Noris there any evidence that
any of you entered into any kind of corruptagreement by
which USTC would provide payments in exchange for
specific official acts to be taken by one of you. Had the
Commission found substantial evidence of preferential
treatment or of a corrupt agreement, this matter would
not have been resolved with a public enforcement let-
ter.?

It could be argued that to the extent these expenses
were necessary and appropriate to legitimate business
transactions, such asa business lunch todiscussabanking
proposal, then the expenditures should not be consid-
ered unlawful gratuities. There is some support for this
view. See, e.g., State v. Prybil, 211, N.-W. 2d 308 (Iowa
1973). The Commission, however, has taken the position
thata public employee cannot accept private reimburse-
ment for his business expenses. See, e.g., EC-COI-88-5.°

The Commission precedents, such as EC-COI-88-5,
deal with vendors paying for business trip expenses, in-
cluding transportation, lodging, meals and so forth. The
Commission has not, however, addressed the specific
issue ofa meal per se, and, more specifically, the so-called
“business lunch.” For purposes of §3, there is no logical
distinction between transportation and lodgings on the
one hand and meals and beverages on the other, so long
as “substantial value”is involved. Therefore, the Commis-
sion takes the position that vendors should not directly
pay for any of the expenses of public officials whether or
not in connection with conducting official business, if
those payments involve substantial value. The potental
for abuse is too great in those situations. Instead, either
the public agency in question should pay for the official’s
expenses, or consideration should be given to whether
the statutes and ordinances which apply allow for the
vendor to pay for the public official’s expenses by making
a payment to the public treasury specifically earmarked
for those expenses. In turn the public official can have his
expenses paid for in the ordinary way. (See, e.g., G.L. c.
41, §53A.)

In any event, there are several important mitigating
factors which point to a public enforcementletter, rather
than some more serious sanction, as being the proper
resolution of this matter. One, prior to the IGReport, the
practice of banks paying for public officials’ entertain-
ment expenses, including meals, beverages, sporting
events, theatre tickets, and golf, was clearly a widespread
practice, and one which remains acceptable in the pri-
vate sector. That the practice was widespread is well-
illustrated by the IG Report noting that 104 treasurers
received such gratuities, and all seven banks which were
contacted appear to have been involved in the prac-
tice.? Two, you assert, and the Commission has no
evidence to the contrary, that you did not intentionally
violate the law. Further, the evidence indicates that at
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some point you made an effort to determine whether
these payments were legal, and you were told they were.!!
Three, until today, the Commission has not had the
occasion toarticulate a position regarding private parties
paying for meals and beverages incidental to the transac-
tion of business, nor had the Commission, prior to its
May, 1985 Advisory No. 8, indicated it would aggregate
items of value to meet the substantial value threshold.
The Commission's decision to allow you to resolve
this matter with a public enforcement letter should not
be construed as indicating it does not consider the issues
raised by your conduct to be serious. But for the mitigat-
ing factors just described, the Commission would have
pursued this matter through adjudicatory proceedings.
Itis of critical importance that the public have complete
confidence that municipal treasurers make investment
decisions, ofien involving millions of dollars of public
funds, in 2 manner which best serves the public interest.
The public has a right not only to insist on actual impar-
tiality and objectivity in the performance of such fiduci-
ary duties, but also the right to expect that municipal
treasurers will avoid even the appearance ofimpropriety
in dealing with banking institutions.'? When a bank pays
forany ofthe personal expenses of a municipal treasurer,
but particularly when those expenses climb into the
thousands of dollars and involve payments occurring as
frequently as once a week, then there is at least the
appearance of impropriety, and enormous potential for
real abuse. Based on the evidence, itappears thatyou and
USTC have stopped this practice. The Commission trusts
thatall other treasurersand banks have done so as well.’®

III. Disposition
Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter should be

sufficient to ensure your understanding of and compli-
ance with the conflict law. This matter is now closed.

DATE: August 15, 1988

'/ The “grawities” referred 10 in the [G Report are for the most part
entertainment expenses,

/The Commission’s investigation of this matter was delayed while
the Department of the Attorney General reviewed the issues raised by the
IG Report. It was subsequently agreed that the matter should be resolved
by the Commission. After carcful consideration the Commission chose 10
focus its inquiry on those treasurers who allegedly received each of the
following: (1) out-ofstaie golf expenses; (2) in-state expensesgreater than
$100; and (3) expenses paid on 50 or more instances occuring from 1983
through 1984, Application of these criteria resulted in the Commission in-
vestigating the five of you. Finally, the Commission chose to focus on the
relationship between each of you and USTC because (a) most of the
expense payments involving cach ol you were auributable ta USTC, and (b)
according to the IG Report, as discussed abave, USTC by far paid more
expenses for municipal ireasurers than any other bank (Again, as stated
above, apparently not all of the banks submitted adequate records.)

3/ Treasurer Collas had sich expenses paid by USTC on two occasions
involving a 101at payment of $217 by USTC., Treasurers Scafidi and Brunelli
cach attended one Massachuseus golfing event where their expenses paid
for by USTC exceeded $100 ($108 each).

4/ Conversely, G.L. ¢. 2684 3(a), in relevant par, prohibits anyone,
otherwise than as provided by law for the proper discharge of official duties,



from effering ur giving an item of substantial value to s municipal employee
for or berawse of any official act performed or to be performed by such
employee.

f/lssued May 14, 1985,

*/Some of you have raised an issue as 1o whether the expenses of 3
treasurer’s guest should properly beattributed to the treasurer for purposes
of determining whether he received substantial value. Section 3 does
require that the itlem of substantial value be for the municipal official as
opposed to someone else. Compare 2 (bribes) which is not so limited. In
the Commission's view, however, where the treasurer would have had 10
pay for his guest's expenses if USTC did not pay for them, the value of
USTC paying for the treasurer's guest can be autributed 1o the treasurer,

Certain treasurers have also raised an issue as to the unfaimess of
dividinga total meal cost by the number of people present to determine the
value the treasurer received. Treastrers have stated that on some occasions
they may not have caten as much as the others present, or they may not have
caten anything but only had a drink, or where there was a large liquor bill,
tiey may have only had soft drinks. In the Commission’s view, it is appro-
priate to infer that when a group participates in an entertainment event,
whether it be golf, a meal, or drinks, the expenses are generally shared
equally. That inference, of course, could be overcome by the testimony of
thase present.

?/These Facts woutld also raise izsues under G.L. c. 2684, 23 (the so-
called “code of conduct™ section), Section 23, in relevant part, prohibits a
statc employee from using or attempting 10 use his position 10 sceure an
unwarranted privilege of substantial value and//or from acting in a manner
which would cause a reasonable person having knowledge of the relevant
circumsiances to conclude that any peson can improperly influence or
unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his official duties. By
accepting expense payments from a bank with which his city or town hasan
official business relationship, a municipal reasurer's conduct would run
afoul of these §28 concerns.

*/The Commission can impose up to a $2,000 fine for cach viclation
of G.L. c. 268A. The Commission can also bring an action in Superior Court
under G.L. c. 2684, §21(b) w0 scck to obtain up to three times the amount
of any unjust enrichment derived by any party from having violated the
conflict of interest law.

*/See also the Office of Governmental Ethics Memorandum dated
October 28, 1987, stating in part, “In general, an Exccutive branch em-
ployce’s acceptance of ‘onc-on-one’ meals from someone who hosts that
individual because of his or her government position is prohibited, regard-
less of the cost of the meal.”

1%/In singling out the five of you and USTC for public scrutiny, we are
mindful that many others appear 1o have violated the gratuities section of
the conllict law, and thus faimess considerations should play a role in the
disposition of this matter,

"/While these are mitigating factors, they are not defenses to the

violation iuself. Thus, the Commission has consistently made it clear that
ignorance of the law ia not a defense to a violation of G.L. c. 268A. In the
Matter of G, Joseph Doyle, 1980 SEC 11, 13 See also Scola, 318 Mass. 1, 7
(1943).
In addition, the only advice on which a municipal employee may rely asa
defensc toa G.L. ¢. 268A violation is advice obuined from the Commission,
or from town counsel where town counsei’s opinion has been reviewed by
the Commission pursuant to 930 CMR 1.03(3) Sce, e.g., In the Matter of
Ernest LaFlamme, 1957 SEC 329,

¥/As the Supreme Judicial Court said in Board of Selectmen of Avon
v. Linden, 352 Mass. 581, 583 {1967): “The Legislature found it advisable to
enact a conflict of interest law. This was as much to prevent giving the
appearance of conflict as to suppress all tendency to wrongdoing. [Tlhe
Legislature did not see fit to rely upon the restrainis of decency, propriety
and fair play, upon the law of libel, or upon the power of the electorate to
eliminate unworthy office holders.”

"*/The Commission does not mean to imply that it would not
investigate and take sterner action against anyone who was found to violate
§3in the respects outlined above after the 1G Report was issued but before
the date of this leuer.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 360
IN THE MATTER
OF
PAUL NOWICKI
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DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) isentered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Paul Nowicki (Mr. Nowicki) pursuant to sec-
tion 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Procedures.
ThisAgreement constitutesa consented to final Commis-
sion order enforceable in the Superior Court pursuant to
G.L. c. 268B, §4()).

On December 9, 1987, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry into possible violations of the con-
flict of interest law, G.L. c. 268A, involving Mr. Nowicki,
the Collector/Treasurer of the Town of Adams. The
Commission concluded its inquiry, and on April 13,
1988, found reasonable cause 1o believe that Mr. Nowicki
violated G.L. c. 268A, §19.

The Commission and Mr. Nowicki now agree to the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

1. Atall times relevant to this matter, Mr, Nowicki
was the elected Collector/Treasurer of the Town of
Adams, and, accordingly, a municipal employee as de-
fined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

2. John Nowicki is Mr. Nowicki's brother and thus
amember of Mr. Nowicki'simmediate family as that term
is defined by G.L. c. 268A, §1(e).

3. InAugustof 1986, Mr. Nowicki hired hisbrother,
John, as Deputy Tax Collector for the Town of Adams.
The position entitled John Nowicki to collect statutory
fees for his services in collecting delinquent taxes.

4. General Laws c. 268A, §19 provides in relevant
part that, except as permitted by §19, a municipal em-
ployee is prohibited from participating as such an em-
ployee in a particular matter in which, to his knowledge,
a member of his immediate family has a financial inter-
est.!

5. By hiring his brother for the position of Deputy
Tax Collector in the Town of Adams, Mr. Nowicki partici-
pated as the Collector/Treasurer of the Town of Adams
in a particular matter in which his brother had a financial
interest, thereby violating §19.

6. On or about August 25, 1987, Mr. Nowicki at-
tended an annual meeting of Massachusetts Collectors/
Treasurersatwhich he attended a seminar on the conflict
of interest law, including a discussion of nepotism.

7. Following this meeting, Mr. Nowicki asked for
and received his brother's resignation from the position
of Deputy Collector.

8. Subsequently, Mr. Nowicki reported the forego-
ing §19 violation to the State Ethics Commission. The
Commission was not aware of this violation from any
other source.

9. Mr. Nowicki hasstated, and the Commission has
no evidence to the contrary, that he was unaware of the
prohibitions of G.L. c. 2684, §19 at the time he hired his
brother.?



10. Mr. Nowicki asserts in his defense thata number
of town and state officials knew that he was hiring his
brother and did not raise any objections. In support, he
points out that the deputy tax collector position is a
bonded position, and the bond application (which iden-
tified the person to be bonded as John Nowicki) had to
be, and was, approved by the Town Administrator, signed
by the Town Clerk and approved by the Commissioner of
the Department of Revenue (DOR).

Assuming those officials were aware that Mr. Nowicki
was appointing his brother,} their awareness is not a
defense to Mr. Nowicki’s §19 violation. See, e.g., In the
Matter of Edward Rowe, Jr., 1987 Ethics Commission
3074

Based on the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Paul Nowicki:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount

of five hundred dollars ($500.00) as a civil pen-

alty for his violation of §19; and

2, that he waive all rights to contest the findings

of fact, conclusions of law and terms and condi-

tions contained in this agreement in any related

administrative or judicial proceeding to which

the Commission is or may be a party.

DATE: August 31, 1988

'/ None of the §19 exceptions applies to this case.

*/Ignorance of the law is no defense to a viclation of G.L. ¢. 268A In
the Matter of Joseph C. Doyle, 1980 Ethics Commission 11, 13 See also,
Scola v. Scola, 318 Mass. 1, 7 (1945).

*/While the local officials probably understood from the bond or in
other ways that Mr. Nowicki was appointing his brother, it is doubtful that
DOR officials made that connection at the time Mr. Nowicki appointed his
brother. Indeed, when DOR officials did make the connection in 1987, they
notified Mr. Nowicki of the conflict issue,

*/In certain narrowly defined circumstances, a public official's awnre-
ness and approval of 3 municipal employee hiring a family member can
prevent a §19(a) violadon. Thus, §19(b) (1) provides:

[1shall notbe aviolation of thissection (1) if the municipal employee

fintadvises the official responsible for appaintment o his position of

the natureand circumstances of the particular matter and makes full
disclosure of such financial interest, and receives in advance a written
determination made by that official that the interest is notso substan-
tial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the services which
the municipality may expect from the employee...
This exception i not wailable to elected officials who, by definition, do not
have an "appointing official” within the meaning of the law.

*/Asageneral rule, the Commission considers a fine of $1,000.00 or
more 1o be appropriate for a nepatism/hiring violation See, e.g. In the
Matter of Thomas J. Nolan, 1987 Ethics Commission 283, Given the miti-
gating factor of the Commission being made aware of the violation only
through Mr. Nowicki, the Commission considers a reduction of the fine
appropriste here.

Mr. Joseph Zeneski
P. O. Box 306
Uxbridge, Massachusetts 01569

RE: PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT LETTER 89-3
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Dear Mr, Zeneski:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted a preliminaryinquiry regarding information that,
as the director of the Mansfield Department of Public
Works, you may have reviewed work submitted by Dunn
Engineering, Inc. (Dunn Engineering) while you had an
offer of employment pending with that company. The re-
sults of our investigation (set forth helow) indicate that
the state conflict of interest law (G.L. c. 268A) appears to
have been violated in this case. Nevertheless, in view of
certain mitigating factors (also discussed below), the
Commission does not feel that further proceedings in
this matter are warranted. Rather, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be better
served by disclosing the facts revealed by our investiga-
tion and explaining the application of the law to such
facts, trusting that this advice will ensure your future
understanding of and compliance with the conflict of
interest law. By agreeing to this public letter as a final
resolution of this matter, the Commission and you are
agreeing that there will be no formal action against you
and that you have chosen not to exercise your right to a
hearing before the Commission,

I. The Facts

1. You are the former Public Works Director and
Town Engineer for the Town of Mansfield, You were
appointed by the Mansfield Town Manager in April, 1983
and served until October, 1985, at a salary range of
$30,000 to $32,000 a year. As the Public Works Director
and Town Engineer, you were responsible for water,
sewer, street design, maintenance and subdivision plan
review for the Mansfield Planning Board (Planning
Board}. You resigned your municipal position effective
September 30, 1985 and joined Dunn Engineering one
week later.

2. DunnEngineering isa civil engineering and sur-
veying company based in Foxboro. You are presently em-
ployed by Dunn Engineering at its office in Uxbridge.

3. You have stated to us that you approached James
Dunn (Dunn), the owner of Dunn Engineering, con-
cerning employment on Labor Day, September 2, 1985.
At that point, you and Dunn met for lunch to discuss the
possibility of your employment with Dunn Engineering.
You said that you received a formal offer of employment
from Dunn Engineering on September 6, 1985. You
signed Dunn Engineering’s offer and returned it to
Dunn on September 16, 1985, accepting the offer. Ac-
cording toyou, on or about September 16, 1985, you sub-
mitted a letter of resignation to the Mansfield Town
Manager that was effective September 30, 1985. The
letter did not disclose your plans to join Dunn Engineer-
ing. You did not otherwise disclose to the Town Manager



or any other town officials, prior (o your leaving munici-
pal employment, your plans to join Dunn Engineering.

The Pratt Street Sewer Connection

4. According to you, in 1985 a family on Pratt
Street, Mansfield (the family) desired to builda newwing
on their home that would encroach upon their septic sys-
tem'’s leaching field. Accordingly, the family planned to
hook up to the town sewer. According toyou, because the
town sewer line which the family needed to connect with
was not in front of their house, the family's sewer pipe
had to leave their property at an angle, which presented
some problems. Dunn Engineering did the engineering
work on the family’s project, and Dunn Engineering
employee and vice-president John Parmentier (Parmen-
tier) represented the family at meetings before town
boards concerning the project.

5. You said that you originally approved the fam-
ily's sewer connection on July 24, 1985." You rescinded
your approval of the proposed sewer connection permit
application on September 4, 1985. You said that you
initially did not give the family’s connection much
thought; butshortly thereafter, there were problemswith
other sewer connections in town, including one on Pratt
Street. According toyou, effluent was backingupinto the
cellar of a home on Pratt Street, and the owner charged
that it was the town's responsibility to clean up the mess
and repair the sewer connections. You said that, with
these problems in mind, you rescinded the family’s
permit so you could give the project more thought. You
said that when you began studying the family’s hook-up,
you noticed that there was a gas main running near the
sewer pipe that did not allow the recommended 1% to
2% slope for the sewer pipe. You said you recommended
that the family install a grinder-pump in the sewer line to
overcome this slope problem. According to you, the
grinder pump would have cost the family approximately
$3,000. You said the family did not want to install the
grinder pump and wanted the town to accept the liability
for their sewer connection.

6. OnSeptember4, 1985, the still-unresolved issue
of the family’s sewer connection was raised at the Select-
men's meeting, and it was decided that the Selectmen
would meetwith the family, town counsel and you at their
next meeting to settle the matter. The Selectmen’s next
meeting was on September 11, 1985, and you attended.
The family was represented at the meeting by Parmentier
of Dunn Engineering. You stated at this meeting that
your first concern about the proposed connection was
the slope of the sewer pipe, and your second concern was
the pipe's length. You told the Selectmen thatyou still, as
previously, recommended the use of a grinder pump,
which you said would be more expensive. After arecess to
discuss a proposal that the family agree to maintain the
connection and bear the cost of a second (replacement)
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connection to the main sewer line if it were extended to
apointwhere abetterconnection could be made, Parmen-
tier suggested that the family be allowed 1o use an .8%
slope, with pea gravel around the pipe as insulation.
According to the minutes, you felt the new slope (.8%)
was close enough to the minimum to be allowed. You
recommended that the family agree to have their engi-
neer (Dunn Engineering) on site when the installation
was done so that the engineer could certify that plans
were followed. The Selectmen adopted this recommen-
dation. In addition, the Selectmen conditioned their
approval on the family agreeing to waive any claim
against the town for the freezing of the sewer line and that
they would hook up to the main sewer line if it were
extended up PrautSwreet. The Selectmen then voted four
to one to approve the family's sewer connection.

7. According to Dunn, Dunn Engineering lost
money on the family project because the negotiations
that took place required the firm to perform revision
work for the family for which the firm did not charge.

Hallet Crossing I Subdivision

8. OnAugust21,1985, Dunn, asPresidentof Dunn
Engineering, submitted to the Planning Board, on behalf
of the developer Walmark Corporation (Walmark),
documents constituting an application for the approval
of a residential subdivision off Fruit Street in Mansfield,
subsequently designated as Hallet Crossing I. You there-
after reviewed thissubdivision plan at the Planning Board’s
request as Mansfield Director of Public Works.

9. OnSeptember 3, 1985, Parmentier, as Vice Presi-
dent of Dunn Engineering, submitted to you, as Director
of Public Works, a drainage plan for the Hallet Crossing
I subdivision. You subsequently reviewed this drainage
plan as the Director of Public Works.

10. On September 13, 1985, you sent a memoran-
dum to the Planning Board in which you made four
comments on the Hallet Crossing I subdivision. First, you
recommended that the road for the subdivision use the
street section approved by the Planning Board for use for
“minor streets” (allowing a 24 rather than 30-foot width).
Second, you observed that the plan should show that the
sewer is existing. Third, you stated that the water main
need only be eight inches in diameter. Fourth, you
recommended the installation of a fence along the sub-
division property line to prevent easy access to the subdi-
vision by off-road vehicles. In a separate memorandum
to the Planning Board, also dated September 15, 1985,
you made recommendations concerning the drainage
plan for Hallet Crossing I. You recommended that a
“predevelopment/postdevelopment comparison of to-
tal runoff and rates should be presented” and that the
board should consider the overall impact of the pro-
posed project.

11. On September 25, 1985, there wasa public hear-



ing before the Planning Board concerning the Hallet
Crossing I definitive subdivision plan. Dunn personally
made the presentation for Walmark at this hearing. You
attended this hearing and commented on the rebuilding
of Fruit Street, the length of the Hallet Crossing I subdi-
vision road, and the location of the Hallet Crossing I
subdivision. There apparently was no public opposition
to Walmark’s plan at the meeting. The Planning Board
took no action on Hallet Crossing I at the September 25,
1985 hearing.

12. Subsequently, by letter dated October 4, 1985,
the Planning Board informed Walmark that it had some
concerns with the Hallet Crossing I definitive subdivision
plan, including “{tjhe comments from the DPW Direc-
tor, dated September 13, 1985.” A copy of your Septem-
ber 13, 1985 memorandum to the Planning Board was
attached to the letter. The letter further informed Wal-
mark that “[t]he Planning Board requests that you ad-
dress these concerns and submit a revised plan to the
Board for further review.”

13. In response to the Planning Board’s directive,
Dunn Engineering made revisions to the Hallet Crossing
1 plan. On October 30, 1985, the Planning Board ap-
proved the subdivision plan. On November 23, 1985,
Dunn Engineering billed Walmark an additional $2,355
for work on Hallet Crossing I, including $554 for “Octo-
ber 29-30, 1985, changes to subdivision plan prior to
Planning Board signatures.”

O. The Conflict Law

As the Director of the Mansfield Department of
Public Works, you were a municipal employee for the
purposes of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c. 268A.

In pertinent part, G.L. ¢. 268A, §19(a) prohibits a
municipal employee from participating?® as such in any
particular matter® in which he knows an organization
with which he is negotiating or has any arrangement con-
cerning prospective employment has a financial interest.
Accordingly, your participation as a municipal employee
in official matters concerning Dunn Engineering raised
conflict of interest issues once you began negotiating
with Dunn Engineering regarding prospective employ-
ment.

The evidence developed shows that, during the three-
week period between your receiving a job offer from
Dunn Engineering on September 6, 1985 and your leav-
ing municipal employment on September 30, 1985, you
took official action concerning projects on which Dunn
Engineering had performed engineering services.
Whether your actions violated §19 turns on whether your
participation was “personal and substantial” as required
by §1(j) and on whether Dunn Engineering had a finan-
cial interest in each particular matter in which you
participated.

Your actions on September 11, 1985 concerning the
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Pratt Street sewer permit application related directly to
Dunn Engineering’s work and were substantialin nature,
In making recommendations to the Selectmen as to the
adequacy of the .8% slope proposed by Dunn Engineer-
ing and the conditions under which the permit applica-
tion would be approved, you participated personaliy and
substantially, as DPW Director, in the process by which
the Selectmen decided to approve the family’s permit
request. The family’s application’s approval with condi-
tions was a particular matter in which Dunn Engineering
had a financial interest. Dunn Engineering’s financial
interest was clearly implicated by the approval condition
(recommended by you and adopted by the Selectmen)
that the family agree to have their engineer (Dunn Engi-
neering) present while the sewer line was installed. This
condition would (unless the family changed engineers)
cbviously result in Dunn Engineering performing addi-
tional services for the family, to the company’s gain or
loss (depending on whether it received payment for the
services). Accordingly, you appear to have violated §19
on September 11, 1985.

Similarly, your September 13, 1985 recommenda-
tions to the Planning Board concerning the Hallet Cross-
ing I subdivision amounted to personal and substantial
participation by you in the Planning Board's considera-
tion and approval of the subdivision. Acting as Public
Works Director, you interjected yourself into the Plan-
ning Board's process of making a decision concerning
the subdivision by making recommendations concern-
ing substantive changes to the plans which you believed
the board should require for their approval. Addition-
ally, to the extent they were adopted by the Planning
Board, your recommendationsresulted in revisionsand/
or additions to the subdivision plans by Dunn Engineer-
ing for which Dunn Engineering charged its client. Thus,
in making the recommendations regarding Hallet Cross-
ing I, you participated personally and substantially in a
particular matter in which Dunn Engineering had a
financial interest. Accordingly, you appear to have vio-
lated §19 on September 13, 1985.

Although you appear to have violated G.L. c. 268, §19
on September 11 and 13, 1985, the Commission has
decided that this case does not warrant the initiation of
formal adjudicatory proceedings because:

1. Dunn Engineering's financial interest in the
matters in which you participated on September 11 and
13, 1985, while sufficient for §19 purposes, was indirect
and, under the circumstances, relatively small;

2. the facts do not show that the public interest was
compromised by favoritism on your part towards Dunn
Engineering;

3. there is no evidence that your motivation in
acting as you did was other than to actin whatyouin good
faith believed to be the public interest; and

4. you have fully cooperated in the Commission’s
investigation of this matter and have provided all infor-



mation requested.
The Commission’s decision to allow you to resolve

this matter with a public enforcement letter, however,

should not be construed as indicating that it does not
consider the issues raised by your conduct to be serious.
Section 190f G.L. c. 268A, like many othersections of the
conflict law, is intended to prevent any questions arising
as to whether the publicinterest has been served with the
single-minded devotion required of public employees.
This concern is compounded when, as was the case here,
the employee does not disclose to his appointing official
the private employment arrangements he has made.
Had you made such a disclosure, the Town Manager,
pursuant to the law, could have made a determination
whether or not to permit you to continue to participate
in matters concerning Dunn Engineering.

III. Disposition

Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter should be
sufficient to ensure your understanding of the law. This
matter is now closed. Thank you very much for your
cooperation. If you have any questions, please contact
me at 727-0060.

'/ The minutes of the Selectmen’s meeting on July 24, 1985 indicate
that acondition of your approval ol the conneetion was that a 1% minimum
slope of the sewer line would be maintained. The minutes further show that
the Selectmen did not approve the conncetion at this meeting but rather
voted to table the matter in order to give town counsel the opportunity w
review the legalissue of who would be responsible for the sewer connection
in the event of future problems,

*/“Participate,” participate in agency action or in a particular matter
personally and substantially as a swte, county or munieipal employee,
through appreval, disapproval, decision, recomumendation, the rendering
of advice, investigation or otherwise.

*/ “Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim,
controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding,
butexcluding enactment of general legislation by the general court and pe-
titions of cities, lowns, counties and districts for special laws related to their
governmental organizadons, powers, duties, finances and property.

Mr. Byron Battle
23 Bernard Lane
Waban, MA 02168

RE: PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT LETTER 894
Dear Mr. Battle:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted apreliminaryinquiry regarding an allegation that
you used your state title of Undersecretary of Economic
Affairs, your official letterhead, and other state resources
to solicit Massachusetts business and trade leaders to join
a privately-organized tour to the Soviet Union, knowing
thatifyou could persuade enough people to go, your own
trip plus an additional trip for a guest of your choice,
valued at a total of approximately $8,000.00, would be
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free. The results of our investigation, discussed below,
indicate that you appear to have violated the conflict of
interest law in this case. Nevertheless, in view of certain
mitigating factors, also discussed below, the Commission
has determined that adjudicatory proceedings are not
warranted. Rather, the Commission has concluded that
the public interest would be better served by disclosing
the facts revealed by our investigation and explaining the
applicable provisions of the law, in the expectation that
this will ensure both your and other government employ-
ees’ future understanding of and compliance with the
conflict law. By agreeing to this public letter as a final
resolution of this matter, you do not necessarily admit to
the facts and law as discussed below. The Commission
and you have agreed that there will be no formal action
againstyou and thatyou have chosen not to exercise your
right to a hearing before the Commission.

1. Facts

In January, 1984, you became Undersecretary for
International Trade in the agency then known as the
Massachusetts Department of Commerce. In that posi-
tion, you were responsible for setting up a new Office of
International Trade and Investment to promote Massa-
chusetts exports to foreign countries and to lead trade
missions of Massachusetts business leaders to Europe and
Asia,

In August of 1987, you were asked to accept a transfer
to the position of Commissioner of Commerce. Socon
after, due to legislative action, the Department of Com-
merce merged with the Executive Office of Economic
Affairs (EOEA). At that point your title changed to
Undersecretary of Economic Affairs, but your position
was not otherwise affected. You have held this position
continuously to date.

As the Undersecretary of Economic Affairs, you are
no longer responsible for foreign trade missions on a
daily basis although you do from time to time conduct
them. Your current position is promotional, with no
regulatory responsibility, focused on domestic industrial
development. Your primary function is to target specific
sectors in the Massachusetts industrial community and
provide them with assistance in developing and main-
taining domestic markets. Your office concentrates on
industries that do not have substantial export potential
and, accordingly, foreign trade missions are no longer
part of your work plan.

Part of your responsibility is to set various selection
criteria for deciding which industries your office will pro-
mote, with the most significant factor being the number
of in-state jobs involved. Based on your input, the EOEA
Secretary makes the final selection, and you are presently
working on behalf of the Massachusetts woodworking
industry and manufacturers of plastics. In addition to its
promotional responsibilities, your office also serves asa



“traffic cop” for Massachusetts industries, directing them
to useful state agencies, sources of financial assistance,
and other forms of development aid, but providing no
direct aid.

Early in October, 1987, you received a promotional
mailing from People To People, addressed to your prede-
cessor as Commissioner of Commerce, soliciting delega-
tion leaders for the People To People international tours.
According toitsliterature, People To People was founded
in 1956 by Dwight D. Eisenhower to promote interna-
tional understanding through direct contact among citi-
zens of different nations. The Goodwill People To People
Travel Program is an officially-licensed program of People
To People International providing escorted tour serv-
ices. Since 1957, the Goodwill People To People Travel
Program has been sending professional occupational
delegations to all areasof the world to meet their counter-
parts and compare methods and techniques relative to
their common interests. The opportunity for exchange
on a personal level is intended to contribute to world
peace. The actual travel arrangements are handled by a
private travel agent.

Upon receiving the mailing, you contacted People
To People for further information, although you consid-
ered it unlikely that you could participate, as you were
aware that foreign travel was not in your current work
plan, and the expense of it would not be included in your
budget. You were then told by a representative of People
To People that the leader of a People To People delega-
tion did not pay his own way on the tour. You were told
thatif 20 people subscribed to your tour, you would travel
free of charge. Iffrom 30 to 37 people subscribed to your
group, you would also be permitted to bring one addi-
tional person free of charge.

In the course of the conversation, you were encour-
aged to consider leading a tour of members of the Mas-
sachusetts business community to eastern Europe and
the Soviet Union, due to your past experience with travel
in the area and your current connection to the Massachu-
setts business community.

Following the telephone conversation with the rep-
resentative of People To People, you decided to contact
a number of business organizations in Massachusetts to
determine if there would be any interest in the proposed
trip. You subsequently called the heads of six business
associations from your office during business hours. As
aresult of these exploratory telephone calis, the head of
one such association volunteered to provide you with a
mailing list of members to whom you might direct the
invitations.

Having received whatyou considered to be astrongly
favorable response to the proposed trip, on November 3,
1987 you wrote to People To People enclosing a delega-
tion agreement, the firststep in the clearance process for
delegation leaders. You had at that time already obtained
the mailing list, and you enclosed it in your letter. The
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mailing list contained approximately 300 names.

You stated to us that at the time you agreed to act as
adelegation leader, youintended to take the trip on your
vacation time, as a private venture of your own. You did
not notify the EOEA Secretary of your intent to lead the
tour.

You were subsequently approved as a delegation
leader by People To People, and your responsibilities
then became to submit a statement of purpose for the
trip, a proposed itinerary, 2 draft invitation letter, a
mailing list of 300 to 600 names, and stationery. You also
received a substantial package of information and advice
for delegation leaders for your review. You stated that
you drafted two letters, made the six telephone calls
referred to above, drafied a brief mission statement, and
received and reviewed the package of information from
People To People. Your secretary typed two letters,
handled 12 calls seeking additional information, mailed
invitations and stationery to the travel agent, and estab-
lished a data base to track response cards as they came in.
You also supplied People To People with a minimum of
300 sheets of state stationery and envelopes to accom-
pany the mailing lisi. All the work done by you and your
secretary in connection with organizing the trip took
place on state time, utilizing state resources.

On or about January 2, 1988, the People To People
travel agent mailed the invitations on the state letterhead
to the 300 people on the mailing list you provided. The
letters were signed by you using your EOEA tide. You
wrote and sentan additional six letters to the heads of the
business associations with whom you had previously
spoken. These letters, also on state letterhead, described
the trip as an “official business mission” and were also
signed by you using your EOEA title. You also proposed
to People to Pepple that your group be named “State
Delegation - Trade and Industry.”

At no time did you inform the EOEA Secretary of
your involvement with this tour. On or about January 25,
1988, the EOEA Secretary and the EOEA General Coun-
sel learned from other sources of your involvemnent with
People To People. At that time, the Secretary ordered
you to withdraw from your role as delegation leader,
which you did. You also on January 25, 1988 wrote a
clarifying letter to the six business association leaders you
had originally contacted, explaining that the mission as
you had described it was not, in fact, an official mission of
the state and reported the matter to this Commission on
January 28, 1988. The tour did not take place.

II. The Conflict Law

As Undersecretary for Economic Affairs, you are a
state employee for the purposes of the conflict of interest
law, G.L. c. 268A. In relevant part, §23(b)(2) prohibitsa
state employee from using his official position to secure
for himself unwarranted privileges of substantial value.



For the purposes of G.L. c. 2684, “substantial value” has
been determined to be anything valued at more than
$50.00. See, Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass App.
584,587 (1979); Commission Advisory No. 8, Free Passes.

The facts set forth in this letter, if proven, would
appear to establish a violation of §23(b)(2). Thus, you
used the resources of your office, i.e., your time, secretar-
ial support, supplies, etc., as well as the appearance of
state sponsorship, inan attempt to promote a free trip for
yourself and possibly for another person, for a total value
of close to $8,000.00. The Commission hasalready ruled
that use of state resources in furtherance of a private
interest of your own is a violation of the statute. See,
Public Enforcement Letter 78-1. Accordingly your use of
state resources to solicit participants for a private trip
appears to violate §23(b)(2). Furthermore, you knew or
should have known that your use of state letterhead and
your otherwise making it appear that the trip was state-
sponsored made it more likely that the necessarynumber
of people would subscribe, so that you and your guest
could go free. The Commission has also ruled that an
unwarranted appearance of state sponsorship or en-
dorsement violates §23(b)(2}). See, In the Matter of
Elizabeth Buckley, 1986 Ethics Commission (page 137).
Seealso, EC-COI-84-43; EC-COI-82-112; EC-COI-81-88.

Nevertheless, due to certain mitigating factors, the
Commission has determined that a public adjudicatory
proceeding is not necessary to resolve this case. In
choosing to resolve this case by means of a Public En-
forcement Letter only, the Commission was mindful of
the following mitigating factors:

1. you did not, in fact, obtain any financial benefit
from your involvement in the People To People tour,
other than the use of the state resources referred to
above.

2. The value of the state resources you used in
connection with the People To People tour was relatively
small, and you have agreed to reimburse your agency for
the resources used.

3. At the direction of the Secretary and General
Counsel of your agency, you withdrew from the tour ap-
proximately three weeks after the solicitation went out,
before any commitments to attend were made by any of
the persons you solicited, and you wrote an explanatory
letter to the six individuals you contacted directly in
connection with the tour.

4. None of the personsyou solicited were regulatees
of your agency, and, accordingly, there was no actual or
implied coercion in your solicitation,

5. Given the nature of the People to People organi-
zation, the tour which you proposed to lead had a quasi-
public purpose, and thus you appeared to have some
genuine confusion as to the propriety of acting in your
official capacity with respect to the tour.

6. Youself-reported youractions to this Commission
and have cooperated fully throughout our investigation.
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IT1. Disposition

Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter should be
sufficient to ensure your understanding of and your
future compliance with the conflict law. This matter is
now closed.

DATE: October 6, 1988

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 333
IN THE MATTER
OF

PETER J. CASSIDY

Appearances: David A. Wilson, Esq.
Counsel for Petitioner

Robert H. Quinn, Esq.
Counsel for Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Jarvis, Pap-
palardo

DECISION AND ORDER
L. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-
ings on May 28, 1987 by filing an Order to Show Cause
pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure, 930 CMR 1.01(5) (a). The Orderalleged that the
Respondent, Peter J. Cassidy, Swampscott Police Chief,
had violated G.L. c. 268A, §19' by his participation in the
following matters:

(a) the 1983 appointment of his son Michael as

a permanent reserve police officer;

(b) the 1984 appointment of his son Michael as
a permanent full-time police officer;

{c} the 1985 appointments of his son John, son
Reid and brother Francis as special police
officers;

(d) the 1986 appointments of his son Tiinothy
as a special police officer;

(e) the 1986 appointment of sons Timothy and
John as permanent reserve police officers;
and

(f) the assignment of his son Peter (1983) and
son Michael (1986) to night shifts.



The Respondent filed an Answer admitting several
of the factual allegations, denying the conclusory allega-
tions, and raising several affirmative defenses. Following
the pre-hearing conference and document discovery
period, the Petitioner and Respondent stipulated to most
of the relevant facts.

Pursuant to notice; adjudicatory hearings were con-
ducted on October 7, 1987, November 9, 1987, Decem-
ber 2, 1987 and February 17, 1988 before Commission
member Joseph J. Basile, Jr., a duly designated Commis-
sion presiding officer. The parties thereafter submitted
post-hearing briefs and reply briefs and presented oral
arguments before the Commission on August 25, 1988.
In rendering this Decision and Order, each participating
Commission member has considered the testimony, evi-
dence and arguments of the parties.

HO. Findings of Fact

Based on the stipulations of the parties, the testi-
mony of witnesses and the evidence introduced at the ad-
judicatory hearings, the Commission makes the follow-
ing findings:

1. The Respondent has served as Chief of the
Swampscott Police Department (SPD} since 1980. He is
a popular and well-regarded figure in the community.

2. The Swampscott Board of Selectmen (Board)
acts as the appointing authority for the SFD, pursuant to
G.L. c. 31. The Board has final authority with respect to
the interviewing and hiring of SPD personnel. In prac-
tice, the Respondent recommends personnel decisions
which are formally considered and adopted by the Board.

3. The Board is comprised of members who serve
on a parttime basis. The Board has confidence in the
Respondent’s judgment and invariably defers to his rec-
ommendations in the operation of the SPD, including
personnel appointments. The Board expects that the
Respondent will have been involved personally in any
recommendation which he makes to the Board.

4. Forthe purpose ofthiscase, thereare three types
of SPD appointments made by the Board upon the
recommendation of the Respondent:

(a) permanent full-time police officers who are

selected from civil service eligible lists, paid
by the town, and who are appointed to
regular police shifts;

(b) permanent reserve police officers who are
also selected from civil service eligible lists
and paid by the town to supplement the
permanent full-time police force and fill in
on regular shifts as needed; and
special police officers appointed annually
but not paid by the town, who possess police
powers; appointment as a special police
officer entitles an officer to work on police
details paid for by private parties using the
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detail.
Most permanent full-time police officers in Swampscott
have started as either permanent reserve officers or
special police officers.

5. The Respondent has five sons: Peter]. Cassidy, 11
(Peter), Michael R. Cassidy (Michael), John R. Cassidy
(John), TimothyP. Cassidy (Timothy) and Reid J. Cassidy
(Reid). Peter, Michael, John and Timothy are, respec-
tively, either full-time or permanent reserve SPD police
officers. The Respondent’s son Reid and brother Francis

J. Cassidy (Francis) are SPD special police officers.

(a) 1983 Appointment of Michael as Permanent
Reserve Police Officer

6. Sometime prior to April 21, 1983, with the ap-
proval of the Board, Respondent wrote to the state De-
partment of Personnel Administration (DPA) stating
that there were seven permanentreserve openingson the
SPD, to be paid at the rate of $46.16 per day, and
requesting the issuance of a civil service list of eligible
candidates. At the time he requisitioned the list, the
Respondent knew that his son Michael had previcusly
taken the statewide civil service examination prerequisite
to appointmentasa police officer and knew that Michael
had expressed an interest to serve in Swampscott. Mi-
chael’s name appeared seventh, according to examina-
tion score, on the civil service list, dated April 21, 1983,
which DPAissued in response to the Respondent’s requi-
sitton, Ten of the sixteen candidates listed on the civil
service list, including Michael, signed the list affirming
that they would accept appointment as SPD reserve
officers, Six of those signing were listed above Michael.

7. Upon receipt of a requisition for a civil service
list, DPA prepares a list of names adequate for the
number of vacancies. The list ranks candidates accord-
ing to their score, residence and veteran status. On the
April 21, 1983 civil service list, Michael was the lowest
ranked of seven Swampscott residents listed.

8. Prior to September 15, 1983, on which day the
Board considered the appointment of reserve police of-
ficers, the Respondent participated in an official SPD
selection process whereby it was determined that six of
the ten candidates who had signed the civil service list,
including Michael, would be recommended for appoint-
ment. As part of this selection process, the Respondent
reviewed the background information questionnaires
that the reserve candidates had filled out and filed with
the SPD. He also discussed with SPD Captain Toomey,
who has supervised the background investigations which
the SPD conducted as to each candidate, the results of
the background investigations. In addition, the Respon-
dent formally interviewed at least two of the candidates,
Dennis E. Hamson and Michael McNelley, and asked
them questions about their background and interest in
working for the SPD.? The Respondent also met with two



other candidates, Kevin Calnan and Stephen Picone re-
garding the position.

9. Subsequent to these meetings, the Respondent
personally decided that, from the civil service list of
candidates, of the ten who signed the list, six, including
Michael, would be recommended for appointment, and
four would not be. The Respondent personally evalu-
ated how the candidates compared to each other in their
qualifications and decided the order in which the candi-
dates would be recommended for appointment by the
Board. Because he thought Dennis Hamson was the best
qualified candidate, the Respondent ranked him first,
although he was twelfth on the civil service list. The
Respondent ranked his son Michael fourth, ahead of
JohnR. Donahue, who hadreceived a higher score on the
civil service examination and was listed on the civil service
list ahead of Michael, and whom the Respondent had
ranked sixth. Having personally decided this ranking,
the Respondent further determined, for seniority pur-
poses, to recommend that the Board appoint the candi-
dates, in order of their rank, effective on successive days
and wrote a letter, dated September 15, 1983, to the
Board making that recommendation. The order of
appointment determined the order in which the reserve
officerswould be listed on the civil service list from which
permanent full-time police officers would ultimately be
appointed. All SPD full-time appointments are made
from the list of permanent reserve SPD officers.

10. During the relevant period, DPA regulations
required an appointing authority making appointments
from the civil service list to make its first appointment
from among the top three people on the list willing to
accept, the second appointment from among the top
five, etc. As far as DPA was concerned, however, the
appointing authority was free to appoint the candidates
in any order of seniority it chose and did not need to
make the highest civil service listed candidate among
those appointed the most senior appointed.

11. At the Board meeting on September 15, 1983,
the Respondent recommended the appointment of
Michael and five others as reserve officers, and the Board
voted unanimously to appoint the recommended candi-
dates. The appointments were to take effect on six
separate days from September 16 through September 22,
1983, asrecommended by the Respondentin his Septem-
ber 15, 1983 letter. Michael’s appointment was effective
September 20, 1983. The order of the effective dates of
the appointments did not follow the order of the candi-
dates's names on the civil service list, but rather the order
in which the Respondent had recommended the candi-
dates.

12. Because the reserve appointments made by the
Board at the Respondent’s recommendation had by-
passed several candidates who were willing to be ap-
pointed, DPA regulations and G.L. .31, §27 required
that the appointments would not be approved by DPA
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and become effective until the DPA received a letter
stating reasons why the candidates appointed were the
best candidates for the position. On October 19, 1983,
the Respondent sent a letter to the DPA informing it of
the September 15, 1983 appointments and stating as to
those appointed:

The above individuals were appointed as the

result of a total evaluation and observation by

myself and other department superior officers.

Our feelings are in that comparison to other

nominees and their evaluations, the above ap-

pointments are the best selections for the

Swampscott Police Department at this time.

On March 5, 1984, the Respondent again wrote to
DPA concerning the September 15, 1983 appointments,
providing the effective date of each appointment and
stating as to each candidate that the candidate “... upon
interview, background investigation and overall evalu-
ation by myself and other superior officers of the Depart-
mentappears to be the best selection for the [SPD] at this
time..”

{(b) 1984 Appointment of Michael as Permanent
Full-Time Police Officer

13. Some time prior to December 6, 1984, with the
approval of the Board, the Respondentsenta requisition
to the DPA for a civil service list of candidates eligible to
fill three permanent fulltime SPD officer positions. In
response, the DPA issued a civil service list, dated Decem-
ber 6, 1984, of six names, including Michael's, listed
according to their SPD reserve police officer appoint-
ment dates. Four of the six persons listed on the list,
including Michael, signed the list affirming their willing-
ness to accept 2 permanent full-time SPD appointment.
Two of the candidates so signing were listed ahead of
Michael.

14. Prior to December 13, 1984, on which day the
Board considered the appointment of permanent full-
time SPD police officers, the Respondent participated in
an official SPD selection process in which it was deter-
mined that Michael and one other candidate would be
recommended by the Respondent forappointment. The
Respondent participated in the review of interviews,
background screenings and physical and psychological
evaluations of the candidates, and formally interviewed
at least one of the four candidates, John Dube, concern-
ing, among other things, his interest in becoming a
police officer and what benefit he could provide the com-
munity. As a result of these activities, the Respondent
made the determination that, of the four candidates,
Michael and John Dube were fit to be recommended for
appointment as fulltime police officers.

15. At the Board meeting on December 13, 1984,
the Respondent recommended that Michael and John
Dube be appointed as permanent full-time police offi-
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cers, and the Board unanimously voted to appoint the
recommended candidates. Prior to voting, the Board
asked if all applicants had been tested medically, physi-
callyand psychologically, and the Respondent stated that
they had been. The Respondent also confirmed that, on
his recommendation, Michael and Dube were the best
suited of the candidates for the positions.

16. In appointing Michael and Dube, the Board
bypassed Dennis Hamson, who was listed ahead of them
on the civil service list and who had signed the list
signifying his willingness to be appointed as a full-time
police officer. On December 19, 1984, the Respondent
wrote a letter to DPA stating respectively as to Michael
and Dube that “.. upon interview, background and
overall evaluation by myselfand other superior officers of
the Department [he] appears to be the best selection for
the [SPD] at this time.”

(c) 1985Appointment of John, Reid and Francis
as Special Police Officers

17. On or before June 11, 1985, the Respondent
interviewed and updated a list of SPD special police
officers. Included on the list were the names of the Re-
spondent’ssons, John and Reid, and his brother, Francis.
AtaJune 11,1985 meeting of the Board, the Respondent
submitted the aforementioned list of names to the Board
for appointment. The Board unanimously voted, with-
outdiscussion, to appointthelisted special police officers
assubmitted. Asspecial police officers, Francis, John and
Reid were each eligible to work paid private details.®

(d) 1986 Appointment of Timothy as Special
Police Officer

18. At a Board meeting on January 23, 1986, the
Respondent submitted a list of the names of nine per-
sons, including his youngest son, Timothy, for appoint-
ment as special police officers. The Respondent told the
Board, in asking for the appointments, that he was trying
to build up the force and that the appointments were
needed. Upon questioning by the Board as to why special
police officers were needed, the Respondent stated that
the new appointees would be unpaid volunteers and
would be used for traffic, parades and similar duties, The
Board voted unanimously to appoint those named on the
list submitted by the Respondent.’

19. At no time prior to his participation in the
procedures leading to the appointment of his son Mi-
chael, first as permanent reserve, then permanent full-
time police officer, or the appointments of his sons, John,
Reid and Timothy and his brother Francis as special
police officers, did the Respondent make awritten disclo-
sure to the Board that he would be participating in
matters in which members of his immediate family had
financial interests or seek or receive in advance of his
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participation a written determination by the Board that
his immediate family members' financial interests in
their respective appointments were not so substantial as
to affect the integrity of the services the Town might
expect from him in his participation in the appointment
process.

(e) 1986 Appointment of John and Timothy as
Permanent Reserve Police Officers

20. Prior to June 24, 1986, on the vote of the Board,
the Respondent sent a requisition to the DPA for a civil
service list of candidates from which ten SPD permanent
reserve police officer positions would be filled. In re-
sponse, the DPA issued a list, dated June 27, 1986, of
thirty-five names, arranged by civil service examination
score, on which John was listed fifth and Timothy twelfth.
The Respondent was aware at the time that he submitted
the requisition that John and Timothy had previously
taken the statewide civil service examination prerequisite
toappointment for police officer and knew that they had
expressed an interest in serving Swampscott.

21. Between June 27, and September 18, 1986, the
SPD conducted background screenings and so-called
general psychological interviews of the reserve officer
candidates. This activity tock place under a program
prepared by the Respondent, adopted by the Board and
approved by DPA. The Respondent took part in direct-
ing the background screenings and determined, or took
partin the determination of, whatwould be inquired into
in those screenings. The Respondentalso participated in
the selection of the persons making up the Oral Boards
Panel, which conducted the general psychological inter-
views of the candidates, and in the choice of the psycho-
logical consultant hired to assist the SPD in the police
officer selection process.

22. TheSPD Oral Boards Processinterviewed twenty-
seven of the thirty-five persons on the civil service list,
including John and Timothy. The Respondent’s highest
ranking subordinate, Senior Captain Toomey, was one of
three members of the Oral Boards Panel. The Panel rec-
ommended both John and Timothy, along with seven
others, without reservations. The Panel also recom-
mended nine candidates with reservations and judged
nine other candidates to be unacceptable.

23. Sometime on or before September 18, 1986, the
Respondent compiled alist of candidates which he would
recommend that the Board appoint as permanent re-
serve officers. Thelistincluded the names of the Respon-
dent’s sons, Timothy and John, did not include the
names of three candidates recommended without reser-
vation by the Oral Boards Panel, and included the names
of four candidates whom the Oral Boards Panel recom-
mended with reservations.

24. At a meeting of the Board on September 18,
1986, the Respondent recommended ten candidates



from the civil service list requisitioned, including John
and Timothy, for appointment as permanent reserve
officers. The Board approved the appointmentofthe ten
recommended candidates, noting the fact, after both
John’s and Timothy’s names, that they were the Respon-
dent’s sons.

25. At no time prior to his participation in the
procedures leading to the Board's appointment of his
sons John and Timothy as permanent reserve officers did
the Respondent make a written disclosure to the Board
that he would be participating in matters in which his
sons had financial interests, or receive in advance of his
participation a written determination by the Board that
his sons’ financial interests in their respective appoint-
ments were not so substantial as to affect the integrity of
the services Swampscott might expect from him in his
participation in the appointment process.

26. At the meeting on September 18, 1986, the’

Boardvoted toapprovealetter dated September 18,1986
and addressed to the Respondent, which acknowledged
that the Respondent had advised the Board that his sons,
John and Timothy, were “on the list for appointment to
the position of Reserve Police Officer” and to inform the
Respondent of the Board’s determination that the Re-
spondent’s “financial interest in either or both [sons]
being selected [by the Board]” was “not so substantial
that it would be deemed [by the Board) likely to affect
[the Respondent’s] integrity in whatever involvement or
participation, if any, that [the Respondent] might have
in the process of [the Board] selecting candidates from
[the] list.” The letter was signed by the Chairman of the
Board.

(f) NightShift Assignments of Peterand Michael

27. SPD police officers assigned to night shifts are
paidashiftdifferentialamounting toa couple of hundred
dollars per year. The Respondent, as SPD Chief, super-
vises shift assignments. That supervision includes decid-
ing who works each shift and does not require approval
of the Board. In addition, as Chief, the Respondentsigns
the dutyroster, prepared by a subordinate, on which shift
assignments are set forth and which is ineffective without
his signature.

28. Since August, 1983, the Respondent hasassigned
or renewed the assignment to the night shift of his son
Peter, who has been a permanent full-time SPD officer
since February, 1983. Peter receives a shift differential
for working the night shift. In addition to receiving the
nightshift differential, working the nightshiftaccommo-
dates Peter's commercial fishing schedule.

29. Sometime during 1986, the Respondent assigned
hisson Michael to the nightshift. Michael received ashift
differential for working the night shift.

30. At no tme prior to making the decisions to
assign hissons Peter and Michael to the nightshift did the
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Respondent make a written disclosure to the Board that
he would be participating in matters in which his sons
had financial interests, or seek or receive in advance of
his participation, a written determination by the Board
that his sons’ financial interests in their respective assign-
ments to night duty were not so substantial as to affect the
integrity of the services Swampscott might expect from
the Respondent in his making shift assignments,

I, Decision

For the reasons which follow, we conclude that the
Respondent violated G.L. c. 268A, §19 as alleged in sub-
stantial part in the Order to Show Cause, and that no
exemptions apply, either as a matter of law or affirmative
defense.

Under G.L. €. 2684, §19, with certain exceptions, a
municipal employee is prohibited from participating® in
any particular matter® in which, to his knowledge, a
member of his immediate family” has a financial interest,
The financial interests covered by §19 are those which are
reasonably foreseeable, EC-COI-84-96, and include the
interest which immediate family members have in their
appointments to paid positions. Sciuto v, City of Law-
rence, 389 Mass. 939 (1983) (city alderman found to have
violated G.L. c. 268A, §19 by the appointment of his
brother to positionsin the police department); Commis-
sion Advisory No. 11 (Nepotism) (1986).

At the outsel, it is undisputed that the Respondent
has been, at all relevant times, a municipal employee
within the meaning of G.L. c. 2684, §1(g). It is also
undisputed that the Board, as the appointing authority,
makes the final decision regarding the appointment of
permanent reserve police officers, permanent full-time
police officers and special police officers. The conclu-
sion that the Board makes the final appointment deci-
sion does not rule out, however, findings of prior partici-
pation in the same appointment by other municipal
employees. The definition of participate in G.L. c. 268A,
§1(j) includes recommendation and anticipates that
intermediate participantsin a chain of command may be
found to have participated under §1(j) in a decision
finally approved by higher level officials. While periph-
eral or preliminary involvement may lack, in certain
circumstances, the degree of substantiality required by
§1(j), see, EC-COI-87-32, 81-118, the making of recom-
mendations to the final decision maker has customarily
been regarded as substantial participation. See, In the
Matter of James Craven, 1980 SEC 17, aff'd sub nom
Cravenv. State Ethics Commission, 390 Mass. 191 (1983);
EC-COI-85-26; 83-174; 81-108.

1. Substantive Violations

(a) 1983 Appointment of Michael as a Perma-
nent Reserve Officer.

&



We conclude that the Respondent participated in
the appointment of his son Michael as a permanent
reserve police officerin 1983, in violation of G.L. c. 2684,
§19. TheappointmentofMichael was a particular matter
in which a member of the Respondent's immediate
family had a financial interest of which the Respondent
was aware. The Respondent personally and substantially
participated in the appointment through his activities as
Police Chief leading up to the Board’s acceptance of his
recommendation.

Specifically, the Respondent interviewed candidates
for the appointment, weighed the merits of the candi-
dates, made formal recommendations to the Board and
personally presented his recommendations before the
Board.? Given the deference which the Board customar-
ilyaccorded the Respondentin the operation of SPD, any
personnel recommendation made by the Respondent
would be ratified and formally approved by the Board.
The Respondent’s role in the appointment process was
substantial because the Board would not have appointed
Michael as a permanent reserve officer unless the Re-
spondent had recommended the appointment. In light
of the influential impact of the Respondent’srecommen-
dation, together with the Respondent’s prior interview
and evaluative activities leading up to the recommenda-
tion, we do not regard the Respondent's activities in
connection with Michael’s appointmentas peripheral or
preliminary.

(b) The 1984 Appointment of Michael as a Per-
manent Full-time Police Officer.

The legal analysis supporting a finding of a §19
viclation in the 1984 appointment of Michael asa perma-
nent fulltime police officer is nearly identical to the
analysis of the 1983 appointment. The record docu-
ments the personal and substantial involvement of the
Respondent in personally interviewing and ranking
candidates and making recommendations and presenta-
tions to the Board. Although for §19 purposes it may not
be relevant that the Respondent passed over a candidate
ranked higher than his son, this fact will be relevant in
considering an appropriate penalty.

(c) The 1985 Appointment of John, Reid and
Francis as Special Police Officers.

Itisundisputed that the Respondent recommended
and personally presented to the Board the appointment
of sons John and Reid and brother Francis as special
police officers. Although the appointment and reap-
pointment of special police officers appears to be more
pro forma than the selection of permanent reserve or
regular police officers, the record reflects the discretion
which the Respondentexercised in determining whether
toinclude namesin his periodic recommendations to the
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Board. The discretion, coupled with his recommenda-
tion activities, support afinding that his participation was
personal and substantial.

We have closely examined whether the Respondent’s
family members had a financial interest in their appoint-
ments. The special police officers positions are unpaid,
and the Respondent informed the Board that he was at-
tempting to build up the special force and that the
specials would be unpaid volunteers used for traffic and
parades. These facts merely demonstrated, however, that
the Respondentwasaware that his family members would
not receive Town funds for their services.

The practical reality of appointment as a special
police officer, a reality known to both the Respondent
and ‘his family members, was that appointment as a
special police officer qualified his family members to
work on paid, private details. In effect, the appointment
was a license to earn money on private details, and,
therefore, his family members had a reasonably foresee-
able financial interest in their appointments, The fore-
seeability of this financial interest is supported by evi-
dence documenting the additional private detail income
earned by John in 1986.

On the other hand, his brother Francis did not have
had a reasonably foreseeable financial interest in his ap-
pointment. He testified that he had served as a special
police officer for thirty years, that he regarded the ap-
pointment as honorary, and that he had never earned
any money as a special police officer. Assuming that the
Respondent was aware of his brother’s limited use of the
position asan honorary title, the presumption that Francis
had aforeseeable financial interestin hisannual appoint-
ment in 1985 was rebutted. Accordingly, the Respon-
dent’s appointment of his brother in 1985 did not violate
§19. See, In the Matter of Dana Chase, 1985 SEC 153,
156; EC-COI-87-1. The record is less clear with respect to
the foreseeability of Reid's financial interest in his ap-
pointment. Because the special police officer appoint-
ment entitled Reid to earn compensation from private
details, we presume that the potential for such earnings
is a sufficient financial interest for §19 purposes, absent
evidence to the contrary. While we are persnaded by the
evidence that Francis had, in effect, renounced any
financial interest in his appointment, there is no such
evidence supporting a similar finding with respect to
Reid. Accordingly, we conclude that the Respondent’s
participation in the appointment of John and Reid vio-
lated §19, whereas his participation in the appointment
of Francis was not a matter in which Francis had a
foreseeable financial interest.

(d) The 1986 Appointment of Timothy as a Spe-
cial Police Officer.

The Respondent’s participation in the 1985 special
police officer appointment process for Timothy is similar



to the activities which constituted personal and substan-
tial participation in his other family members’ appoint-

ments as special police officers in 1985. Specifically, we -

conclude that the Respondent participated in Timothy’s
appointment by his submitting and recommending
Timothy’s name to the Board and by his discussing the
reasons for the appointment with the Board. Timothy's
financial interest in the appointment is supported by
Timothy's earning substantial private detail income
during that year.

(e) The 1986 Appointment of John and Timo-
thy as Permanent Reserve Officers.

The evidence supports our conclusion that the Re-
spondent personallyand substantially participated in the
appointment of sons John and Timothy as permanent
reserve police officers. Prior to making any presentation
to the Board, the Respondent initiated the background
screening and psychological evaluation process for the
candidates, evaluated the merits of each candidate and
prepared a written recommendation to the Board which
included the appointment of his two sons. Therefore,
the Respondent’s conduct prior to his personal presen-
tation to the Board on September 18, 1986 constituted
personal and substantial participation in their appoint-
ment

By September, 1986, the Board was made aware that
it could permit the Respondent to participate in matters
affecting his family members’ financial interest by mak-
ing a written determination tracking the exemption
language of §19(b)(1). Accordingly, the Board approved
a written exemption for the Respondent with respect to
his presentation at the September 16, 1986 meeting.
While the language of the exemption was not entirely
consistent with the exemption language of §19(b) (1), we
find that the determination was sufficient to permit the
Respondent to participate thereafter in the recommen-
dation of his sons for appointment. We do not believe,
however, that the determination was sufficient to insulate
the Respondent from violations which had previously
occurred with respect to his sons’ appointments because
such an exemption can onlybe granted in advance of par-
ticipation and must be based on a disclosure of all
relevant facts. While the Board was apparently attempt-
ing to assist the Respondent in avoiding violating §19,
there is no evidence thatitwasaware of the Respondent’s
specific conduct which led up to his appearance in
support of the recommendations.

(f) Night Shift Assignments of Peter and
Michael.

The Respondent’s son Peter was appointed as a
permanent full-time police officer in February, 1983, In
August, 1983, the Respondentassigned Peter to the night
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shift, thereby providing Peter with an additional night
shift salary differential as well as a schedule accommoda-
tion for Peter's commercial lobster business.! The Re-
spondent also assigned his son Michael, a permanent
full-time police officer, to a night shift in 1986, thereby
entitling Michael to a night shift salary differential. The
shift assignmentauthority rests with the Respondentand
does not require formal approval by the Board. In
making the shift assignments, the Respondent's actions
constituted personal and substantial participation within
the meaning of §1(j). See, Commission Advisory No. 11
(Nepotism) (1986).

The Respondent’s night shift assignments, there-
fore, constituted participation in matters in which his
family members had a financial interest. The violations,
however, are largely the consequence of the fact that the
Respondent was supervising his sons and would inevita-
bly participate in matters which would have a financial
impact on them.

2. Exemptions

Under §19(b) (1) had the Respondent notified the
Board of the several matters before him in which his
family members had financial interests, he could have
received written determination permitting his participa-
tion and thereby providing him with a complete defense
to hisviolations. The exemption would have applied not
only to his personal presentations before the Board but
also his participation in the process leading up to hisrec-
ommendations. With the exception of his recommenda-
tions regarding John and Timothy to the Board, in
September, 1986, the Respondent did not follow the
statutory procedure. By not disclosing the relevant facts
to the Board and by not receiving from the Board ad-
vance written permission to participate, the Respondent
failed to qualify for any exemption under §19(b)(1).
See, In the Matter of William G. McLean, 1982 SEC 75,
78.

To be sure, the Board was aware of the fact that the
Respondent was recommending the appointment of his
family members, and the Respondentdid not conceal the
relationships in his presentations. Moreover, given the
trust and deference which the Board accorded the Re-
spondent as Chiel, it is likely that, if called upon, the
Board would have granted the Respondent written per-
mission to participate in all matters relating to the ap-
pointment of his family members. Nonetheless, the
Respondent's participation was not exempted under the
required conditions of §19(b)(1). The nature of these
omissions is a relevant consideration, however, in the as-
sessment of appropriate penalties.

3. Other Defenses

O



In his Answer, the Respondent asserted that the
allegationsin the Order to Show Cause were time-barred
by a two-year statute of limitations. In effect, the Respon-
dent has challenged the propriety of the Commission’s
three-year statute of limitations, established by regula-
tion in 1984. See, 930 CMR 1.02(10). During the pen-
dency of these hearings, we fully addressed an identical
challenge in the Matter of Robert Sullivan, 1937 SEC 312,
313 (October 30, 1987). In light of our recent affirma-
tion of the propriety of the three-year limitations period
in that decision, we will not restate those reasons here.
We have reviewed the Respondent’s contentions sup-
porting a shorter limitations period but remain per-
suaded by the validity of the three-year statute of limita-
tions regulation,

The Respondent’s briefalse challenges the Commis-
sion's proceedings on several constitutional grounds.
Because we assume the constitutionality of the Commis-
sion’s statute and procedure, we do not customarily
address the constitutional challenges at the administra-
tive level. We would add, however, that in our view, none
of the Respendent’s challenges appears to have any
meril, either with respect to the statute on its face or with
respect to how the statute is applied to the Respondent.
To the extent that most of the challenges are grounded
on the assertion that Commission proceedings are crimi-
nal, as opposed to civil in nature, the Supreme Judicial
Court has previously resolved this point in the Commis-
sion’s favor. See, Craven v. State Ethics Commission, 330
Mass. 191 (1983); Quinn v. State Ethics Commission, 401
Mass. 210 (1987) Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass. 795
(1978).

IV. Sanctions

Although G.L. c. 268B, §4 authorizes our assessment
of civil penalties of up to $2,000.00 for each violation of
G.L. c. 268A, we are not inclined to assess the maximum
penalty for each of the Respondent’s nine distinct viola-
tions of G.L. c. 268A, §19. In some ways, the Respondent
makes a strong case for mitigation of fines. The Respon-
dent made no effort to conceal the fact that he was
recommending his family members. Moreover, Town
officials who could have taken preventative action were
aware of the Respondent’s situation and chose not to
raise any objection. On the other hand, all of his §19
violations occurred after the 1983 Sciuto decision, and
his ignorance of the prohibition of §19is nota defense. !
His violaticns were widespread and reasonably raised
questions in the SPD about presumed favoritism towards
his family members, particularly in the bypassing of
qualified outsiders. While there is no evidence that the
Respondent’s family members were unqualified for the
positions to which they were appointed, compliance with
the §19 exemption procedure could have made the
Board more aware of the Respondent’s conflicting loyal-
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ties in the matters in which he was participating. Compli-
ance could have also enabled the Board to determine
whether additional safeguards were necessary to pre-
serve the integrity of the appointment process.

We have weighed these aggravating and mitigating
factors and conclude that a civil penalty of $200.00 is ap-
propriate for each appointment process in which the Re-
spondent’s participation violated G.L. c. 268A, §19.
Spercifically, we assess a $200.00 civil penalty for his
participation in each of the following matters:

(a) the 1983 appointment of his son Michael as

a permanent reserve police officer;
(b) the 1984 appointment of his son Michael as
a permanent full-time police officer;

(c) the 1985 appointments of his son John and

son Reid as special police officers;

(d) the 1986 appointment of his son Timothy as

a special police officer; and
(e) the 1986 appointments of his son Timothy
and son John as permanent reserve police
officers.
Weare notinclined toimpose additional penaltieson the
Respondent for his night shift assignments of Peter and
Michael in 1986.

V. Order

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that the Re-
spondentviolated G.L. ¢. 268A through his participation
in the appointment and shift assignment of his sons, and
we arder the Respondent to pay to the Commission a civil
penalty of $1,000.00.

Date Authorized: October 19, 1988

1/G.L. c. 268A, 19 provides as follows:

(a) Except as permitted by paragraph (b}, 2 municipal employee
who participates as such an employee in a panticular matier in which to his
knowledge he, his immediate family or partner, a business organization in
which he is serving as officer, director, trustee, partner or employee, or any
person ororganization with whom he isnegotiatingor hasanyarrangement
concerning prospective employment has a financial interest, shall be
punished bya fine of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprison-
ment for not mere than two years, or bodh.

(b} It shall not be a violation of this section (1) if the municipal
employee first advises the official responsible for appointment to his
position of the nature and circumstances of the particular matter and
makes full disclosure of such financial interest, and receives in advance a
wrilten determination made by that official that the interest is not so sub-
stantial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the services which the
municipality may expect from the employee, or (2) if, in the case of an
elected municipal official making demand bank deposits of municipal
funds, said official first files, with the clerk of the city or town, a statement
making full disclosure of such financial interest, or {3) if the particular
maitter involves a determination of general policy and the interest of the
municipal employee or members of his immediate family is shared with a
substantial segment of the population of the municipaliry.

#/Although the record contains some discrepancy regarding the pre-
cise number of candidates personally interviewed by the Respondent, we
find that the Respondent did participate in the interview process which led
1o the decisions as to whom to recommend to the Board.

*/Francis had served as a special police officer for thirty years,
regarded the position as honorary, and had never camed moncy from the
private details as a special police officer.

{/Between August 29 and November 1, 1986, John was paid at least
$1,771.21 for his SPD special police officer duties. Between May 28 and No-



vemnber 2, 1986, Timothy was paid at least $4,990.54 for his servicesas a SPD
special police officer. These montes were carned by John and Timothy by
working paid private details.

3/*Participate,” participate in agency action orin a pardcular matter
persenally and substantially as a state, county or municipal employee,
through approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering
of advice, investigation or otherwise G. L. c. 2684, §1(j).

*/“Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding. application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim,
controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determinaton, finding.
but excluding enacument of general legislation by the general courtand pe-
titions of cities, Lowns, counties and districts for special laws related o their
governmenital otganizations, powers, duties, finances and property G.L. c.
268A, §1(k).

7/“Emmediate family,” the employee and his spouse, and their par-
ents, children, brothers and sisters G.L. ¢. 268A, §1{e).

*/The record contains conflicting testimony regarding whether the
Respondent personally auended a psychological evaluation of Michael.
The Respondent initially stipulated that he had attended such an evalu-
ation but [ater recanted the testimony. The Petitioner has not pressed this
point, and, in any event, there is ample additional evidence to supporia
finding of participation.

*/Peter testified that he had requesied a later shift to accommodate
his lobster business but that his father had assigned him to the night shift
for the needs of the department.

'/ Following Sciuto, it was incumbent on the Respondent wo initate
an advisory opinion request with either the Town Counsel of the Commiis-
sion secking prospective guidance over the propriety of his recommending
the appointment of his immediate family members. His failure to initiate
this process cannot insulate him from liability for violations of G.1. ¢, 268A.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 332
IN THE MATTER
OF
NORMAN McMANN

Appearances: Stephen P. Fauteux, Esq.
Diane W. Paschall, Esq.
Counsel for Petitioner

Richard Knott, Esq.
Counsel for Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Jarvis,
Pappalardo

DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-
ings on April 28, 1987 by filing an Order to Show Cause
pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure, 930 CMR 1.01(5) (a). The Order alleged that
Norman McMann (Respondent), Honeydew Donut Shop
owner, violated G.L. c. 2684, §19' and 20° by:

1. voting 18 times as a member of the Bristol-

Plymouth Regional School Committee (School

Committee) to approve payment of a cafeteria

warrant which included payrments to McKee En-
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terprises (McKee); and

2. having a direct or indirect financial interest

in the daily contract made by the Bristol-Ply-

mouth Regional Technical School District

(School District), from April, 1984 to January,

1986, a municipal agency of the same municipal-

ity where Respondent serves on the School

Committee.

Respondent filed an Answer on May 19, 1987 in
which he raised two affirmative defenses:

1. that the statute of limitations or laches barred

the proceedings; and

2. that the Commission denied Respondent’s

right to due process by not permitting Respon-

dent to present his side of the case to the Com-
mission at the time it found reasonable cause.
The parties stipulated that, during the relevant time, Re-
spondent was a member of the School Committee and
the owner of the donut shop. Respondent’s Answer
denied all other material allegations contained in the
Order.

An adjudicatory hearing was held on October 29,
1987 before Commission Chairman Colin 8, Diver,a duly
designated presiding officer. At the close of Petitioner’s
case, the Respondent moved to dismiss on the grounds
that Petitioner did not establish there was a contract with
the School Districtand that Respondent had no financial
interest in the School District’s payments to McKee. The
hearing officer denied the motion inasmuch as only the
full Commission may grant such a motion. 930 CMR
1.01(6)(d). Respondent's grounds for dismissal are
repeated in his brief opposing the Petitioner's allega-
tions in the Order to Show Cause. Accordingly, this
Decision and Order addresses those grounds.

The parties filed post-hearing briefs and presented
oral argument before the Commission on September 14,
1988, In rendering this Decision and Order, the Com-
mission has considered the testimony, evidence and
arguments of the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. Respondentwas, at ail relevant times, a member
of the School Committee and, therefore, a municipal
employee.

2. The School Committee was responsible for
approving payment of bills from vendors who supply
goods to the School cafeteria.

3. A cafeteria warrant includes cafeteria expenses
for the month and a line item for each vendor who
provided supplies. Supporting documentation for the
warrant, including individual bills or receipts, was avail-
able to the School Committee.

4. When the School Committee approved the
warrant, it was thereafter submitted to the School District
treasurer who would in turn pay the vendor,
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5. Atall relevant times, Respondent was president
and part owner of Silver City Donut, Inc., 2 corporation
which owned and operated a Honeydew donut franchise
{the DonutShop) in Taunton, MA. Brenda Dean (Dean)
wasalsoapart owner of the corporation. Respondent was
also, at all applicable times, an employee of the corpora-
tion.

6. Prior to Respondent’s election to the School
Committee, the School purchased donutsfrom the Donut
Shop. The cafeteria manager testified that she purchased
all the food, that she turned all her bills into the business
manager, and that the School Committee had to approve
whether or not to pay the bills. The donuts were then
delivered to the School by Respondent, Wilbur McKee or
Dean. The donuts were delivered in boxes with a Honey-
dew logo.

7. The sale of donuts to the School represented
10% of the Donut Shop's business.

8. In1984, the School Committee raised a question
of conflict of interest if Respondent continued to sell
donuts to the School. The School Committee requested
a legal opinion on this issue from the School Committee
attorney, David Gay.

9. Inaletter dated January 25, 1984, Respondent
requested an opinion from Attorney Gay “if it is legally
permissible for [Respondent] to continue any business
transaction with the School.”

10. On February 15, 1984, Attorney Gay wrote an
opinion to Respondent that stated “{I]ln my opinion,
your election to the Bristol-Plymouth School Committee
requires that your business corporation cease its contrac-
tual relationship with the School.” In a separate cover
letter of the same date to Respondent, Attorney Gay
stated “I am sorry that there is no method to allow the
business to continue ...”

11. After Respondent was notified to stop selling
donuts to the School, he had a conversation with his
baker, Wilbur McKee, informing him of the conflict of
interest.

12. McKee asked Respondentif McKee could legally
sell the Donut Shop donuts to the School. Respondent
stated that he would ask Attorney Gay if this solution was
permitted. Respondent later told McKee that it was
permitted.

13. Respondent informed the cafeteria manager
that Respondent would no longer sell donuts to the
School but that, if she wanted, the cafeteria rmanager
could purchase donuts from McKee Enterprises. Re-
spondent did not pressure the cafeteria manager to buy
from McKee. Respondent informed the manager of
McKee's name and address for purposes of school pay-
ment.

14. McKee then delivered the donuts to the School
in plain, white boxes. Donut Shop donuts were delivered
to another school and wholesale account in Honeydew
logo boxes.
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15. Prior to this arrangement with Respondent,
McKee did not sell donuts to customers although he did
provide a few dozen a week to his wife (atno cost) and to
his cousin.

16. McKee had no permit to make wholesale sales.
He had no letterhead as McKee Enterprises. The checks
he issued to pay the Donut Shop for the School's donuts
were drawn on his personal account. McKee Enterprises
was a name McKee used only for his business with the
School.

17. When Respondent and McKee arranged that
McKee would sell the Donut Shop donuts to the School,
the donuts were ordered the same way they had been
ordered when the Donut Shop sold the donuts to the
School directly. The cafeteriamanager placed the orders
and someone at the Donut Shop, Respondent, Dean or
any of the other employees, took the order. McKee
baked the donuts nightly and the delivery slips were filled
cut by Dean.

18. After Respondent and McKee arranged that
McKee would sell donuts to the School, Respondent
rather than McKee, kept records of the School sales and
delivery slips. Respondent also arranged with McKee that
he would give McKee 10% of whatever the sale was going
to the School. When the School paid McKee for the
donuts, McKee either signed the check over to Respon-
dent who gave him 10% back or McKee wrote Respon-
dent a check for 0% of the total he received from the
School.

19. The 10% amount retained by McKee was given
by Respondent to McKee in exchange for the service of
delivering donuts to the school.

20. The Donut Shop would receive payment from
McKee when and if McKee received his check from the
School.

21. Respondent decided what price to charge the
School for donuts, both before and afier McKee was
selling the donuts to the School.

22. On September 3, 1985, Respondent gave a
deposition under oath in the Honeydew Associates, Inc.
v. Silver City Donut, Inc. (Bristol Sup. Ct. No. 18498)
where he testified that, as of that date, the Donut Shop
had one wholesale account, the Bristol-Plymouth School.
He did not mention McKee Enterprises as awholesale ac-
count.

23. FromMarch, 1984 to December, 1985, the School
purchased $13,782.00 in donuts from McKee Enter-
prises. These purchases involved a total of 319 separate
orders and deliveries. During that time, McKee paid
$12,403.80 to the Donut Shop.

24. From April, 1984 to January, 1986, Respondent
voted 18 times as a School Committee member to ap-
prove cafeteria warrants each of which included payment
to McKee Enterprises. The total amount approved in
these warrants for McKee Enterprises for donuts was
$13,782.00. Respondent knew that the payments to



McKee were for donuts sold by the Donut Shop and that
Respondent would receive 90% while McKee would
receive 10%.

25. Respondent’s testimony that he thought that if
he sold to another person he would not violate the law is
not credible. Respondent specifically arranged to use
McKee as a “straw” to conceal his §19 and 20 violations.

II1. Decision

For the reasons stated below, the Commission con-
cludes that the Respondent violated G.L. c. 2684, §19 on
18 separate occasions by participating in 18 votes involv-
ing particular mattersin which he had a financial interest
and that the Respondent violated G.L. c. 268A, §20 on
319 separate occasions by having a financial interestin a
contract with the School District. The Commission
further concludes that these violations were willful and
involved a course of conduct constituting both the §19
and 20 viclations as well as an effort to conceal these
violations.

A. Siatute of Limitations

The Commission has promulgated a regulation
concerning the assertion of a statute of limitations de-
fense. 930 CMR 1.02(10) (c) * Where a statute of limita-
tions defense has been asserted, Petitioner has the bur-
den of showing that a disinterested person learned of the
violation no more than three years before the Order was
issued. Petitioner has submitted the affidavits of Dan
Curhan, Richard Krantand William Durette to satisfy this
burden. We find these sufficient to satisfy the burden
found in 930 CMR 1.02(10)(c).

B. Due Process

Respondent contends that his due process rights
were violated because he was not allowed, at the tirne the
Commission found reasonable cause, to present his side
of the case. This defense was fully addressed by the
Commission in a 1980 case indicating that an Order to
Show Cause, valid on its face, would not be set aside on
the ground that evidence presented to the Commission
was inadequate or insufficient, since the adequacy and
sufficiency of the evidence could and should be tested, in
the first instance, at the administrative hearing. See, In
the Matter of John R. Buckley, 1980 Ethics Commission
2.

C. Substantive Violations
1. Section 20

Municipal employees are prohibited by §20 of G.L. c.
268A from havinga direct orindirect financial interestin
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contracts made by the municipality. The Commission has
previously cancluded in EC-COI-82-25 that a “regional
school district is considered an independent ‘municipal
agency’ for purposes of G.L. c. 26BA.” See alsa, EC-COI-
83-74. Respondent was clearly holding office in and
performing servicesforanindependent municipal agency
within the meaning of G.L. c. 2684, §1 (g) and therefore
was a municipal employee.

Respondent contends that, even if he was 2 munici-
pal employee of an independent municipal agency when
he served on the School Committee, the express lan-
guage of §20 indicates that its prohibition applies only to
a municipal employee who has a financial interest in a
contract made by a municipal agency and does not
extend to a financial interest in a contract made by an
independent municipal agency. This reading of §20
contradicts the Commission’s determination that a re-
gional school district is a municipal agency for the pur-
poses of the conflictlaw, as well as the Commission’s man-
date to give the statute a workable meaning. See, EC-
COI1-82-25; Grahamv. McGrail, 370 Mass. 133, 140 (1976).
EC-COI-82-25 reflects the Commission's affirmation of
the Attorney General’s determination that school dis-
tricts perform municipal functions under municipal
control and are, therefore, municipal agencies. See,
A.G. Conflict Opinion No. 98. Respondent’s argu-
ment is also rebutted by the general intent of G.L. c.
268A’s drafters to produce comprehensive legislation.
Respondent advances no reason why the drafters would
have chosen to exclude independent municipal agencies
from the broad prophylactic rule articulated in §20.
Indeed, the School Committee’s own counsel offered the
Respondent an opinion on the legality of his direct
contract with the School District that interpreted §20
consistent with this Commission precedent.

Respondent contends that there was no contract
made by a municipal agency in this case because:

(a) The parties stipulated that the municipal

agency alleged to have made the contract is
the Bristol-Plymouth Regional Technical
School District and a district cannot be a
municipal agency;

{b) The cafeteria manager did not have statu-
tory authority to bind the School District to
a contract; therefore, there was no contract;

(c) Section 20 of G.L. c. 268A only addresses
contracts for personal services;

{(d) The cafeteria manager and the superinten-
dent did not believe there was a contract to
purchase donuts.

None of these contentions has merit.

The Commission concluded in EC-COI-82-25 thata
“regional school districtis considered a‘municipal agency’
for purposes of G.L. c. 268A."

O

Whether the cafeteria manager had statutoryauthor- L )

ity to bind the School District to a contract is irrelevant.



The fact is that, based on her testimony, the cafeteria
manager routinely bound the School District to contracts
for the purchase of cafeteria goods. When there is “a
bargained-for exchange, offer, acceptance, and consid-
eration," there is a contract. See, Quinn v. State Ethics
Commission, 401 Mass. 210, 216 (1987). Here, the
Donut Shop (either Respondent or McKee) offered to
sell donuts to the School, the cafeteria manageraccepted
that offer on behalf of the School and the School paid
money, consideration, for the donuts, We credit the
testimony of the cafeteria manager that she purchased
the cafeteria food, turned all bills in to the business
manager, and it was then left to the School Committee to
paythebillsor not. In everyinstance of thesale of donuts,
the School Committee voted to approve of payment and
the School District did pay for the donuts. See, Conleyv.
Ipswich, 352 Mass. 194, 204 (1967) {(each time a sale is
made, there is a separate contract). Therefore, even if
the cafeteria manager had noactual authority to bind the
School Committee to purchase donuts she had apparent
authority to purchase donuts which authority was subse-
quently ratified.

It is well settled that §20 of G.L. . 268A applies to
contracts for the sale of goods as well as personal service
contracts. Section 20 applies to all municipal contracts.
There is no language in §20 which exempts contracts for
the sale of goods. Sections 7 and 20 have been inter-
preted to include the sale of goods consistently since
prior to 1965. See, Buss Conflict of Interest Law: An
Analysis, 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 368 (1965):

The Company which sells office supplies, no less

than the company which plies bulldozers makes

state contracts...

Respondent's final argument that the superinten-
dent and cafeteria manager do not believe a contract
existed neither reflects the actual testimony nor has any
relevance as a legal argument.

The Commission has consistently recognized that a
person who is not a party to a contract may still fairly be
said to have a financial interestin it. See, EG-COI-83-125
{contractual financial interest of spouse may be imputed
to state employee, where there is shared control of
contract); Buss, infra (§7 applies not only to contracts

awarded to the employee’s own company but companies

with which his company doesbusiness. Id., at 374). More
recently, in EC-COI-87-14, the Commission found thata
state employee was prohibited from participating in a
Home Ownership Opportunity Program of EOCD where
EOCD’s contract was not with the developer but with
participating lending institutions. In that case, the
Commission’s conclusion rested on the fact the price
which the employee charged for the unit was dependent
on EOCD’s contractual relationship with the participat-
ing lending institutions.

In this case, Respondent had a financial interest in
McKee’s delivery of donuts to the school. The total
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amount of money McMann received from McKee de-
pended on a percentage of whatever the sale was going to
be to the school. Further, Respondent made the deci-
sions about price changes regarding the contract price of
the donuts to the school.

Section 19

Section 19 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits Respondent
from participating as a municipal employee in a particu-
lar matter in which, to his knowledge, he or abusiness or-
ganization in which he is associated in certain ways hasa
financial interest. Respondent is a municipal employee.
Each decision by the School Committee to approve a
cafeteria warrant which included a line item for McKee
Enterprises wasa particular matter, For the same reasons
as stated in the discussion of §20, Respondent and the
corporate entity of which he was 50% owner and em-
ployee had a financial interestin the sale of donuts by the
corporation. Since the decision by the School Commit-
tee to approve the cafeteria warrant was necessary in
order for McKee to be paid for donuts sold and for
Respondent to receive his 90% share, Respondent had a
financial interest in the decision to approve the cafeteria
warrant.

Respondent admits knowing that on each occasion
when the School Committee approved a cafeteria war-
rant including a McKee Enterprises line item, he was
aware of the same and knew that ninety per cent of those
proceeds would be going to the Donut Shop. Conse-
quently, the evidence satisfies the “to his knowledge”
requirement in §19.

Respondent’svotes to approve the cafeteria warrants
constitute personal and substantial participation as well.
These roles involved a decision making role, despite the
fact that they involved little controversy. See, In the
Matter of James Geary, 1987 SEC 305. We find Respon-
dent’s actions distinguishable from conduct which we
found peripheral in EC-COI-87-32. In that opinion, the
municipal employee’s conduct was limited to signing an
undisputed payroll warrant, where the correctness of the
hours had been approved previously by the police chief
over whom the employee exercised no active supervi-
sion. We expressly limited the opinion to those factsand
declined to extend the holding to the Respondent. Here
the Respondent’s personalinvolvementcommenced long
before the warrant approval vote. In view of the 1984
Town Counsel opinion, the propriety of the Respon-
dent’s donut sales, which formed the basis of the warrant
approval, was already in dispute. The safeguards which
the Commission regarded as sufficient in EG-COI-87-32
to protect the integrity of the underlying contract are
therefore not present here.

IV. Sanction



There is substantial evidence that Respondent will-
fully attempted to evade detection of his §19 and 20
violationsin thiscase. On February 15,1984 Respondent
received an emphatic letter from Town Counsel which
said he could not sell donuts to the School. Less than
three weeks later, on March 1, 1984, McKee started
delivering donuts. Respondenthas offered no legitimate
business purpose to justify his change in the way donuts
were sold to the school.

McKee did not previously have a wholesale business,
nor is there any evidence he intended to establish one
independent of the Respondent and the School. He had
no other wholesale customers except the 319 deliveries
to the School. Even though Respondent was on notice
thatdonutsales to the School were prohibited, he did not
check out the new arrangement with Town Counsel, the
School Committee, or this Commission.

In addition, this Commission has specifically found
not credible Respondent’s testimony that he thought
thatif he sold to another person, he would not violate the
law.

This was a significant series of contracts and a series
of voteson cafeteriawarrantsinvolving significantamounts
of money. The total gross receipts from illegal sales was
$12,000.00 to $14,000.00. There is an entire course of
conduct and not just an isolated incident at issue here as
well. Respondent’s continued financial interest in the
contract after he was put on notice by Attorney Gay and
the cover up are serious aggravating factors here. The
Commission has noted clsewhere that attempts to con-
ceal violations show a clear awareness of impropriety.
See, In the Matter of James M. Collins, 1985 Ethics
Commission 228. A fine reflecting these aggravating
factors is appropriate.*

V. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, pursuant to its author-
ity under G.L. c. 268B, §4, the Commission orders Re-
spondent to pay ten thousand doliars (§10,000.00) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for 18 violations of G.L. c.
2684, §19 and 319 violations of G.L. c. 268A, §20.

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 24, 1988

1/Section §19, in pertinent par, states that:

{a) Except as permitied by paragraph (b}, a municipal employee
who participates as such an employee in a particular matter in which to his
kniawledge he, his immediate family or partner, a business organization in
which he is serving as officer, director, trustee, partner or employee, orany
person or organizaion with whom he is negotiating or has any arrange-
ment concerning prospective employment has a financial interest, shall be
paunished bya finc of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprisen-
ment for not more than two years, or bath,

t/Section 20, in pertinent part, stales that:

(a1} A municipal employee who has a financial interest, direcily or
indirectly, in a contract made by a municipat agency of the same city or
towm, in which the city or town is an interested party of which financial
interest he has knowledge or hasreason to know, shall be punished by a fine
of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprisonment for nat more
than wo years, or both,
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/930 CMR 1.02(10) (c) sates:

{c) When a stawate of limitations defense has been asserted, the
Petitioner will have the burden of showing that a disinterested person
learnied of the viclation no more than three (3) years before the arder was
issued. That burden will be satisfied by: 1. an affidavit from the invesigator
currently responsible for the case that the Enforcement Division's com-
plaint files have been reviewed and no complaint relating to the violation
was reeeived more than three {3) years before an order was issued, and 2.
with respect to any violation of M.G.L. c. 268A other than §23, affidavits
from the Department of the Attorney General and the appropriate Office
of the District Attorney that, respectively, cach office has reviewed its files
and no complaint relating to the violation was received more than three (3)
years before the order was issued, or 3. with respect to any violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §23, an alfidavit from the Respondent’s public agency was
not aware of any complaint relating 1o the violation more than three {3)
years before the order was issued.

‘/Although we are not inclined to impose a maximum fine for each
of Respondent’s 337 individual violations of G.L. c. 268A, a fine which rec-
ognizes the seriousness with which we view the Respondent's course of
conduct is appropriate.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 349
IN THE MATTER
OF
WILLIAM T. GRIFFIN

Appearances: Freda K. Fishman, Esq.
Robert A. Levite, Esq.
Counsel for Petitioner

Andrew C. J. Meagher, Esq.
Counsel for Respondent

Commissioners: Diver, Ch., Basile, Epps, Jarvis,
Pappalardo

DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed-
ingson January 11, 1988 by filing an Order to Show Cause
pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure, 930 CMR 1.01(5)(a). The Order alleged that
William T. Griffin (Respondent), Chairman of the Ex-
ecutive Committee of the Worcester County Advisory
Board, violated G.L. c. 268A, §13 on January 18, 1987 by
voting to approve a Reserve Fund transfer request, and by
signing the approval of the transfer, that would be used
to fund salary increases for promoted employees of the
Worcester County Jail, including his son, Dennis Griffin.

Respondent filed an Answer on February 8, 1988 in
which he agreed that, on January 18, 1987, he looked at
the names of the personnel that would be affected by the
transfer and was aware thathisson, Dennis Griffin, wason
that list. Respondent denied many of the other material
allegations found in the Order and raised the following

—
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defenses:

1. Respondent’s defense has been prejudiced
by the Commission’s advance knowledge of
the facts upon which it based its vote to issue
the Order to Show Cause.

2. Respondent’s due process rights have been
violated by the fact that the Ethics Commis-
sion is represented by both the Petitioner
and Presiding Officer in this matter;

3. Respondent’s offense, if any, was a less seri-
ous violation of the statute and should have
been handled confidentally;

4. Respondent did not know, on January 18,
1987 or at any time, that Dennis Griffin
would receive a salary increase and promo-
tion when the alleged transfer request was
approved;

5, Dennis Griffin did not receive any benefit
from the January 18, 1987 Executive Com-
mittee vote;

6. Dennis Griffin did nothave a financial inter-
estin the January 18, 1987 Executive Com-~
mittee vote;

7. The reserve fund transfer request was not a
particular matter within the meaning of the
statute; and

B. Respondent was not a county employee in
that the Executive Committee of the Worc-
ester County Advisory Board is not a county
agency;

An adjudicatory hearing was held on May 3, 1988
before Commissioner F. Washington Jarvis, a duly desig-
nated presiding officer. See, G.L. c. 268B, §4(c). The
parties thereafter filed post-hearing briefs and presented
oral argument before the full Commission on September
14, 1988. Based upon a review of the evidence and
arguments presented by the parties, the Commission
makes the following findings and conclusions.

II. Findings of Fact

1. Respondent was Chairman of the Worcester
County Advisory Board's Executive Committee and a
member of the Advisory Board at all relevant times.

2. Respondent’s son, Dennis Griffin, was an em-
ployee of the Worcester County House of Correction
from February 14, 1983 to May 1, 1987. From February
26, 1987 until the date of his resignation, Dennis Griffin
took an unpaid leave of absence from his position.

3. Dennis Griffin was unhappy with his job at the
Warcester County House of Correction and had been so
since 1983. As of January 18, 1987, Dennis Griffin
continued to be unhappy with his employment but had
not offered his resignation or notice.

4. OnJanuaryl5,1987, the County Commissioners
voted to request the approval of the County Advisory
Board for a transfer of $17,754.30 from the Reserve
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Account to the Jail and House of Correction budget to be
used to fund salary increases for employees to be pro-
moted under Sheriff-elect Flynn's proposed reorganiza-
tion of the Jail and House of Correction. The request
form which the County Commissionerssent to the County
Advisory Board referred to a copy of the Sheriff-elect’s
request, which was attached to it.

5. On January 18, 1987, the Executive Committee
of the Advisory Board voted to approve the transfer
request. Respondent was present, voted in favor of the
transferand signed the approved requeston behalfof the
Adyvisory Board. Prior tovoting, Respondent had read the
Sheriff-elect’s transfer request and, at the time he voted,
knew his son would receive a salary increase and promo-
tion once the transfer request was approved.

6. On February 9, 1987, Respondent called the
Legal Division of the Commission and asked if he could
recall the Executive Committee of the Advisory Board to
revote the transfer. He was advised that “participation”
for §13 purposes includes a request for reconsideration
and revote and that he ought not to take such action.

7. OnFebruary 10, 1987, the County Commission-
ersvoted to reconsider the Reserve Fund transfer request
on February 17, 1987.

8. OnFebruary 17, 1987, the County Commission-
ers rescinded their January 15, 1987 vote and voled to
reapprove the transfer request.

9. On March 18, 1987, the Advisory Board voted 7-
0 to approve the second request for the transfer. Respon-
dent was not present at this meeting.

M. Decision

For the reascns stated below, the Commission con-
cludes that the Respondentviolated G.L. c. 268A, §13 on
January 18, 1987 by voting to approve a Reserve Fund
transfer request, and by signing the approval of the
transfer, that would be used to fund salary increases for
promoted employees of the Worcester County Jail, in-
cluding his son, Dennis Griffin.
A. DueProcess

In his Answer, Respondent contends that his due
process rights under the federal and Massachusetts con-
stitutions are violated by virtue of the organization and
procedures of the Commission, in which the investiga-
tory, prosecutorial and adjudicatory functions are com-
bined. He also alleges that this combination deprives
him of an impartial factfinder.
We have held elsewhere that we find no constitutional
defectin the statutory scheme. In the Matter of George
A. Michael, 1981 SEC 39; In the Matter of James J.
Craven, 1980 SEC 17, aff'd sub nom, Craven v. State
Ethics Commission, 390 Mass. 191 (1983).

B. Enforcement Discretion



The Commission properly exercised its discretion in
deciding toresolve this matter publicly. Section 4 of G.L.

c. 268B governs the investigations and “appropriate pro--

ceedings” conducted by the Commission and establishes
the scope of the Commission’s remedial and punitive
powers. A 1980 case has made it clear that the Commis-
sion has discretion to determine whether sufficient cause
exists to warrant action under §4. In the Matter of John
R. Buckley, 1980 SEC 2.

Accordingly, we concur with the Presiding Officer’s
denial of Respondent’s Motion for a Confidential Reso-
lution. We note that the motion would have more appro-
priately been made before the issuance of the Order to
Show Cause. Also, we find nothing in Commission
AdpvisoryNo. 11 on Nepotisminconsistent with the proper
exercise of discretion in the decision to pursue this
matter publicly.

C. Section 13 Substantive Violation

1. The Worcester County Advisory Board is a
“county agency” and William T. Griffin, a
member and Chairman of its Executive Com-
mittee, was a “county employee.”

General Laws chapter 268A, §1(d) defines a county
employee as a person performing services for or holding
an office, position, employment, or membership in a
county agency, whether by election, appointment, con-
tract of hire or engagement, whether serving with or
withoutcompensation, ona full, regular, part-time, inter-
mittent, or consultant basis.

Respondentcontends that the Executive Comnmittee
of the Worcester County Advisory Board is not a county
agency because his membership results from his status as
a member of the Leicester Board of Selectmen, whose
interests he was representing on the Executive Commit-
tee.

The Commission has noted, however, that “where
any agency possesses characteristics of more than one
level of government, the Commission will review the
interrelation of the agency with these levels to determine
the agency's status under G.L. c. 268A." EC-COI-83-157
at 2. The name of a government agency is not determi-
native but, rather, “the level of government to be served
by the agency in question.” Buss, The Massachusetts
Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analysis, 45 B.U. L. Rev.
299, 310 (1965). Just as regional school districts, which
have a field of operations which extend beyond their
constituent localities, are independent municipal
agencies, see, EC-COI82-25, the Executive Committee
of the Worcester County Advisory Board has a county
agency status because its field of operations extends
beyond its members’ constituentlocalities. The financial
judgments that are involved in the operation of the
county hospital, registry of deeds, courthouse and cor-
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rectional facilities are of concern to more than the
residents of one city or town in the county. This is true
despite the fact that Respondent is also a municipal em-
ployee in his position as a Leicester Selectman. Since the
Executive Committee of the Worcester County Advisory
Board is primarily concerned with the operation of county
facilities and the expenditure of county funds, it is a
county agency for the purposes of G.L. ¢.268A. Since
Respondent was performing services for and holding
office in a county agency, he was a county employee for
the purposes of the conflict law, see, G.L. c. 268A, §1(d).

2. The Reserve Fund Transfer Request was a
“Particular Matter.”

Section 1{k) of G.L. c. 268A defines “particular
matter” as any judicial or other proceeding, application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination,
contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest,
decision, determination, finding, but excluding enact-
ment of general legislation by the general court and
petitions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special
laws related to their governmental organizations, pow-
ers, duties, finances and property.

We conclude thata fund transfer request is a particu-
lar matter within the meaning of §1(k). Respondentcon-
tends that §1(k)’s express exclusion of the enactment of
general legislation by the general court from this defini-
tion indicates that the Reserve Fund transfer request was
nota particular matter within the meaning of the statute.
We are not persuaded that the submission and approval
of the fund transfer can be reasonably regarded as the
enactment of general legislation by the General Court.
As we understand it, the fund transfer approval process
is entirely within the jurisdiction of the Advisory Board
and does not require further approval by the General
Court. Given the express language of §1(k), we cannot
assume that the General Court meant to exempt the
Executive Committee of the Worcester County Advisory
Board's approval of reserve fund transfer requests.

Respondent also argues that because he participated
onlyin a consolidated vote on the entire transfer request,
he did not participate in a particular matter in violation
of the statute. Respondent misconstrues Graham v.
McGrail, 370 Mass. 133 (1976) when he interprets it to
exclude consolidated votes from the definition of par-
ticular matter. The Graham court, in fact, specifically
outlinedaline item vote process that must be undertaken
before a consolidated vote is permissible. No line item
votes were involved on January 18, 1987.

The Commission has stated, in EC-COI-87-25, that
where a city council may vote only on the overall budget
and is statutorily precluded from line item votes, city
council members may vote on the bottom line, even

when the financial interest of an immediate family |

member is implicated despite the Graham holding.



Although Respondent has asserted, in his brief, that the
Worcester County Advisory Board Executive Commit-
tee's powers were similarly limited, he has presented, and
we can find, no support for this assertion in the pertinent
legislation or by-laws. See, G.L. c. 35,§32, By-laws of the
Worcester County Advisory Board. EC-COI-87-25 was
premised on a specific factual showing that Respondent
has not made.

3. Dennis Griffin had a Financial Interest in
the January 18, 1987 Vote.

It is not disputed that the transfer of funds from the
County Reserve Fund to the budget of the Worcester
County House of Correction would have resulted in the
funding of a $500.00 salary increase, attendant upon a
promotion for Dennis Griffin. Respondent argues, rather,
that this fact is irrelevant because Dennis Griffin did not
receive any benefit from the January 18, 1987 vote be-
cause it was quickly rescinded and not revoted until after
Dennis Griffin took an unpaid leave of absence from his
position, only to resign several months later. Inaddition,
Respondent contends that he knew of Dennis Griffin's
impending departure from his county job, because of job
dissatisfaction, and so knew that his son would notsee any
financial benefit from the vote at issue.

We conclude that, at the time of the vote, Dennis
Griffin’s financial interest in his salary increase was pres-
ent and reasonably foreseeable. See, EC-COI-84-98.
Although Dennis Griffin apparently was dissatisfied with
hiswork, he had been so almost from the beginning of his
employment at the Worcester County House of Correc-
tion, several years earlier. No resignation had been
tendered or notice given. Moreover, the Respondentwas
aware of his son’s financial interest in the transfer ap-
proval. It was reasonably foreseeable, at the time of the
vote, that Dennis Griffin had a financial interest in the
vote. The fact that Dennis Griffin would never actually
receive this financial benefit was not reasonably foresee-
able at the time of the vote. Dennis Griffin was unhappy
with his job, but the weight of the evidence was that
Dennis Griffin would continue in his job as he always had,
despite several years of dissatisfaction.

Finally, Respondent argues that Dennis Griffin did
not violate §19 in the January 18, 1987 transfer request
vote because other county officials had made the salary
and promotion recommendation involved and because
Respondent’s vote did not finalize the promotion since
approval by the Personnel Board was still required. In
substance, he asserts that his participation was not per-
sonal and substantial both because it involved litde dis-
cretion and because itinvolved adecision thatwas not the
final decision on Dennis Griffin's promotion and pay-
raise. Although not every action by a public official will
satisfy the substantiality requirement, In the Matter of
John R. Hickey, 1983 Ethics Commission 158 at 159, the
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Commission has made it clear that participation in a
necessary step of a promotion for an immediate family
member is forbidden. See, Commission Advisory No. 11
on Nepotism at 8. In addition, “participation” is not
limited to discretionary and/or final decisions for §19
purposes, In the Matter of George Najemy, 1984 Ethics
Commission 223 at 224, and should not be so limited for
§13.

IV. Sanction

The Commission may require a violator to pay a civil
penalty of not more than two thousand dollars for each
violaton of G.L. c. 268B, §4(j) (3). Although the poten-
tial maximum fine in this case is $2,000.00, we believe that
the imposition of the maximum fine is not warranted.
This violation involved an annual salary increase of
$547.50, a not insignificantamount of money, see, In the
Matter of Paul X. Tivnan, 1988 SEC 348, although smaller
than the amount of money invoived in some other
Commission cases, see, In the Matter of Paul A. Bernard,
1985 SEC 226. The fact that Respondent had only one
child affected by the transfer request makes a $500.00
fine no less appropriate. See, In the Matter of Marjorie
Goudreault, 1987 SEC 280.

V. Order

On the basis of the foregoing pursuant to its author-
ity under G.L. c. 2688, §4, the Commission orders Re-
spondent to pay five hundred dollars ($500.00) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for his violation of G.L. c.
2684, §13.

DATE AUTHORIZED: Ociober 26, 1983

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 364
IN THE MATTER
OF
JOHN R. STONE, JR.
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and John R. Stone, Jr. (Mr. Stone) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).



On April 6, 1987, the Commission initiated a prelimi-
nary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. ¢, 268B, §4(a), into pos-
sible violationsof the conflict of interestlaw, G.L. c. 2684,
involving Mr. Stone, a member of the Gill Board of
Health. The Commission concluded its inquiry and, on
October 26, 1987, found reasonable cause to believe that
Mr. Stone violated G.L. c. 268A.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

At all dmes material herein, Mr. Stone was a mem-
ber of the Gill Board of Health, As such, Mr. Stone is a
municipal employee as that term is defined in G.L. c.
268A, §1(q).

Stone is also a selfemployed contractor; and, as
such, he provides a number of different services to
private parties such as interior and exterior work on
homes.

On March 24, 1986, the Gill Board of Health re-
ceived aletter from Robert P. Bishop, supervising sanitar-
ian for the state Department of Public Health, in which
Bishop stated that his office had received a complaint
about sanitary conditions at 5 Cross Street in Gill (the
property).

On April 3, 1986, Mr. Stone, Bishop and another
Gill Board of Health member inspected the property.
There appeared to be multiple violations of the sanitary
code.

Mr. Stone sent a letter dated April 3, 1986 to the
owner of the property. The letter set out the violations
and stated that the building was condemned.

In September, 1986, the local realtor for the prop-
erty contacted Mr. Stone. The realtor asked Mr. Stone to
make the necessary repairs to the building.

Subsequent to being retained by the realtor, but
before beginning repairs, Mr. Stone met with Se-
lectwoman Geraldine Johnson toaskif he would have any
problems when he did the work on the property. Ms.
Johnson told Mr. Stone that she did not see any problem
with his performing the work as long as he was not
involved with the reinspection of the property or the
lifting of the condemnation order.

Shortly thereafter Mr. Stone began renovating the
property. He did sheetrocking, painting, wallpapering
and other renovations on the interior which took care of
the problems listed on the Board of Health condemna-
tion order.

Mr. Stone received approximately $3,500 as payment
for his work on the property.

On March 9, 1987, with work on the house com-
pleted, the Gill Board of Health issued a certificate of
habitation for the property. Two members of the Board
of Health other than Mr. Stone participated in the
reinspection of the property.

General Laws c. 2684, §17(a) prohibits a municipal
employee, otherwise than as provided by law for the
proper discharge of official duties, from directly or indi-
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rectly receiving or requesting compensation from any-
one other than the town in relation to any particular
matter in which the same town is a party or has a direct
and substantial interest.

12. Both the condemnation order and the reinspec-
tion are particular matters for purposes of the conflict of
interest law.

13. Inlightofthe town’s extensive regulation of local
health matters, any work done pursuant to a condemna-
tion order and/or in anticipation of a subsequent rein-
spection is work done “in relation to” matters of interest
to the town.!

14. The $3,500 Mr. Stone received for doing the
repairs was not received in the course of his discharging
any official duties,

15. By receiving $3,500 for work done to make
repairs on the property, Mr. Stone received compensa-
tion from someone other than his town in relation to
both the condemnation order and the subsequent rein-
spection, thereby violating G.L. c. 2684, §17(a).

16. The Commission is unaware of any evidence to
indicate that Mr. Stone knew he was violating §17(a)
when he acted as described above.? In addition, the Com-
mission hasgiven consideration to the fact that Mr. Stone
showed sensitivity to the conflict issue by obtaining ad-
vice in advance from a Selectman. Mr. Stone cannot rely
on such advice asa defense, however.? In order to protect
himself from the risk that his own or others’ analysis of
the situation was incorrect, Mr. Stone was entitled to seek
a written opinion from the Commission. Such an opin-
ion, sought in advance and based on an accurate repre-
sentation of the material facts, would provide a complete
defense against an alleged violation of the conflict of
interest law.*

Based on the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Mr, Stone:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount

of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00)° as a
civil penalty for his violation of §17(a); and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the find-

ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms
and conditions proposed under this Agree-
mentin this or any related administrative or
Jjudicial civil proceeding in which the Com-
mission is a party.

DATE: November 22, 1988

'/See EG-COI-87-31.

*/Ignorance of the law is no defense to a viotation of G L. c. 268A In
the Matter of foseph Doyle, 1980 SEC 11, 13 See also, Scola v. Seola, 318
Mass, 1, 7 (1945).

3/8ee In the Matier of John J. Hanlon, 1986 SEC 953, 255.

‘/Mr. Stone could also have sought a written opinion from Town
Counsel. Such an opinion, once reviewed and concurred with by the



Commission pursuant to 930 CMR 1.03, would also have provided a
complete defense.

*/But for the mitigating factors described above, the Commission
would have insisted on a higher fine. The Commission may impaose a fine
up to $2,000 for each violation

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 212
IN THE MATTER
OF

ROBERT N. SCOLA
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (“Agrecment”) is en-
tered into between the State Ethics Commission (“Com-
mission”) and Robert N. Scola (*Judge Scola”) pursuant
to section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures. This agreement constitutes a consented to final
order of the Commission enforceable in the Superior
Court pursuant to G. L. ¢. 268B, § 4(d).

On March 22, 1983, the Comrmission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuantto G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into
possible violations of the Conflictof Interest Law, G. L. c.
2684, involving Judge Scola, presiding justice of the
Spencer District Court. The Commission concluded that
preliminary inquiry and on May 5, 1983, found reason-
able cause to believe that Judge Scola violated G. L. c.
268A,823(§2) (3). The parties nowagree to the following
findings of fact and conclusions of law:

1. Judge Scola is a district court judge and presid-
ing justice of the Spencer District Court. He is therefore
a “state employee” as defined in G. L. ¢.2684, §1(q).

2. In August 1982, a Spencer court probation offi-
cer brought to Judge Scola’s attention an educational
program for criminal defendants offered byarecentlyor-
ganized non-profit corporation, MAP, Inc. This pro-
gram, know as SAAP (the Social Attitude and Alechol
Awareness Program), was a single, hour-and-a-half ses-
sion aimed at young persons charged with less serious
misdemeanors related to alcohol and controlled sub-
stance abuse, such as possession of alcohol or marijuana,
transporting alcohol, disturbing the peace or trespass-
ing. The charge for SAAP was $20. Judge Scola had
previously expressed his interest to other alcohol pro-
grams, without success, in a relatively short educational
program for such less serious offenses as a sentencing al-
ternative, and SAAP sounded like something that might
meet his requirements. As a result, he met with the
probation officer and the two principals of MAP, Inc. to
discuss SAAP. Further meetings among Judge Scola and
MAP, Inc. representatives followed.
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3. Judge Scola approved SAAP in the latter part of
August and began using it as a sentencing alternative
after trial and a finding of sufficient facts: if the offender
agreed to complete the program and proof was submit-
ted that he or she had, the court would dismiss the
charges on a pre-set date at the end of a three-month
period of probation without the defendant having to
appear. Otherjudgessitting in both Spencerand Dudley
district courts also used SAAP as a sentencing alternative.

4. MAP, Inc. also offered an educational program,
known as MAP {Massachusetts Alcohol Program), which
was longer and more expensive than SAAP, MAP was a
program designed for repeat offenders arrested for driv-
ing under the influence; it was offered in either a 14-, 20-
or 32-week format and cost from $180 to $300, depend-
ing on which format was chosen. The wo principals of
MAP, Inc. were marketing MAP at various district courts
in the Worcester area and discussed it with Judge Scolain
Spencer.

5. Judge Scola’s daughter took a job and started
work at MAP, Inc. on September 14, 1982. Hers was the
only paid position, and her salary was derived from MAP
and SAAP referral income. In January, 1983, MAP, Inc.
was forced to let her go because the new Massachusetts
drunk driving laws had severely curtailed MAP, Inc.’s
income from MAP referrals. As a result, MAP, Inc. was
forced to reduce its operating expenses.

6. During the four-month period his daughter
worked at MAP, Inc., Judge Scola continued to refer
offenders to SAAP. These referrals totalled approxi-
mately 75 during this period and represented a signifi-
cant portion of MAP, Inc.’s SAAP income. In addition,
Judge Scola directed at least two offenders to the corpo-
ration’s MAP program while his daughter was employed
there; these referrals occurred in the second half of
September, but ended in October as a result of the new
drunk driving law.

7. Judge Scola had no program similar to SAAP
available to him as a sentencing alternative during this
period, although alternatives to some, but not ail, MAP
programs were available.

8. Section 23(§2)(3) forbids a public official from
giving reasonable basis, by his conduct, for the impres-
sion thatany person can improperly influence or unduly
enjoy his favor in the performance of his official duties or
thatheisundulyaffected by the kinship, rank, position or
influence of any party or person.

9. By continuing to assign offenders to attend
programs given by the corporation employing his daugh-
ter, Judge Scola gave reasonable basis for the impression
that MAP, Inc. and his daughter could improperly influ-
ence or unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his
official duties or that he was unduly affected by the fact
that MAP, Inc. employed hisdaughter; Judge Scola thereby
violated §23 (§20}(3).

10. In assessing the penalty here, the Commission



has taken into consideration that Judge Scola's MAP and
SAAP referrals do not appear to have been motivated by

hisdaughter’sinterestin them or byadesire to benefit his-

daughter,

WHEREFORE, the Commission hasdetermined that
the public interest would be served by the disposition of
this matter without further enforcement proceedings on
the basis of the following representations agreed to by

Judge Scola:

1. that he pay the Commission the sum of $250
forthwith as a civil penalty for violating G. L. c. 2684,
§23(§2) (3), because he assigned offenders to programs
offered by an organization employing his daughter; and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and conditions contained in this
Agreement in this or any related administrative and/or

judicial proceedings.

Date: June 20, 1986

The following are footnotes omitted from The Matter of
John J. Hanlon, issued 2/6/86.

'/ He also disclosed the fact that he owned Lo-Jack stock in his 1984
Sutement of Financial Interests, which was filed with the Commission. In
addition, Mr. Hanlon fully cooperated with the Commistion's staff in
investiaging this matter.

*/In the Matter of John A, Deleirs {Docket No. 269); In tic Matier

{Docket No. 285).

*/Section 6 provides an exemption for a state employee whose duties
require him to participate in a particular matter in which he has 2 financial
interest: (1) he must advise his appainting official and this COmmission
of the nature and circumstances of the pariicular matter and make full
disclosure of his financial intrest; and (2) the appointing official shall then
assign the matter 1o another emploayee, assume responsibility for it himself,
or make awritten determination (and file it with this Commission) that the
financial intersest is not sa substantial as to be demed likely to affect the
integrity of the employee's services.
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Included are:

Summaries of all Commission Decisions and
Orders, Disposition Agreements and Public
Enforcement Letters issued in 1988.

S/suonoy
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SUMMARIES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS (1988)

In The Matter of Paul X. Tivnan
{January 11, 1988)

In a Disposition Agreement reached with the Ethics
Commission, Paul X. Tivnan, Worcester County Com-
missioner, was fined $500 for voting to approve then
Sheriff-elect John Flynn's transfer request to fund pro-
motional changes for House of Correction employees.

Tivnan's son, Michael, and his daughter, Maureen An-
derson, are employees at the Worcester County House of
Correction. They were two of seventeen individuals who
received promotions and salary increases under Flynn's
praposed re-organization of the Jail and House of Cor-
rection.

Section 13 of the conflict law prohibits county officials
from participatingin promotion orsalary decisionswhich
will affect the financial interest of their children. Inthe
Disposition Agreement, Tivnan admitted he violated this
section of the conflict law when he voted and signed the
request form to fund Flynn's suggested salary increases.

In The Matter of Robert Egan
(February 11, 1988)

The Commission fined Robert Egan, Natick Zoning
Board of Appeals (ZBA) member, $1,000 for represent-
ing a private client before the ZBA while he served on the
ZBA and again shortly after he resigned.

On November 13, 1985, Egan represented Sharrat Asso-
ciates before the ZBA in support of their appeal. On No-
vember 20, 1985, Egan again appeared before the ZBA
on the issue of off-street parking.

By representing the developers before the ZBA concern-
ing their special permit application, Egan violated §17
and 18 of the conflict law.

In the Matter of Clarence D. Race
(February 24, 1988)

Clarence D. Race, Egremont Board of Selectmen Chair-
man, was fined $250 by the Ethics Commission for send-
ingaletter under his official signature as Chairman of the
Board to the Department of Environmental Quality
Engineering (DEQE) in November of 1983 concerning
a parcel of land he owned.

Racewasin the process of selling the parcel of land, which
was located in a watershed area. He wrote to DEQE in his
official capacity to ask for their review of the engineer’s
plans for a septic system on the site.

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits a municipal em-
ployee from officially acting on any particular matter
which affects his own financial interest.

In the Matter of Michael Riley
(February 24, 1988)

The Commission ordered Michael Riley, Boston Public
Library and Boston School Department Custodian, to
give up one of his jobs within 30 days. The Commission
found Riley in violation of the conflict law by holding the
two paid municipal positions.

Section 20 of the conflict law generally prohibits a
municipal employee from holding more than one paid
Jjob with the same city or town,

The Commission said in its Decision and Order that if
Riley did not resign one of his jobs within the 30 days, he
would be fined $1,000.

In the Matter of Frank Magliano
{March 3, 1988)

The Commission fined Frank Magliano, Brockton Build-
ing Inspector, $1,000 for hiring his son in 1986 as a
storekeeper in the Public Property Department, in viola-
tion of the conflict of interest law.

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits municipal officials
from participating in the hiring of an immediate family
member. Immediate family is defined as the municipal
official and his or her spouse and both of their children,
parents, brothers and sisters, This section of the law also
prohibits municipal officials from participating in salary
or promotion decisions or from supervising immediate
family members.

The Disposition Agreement stated that the proposed
position of storekeeper was approved by the City Council
in the spring of 1986. Magliano subsequently made a
provisional appointment of his son, Daniel, to the posi-
tion effective June 30, 1986.

After media inquiries and reports of possible conflict of
interest, Daniel Magliano resigned his position effective
April 1987.

In the Matter of William Highgas, Jr.
(March 14, 1988)

The State Ethics Commission issued a Ruling denying
Massachusetts Probate Court Judge William Highgas]r.'s
motion to dismiss a case against him. The respondent
asked for dismissal of the case on the grounds that the
Commission’s jurisdiction over members of the judiciary
violated the separation of powers provision of the Massa-
chusetts constitution.



The jurisdictional question raised by Highgas, Associate
Justice of the Probate and Family Court Department of
the Trial Court of Massachusetts, was whether the Com-
mission has the authority to enforce section 23 of the
conflict law against judges. The Commission affirmed its
Jurisdiction to proceed in the Highgas matter.

The Commission’s decision states that it “finds that its ex-
ercise of jurisdiction is statutorily sound and constitu-
tionally permissible as applied in this case.”

(The Ethics Commission case against William Highgas
was dismissed in January 1989, after the judge was pub-
licly censured by the Supreme Judicial Court of Massa-
chusetts for the same conduct that was the basis for the
Commission investigation.)

In the Matter of Rev. Benjamin Lockhart
(May 16, 1988)

In a Disposition Agreement reached with the Commis-
sion, Reverend Benjamin Lockhart, Agawam Town
Councillor, admitted to having violated the conflict law
by voting on a pay raise ordinance that included a salary
increase for his son. Reverend Lockhart was fined $250
for the violation,

Reverend Lockhartvoted onasalaryincrease package for
the Agawam Fire Department that inciuded a pay in-
crease of more than $1,000 for a position held by Rever-
end Lockhart’s son.

In the Matter of Paul H. Sullivan
(May 23, 1988)

The Commission fined Paul H. Sullivan, Tewksbury Se-
lectman, $500 for violating the Massachusetts conflict of
interest law by representing a local development firm in
a matter of direct and substantial interest to the town.
In a Decision and Order, the Commission ruled that
Sullivan acted as agent for FIC Associates when he spoke
on the firm’sbehalfat Town Planning Board meetings on
September 24 and 26, 1984, thereby violating §17 of the
conflict law.

Section 17 prohibits municipal officials from acting as
the “agent” or attorney for a private party before town
boards.

The Commission also cleared Sullivan of alleged viola-
tions of §19 of the conflict law, which bars a municipal
official from participating in matters which are of finan-
cial interest to an immediate family member. Sullivan’s
father, Kevin, is a partner in FIC Associates.

In the Matter of Joseph D. Cellucci
(May 23, 1988)

Joseph D. Cellucci, Cambridge Inspectional Services De-
partment (CISD) Director, was ordered to pay $£1,000in
fines for three violations of the state’s conflict of interest
law. The Commission found that Cellucci attempted on
three separate occasions to control jurisdiction over
inspection and enforcement of the state’s sanitation
code for a property owned by members of his immediate
family.

In a Decision and Order, the Commission stated Cellucci
tried to secure exclusive jurisdiction over a two-family
dwelling at 150 Holworthy Street in Cambridge, first for
his own department and then for the state. At all times
relevant to the investigation, the property was owned by
members of Cellucci’s immediate family.

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits municipal officials
from participating in particular matters in which they or
their immediate family members have a financial inter-
est.

In the Matter of William Turner
(May 27, 1988)

In a Disposition Agreement reached with the Commis-
sion, William Turner, West Bridgewater Zoning Board of
Appeals (ZBA) Chairman, admitted he violated the
conflict law by acting as agent for a real estate trust for
which he was a trustee, and by asking the ZBA to grant
permits for that trust. He was fined $1,000.

Turner appeared before the ZBA on behalf of Turner In-
dustrial Park Realty Trust (TIPRT) on three occasions
between 1982 and 1986, and filed building permit and
variance applications on behalf of TIPRT in 1985 and
1986, the Agreement said.

Atall dmes pertinent to the Commission’s investigation,
Turner was a trustee and one-third beneficial owner of
TIPRT, as well as chairman of the ZBA, the Disposition
Agreement said.

Section 17 of the conflict law prohibits a municipal
employee from acting as agent or attorney for anyone
other than the municipality in connection with a particu-
lar matter that is of direct and substantial interest to the
town.

In the Matter of Donald P. Zerendow
{May 27, 1988)

In a Disposition Agreement, the former chief of the
Medicaid Fraud Centrol Unit (MFCU) in the Office of
the Attorney General was fined $1,000 by the Commis-
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sion for violating the conflict of interest law, §5(b}, by
personally appearing before the MFCU in connection
with a criminal investigation that was within his official
responsibility while he was a state employee.

Mr. Zerendow admitted he violated §5(b} of the conflict
law by having a meeting, telephone conversations and
written correspondence with an MFCU attorney and
investigator in connection with an alleged Medicaid
fraud case that was opened while he was still head of the
MFCU.

In the Matter of Kenneth Cimeno
(June 21, 1988)

Kenneth Cimeno, Dedham Assistant Building Inspector,
was fined $500 for violating the conflict of interest law by
signing and issuing building permits for two sites owned
by a realty trust for which he and his parents served as
trustees.

In a Disposition Agreement reached with the Commis-
sion, Cimeno admitted to having violated §19 of the
conflict law and agreed to pay the fine. Section 19
prohibits municipal officials from acting in their official
capacity on any matter in which they or members of their
immediate family have a financial interest.

In the Matter of United States Trust Company, Albert
Brunelli, Andrew Collas, Donald Croatti, Frank Lewis
and Theodore Scaffidi

(August 15, 1988)

The State Ethics Commission issued a Public Enforce-
ment Letter concluding its formal investigation into
alleged violations of the conflict of interest law by five
municipal treasurers and a Boston-based bank. The
Commission probe stemmed from a 1985 report from
the Inspector General’s Office regarding municipal
banking practices. The 1G’s report cited records from
seven Boston-based banks.

In resolving its case against the five treasurers — Albert
Brunelli of Franklin, Andrew Collas of Plymouth, Donald
Croatti of Framingham, Frank Lewis of Everett and
Theodore Scaffidi of Newton — and the United States
Trust Company, the Commission established strict limi-
tations on the receipt of meals and entertainment ex-
penses by public officials.

The Commission found reasonable cause to believe that
the bank and treasurers violated §3 of the conflict law
when USTC paid for and the treasurers accepted fre-
quent lunches, dinners, theater dckets and golfing ex-
penses totalling more than $11,200 between 1983 and
1985.
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Section 3(a) prohibits anyone with whom a public em-
ployee does official business from giving anything of sub-
stantial value to said employee. Section 3(b) prohibits
public employees from accepting such gifts.

The Public Enforcement Letter indicates the Commis-
sion decided against taking formal action against the
bankand treasurers because of several mitigating factors.
Included among these was that prior to the IG report, the
practice of banks paying for public officials’ entertain-
ment expenses was widespread, as illustrated by the IG's
citing of 104 treasurers receiving such gratuities in 1984,
and all seven banks named in the report appearing to be
involved in the practice.

In addition, the Commission also found no evidence that
the treasurers or USTC intentionally violated the conflict
law, or that the treasurers provided USTC with preferen-
tial treatment as a result of the expenditures; nor was
there any evidence that USTC made any personal loans
to the treasurers or entered into any kind of corrupt
agreement by which USTC would provide payments in
exchange for specific official acts. The Commission also
considered as mitigation the fact thatit has not previously
had occasion to articulate its position regarding private
parties paying for meals and beverages incidental to the
transaction of business, nor, prior to its May, 1985 Advi-
sory No. 8 (“Free Passes”), had it indicated it would
aggregate items of value to meet the substantial value
threshold.

In the Matter of Paul A. Nowicki
(August 31, 1988)

Adams Treasurer/Collector Paul A. Nowicki was fined
$500 by the Commission for violating the state conflict of
interest law by hiring his brother asa deputy tax collector
for the town.

In its decision, the Commission indicated that although
it would usually levy a fine of $1,000 or more for a
nepotism/hiring violation, the fact that Nowicki himself
brought the situation to the Commission’s attention
warranted a reduction of the fine in this case.

According to a Disposition Agreement reached with the
Commission, Nowickiacknowledged thathe violated §19
of the law, which prohibits municipal employees from
participating in their official capacity in any matter in
whichamember of theirimmediate family has a financial
interest.

Nowicki hired his brother, John, asa deputy tax collector
for Adams in August of 1986, the Disposition Agreement
said. One year later, Nowicki attended an annual meet-
ing of the Massachusetts Collectors and Treasurers Asso-



ciation, where he attended a seminar on the conflict of
interest law, which included a discussion of nepotism.
Following this meeting, Nowicki asked for and received
his brother’s resignation, and subsequently reported the
violation to the Commission.

In the Matter of Joseph Zeneski
(September 2, 1988)

The State Ethics Commission issued a Public Enforce-
ment Letter to Mansfield Department of Public Works
Director Joseph Zeneski, resolving its probe of alleged
violations of the conflict law by Zeneski.

The Commission found Zeneski violated the conflict law
on two occasions in 1985 by reviewing work submitted by
an engineering firm he had agreed to work for after
leaving his DPW job.

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits municipal em-
ployees from participating in their official capacity in any
particular matter in which an organization with which
they are negotiating or have any arrangement for future
employment has a financial interest.

In the Matter of Byron Battle
(October 6, 1988)

The State Ethics Comrmission issued a Public Enforce-
ment Letter to Massachusetts Undersecretary of Eco-
nomic Affairs Byron Battle, formally concluding the
agency's probe of Battle’s alleged violation of the state’s
conflict of interest law by use of his state ttle, official
letterhead, and other state resources to solicit partici-
pants for a privately sponsored tour of the Soviet Union.
The Enforcement Letter states that Battle appears to
have violated §23 of the conflict law by making the
solicitations, knowing thatif he persuaded enough people
to go on the tour, he and a guest could go on the trip free
of charge (an estimated $8,000 value); however, the
Commission stated it felt adjudicatory proceedings were
not warranted in this case because of certain mitigating
factors.

Section 23(b)(2) of the conflict law prohibits state
employees from using their official position to secure
unwarranted privileges of substantial value for them-
selves or others. The courts and the Commission have set
“substantial value” at $50 or more.

The Commission decided against taking further action
against Battle because of several mitigation factors, the
Enforcement Letter said. Battle did not obtain any finan-
cial benefit from his involvement with People To People
other than the use of the state resources named, for
which he agreed to reimburse his agency, according to
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the letter.

Inaddition, Battle withdrew from the tour approximately
three weeks after the solicitation went out, before any
commitments to attend were made by any of the individu-
alssolicited; he also wrote the explanatory letter to the six
individuals originally contacted about the tour, and
appeared to have “some genuine confusion” as to the
propriety of acting in his official capacity with respect to
the tour because it had a quasi-public purpose, the En-
forcement Letter said. Finally, the Commission also
considered as mitigation the fact that none of the persons
solicited by Battle were regulatees of the EOEA, and ac-
cordingly, there was no actual or implied coercion in the
solicitation, the letter said.

In the Matter of Peter J. Cassidy
{October 19, 1988)

The Ethics Commission ordered Swampscott Police Chief
Peter]. Cassidy to paya $1,000 fine for violating the state’s
conflict of interest law by recommending four of his sons
to positions on the Swampscott police force.

In a Decision and Order, the Commission said Cassidy’s
actionsviolated §19 of the law on nine occasions between
1983 and 1986. However, the agency decided against im-
posing the maximum fines due to mitigating factors, the
Decision states. Cassidy was also cleared of an alleged
conflictviolationinvolving the appointmentofhisbrother,
Francis, who was found not to have a financial interestin
his special police officer appointment, the Decision said.

Section 19 of the law prohibits municipal employees
from participating in any particular matter in which a
member of their immediate family has a financial inter-
est.

An exemption to §19 allows appointed municipal offi-
cials to participate in matters of financial interest to their
immediate family members provided they make awritten
disclosure to their appointing authority before partici-
pating, and also receive prior written approval from that
authority to become involved in the matter. Cassidy made
no attempt to receive such exemptions in compliance
with the law, the Decision said.

In the Matter of Norman McMann
(October 24, 1988)

Bristol-Plymouth Regional School Committee member
Norman McMann was fined $10,000 for violating the
state's conflict ofinterestlaw by selling more than $12,000
worth of donuts to the Bristol-Plymouth Technical School
illegally and voting to approve the improper payments.
InaDecision and Order, the Commission found McMann



violated §19and 20 of G.L. c. 2684, the conflict ofinterest
law, from April, 1984, to January, 1986, by voting to
approve payment of school cafeteria warrants that in-
cluded paymentstoa “straw” for the donut shop of which
McMann was half-owner, and for having a financial inter-
est in a daily contract with the school while simultane-
ously serving on the school committee.

Section 19 of the law prohibits municipal employees
from participating in their official capacity in any particu-
lar matter that affects their own financial interest. Sec-
tion 20 prohibits municipal employees from knowingly
having a financial interest in any contract (other than
their own employment contract) made with the munici-

pality.

In the Matter of William T. Griffin
{October 26, 1988)

The State Ethics Commission ordered Worcester County
Advisory Board Chairman William T. Griffin to pay a
3500 fine for violating the state’s conflict of interest law
by voting to approve a Reserve Fund transfer request that
included a salary increase for his son, Dennis.

Griffin's actions violated Section 13 of the conflict law,
which prohibits county employees from participating in
particular matters in which members of their immediate
family haveafinancial interest, according to the Decision
and Order issued by the Commission.

The Commission ruled that the maximum $2,000 fine in
this case was not warranted. The violation involved an
annual salary increase for Dennis Griffin 0f$547.50, a not
insignificant amount of money, but smaller than the
amount involved in some other Commission cases, the
Decision said. The Decision also noted that Dennis Grif-
fin resigned his position after the raise was authorized,
but prior to the date it took effect.

In the Matter of John R. Stone
{November 22, 1988)

Gill Board of Health (BOH) member John R. Stone was
fined 3250 for violating the state's conflict of interest law
by condemning a building and subsequently being hired
to do the repair work on it.

In a Disposition Agreement reached with the Commis-
sion, Stone admitted he violated §17 of the conflictlaw by
doing the repair work. Section 17 prohibits municipal
officials from receiving or requesting compensation from
anyone other than the town in relation to particular
matters in which the town has a direct and substantial
financial interest.

The Commission stated there was no evidence Stone was
aware his actions violated the conflict law; in addition,
Stone showed sensitivity to the conflict issue by obtaining
advice from a selectman. Although ignorance of the law
is not considered a defense, the Commission considered
these facts as mitigation in determining the amount of
the fine,.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-1

FACTS:

You are a part-time Assistant City Solicitor. Your
position as Assistant City Solicitor has been designated by
the City Council (and in your employment contract) asa
“special municipal employee.™/ In your capacity as Assis-
tant City Solicitor, you give legal advice to the City
Council.

You also maintain a private law practice. A potential
client is a corporation which receives part of its funding
from a municipal block grant.

You also are a principal stockholder and officer in
two corporations which propose to enterinto contractual
arrangements with the City Redevelopment Authority
{CRA).

QUESTIONS:

1. Deces G.L. c. 26BA permit your corporation to
contract with the CRA?

2. Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to represent pri-
vately a corporation which receives half of its funding
from private sources and half from a municipal block
grant?

3. Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to represent pri-
vately an applicant before the City Council for a zoning
variance or special permit?

ANSWERS:

1. Yes.

2. Yes, if you are paid by the corporation’s private
funding or qualify for an exemption to the law,

3. No.

DISCUSSION:
1. Contract with CRA

Section 20 generally prohibits a municipal employee
from having a direct or indirect financial interest in a
contract made by a municipal agency. The CRA is a
municipal agency. G.L. ¢.121B, §7. If corporations in
which you hold one percent or more of the stock®/
contract with the CRA, you would have a prohibited
financial interest in the contract unless you qualified for
an exemption. Because your position as Assistant City
Solicitor has been designated as a “special municipal
employee,” you may qualify for the exemption discussed
below.

The conflict of interest law provides that a special
municipal empioyee may have afinancial interestin acity
contract provided that she “does not participate in or
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have official responsibility for any of the activities of the
contracting agency...” {(which in this case is the CRA) and
she files with the clerk of the city a statement making full
disclosure of her interest in both her employment con-
tract and the contract with the CRA. G.L. c. 268A, §20(c).
As Assistant City Solicitor you do not participate in or
have official responsibility for the activities of the CRA:*/
therefore, you qualify for this exemption to the Jaw and
should file the written disclosure statement with the City
Clerk.

2. Representation of Private Corporation

You propose to representa private corporation which
receives half of its funding from a municipal block grant.
A grant is considered a contract for purposes of the
conflict of interest law. EC-COI-82-75; 81-172; 81-64; 81-
7. You would have a prohibited financial interest in the
corporation’s receipt of this block grant money if the
company used this money to compensate you as its
attorney. You may not have a financial interest in this
contract (i.e., the grant money} unless you qualify for an
exemption to the law.*/

A §20(d) exemption allows a special municipal
employee, who discloses with the city clerk her interestin
municipal contracts, to have a financial interest in such
contracts if the city council exempts her interest from the
conflict law. Thus, you may request the City Council to
review this situation and, if they approve of this exemp-
tion, you may represent the private corporation and be
paid by public money to do s0.%/

If you comply with the restrictions of the conflict of
interest law and are eligible for an exemption to the law
50 that you may be paid (in part by public money) to
represent the private corporation, you are still required
to observe the prohibitions of §17. Section 17 addresses
permissible “after hours” employment for municipal
employees; it states that a municipal employee may not
actas the attorney for a private party “in connection with
any particular matter in which the ... city ... has a direct
and substantal interest.” G.L. c. 2684, §17(c).%/ For ex-
ample, any litigation which implicated the City's rights
and liabilities would be of direct and substantial interest
1o the City, whereas a lawsuit between two private parties
generally would not be of direct and substantial interest.

3. Representation of Applicant for Zoning
Variance

Asset forth above, you may represent a private party,
provided the representation is not “in connection with
any particular matter in which the ...city ... has a direct
and substantial interest.” The only available exemption is
for a special municipal employee who has not partici-
pated in the matter as a municipal employee and has not
had official responsibility for the matter, provided that
the matter is not pending in the municipal agency in



which the employee works.

The City Solicitor’s Office is responsible for provid-
ing the City Council legal advice concerning the granting
or denying of a zoning variance and defending the
Council’sactionsifthere is an appeal. Consequently, this
matter is pending in the City Solicitor’s Office, the
municipal agency where you work. Thus, you may not
represent a private party on this matter.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988

'/ “Special municipal employee,” is defined as “a municipal employee who
is not a mayor, 2 member of a board of aldermen, a member of a city council or
a sclectman in a town with a population in excess of five thousand persons, and
whose position or employment has been expressly classified by the city council,
or board of selectmen as that of a special employee under the terms znd
provisions of this chapter. All employees whao hold equisalent offices, positions,
employment or membership in the same municipal agency shall have the same
classification; provided, however, no municipal employee shall be classified as a
“special municipal employee” unless she occupies a pasition for which no com-
pensation is provided or which, by its classification in the municipal agency
involved or by the terms of the contract or conditions of employment, permits
personal or private employment during normal working hours, or unless he in
Fact does nol carn compensation as a municipal employee for an aggregate of
more than eight hundred hours during the preceding three hundred and sixty-
five days.” G.1.. c, 268A, §1(n).

*/The prohibitions ol 20 do not apply if the " .. financial interest consists
of the ownership of lexs than one percent of the stock of a corporation * G.L. c.
968A, §20 (2).

?/You have stated that the CRA retains its own legal counsel, separate and
distinct from the City Solichor's Office.

!/An excmpiion is available 19 a special municipal employee who has a
financial interest in a municipal contract provided that the employee does not
participate in or have official responsibility for any of the activities of the
contracting agency and files a disclosure statement with the city clerk. The city
block grantis awarded by the City Council. As Assistant City Solicitor, you do par-
ticipate in the activities of the City Council (o the extent that you advise the City
Council on the legality of its actions). Therefore, you are ineligible for a §20 (c)
exemption.

*/1f the corporation compensates you entircly from private funds {i.c., the
block grant money is used for other purposes), you will nonetheless be subject
to the §17 (c¢) limitations described above.

¢/ An exempiion to the law allows special municipal emplovees to act as the
autorney for private pariies unless the subject of the representation is one {2} in
which the employee has participated, (b} is, or within one year was the subject of
the employee’s official responsibilitivs, or (¢} is pending in the municipal agency
in which the employee works. Because you are an Assistant City Solicitor, any
legal matter which is of direct and substantial interest 1o the City will necessarily
be pending in the City’s Law Department. Therefore, this exemption would not
appear to change the results set forth above unless you work as Assistant City
Solicitor less than 60 days for any period of 365 consceutive days.

See, EC- COI-85-19.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-2

FACTS:

You are the First Vice Chairperson of the ABC
Demaocratic City Committee (Committee). The Commit-
tee is composed of individuals who are all Democratsand
whe are all residents of ABC. Committee members are
elected every four years at the time of the presidental
primary election. The Committee would like to establish
a scholarship to be awarded to a child or relative of one
of its members. You are concerned about how the con-
flict of interest law would affect the Committee as it seeks
to establish this scholarship.
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QUESTION:

Is the ABC Democratic City Cominitiee a govern-
mental entity for the purposes of G.L. ¢. 268A%

ANSWER:
No.
DISCUSSION:

The scope of the restrictions on the members of the
Committee depends upon whether the Committee is a
governmental agency for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A.
Municipal agencyis defined by the conflictof interest law
as “any department or office of a city or town government
and any council, division, board, bureau, commission. . .or
other instrumentality thereofl or thereunder”, G.L. c.
26BA, §1(f). State Agency is defined by the conflict of
interest law as “any department of a state government
including the executive, legislative or judicial, and all
councilsthereofand thereunder, and any division, board,
bureau, commission, institution, tribunal or other instru-
mentality within such department and any independent
state authority, district, commission, instrumentality or
agency, but nol an agency of a county, city or town.”

Inits previousdeterminations concerning the public
status of an entity for the purpose of c. 268A, the Commis-
sion has focused on the following four factors:

(1) the means by which it was created (e.g.

legislative or administrative action);

(2) the entity's performance of some essen-

tially governmental function;

(3) whether the entity receives and/or ex-

pends public funds; and

(4) the extent of control and supervision

exercised by government officials or agencies

over the entity.

EC-COI85-22; EC-COI1-83-74. None of these factors alone
is dispositive. The Commission has considered, in each
case, whether a particular combination of factors suffices
to render an entity a governmental entity. For example,
in EC-COI-84-65, the Commission concluded that a
permanent charitable trust fund established to fund
important civic improvements aimed at benefitting the
residents of Boston, although subject to a certain amount
of municipal control, was a private entity. In addition, the
Commission has concluded that local private industry
councils are municipal agencies within the meaning of
G.L. c. 268A, §1(f) because of the role they play in the
implementation of the Federal Job Training and Partner-
ship Act; namely in the decision-making role they share
with local elected officials in the development of job
training plans, the selection of grant recipients and the
expenditure of public funds. EC-COI1-83-74,

Although the great majority of individuals elected by

S



voters at municipal elections are municipal employees
for the purposes of G.L. c. 2684, we find that this conclu-
sion will not apply when individuals elected at municipal
elections are not expected to perform public service. In
this case, the Committee does not possess sufficient
indicia of a government agency. The Committee was
created solely by members of the party interested in party
politics. The Function of the Committee is to organize the
party on the local level. The Committee does not receive
or expend public money to achieve its goal. ABC has no
control over the actions of the Committee, which has no
City approval or sponsorship. The mere fact that the state
regulates the Commitiee, pursuant to G.L. c. 52, is insuf-
ficient to render the Committee a municipal or state
agency.'/.

Based on the foregoing, for the purposes of G.L. c.
268A, the Committee is considered a private entity,
rather than a government agency.?/ Accordingly, the
Committee is not within the jurisdiction of G.L. c. 268A.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988

/indeed, the Supreme Court has set limits on the permiuible mnge of
regulation of these kinds of entities by the government. Tashjian v. Republican
Party of Connecticut, 107 5. Cu. 544 (1936). See nlso, San Francisco County
Democratic Central Committee v. Eu 826 F, 2d 814 (9th Cir. 1987).

1/The Supreme Judicial Court, in another context, has noted that mem-
bers of these political committees do not hold public office, Attorney General v.
Drohan, 169 Mass. 53, 535, 48 N.E. 279 (1897)

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI1883

FACTS:

You are a member of a Town Board of Selectmen and
are interested in applying for a fulltime position as
Project Manager for the Town Local Assessment Com-
mittee {LAC). The Town LAC was organized by the
Chairman of the Board of Selectmen, pursuant to the
Hazardous Waste Facility Siting Act, 5t. 1986, c. 508 (Act).
The Act was intended to resolve local resistance to the
proposed siting of hazardous waste facilities by creating
a local assessment committee comprised of officials and
residents of the host community.

Under G.L. c. 21D, a developer who proposes the
construction of a solvent recovery facility must file a
Notice of Intent with the State Hazardous Waste Facility
Council (Council). The Council may designate the pro-
posal as “feasible and deserving of state assistance.” The
LAC is thereafter empowered to negotiate with the facil-
ity sponsor the terms and conditions of a siting agree-
ment to protect the local public health, the local public
safety and environment, and promote the fiscal welfare
of the local community through special benefits or
compensation. The exclusive authority to negotiate rests
with the LAC. The LAC in a municipality may request
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technical assistance from the Council for review of a
proposal, but this does not detract from the LAC's au-
thority to negotiate. No facility may be established with-
outasiting agreement berween the sponsor and the LAC,
The siting agreement is a non-assignable contract bind-
ing the sponsor and the community, enforceable against
the parties in court. The Council is not a party to the
agreement. If, despite the technical or financial assis-
tance of the Council, there is an impasse between the
LAC and the facility sponsor in negotiating a siting
agreement, the Council may utilize binding arbitration
to resolve the impasse.

The thirteen member Town LAC, organized follow-
ing the filing of a Notice of Intent, is comprised of the
chairmen of the Town Board of Selectmen, Board of
Health, Conservation Commission, and Planning Board,
and the Fire Chief. Of the remaining eight members, six
are Town residents; the Board of Selectmen has also
approved the appointment of two residents from neigh-
boring communities to fill the two remaining seats.'/
Funding for the LAC expenses has originated with the
Council and has been paid through the Town account
authorization process.

QUESTION:

Are you currently eligible for appointment as Town
LAC Project Manager?

ANSWER:

You are ineligible for appointmentwhile you serve as
a member of the Board of Selectmen and for six months
thereafter,

DISCUSSION:

As a member of the Town Board of Selectmen, you
are subject to a six-month waiting period following the
completion of your Selectman duties before you are
eligible for appointment toa paid position in a municipal
agency of the Town. G.L. c. 2684, §20; EC-COI-87-35; B2-
107; 83-1. The General Court adopted this restriction in
response to its concern that selectmen would or could
acquire additional municipal positions by virtue of their
incumbency. The six-month waiting period applies only
to additional positions in the same municipality, and
does not limit the eligibility of a selectman for appoint-
ment to a position with the commonwealth, a county,
another municipality, or a regional municipal agency.

Based on the information you have provided, we
conclude that the Town LAC isa municipal agency of the
Town and that you are therefore subject to a six-month
waiting period prior to eligibility for appointment to a
Town LAC position.

In EC-FD-87-1, we reviewed the status of the Town



LAC in the context of the state financial disclosure law,
G.L. c. 268B. We concluded that the LAC was not a
“governmental body” within the meaning of G.L. ¢. 268B,
§1 (h) because the membership, control and objectives of
the LAC were entirely local. We observed, however, that
LAC members are covered by the provisions of G.L. c.
268A applicable to municipal employees. Cur conclu-
sion that the Town LAC is a municipal agency of the
Town is supported by the fact that (1) G.L. ¢. 21D
requires the LAC 1o represent the interests of the host
community, in this case, the Town of Town, in connec-
tion with the proposed facility siting in the Town; (2) the
LAC is controlled by elected and appointed representa-
tives of the Town; and (3) the LAC’s expenses are paid
through the Town.

We do not find sufficient vestiges of shared control
and responsibility with neighboring communities soas to
conclude that the LAC is an independent regional
municipal agency. Compare, EC-COI-82-25 (statutorily
created regional school district under which communi-
ties share costs and responsibilities is an independent
municipal agency). The appointmentby the Town Board
of Selectmen of two residenis of abutling communities
was not mandated by G.L. ¢.21D and appears to have
been madeasacourtesy to the neighboring communities
rather than pursuant to a statutory requirement to share
responsibility with other communites. Moreover, G.L. c.
21D, §14 establishes a procedure through the Council
under which abutting communities may seek compensa-
tion from the developer for any demonstrably adverse
impacts imposed by the siting. The availability of this
statutory avenue to protect the interests of abutting
communities suggests that the Town LACis notintended
torepresent the broad interests of the affected region but
rather the interests of the Town. Because the Town LAC
is a municipal agency of the Town, you are therefore
subject to a six-month waiting period under G.L. c. 2684,

§20.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988

'/C. 210D, §3 provides that the LAC "... shall be comprised of (1) the chiel
executive officer, who shall serve as its chairman; {2) the chairman of the local
board of health or his designee; (3) the chairman of the local conservation
commission o7 his designee; (4] the chairman of the local planning board or his
designee; {5) the chiefl of the fire deparunent or his designee; (6) four residents
of said city or town appointed by a majority vote of the aforementioned eity or
town officials, three of whom shall be residents of the area of the city or town most
immediately affected by the proposed facility; and (7) not more than four
members nominated by the chief executive officer and approved by a majority
vate of the city council, board of aldermen, or board of selectmen of said city or
town. Alternate members shall serve on said committee in the absence of
members appointed in accordance with clauses (6} and (7) whe, in each in-
stance, shall be appointed in the same manner as these members appointed
pursuant to said clauses {6} and (7). Said four members nominated by the chief
exceutive officer may include representatives of abutting communities; each
representative of an abutting community shall be approved by a majority vote of
the city council, board of aldermen or board of selecunen of said abuiting
communit.”
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-884

FACTS:

You are counsel to a non-profit organization that
sells certain products to municipalities. Most of the direc-
tors and most of the trustees of your organization are
municipal officials of the municipalities which are
members of your organization. The directors and trus-
tees of the organization are unpaid for this work.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A, §19 permit municipal officials
who are directors or trustees of this organization to
participate in their municipality’s decision to contract
with this organization?

ANSWER:

No, unless they are appointed offictals who receive
an exemption under §19.

DISCUSSION:

Municipal officials are municipal employees as de-
fined in the conflict of interest law and, as a result, are
subject to the provisions of that law. G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).
Section 19 of ¢. 268A!/ prohibits municipal employees
from participating®/ as such in any particular matter®/ in
which a business organization in which theyare serving as
an officer or director has a financial interest.?/

Non-profit corporations, like this organization, are
business organizations for the purposes of §19, and the
decision to contract with this organization is a particular
matter in which the organization has a financial interest.
Accordingly, a municipal employee who is a director or
officer of the organization may not participate in their
municipality’s decision to contract with the organization.

We base this conclusion on longstanding Commis-
sion precedent that non-profit corporations that con-
duct business are business organizations for the purposes
of the conflict ofinterest law. See, e.g., EC-COI-82-25; 81-
56. Although early opinions of the Attorney General
construing §6 of the statute (the parallel provision involv-
ing state officials) indicated that §6 did not apply to non-
profit organizations, a long line of Attorney General and
Commission precedent extending forward from Conflict
Opinion Ne. 613 (February, 1974) concludes rhat a non-
profit organization is a business organization. In particu-
lar, organizations engaged in the buying and selling of
commodities or services have been found to be business
organizations.'/ The General Court, in St. 210, §24 indi-
cated that Conflict Opinion No. 613 and its progeny shall
remain valid and shall be binding on the Commission



until and unless reversed or medified by the Commis-
sion. We decline to reverse or modify this precedent.

This longstanding precedent reflects Atorney
General Quinn’s and, subsequently, the Commission’s
conclusion that §19's purpose is, as one commentator
has noted, to target certain kinds of financial interests
which may be presumed to "undermine the employee’s
ability to perform his public function disinterestedly and
which are likely to undermine the confidence of the
public in the employee’s governmental service.” Buss,
supra, at 301, Such a conclusion is reflected in a reading
of §19 that acknowledges that the pressure to perform
public service in favor of a business organization, of
which the municipal employee is a trustee or a member
of the board of directors, is not lessened by the internal
structural characteristics of that business organization.
There is no distinguishing characteristic peculiar to non-
profit business corporations or even to non-profit busi-
ness corporations whose membership is limited to public
entities, or a majority of whose board of directors or
trustees are municipal officials, that convinces us that the
prohibitions of §19 should not apply. To rule otherwise
would produce anomalous results. Buss, supra, at 357, If
the purpose of an organization is to conduct business, it
is within the terms of the statute. The fact that this
business organization’s constituency is a group of mu-
nicipalitiesisirrelevant to thisanalysis, particularly where
the organization is competing with other entities for
municipal contracts.

You have conceded the financial interest of the
organization in obtaining contracts with municipalities.
There is nothing about the non-profit structure of the
organization that lessens the risk that a municipal em-
ployee serving as a trustee or a member of the board of
directors of the organization would not be disinterested
in the continued existence of the organization or influ-
enced, as municipal employees, to put the business
organization's interests before that of the municipality.

There isno §19 violation inherent when a municipal
official serves the organization as a trustee or a member
of the board of directors. The conflict law targets only
those of the above described officials who wish to partici-
pate as municipal employees in their municipality’s
decision to contract with the very business organization
they serve.

You should also note that §19(b) contains an exemp-
tion for those of the above described municipal officials
who are appointed. Those individuals, by advising their
appointing authorities of the nature and circumstances
of the particular matter at issue and their financial
interest in it, may receive a written determination from
that authority that the interest involved is not so substan-
tial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the
services which the municipality may expect from the
employee. The exemption does not apply to elected
officials.
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'/{a) Except as permitted by paragraph (b), a municipal employee who
participates as such an employee in a particular matier in which to his knowledge
he, his immediate family or partner, a business organizaton in which he issening
as officer, director, trustee, partner or employee, or any persen or organization
with whom he is negodating or has any arrangement concerning prospective
employment has a financial interest, shall be punished by a fine of not more than
three thousand dollars or by imprisonment for not more than two years, or both.
(b} It shall net be a violation of this section (1) if the municipal employee first
advises the official responsible for appoinument to his position of the nature and
circumstances of the particular matier and makes full disclosure of such financial
interest, and receives in advance a written determination made by that official
that the interest is not so substantial as 1o be deemed likely to affect the integrity
of the services which the municipality may expect from the employee, or {2} if,
in the case of an elected municipal official making demand bank deposits of
municipal fiznds, said official first fles, with the clerk of the city or wown, a
statement making full disclosure of such financial interesy, or (3) il the particu-
far matter involves a determination ol general policy and the interest of the
municipal employee or members of his immediate family is shared with a
substantial segment of the papulation of the municipality,

}/"Pardcipate,” panicipate in agency action or in a particular matter
personally and substantially as a state, county or municipal employcee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise.

*/“Particular matler,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enacument of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and disirices for special laws related to their governmenial
organizations, powcrs, duties, finances and property.

*/You have already agreed that municipal officials who are trustees or
members of the Board of Directors of one or more of the Associations may nol
act as agents or spokespersans for the Associations before any municipal agen-
cies, See, e.g., ECCOIB476. We note that the policy reflected in §17(c) is that
ol proteciing the public interestin situations where there is potlential for divided
loyalties, inflitence peddling, the use of insider information, or favoritism, Sce
generally, Buss, The Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analysis, 45
B.U. Law Rev. 299 (1965); Town of Edgartown v. State Ethics Commiasion, 391
Mass. 83 (1984).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-885

FACTS:

You are a state official and oversee the procurement
process. You state that it is common practice for the
commonwealth, as part of the request for proposal (RFP)
for some high-technology procuremenits, to reserve the
right to have the bidder demonstrate the operation of the
product. The bidder agrees, by responding to the RFP, to
bear all costs of transporting state employees who com-
prise the selection committee, ora designated sub-group
thereof, to the demonstration site. You indicate that the
bidders usually pay for all transportation, meals and
lodging associated with the demonstration. The selec-
tion committee visits only those bidders who have been
determined to be within the competitive range. Those
bidders who do not meet the technical specifications of
the RFP and those who do notrank high in the combined
cost and technical ranking are eliminated from the dem-
onstration step.'/

You have stated that certain high-technology prod-
ucts need to be demonstrated to be assessed intelligently.
You have also stated that, as you understand it, the
practice of bidder-subsidized selection committee visitsis



a common practice in the private sector for all procure-
ments, not merely those that could be characterized as
“high technology.”

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A, §3 permit siate employees to use
bidder-subsidized travel to visit demonstration sites?

ANSWER:

No, unless such permission is authorized by statute
or regulation.

DISCUSSION:

Selection committee members, as employees of the
procuring agency, are state employees as defined in the
conflict of interest law. G.L. c. 2684, §1(q). Section 3(b)
of G.L. c. 268A prohibits state employees from, otherwise
than as provided by law for the proper discharge of
official duty, seeking or receiving anything of substantial
value, for or because of any official act or acts within their
official responsibility. A selection committee’s work on
behalf of a procuring agency of the commonwealth to
evaluate prospective vendors would clearly constitute the
performance of an official act. Receipt of anything “of
substantial value™/ for such travel would generally con-
stitute a violation of §3(b). EC-COI-87-29; 82-99. Com-
monwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass. App. 584 (176). This
subsidized travel is available to selection committee
members precisely for or because of their official acts,
The fact that the commonwealth would be soliciting the
subsidized travel does make this kind of bidder subsi-
dized travel an open subsidy, but it does not make the
subsidies lawful. Although the bidding process outlined
above would eliminate many of the problems that would
normally arise in a situation of bidder subsidized travel
under G.L. c. 268A, §23, see, EC-COI-87-37, travel ex-
penses which are paid by the manufacturer would be of
substantial value in most, if not all, situations and would
violate §3(b) of the statute.*/ While it may be contended
that the privilege of substantial value accrues here to the
state and not to the individual travelers, Commission
precedent indicates that the privilege of substantial value
here does not accrue to the state, but rather to the
individual traveler, See, In the Matter of Carl D. Pitaro,
1986 Ethics Commission, 271 (where the Commission
held that the travel privilege of substantial value accrued
to Mayor Pitaro and not to the City of Brockton). Section
3(b) clearly applies if the official received anything of
substantial value for her or himself. See, EC-COI-87-
23.8/

There are no distinguishing characteristics about
“high technology” procurements that persuade us thata
narrow exception carved out solely for these kinds of
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procurements would be appropriate. The need for “user
friendly” or “user sensitive” equipment is not peculiar 1o
high technology equipment and we are not convinced
that the use of printed matter, manuals and shared
reports are any less reasonable an alternative here. See,
EC-COI-82-99 a1 2. An exception for particularly expen-
sive procurements is similarly inadvisable.

Although gifis “provided by law for the proper dis-
charge of official duty” are exempt from §3, we find no
express statutory language or duly promulgated regula-
tion which authorizes siate employees to accept travel
expensesfrom an interested vendor. Were there anysuch
statute or regulation, §3(b) would not be implicated
here.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988

'/No Commission advice was sought about the propriety of this practice
belore s inftiation

*/Tt has been held that $50 in cash is “of substantial value”, Commonwealth
v. Fomigletd, 4 Mass. App. 584 (1976).

*/This Advisory Opinion in no way iy meant o prohibit commonwealth
subsidized visits by selection commitiees to potenial vendors.

*/If the arrangement were strizctured such that the employee's expenses
wete reimbursed in the normal course by the Commenwealth, and the Common-
wealth was subsequently reimbursed by the vendor, the employee would not be
receiving anything of substantial value from the vendor,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-6

FACTS:

You are Town Counsel for the Town of ABC. The
Enforcement Division of the State Ethics Commission
{Commission) has alleged that one of the selectmen
violated the state conflict of interest law by voting on a
salary increase in which a family member had a financial
interest. The vote for the salary increase was unanimous.
You state that you did not advise the selectmen on the
application of the conflict of interest law to this situation
prior to the vote. You were present when the vote was
taken.

The Commission has found reasonable cause to
believe that the selectman violated §19 of G.L. c, 268A by
his participation in the vote on the salary increase. The
selectman now wishes to retain you as his legal represen-
tative.

QUESTION:

May you, consistent with the conflict of interest Jaw,
be retained privately by the selecuman to represent him
in connection with the case against him before the
Commission?



ANSWER:

No, as the representation will inevitably involve
matters of direct and substantial interest to the Town.

DISCUSSION:

As Town Counsel, you are a municipal employee
within the meaning of the G.L. c. 268A, the conflict of
interest law. Section 17 of the conflict of interest law,
which governs a municipal employee’s “after-hours”
employment, is relevant to your inquiry.

Section 17

Section 17 of the conflict of interest law provides that
a municipal employee, such as a town counsel, may not
actas the attorney foranyone other than the municipality
“in connection with any particular matter'/ in which the
[municipality] is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest.” G.L. c. 268A, §17(c). Thus, your private repre-
sentation of the selectman is only appropriate if the
subject matter of the representation (the charge of a
conflict ofinterest), the proceedings before the Commis-
sion, and the Commission's ultimate decision are not
matters in which the Town “has a direct and substantial
interest.” G.L. c. 268A, §17. Whether the Town has a
direct and substantial interest in a selectman’s alleged
violation of the conflict of interest law will depend on the
specific circumstances of the case. In this case, the con-
flict of interest allegations and Commission proceedings
and decision will inevitably affect the Town's interest in
a number of ways.

A decision by the Commission concerning whether
the selectman illegally participated in the vote in favor of
the salary increase will provide direction to the Town's
elected officials concerning similar votes in the future.?/
Beyond thal, it is possible that if the vote were taken
illegally, an action for recession of the vote may be
advanced.

Furthermore, the Town itself might be subject to
litigation as a result of a potentially prohibited action by
one of its elected officials,

In addition, the board of selectmen may take action
to censure publicly a selectman if he is found to have
violated the conflict law. See, e.g., Mayv. Hall, Worcester
SuperiorCourt Action No. 86-34501 (February 26, 1987)
{where two Lunenberg Selectmen censured the third
Selectman for aviolation of §23 of the conflictlaw). Thus,
under these circumstances, the Town will inevitably have
adirectand substantial interest in the proceedings of the
Commission to determine whether one of its officials
violated the law.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 3, 1988
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/Particular matter,” any judecial or other progceding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination. contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but exchuding
enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
lowns, counties and districas for special laws related 1o their governmental
orgasizations, powers, duties, finances and property

'/ The decision could also address the role of town counsel in such
situations. particularly where you were present during the vote in question

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-7

FACTS:

You are considering accepting appointment to the
position of Assistant City Solicitor for a City. The City has
not designated the position of Assistant City Solicitor as
a special municipal employee within the meaning of
§1(n) of G.L. c. 268A. You are also an experienced
criminal defense attorney. You indicate thatif appointed
Assistant City Solicitor, you would not represent any
criminal defendant who was charged with the violation of
any City ordinance, by-law or code. Furthermore, you
state that you would not represent any criminal defen-
dant in those matters in which the City would have a
direct and substantial interest in the disposition of the
case. For example, where a criminal defendant arrested
fordisorderly conduct filesa civil rights complaintagainst
the arresting officer charging unlawful arrest and brutal-
ity, you recognize that the City would have a direct and
substantial interest in the criminal prosecution because
itsresolution might be dispositive of the potential liability
of the police officer and/or the City. You wish to con-
tinue, however, representing criminal defendants ar-
rested by the Beverly Police in suppression hearings
which are commenced by a motion to suppress state-
ments or evidence. The motion would be based on
alleged violations of a defendant’s federal or state consti-
tutional rights.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A, §17 permit you to represent for
paya criminal defendantarrested by the Beverly Police in
connection with a motion to suppress hearing?

ANSWER:
No.
DISCUSSION:

Section 17(a) prohibits a municipal employee from
receiving compensation from a clientin connection with
a case or controversy in which the municipality is a party
or hasa direct and substantial interest. We conclude that
the City would have a direct and substantial interest in a



motion to suppress evidence obtained by the Beverly
Police Department,

A motion to suppress is based on allegations that the
police have unlawfully searched and/or seized evidence
in violation of the defendant’s rights under the Fourth
Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article
14 of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights. Due to the
complexity of law in the area of Fourth Amendment and
the speed with which the law changes and develops,
motions to suppress evidence are a basic element of most
criminal defense strategies. Ringel, Searches and Sei-
zures, Arrests and Confessions, §20.01 (Vol. 2, 1983).

A search and/or seizure of evidence which fails to
conform to Fourth Amendment standards gives rise to a
claim under the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.5.C. §1983, and
may, in limited circumstances, state a claim against the
city which employs the police officer who conducted the
search.!/ Monroe v. Pape, 360 U.S. 167 (1961). Schiller
v. Strangis, 540 Fed. Supp. 605 (D. Mass. 1982). In those
cases which are limited to naming a police officer as a
defendant, the municipality has potential monetary re-
sponsibility under G.L. c. 258, §§12, 13, the
commonwealth’s indemnification statute.

Criminal defendantsand prisoners customarily bring
civil rights cases based on the same evidence and allega-
tionsapplicable to the suppression hearing. In large part,
the success of any civil rights case depends on the nature,
scope and result of the suppression hearings. The find-
ings of a suppression hearing are admissible in a subse-
quent civil rights case. If, for example, the motion to
suppress were allowed, the plaintiff can introduce that
fact to the jury and argue the value of the finding in his
closing. Although in the Federal District Court of Massa-
chusetts a jury is not bound to agree with the conclusion
of the motion judge that there had been a civil rights
violation, such a finding can be persuasive to a jury. In
other jurisdictions, suppression findings may be binding
in a subsequent §1983 case. For example, a denial of a
motion to suppress may foreclose a subsequent success-
ful civil rights case as a matter of law, and thereby
preclude any potential monetary responsibility or liabil-
ity of the City. See Cook and Sebieski, Civil Rights Action:
The Preclusive Effect of Prior State Court Adjudications,
§3.22 (Vol. 2,1987). In other words, there is the potential
thata motion to suppress hearing will lead to a civil rights
complaint, and that the result of the motion will be
critical or dispositive to the resolution of the complaint.

We do not believe that prior case law is inconsistent
with our conclusion that the City hasa directand substan-
tial interest in a suppression hearing. In the case of
Commonwealth v. Mello, 11 Mass. App. Ct. 70 (1980), the
Massachusetts Appeals Court held that a criminal defen-
dant did not meet his burden of establishing that he had
been denied effective assistance of counsel based on
proving a “genuine conflict of interest” or a “tenuous
conflict ofinterest accompanied bya showing of material

193

prejudice.” Id. at 71. In dicta in the case the Court
interpreted §17 of the conflict law. The Court held:

the language of §17 requires that the City have a

direct and substantial interest in 2 matter alleg-

edly involved in a conflict of interest. G.L. c.

268A, §17, as appearing in St. 1962, c. 779, §1.

Whateverinterest the City of Taunton had in the

prosecution of the defendant for the violation of

state law was not separate and distinct from that

of citizenry of the Commonwealth as a whole,

Criminal prosecution is conducted in the inter-

est of the Commonwealth. The interest of the

City was not sufficiently direct to meet the §17

standard.

Later in the same opinion, however, the Court left open
the possibility that in particular types of situations or
cases, a city may have a direct and substantial interest in
a criminal prosecution. The Court noted, for example,
(at74), thatin the case at bar, the testimony of the police
was related to “routine police work”, thus suggesting the
conclusion that where police testimony was more critical
in the case, the city may have a direct and substantial
interest in the prosecution. Thus, the Appeals Court
recognized the possibility that in certain types of situ-
ations, a city or town may have a direct and substantial
interest in a criminal prosecution or a specific aspect of
that prosecution.

We recognize that in practice a successful motion to
suppress will not ordinarily result in a civil rights com-
plaint.?/ In EC-COI-88-6, the Commission held that it is
the possibility that the “town itself might be subject to liti-
gation asaresultof a potentially prohibited action by one
of its elected officials” that results in the conclusion that
the municipality has a direct and substantial interestin a
particular case. As stated in Edgartown v. State Ethics
Commission, “the legislature's concern about conflict
between private interests and public duties may reasona-
bly have motivated it to prohibit involvements that might
present potential for such conflicts.” 391 Mass. 82, 89
(1984). The Commission’s interpretation precludes any
potential conflict before they become a reality in a spe-
cific case, and before damage, even unwittingly, hasbeen
done. Id.

In conclusion, since the City may incur monetary
liability to a police officer whose conduct is successfully
challenged in a suppression hearing, and the City itself
might be subject to litigation or liability as a result of
prohibited activities by one of its officials, the City has a
direct and substantial interest in the proceeding. EC-
CO1-88-6. Therefore, you may not receive pay for repre-
sentation of a criminal defendant in a motion to suppress
hearing if you accepted appointment as an Assistant City
Solicitor.3/

DATE AUTHORIZED: March 23, 1988




'/The limited circumstances appear to be where a municipality has pur-
posely established a policy or procedure which resulu in the civil ighws vielation.
Thisis the socalled “official policy or custom™standard first enunciated in Monell
v. New York, City Dept. of Social Senvices, 436 U.S. (1978). See also, Oklahoma
City v. Tuede, 471 US. (1985) in which the court found cognizable a cause of
action alleging failure by municipal officials ts act to cotrect the pattern of police
misconduct evidenced by police raids and illegal searches and seizures, such
failure being tantamount to a ratfication of this customary practice of the police.
The court noted, however, that the municipal conduct must reflect at least wiltful
or reckless disregard of the necessity of corrective action; mere negligence or
deliberale indifference is insufficient 10 hold liable a municipality failing o
provide adequate instructions or guidelines to its employees.

*/There are avariety of reasons for this, including but not limited to: the fact
that criminal defendants do not make partcularly anrciive plintiffs in civil
cases, the lack of availability or access o the civil judaical system by criminal
defendants, and the need to prove substantial actual damages in order to make
a complex civil rights case worth pursuing,

*/If the position of Assistant City Solicitor were designated as a special
municipal employec within the meaning of G L. c. 268/, §1(n), and the position
has no official responsibility for advising the police deparument in the conduct
of its investigations or arrests, you may renew your request for an opinion based
on those facts. See, §17, 13 applicable 10 special municipal employees.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI888

FACTS:

You served as a member and employee of a Board of
Registration (Board) which regulates certain companies.
The Board is generally responsible for, among other
things, licensing companiesand investigating complaints
against them.

While you were associated with the Board, you owned
and operated several of these companies. You now wish
to hold an interest in a general partnership (Partner-
ship) which will operate a company regulated by the
Board. You want to sell the assets of one of your other
companies (Company X) to the Partnership. The Part-
nership will apply to the Board for approval of a change
in ownership of Company X. The Board may conducta
hearing to determine the merits of the Partnership’s
application, If the application is approved, the licenses
held by Company X will be relinquished to the Board
which would then issue new licenses to the Partnership.

QUESTION:

Deesthe state conflict ofinterest law, G.L. c. 2684, §5
prohibit you or your partners from representing the
Partnership on its application with the Board?
ANSWER:

No.

DISCUSSION:

While you were a Board member and employee, you

were considered a state employee within the meaning of

the conflict of interest law. G.L. c. 268A, §1(q). Because
you resigned your state position, you are now considered

a former state employee and are subject to the provisions
of G.L. c. 2684, §5.

The conflict law prohibits you from acting as the
agent for, or receiving compensation from a private
entity in connection with a particular mauer!/ in which
the state is a party or has a direct and substantial interest
ifyou partcipated®/ in the matter while employed by the
state. G.L. c. 268A, §5(a)."/ Therefore, you may not rep-
resent the Partnership on a matter which is of direct and
substantial interest to the state (such as an application
with the Board for a license) if you participated in this
matter while you were employed by the state. Participa-
ton requires personal and substantial action on your
part. Compare, EC-COI-81-113 (where action taken did
not constitute “participation” under the conflict law
because it was at a preliminary stage and was limited in
scope); In the Matter of John R. Hickey, 1983 SEC 158
(where a ministerial act is not considered personal and
substantial participation).

The Partnership’s application to the Board is a par-
ticular matter. See, G.L. c. 2684, §1(k); EC-COI-84-31 {a
determination of need application filed by a hospital with
the Department of Public Health is a particular matter).
Because this application has never been previously filed
(the Partnership did not even exist during your tenure
with the Board}, thisis not particular matter in which you
partcipated while a state employee. See, EC-COI-84-14
(where a new property assessmentisa different particular
matter from a prior assessment). Therefore, we conclude
that you may be compensated by or represent the Part-
nership in connection with its application before the
Board.!/

In light of the fact that there are no restrictions in
G.L. c. 268A, §5(a) which will prohibit you from repre-
senting the Partnership, there are similarly no restric-
tions on your partners. See, G.L. c. 2684, §5(c).%/

. DATE AUTHORIZED: April 13, 1988
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!/ Pardcular mauer,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general legistation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, dulies, finances and property.

*/"Participate,™ participate in agency action or in a particular matter
personally and substantially as a staie, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise.

*/G.L. c. 2684, §3{a) states tha a former siate employee who knowingly
actsasagent or altorncey for, or receives compensation directly or indirectly from
anyone other than the commonwealth or a state sgency, in connection with any
particular matter in which the commonwealth or a state agency is a party or has
adirect and substantial intcrest and in which he panticipated as 2 state employee
while so employed ... shall be punished by a fine of ot more than three thousand
dollars or by imprisonment for not more than twa years, or both.

!/Section 5(b) prohibits 1 former state employee from personally appear-
ing before any agency of the Commonweatlth within one year after leaving state
senvice if (1) the appearance is in connection with any particular matter in which
the state or a stale agency is a party or has direct and substantial and {2) that
maiter was under the official responsibility of the employee within two years prior
1o the termination of such state employment. A personal appearance mayinclude
telephone calls and written communications as well as physically appearing.
ECCO18727.



Amatter would have been under your "official responsibilin " ifyou had “the
direct admintstrative or operating authority, whether intermediate or final, and
cither exercisable alone or with others, and whether personal or through
subordinates, to approve, disapprove or otherwise direct agency action G.L.c.
268A, §1(i). Thesc principles should be considered il you intend 10 communi-
cate with your former board. For purposes of the Partnership's application,
however, these restrictions are not relevant because the application was not a
matter under your official responsibility while you were employed by the siate.

3/Scction 23(b)(2) restricis former state employees from improperly
disclosing confidential material gained in their siate jobs or using such informa-
tion 1o further their personal interests. You should conform your conduct o
these principles. 1n addition, although in this case the conflict law does not
restrict your appearance before your former agency, your former colleagues are
prohibited from using their positions 1o obtin an unwarranted privilege for you
or the Partnership. G.L. c. 2684, §23(b)(2).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EG-COI-889

FACTS:

You are a part-time building inspector for a town
(Town), and as such are a regular municipal employee.!/
You are also a carpenter, You wish to receive compensa-
tion from private parties to do occasional carpentry work
in town. Specifically, you wish to accept small contracting

jobs such as building a deck.

QUESTION:

May you receive compensation from private parties
to do carpentry work in the town in which you are an
employee?

ANSWER:

You may receive compensation in exchange for car-
pentry services which do not require an application for a
building permit or subsequent inspection or approval by
the Town. You may not, however, receive compensation
for work which does require a permit.

DISCUSSION:

An examination of the State Building Code, 780
CMR 100 et. seq.’/ indicates that residential carpentry
work falls into three categories. First is ordinary or non-
structural repairswhich do not require an application for
a building permit. 780 CMR 102.1. The second category
is work which includes an addition to, alterations to or
replacement of, or relocation of water supply, sewer,
drainage, drain liter, gas, soil, waste, vent or similar
piping, and electrical wiring or mechanical work, all of
which requires a permit under all circumstances. This
work is customarily referred to as “structural.” 780 CMR,
Article 21,3/ §R-109.2 The third category of work is work
which is not “structural” but which nevertheless requires
a permitwithin the discretion given to the town pursuant
to the State Building Code. Id. The Town, pursuant to its
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discretionary authority, requires an application for a
building permit to build a deck or porch. The Town will
require such building permit applications to ensure that
the footprint of the deck conforms to the local setback
and side requirements of the local zoning code, and to
notify the assessing department of a possible change of
value.

The State Building Code requires inspections by the
building official to determine whether construction in
progress is in conformance with the Code. Inspections
are required regarding certain types of work specified in
the Code, including foundations, plumbing, mechani-
cal, electrical, frame and masonry, lathe and/or wall-
board. 780 CMR, Article 21, §R-111. Other inspections
are discretionary with the building official. Id., §R-111,1.5.
For example, although the Town requires a permit 1o
build adeck, itisuncommon for the deck to be inspected
subsequent to completion.

Section 17 of the conflict law generally prohibits a
municipal employee from acting as agent for, or being
paid by, anyone other than the town, in relation to any
decision, determination, or other particular matter in
which the town is a party or has a direct and substantial
financial interest.

Carpentry work which requires a building permit is
affected by this section because the town has a direct and
substantial interest in the application for and the issu-
ance of the permit, which is a determination by the town
that the work conforms to the requirements of law, and
because work done pursuant to a permit is presumptively
“in relation to” the permit.

The Commission concludes that the Town has a
direct and substantial interest in an application for, and
issuance of, a building permit because the issuance of a
permit is the local building official’s decision or determi-
nation that the work complies with all relevant codes,
laws, ordinances, rules and regulations. Even in the case
ofa comparatively small construction project, such as the
building of a deck, the building official has the responsi-
bility to determine the appropriate use of materials and
that the design meets the minimum side yard and set-
backs of the local zoning law.

The Town's interest is direct and substantial even if
no inspection is required. The fact that the town chooses
not to exercise its discretionary right to inspect in a
particular case or category of cases does not negate the
interest of a town to ensure compliance with the State
Building Code and other relevant laws, ordinances or
regulations. There is nothing in the State Building Code
which would prohibit a town from using its discretionary
authority to inspect specific non-structural work if for any
reason the lawfulness of that work were called into ques-
tion. A town always retains jurisdiction to determine that
work is in accordance with the specifications stated on
the application for a building permit, and may issue a
cease and desist order if the work does not so comply. 780



CMR 122.1. Therefore, there is no substantial basis for
distinguishing between work pursuant to a required
permit which results in a subsequent inspection from
work for which the town requires a permit but does not
routinely inspect. The direct and substantial interest of
the town is determined by the requirement of issuing a
permit, and not by the practice of inspection.

The more difficult issue is whether carpentry work
done pursuantto the permitis “inrelation to” the permit,
and thus prohibited under §17. In EC-COI-87-31, the
Commission concluded that a municipal official could
not be paid privately to install septic systems because the
installation was in relation to the septic permit and
subsequent inspection. We held that where the official
operated his own septic business and was the only in-
staller on the job, there was a presumption that the work
he performed was in relation to the permit. In that
opinion, however, we recognized that certain facts may
overcome the presumption that all work done pursuant
to a permit is in relation to the permit,

For example, a municipal employee, who is
one of many privately paid employees or inde-
pendent contractors on a major construction
project, and who has no responsibility for deal-
ing with the town on any matter, might not be
considered to be privately compensated “in rela-
tion to” the permit which allows the construc-
tion. Furthermore, certain permits which au-
thorize a major construction project (e.g., a
zoning municipal reuse permit to convert a
school building into condominiums) will not
necessarily render all work done on the project,
e.g., interior painting, “in relation to” the per-
mit.

Applying the principles of 87-31 to your situation
leads to the conclusion that §17 would not permit you to
engage in the carpentry work you contemplate. You have
indicated that you would not be part of a crew but would
be doing the work yourself. While it might not be neces-
sary for you to pull the permit yourself, you presumably
would be the person who would have to deal with any
town official who raised an issue with the permit on the
work done pursuant to the permit. Therefore, it is highly
unlikely you could overcome the presumption estab-
lished in 87-31.

The Commission is aware that the General Court has
permitted certain trade persons to engage in licensed
work within their own towns irrespective of their own
status as municipal employees. See, e.g., G.L. c. 66, §32 -
municipal inspector, wires; G.L. c. 142, §13 - plumbing
and gas fitting inspector. However, the General Court
has not promulgated any similar legislation pertaining to
part-time local building inspectors.i/

Therefore, we conclude you may not receive com-
pensation for carpentry work in your town if the town
requires an application for a building permit for the
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structure you intend to work on. This prohibition will
continue to apply to you until and unless you are able 10
structure any private employment arrangement in a way
that eliminates any possibility of having to deal with town
officials in connection with the work performed.

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 6, 1988

'/ Il the position of part-time building inspecior were designated as special
the result herein would be the same inasmuch as a part-time building inspecior
has official responsibility for the enforcerment and administration of the State
Building Code and permils issued pursuant 1o that Code

*/The Code, compriscd of 22 articles, is the set of comprehensive regula-
tions 1o which all construction must adhere. It supulates requirements for
structural loads, materials, lighting, ventilation, fire protection, cgress, energy
consenation, and many other building topics, including responsihilitics for
administration and enforcement and procedures w be followed in filing appeals.
Local building officials enforce the code as it applics to all butldings within their
jurisdictions with the exception of state-owned buildings which are the respon-
sibility of state building inspectors.

3/Article 21 is referred o as The One and Twa Family Bwelling Code and
is published separaely.

!/We note that §107.5 of the Stale Building Code precludes a full-time
building inspector from engaging in construction work within their own commu-
nity. While the section does not specifically address part-time building inspec-
tors, it goes on to state: “Nor shall any officer or employce associated with the
building department engage in any work which conflicts with his official dutics
orwith the interests of the department.” We believe the application of §17 of G L.
¢. 268A to your situation, asindicated in this opinion, conforms to the principles
stated in §107.5.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-10

FACTS:

You are a teacher in the town of ABC. Your employ-
ment with the School Department is governed by the
1987-1990 ABC Collective Bargaining Agreement (Agree-
ment). In addition to setting forth the teacher salary
schedule, the Agreement states that:

Teacher participation in extra-curricular activi-

ties shall be voluntary and teachers will be com-

pensated for participation in extra-curricular ac-

tivities established by the Committee.
The ABC School Committee has determined that, under
the Agreement,

extracurricular activities established by the

School Committee include scholarly writing and

producing of curriculum materials for publica-

tion which would resultin compensation through
royalties to the professional staff members

(provided that materials are ordered and pur-

chased),

You have written and have had published certain schol-
arly materials, including a textbook on problem-solving
skills, and the School Department is interested in pur-
chasing your textbook. You state that you do not partici-
pate in the selection of books purchased by the school
department.!/



QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to receive royalties
from the sale of your book to the ABC School Depart-
ment?

ANSWER:
Yes.
DISCUSSION:

You are an ABC public school teacher, and there-
fore, a municipal employee pursuant to your employ-
ment contract with the ABC School Department. G.L. c.
2684, §1(g). The conflict of interest law prohibits mu-
nicipal employees from having a financial interest, di-
rectlyorindirectly, in contracts (other than their employ-
ment contracts) made by a municipal agency of the same
town. G.L. c. 268A, §20. The receipt of income from a
contract made by the School Department would consti-
tute afinancial interestin a contract made by a municipal
agency. Accordingly, if you are to be compensated for
providing additional services or for selling a publication
to the School Department, you would violate §20 unless
the arrangement was contemplated in your empioyment
agreement with the School Department.

The Commission has previously held that the mul-
tiple contract restrictions of G.L. c. 268A do not apply
when an employee’s additional services and compensa-
tion are an expansion of the employee’s primary employ-
ment contract, See, EC-COI-84-148 (where one who
serves on a state advisory commitiee may also be em-
ployed and paid by the state for another job provided the
responsibilities for both originate with the employee’s
one contract of employment). Therefore, ifitis “by virtue
of [ateacher’s] employmentarrangement” thata teacher
receives compensation for performing additional re-
sponsibilities, this compensation will be permitted. Id.
See also, EC-COI-84-147 (where state university employ-
ees may also serve on the board of directors of a state
university controlled company and will not have a pro-
hibited financial interest in multiple state contracts; the
Commission concluded that “service as state employees
for the company and the university is connected to only
one state contract, their original university contract”);
B3-83 (where one contract contemplates the services
provided by an employee in two positions, §7 [the state
counterpart to §20] is not violated); 82-57 (where a city
employee’s duties are expanded under one contract of
employment, the employee is considered to have a finan-
cial interest in only one contract made by the city and,
therefore, does not violate §20).

In light of these precedents, we regard the perform-
ance of extracurricular activities by a teacher tobe tied to
and contemplated by the teacher’s primary employment
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contract, and, therefore, not in violation of G.L. c. 2684,
§20.

Wealso find that the receipt of royalties from the sale
of books to the Schocl Department appears to be a
permissible, compensable extracurricular activity under
the agreement. We defer to the School Committee’s
interpretation that the teachers’ collective bargaining
agreement permits teachers to be paid for their publica-
tions in the event the department purchases them. We
conclude that the construction of the contract is reason-
able and that it is within the scope of legitimate extracur-
ricular activities that a teacher would publish and receive
royalties from the sale of scholarly writings, particularly
those writings which may be used in the classroom.?/

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 14, 1988

!/Section 19 of G.L., c. 268A prohibits a municipal employec from partici-
pating in any particular matter in which, among others, the employee has a
financial interest. Thus, a weacher is prohibited from participating in the school
department’s selection of a book which he or she authored, as this would lead 10
the teacher’s receipt of royalies and would, accordingly, affect the teacher's
financialinterest. This prohibition is notapplicable to this case asyou had no par-
ticipation in the school department’s selection and purchase of your book.
However, those school officials who do participate in the selection of classroom
texts must be guided by the principles of §23(b) {2) of the conflict law; i.c., they
may not use their public positions Lo secure an unwartanted privilege or benefit
of substantial value for another when such 2 privilege is unavailable 1o similarly
situated people. Thus, there must be objective criteria and standards employed
to aid in the unbiased selection of textbooks, and your book may not be selecied
merely as a favor to you.

¥/ Our willingness 1o defer to the Scheol Comminee rests on the fact that
the preparation of written materials for cducational purposcs is an endeavor
which is traditionally undertaken by teachers and which ofien is relevant to the
evaluation of teacher performance. Thus, while under normal circumstances
receipt of royalties could not reasonably be characterized as addilonal compen-
sation contemplisied by the employment contract, this important component of
2 teacher’s professional activity is deserving, in the Commission’s view, of
particular consideration in interpreting the terms of the colleclive bargaining
agreement and the requirements of G L. ¢, 2684, §I0.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-11*

FACTS:

You recently completed a five year term as undersec-
retary of the Executive Office of Environmental Affairs
{EOEA). As undersecretary, you had no specific statu-
tory responsibilities and were assigned responsibilities by
the EOEA Secretary. See, G.L. c.21A, §1 (“{s]aid under-
secretary ... shall perform such duties as may be assigned
by the secretary.”)

Your responsibilities generally involved policy devel-
opment and service as liaison between EOEA and its
agencies, external constituencies such as the legislature
and general public, and interested groups. From time to
time, you were assigned responsibility for working with
an EOEA agency on development of specific policy for
example, development of state policies on low level
radioactive waste, source reduction, solid waste capacity
and response to the hazardous waste initiative petition.

o



Specific application of policy to a particular situation was
most often the responsibility of the agency, particularly
in the instance of application of rules and regulations.
Depending on the issue, the EOEA Secretary would
assign official responsibility for a particularissue to other
staff in the office. For example, although you had
responsibility for supenvising EOEA staff, you were not
specifically assigned responsibility for overseeing the
budget preparation for the various agencies.

You are now a former state employee and seek
guidance regarding the application of G.L. c. 268A to the
following employment opportunities.

1. Fall River Harbor Development

The City of Fall River (City) is developing a master
plan for the Fall River Harbor. You have been offered an
opportunity to advise the City for up to fifty days per year
on issues concerning the use of the state pier, the rele-
vance of Coastal Zone Management (CZM) policies on
designated ports, and the impact of Department of
Environmental Quality Engineering (DEQE) waterways
regulations under G.L. c. 91. Although the Fall River
Harbor master plan will not require approval by state
agencies, any specific projects developed under the plan
will require state approval. You state that the City has
recently sought DEQE consultation and assistance in
preparing the master plan, but that no consultations
have yet taken place. In carrying out your advisory
responsibilities for the City, you expect to meet with staff
from state agencies within EOEA.

You state that, with one exception, you have had no
prior involvementwith the subject of the development of
a Fall River Harbor master plan. Inlate 1986, the Mayor
of Fall River indicated to you in atelephone conversation
that the City wasinterested in developing property on the
state pier in Fall River. You responded that the state pier
was not currently developable and could only be devel-
oped in the context of a plan, The gist of your conversa-
tion, which lasted for five to ten minutes, was that the City
needed a process to develop property on the state pier.

2. Browning Ferris Industries(BFI)

BFI, a waste management company, has offered you
a contract to advise it on regulatory issues regarding
landfill expansions and the development of new landfill
capacity. While employed as EOEA undersecretary, you
discussed disposal capacity issues with BFI and other
waste companies, but were not involved in DEQE or
Massachusetts Environmental Protection Act Unit
(MEPA) determinations of landfill site assignments or
plan approvals. While such determinations were within
the jurisdiction of the particular state agencies within
EOEA, you assisted in expediting certain environmental
impact reports (EIR's) which were under consideration
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by MEPA.
3. ORFA

You have been offered a contract with ORFA, a
resource/recovery recycling company, to manage its
Northeast projects. ORFA currently has received EIR
approval for a Somerville project, and since 1985 has
submitted requests to MEPA for examination of a trans-
fer station on the same site. You state that you had no
involvement or review responsibility for the MEPA review
for the OR¥A Somerville project.

You may also be assigned by ORFA to work on a
projectin the Holyoke area. Previously, you participated
as Undersecretary in discussions about the suitability ofa
Holyoke site for resource recovery in connection with an
incinerator project proposal submitted by HERCO, a
different company. Following a DEQE hearing, the
initial HERCO project proposal was denied. ORFA now
intends to submit a new proposal on either a Chicopee or
Granbyssite. ORFA’s proposal would propose a resource
recovery/recycling technology, as opposed to the “mass
burn” technology proposed earlier by HERCO.

4. LawFirm

You intend to join the law firm of McCormack and
Putziger (Firm) as “of counsel.” You will be identified as
“of counsel” on the Firm’s letterhead and will be pro-
vided the use of an office and a secretary. You will not
participate in any partnership distributions and will re-
ceive revenues derived only from cases in which you
provide legal services. As “of counsel”, you will not be
required to participate in any matter in which the Firm is
involved nor can you require the Firm to become in-
volved in any of your cases.

During your EOEA tenure, you worked with MEPA
in examining a proposed expansion of a Framingham
shopping center which allegedly intruded into wetlands.
MEPA denied the proposal and determined that no
mitigation would be acceptable in connection with the
proposed expansion. The Firm did not appear before
MEPA or you in connection with the matter because the
Firm had doubtsabout the ownership of the project. The
Firm now wishes to represent a client in connection with
the project. You state that you will not participate as “of
counsel” in any of the Firm’s activities representing the
client.

QUESTION:

How does G.L. c. 268A apply to your prospective
employment opportunities?

ANSWER:



You will be subject to the limitations described be-
low.

DISCUSSION:

Upon your departure from EOEA, you became a
formerstate employee. Asaformer state employee, three
paragraphs of G.L. c. 268A will apply to you.

1. Section 5(a)

This paragraph prohibits you from receiving com-
pensation from or acting as attorney or agent for anyone
other than the commonwealth in connection with any
particular matter'/ in which you previously participated?/
as EOEA Undersecretary.

2. Section 5(b)

This paragraph prohibits you from personally ap-
pearing, during a one year period following the comple-
tion of your EOEA services before any state court or state
agency, in connection with any particular matter which
was under your official responsibility’/ during a two year
period prior to your departure from EOEA.

For the purposes of §56(b), we will assume, as you
represent, that you possessed no authority to direct,
approve or disapprove action by any EOEA agencies, and
that your official responsibility was limited to those mat-
ters expressly assigned to you by the EOEA secretary.?/ If
the scope of your official responsibility were greater than
you represent, the one year appearance bar of §5(b)
would also be greater.

3. Section 23(c)

This paragraph prohibits you from disclosing confi-
dential information which you acquired as an EOEA
employee, or from engaging in professional activities
which would require your disclosure of such confidential
information.

Applying these principles to your four employment
opportunities, we advise you as follows.

1. Fall River Harbor Development

Based on the information you have provided, we
conclude that §5 does not prohibit your accepting an
appointment by the City to provide advice on the appli-
cation of state law and regulations to particular proposals
considered for inclusion in a master plan. While §5
would place restrictions on your working on proposals or
other mattersin which you previously participated or had
official responsibility for at EOEA, none of your pro-
posed activities is in connection with matters which were
the subject of your previous participation or official
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responsibility, or were pending in EOEA during your
tenure. Your brief conversation with the Mayor in 1986
does notaffect this conclusion. Your advice to the Mayor
regarding the need foraplan to develop the state pier was
not “personal and substantial” participation in the City’s
decision to develop a master plan for the entire harbor,
G.L. c. 268A, §1(j), nor is your advisory role for the City
“in connection with”any matter in which you did partici-
pate or had official responsibility for. As we understand
it, your advice will be offered in connection with the
feasibility under state law of particular proposals. Aslong
as these proposals were not matters in which you previ-
vusly participated or had official responsibility for, §5 will
not prohibit your activities in conneciion with these
proposals.

We would also add that once you have been hired by
the Gity, you will become a municipal employee for the
purposes of G.L. c. 26BA. Your outside activities will be
governed primarily by G.L. c. 2684, §17. If the City
Council classifies your position as a “special municipal
employee” and you serve in your advisory capacity for less
than sixty days in any 365 day period, §17 will réstrict only
those outside activities which relate to matters in which
you participate or have official responsibility for as a
municipal employee. Ifyour position is not classified as
a “special municipal employee,” §17 prohibits your re-
ceiving compensation from or acting as agent for any
non-City party in relation to any particular matter in
which any City agency is either a party or has a direct and
substantial interest. We are available to assist you with the
application of §17 to particular fact situations as they
occur,

2. BFI

Your proposed advisory contract with BFI will be
permissible under §5 as long as the particular proposals
or controversies for which you will be advising BFI are
new matters in which you did not previously participate
or have official responsibility for as an EOEA employee.
The restrictions of §5(a) would apply, for example, with
respect to any EIR which you assisted in expediting with
MEPA, as well as with respect to your challenge of the
validity of any EOEA agency regulations which you as-
sisted in drafting, EC-COI-81-34.

3. ORFA

Your proposed management consultation activities
for ORFA appear to be permissible under §5. The ORFA
Somerville project does not involve matters in which you
previously participated or had official responsibility for
as an EOEA employee. Further, the ORFA resource
recovery proposal in western Massachusetts is a different
particular matter from the HERCO Holyoke proposal in
which you did previously participate. Because the ORFA



proposal is a new submission involving a different tech-
nology in a different location from the initial HERCO
proposal, your ORFA activities would be regarded as in
relation to a different particular matter for the purposes
of G.L. c. 268A. Compare, EC-COI-84-31; 8414.

4, LawFim

The restrictions of §5(a) also apply to partners of
former state employees. For example, with respect to
those decisions, determinations and other particular
matters in which you participated at EOEA, your partners
are subject to a one year bar on their receiving compen-
sation from or representing clients in relation to these
same matters. Based upon the information you have
provided, youwill not be considered as having “partners”
in the Firm for the purposes of §5(c). This result will
continue to apply long as your “of counsel” status contin-
ues as you have described it. See, EC-COI-8043. Of
course, §5(a) will continue to apply to you with respect to
matters in which you previously participated, for ex-
ample, the proposed expansion of the Framingham
shopping center.

DATE AUTHORIZED: April 13, 1988

*Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §3(g), the requesting per-
son has consented to the publication of this opinion with
identifying information.

'/“Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, coniract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision. determination, finding, but excluding
enacument of general legistation by the general court and pediians of cities,
towns, countics and districts for special laws related (o their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.

*"Participate,” participate in agency action or in a particular mauer
personally and substaniially as a state, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or atherwise.

3/ “Official responsibility,” the direct administrative or operating authonity,
whether intermediate or final, and either exercisable alone or with others, and
whether personal or through subordinates, to approve, disapprove or otherwise
direct agency action.

*/1n light of your represeniation, we do not reach the question of whether
the EOEA Sccretary possessed “official responsibility” for ali particular matters
pending within his secretariat.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-12*

FACTS:

You recently resigned your position as Executive
Director of the Massachusetts Energy Facilities Siting
Council {Siting Council) in the Executive Office of Energy
Resources (EOER) in order to accept a position as
Commissioner of the Department of Public Utilities
(DPU). When you were Executive Director of the Siting

Council, there were, among other things, three cases
pending with that agency. Your pastinvolvementin these
mattersaswell asyour potential, prospective involvement
as DPU Commissioner is summarized below.

1. DPU Docket No. 86-36

This matter is a generic rulemaking investigation
concerning the electric utility industry. You did not
participate!/ in or have official responsibility?/ for this
matter as Executive Director of the Siting Council. The
Secretary of Energy Resources did. Although you gener-
ally serve as the Secretary’s advisor on many matters, you
did not serve as the advisor on this matter. You propose
to participate as DPU Commissioner in DPU Docket No.
86-36.

2. DPU Docket No. 85-178

This matter is a generic rulemaking investigation
concerning the gas utility industry. As Executive Director
of the Siting Council you gave oral restimony and written
comment to the DPU in 1986. An interim order has been
issued, but the case is still open to resolve certain remain-
ing issues. You propose to participate as DPU Commis-
sioner in the remaining phases of DPU Docket No. 85-
178.

3. DPU Docket No. 87-169

This case is a two-phase investigation of matters
pertaining to the state’s electric utility companies. You
have participated in the first phase of the matter in your
position as Executive Director of the Siting Council. You
testified as an expert witness in 1987 and 1988, and
advised the EOER Secretary and the Attorney General on
strategy and policy concerning the matter. You also
participated in drafting the briefs submitted by the EOER
Secretary and the Attorney General. You do not propose
to act as DPU Commissioner on Phase One because an
order from DPU on that phase is imminent. You do
propose to participate as DPU Commissioner in the
remaining phase of the investigation.

QUESTION:

Doesyour participation as DPU Commissionerin the
matters described above comply with the conflict of
interest law?

ANSWER:

Yes.

DISCUSSION:



The Commission has addressed a very similar ques-
tion raised by a former employee of EOER who subse-
quently became a DPU Commissioner. In EC-COI-82-31,
the Commission concluded that

As an employee of the EOER and as Commis-

sioner at the DPU you were and are a state

employee, G.L.c. 268A, §1(q), and are subject to

the conflict of interest law. Section 5(a) of that

statute prohibits a former state employee from

receiving compensation from or acting as agent
orattorney for anyone other than the Common-
wealth in relation to a particular matterin which

the state or astate agencyisa party or hasadirect

and substaniial interest and in which he partici-

pated while a state employee. The provisions of

§5(a), however, do not apply to a state employee

who resigns to accept employment with asecond

state agency. EC-COI-81-60...
This is also true for §5(b) restricting
activities of the former state employee
acting as agency or attorney for a non-
state party in relation to matters within
his official responsibility.
EC-COI-82-31 at 3, fn.3.

We conclude that this same reasoning applies with
equal force to your case. The “former state employee”
prohibitions articulated in the conflict of interest law do
not apply to one who resigns one state job in order to
accept another. Our opinion in EC-COI-82-31 was af-
firmed by the Supreme Judicial Court in Attorney Gen-
eral v. Department of Public Utilities and another, 390
Mass. 208, 215 (1983) (where the court concluded that,
notwithstanding the participation of Commissioner
Selgrade in a matter while he was an EOER employee, his
further participation in the matter as a DPU Commis-
sioner did not taint the proceedings “with unfairness
justifying the reversal of the department's decision”).
Accordingly, your proposed participation as a DPU
Commissioner in DPU Docket Nos. 87-169, 85-178 and
83-36isnot prohibited by §5 of the conflict ofinterest law.

The “standards of conduct” contained in §23 of the
conflict law apply in addition to all other sections of the
law. See, EC-COI-82-31 (discussing §23(e) of the conflict
law). These provisions were amended in 1986 so that the
current parallel section to §23(e} is §23(b)(3). The
amended §23 is more flexible than its predecessor; now,
in the event of the appearance of a conflict, a public
official is not disqualified from participating but rather is
required to make a public disclosure. Section 23(b)(3)
provides that, absent a public disclosure, a state em-
ployee maynotactsoastogive the reasonable impression
that the employee may be improperly influenced, that
one can unduly enjoy the employee’s favor or that he or
she is likely to act as a result of position or undue
influence. G.L. c. 2684, §23(L)(3).3/

Based on our review of the information which you
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have supplied concerning the three DPU matters atissue,
itappears thatapublic (i.e., in writing and filed with your
appeinting authority) disclosure would be appropriate
before you participate in DPU Docket No. 87-169. This is
so because of your active participation in the first phase
on the matter (drafting briefs and taking a significant
advocacy role). We conclude that the same disclosure is
required before you participate in DPU Docket No. 85-
178 where an interim order has terminated the phase of
the rulemaking investigation in which you had prior
limited but official participation. Even your limited
connection with this case could give the appearance of a
conflict which would be remedied by disclosure, Because
you had no participation or official responsibility for any
phase of DPU Docket No. 86-36, there is no requirement
of a public disclosure.

You should also be aware that §23(b)(2) of the
conflict law prohibits the knowing or attempted use of
your official position to secure for yourself or others
unwarranted privileges or exemptions which are of sub-
stantial value and are not properly available to similarly
situated individuals. Accordingly, you may not use you
DPU position to secure an unwarranted privilege, for
example, for an agency with which you have had a prior
association. If a public official makes a recommendation
or decision which is not based on objective standards, but
is rather based entirely on a prior relationship, this may
constitute securing an unwarranted privilege for another
in viclation of §23(b)(2).

We must emphasize that, as we did in EG-COI-82-31,
the question of the application of common law principles
of bias has not been reviewed in this opinion. We are
limited to addressing matters strictly within our jurisdic-
tion, i.e., interpreting and applying G.L. ¢. 268A and
268B.

DATE AUTHORIZED: May 25, 1988

*Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §3(g), the requesting
person has consented to the publication of this opinion
with identifying information.

'/ Participate,” participate in agency action or in a particular matter
persanally and substantiaily as a state, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or atherwise. G.L. c. 2684, §1(j).

/"Official responsibility,” the ditect administrative or operating authority,
whether intermediate or Anal, and ejther exercisable alane or with others, and
whether personal or through subordinates, to approve, disapprove or otherwise
direct agency action. G.L. c. 268A, §1(i).

%/No current oflicer or employee of a state, county or municipal agency

shall knowingly, or with reason 1o know:
(3) act in a manner which would cause a reasenable person, having knowledge
of the relevant circumstances, 16 conclude that any person can improperly
influence or unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his cificial duties, or
that he is likely to act or fail to act as a result of kinship, rank, position or unduc
influence of any party or person. It shall be unreasenable 1o so conclude if such
officer or employee has disclosed in writing 10 his appointing authority or, if no
appointing authority exists, discloses in a manner which is public in nature, the
facts which would otherwise lead to such a conclusion.



CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-13*

FACTS:

You are the Corporation Counsel for the City of Fall
River. You state that some time prior to October 23, 1986
Michael Niewola, the Sealer of Weights and Measures for
the City of Fall River, was arraigned on the charges of
willful and malicious burning of personal property, false
reporting of a stolen motor vehicle, and accessory before
the fact to larceny of a motor vehicle. On October 23,
1986, Michael Niewola was suspended pursuantto G.L.c.
268A, §25. The written notice of that suspension listed
thearraignment on the above three chargesasthe reason
for the suspension pursuant to §25. Michael Niewola was
indicted, on November 14, 1986, on all three of the above
charges as well as the charge of operating under the
influence of alcohol. He was subsequently found not
guilty of the charges cited in the written notice of Ccto-
ber 23, 1986, but was found guilty of operating under the
influence of alcohol.

You have alsostated that Niewola, asSealer of Weights
and Measures, was assigned a City of Fall River vehicle
which he was permitted to take to his home in Fall River
at the end of each workday. This permission was condi-
tioned on the understanding that city vehicles are to be
used solely for city business. Michael Niewola's charge of
driving under the influence of alcohol involved his oper-
ating his city vehicle after hours while under the influ-
ence of alcohol.

QUESTION:

Is Michael Niewola, the Sealer of Weights and Meas-
ures for the City of Fall River, entitled to receive all
compensation or salary due him for the period of his
suspension pursuant to G.L. c. 2684, §25?

ANSWER:

Yes, subject, however, to the resolution of any admin-
istrative action by his appointing official under G.L. c.
268A, §23(b)(2).

DISCUSSION:

Michael Niewola, as Sealer of Wights and Measures
for the City of Fall River, is a municipal employee as
defined in the conflict of interestlaw. G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).
Section 25 of G.L. c. 2684, in pertinent part, states that:

An officer or employee of a county, city,
town or district, howsoever formed, including,
but not limited to, regional school districts and
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regional planning districts, or of any depart-

ment, board, commission or agency thereof,

may during any period such officer or employee

is under indictment for misconduct in such

office or employment or for misconduct in any

elective or appointive public office, trust or

employment, at any time held by him, be sus-

pended by the appointing authority, whether or

notsuch appeintment was subject to approvalin

any manner. Notice of said suspension shall be

given in writing and delivered in hand to said

person or his attorney, or sent by registered mail

to said person at his residence, his place of

business, or the office or place of employment

from which he is being suspended. Such notice

so given and delivered and sent shall automati-

cally suspend the authority of such person to

perform the duties of his office or employment

until he is notified in like manner that his sus-

pension is removed. A copy of any such notice

together with an affidavit of service shall be filed

as follows: In the case of a town, with the town

clerk; in the case of a regional school district,

with the secretary of the regional school district;

and in the case of all other districts, with the clerk

of the district.

If the criminal proceedings against the per-

son suspended are terminated without a finding

or verdict of guilty on any of the charges on

which he was indicted, this suspension shall be

forthwith removed, and he shall receive all com-

pensation or salary due him for the period of his

suspension, and the time of his suspension shall

count in determining sick leave, vacation, sen-

iority and other rights, and shall be counted as

creditable service for purposes of retirement.
It requires that the officer or employer suspended under
this section must be under indictment for misconduct in
such office or employment or for misconduct in any
elective or appointive public office, trust or employment
atany time held by that individual. The phrase “without
a finding or verdict of guilty on any of the charges on
which he was indicted” refers to the “indictment for
misconduct in such office or employment” found earlier
in the section. To read this language otherwise would be
to broaden the scope of permissible basis for a §25
suspension to any indictable offense. It has been noted
thatc. 30, §59, (a parallel provision for state employee or
officers) is by its terms inapplicable to offenses that have
no relation to the office or position held by the indicted
individual at the time the criminal acts in question
allegedly were committed. The statute specifies miscon-
duct in such (emphasis in original) office or employ-
ment, thus indicating it cannot simply be applied indis-
criminately to all offenses committed by an individual
while he is an official, or employed by the Common-



wealth.” (A.G. Op. 3/80,/64). We read the language of
G.L. c. 268A, §25 in the same way. The real question, as
a result, is whether Michael Niewola's indictment and
conviction for driving while under the influence of alco-
hol is properly considered being under indictment for
misconduct in his office as Sealer of Weights and Meas-
ures for the City of Fall River.!/

The breadth of the term “misconduct in office”
hinges on the establishment of a direct relationship
between the misconduct and the office. Perryman v.
School Committee of Boston, 17 Mass. App. Ct. 346, 348
(1983). No such relationship has been established in
Michael Niewola’s case. The fact that he was operating a
city vehicle after hours while under the influence of
alcohol is not in and of itself sufficient to make the
offense misconduct in office within the meaning of the
statute, In Tobin v. Sheriff of Suffolk County, 377 Mass.
212 (1979) the Supreme Judicial Court held thata court
officer could not be suspended under §25 because court-
house business was not involved in atlegations of involve-
ment in a kick-back scheme tied to the awarding of city
contracts where the offensive conduct occurred on the
premises of the courthouse. Similarly, City of Fall River
business was not involved in the allegations of Michael
Niewola’s having driven under the influence of alcohol,
despite his use of a city vehicle to do so. Indeed, Michael
Niewola was off-duty when the offense occurred. In
addition, we do not find the position of Sealer of Weights
and Measures to be sufficiently analogous to that of a
public school teacher or police officer or any other
position of special public trust so as to support the
conclusion that any off-duty conduct resulting in indict-
ment constitutes misconduct in office. See e.g. Dupree v.
School Commiittee of Boston, 15 Mass. App. 535 (1983).

Michael Niewola’s indictment and conviction for
driving while under the influence of alcohol is not prop-
erly considered as being under indictment for miscon-
duct in his office as Sealer of Weights and Measures for
the City of Fall River. Accordingly, Michael Niewola is
entitled to receive all compensation of salary due him for
the period of his suspension pursuant to G.L. c. 268A,
§25,

We note that this opinion is limited to the issue of
compensation under G.L. c. 268A, §25. Under G.L. c.
268A §23(b)(2), a municipal employee may not use his
official position to secure for himself an unwarranted
privilege of substantial value. In a recent Commission
action, a Boston fire department employee was fined
$500 by the Commission and also was required to repay
$500 to the city for the economic advantage derived by his
use of a city vehicle for personal purposes in violation of
§23. See, In the Matter of Dennis Flynn, 1985 Ethics
Commission 245. If the City of Fall River determines that
Mr. Niewola's use ofa cityvehicle wasan unwarranted use
in violation of §23(b)(2), appropriate administrative
action as is warranted may be taken by the head of the

203

municipal agency. See, G.L. c. 2684, §23(e).

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 14, 1988

*Pursuant to G.L. ¢. 268B, §3(g), the requesting
person has consented to the publication of this opinion

with indentifying information.

'/ Although the lacts in the case alzo raise two procedural questions about
the adequacy of the §25 notice given {omitting the driving while under the
influence of alcohol charge) and the uming of the §23 notice given {(postarraign
ment but, apparently, preindictment) we need not address these issuces since, as
a mattzr of subsiantive law, we find Michacl Niewala's offense, in this context.
does not amount 1o misconduct in the office within the meaning of G.L. c. 2684,
§25,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-14

FACTS:

You formerly served as manager a state agency ABC.
In that capacity, you were involved in an application by
DEF for a grant. Specifically, you contacted DEF officials
to encourage their application for a grant. Following the
receipt of the DEF application, you spent several weeks
on this project researching information relating to the
grant. You coordinated an independent review commit-
tee evaluation of the application; the committee’s recom-
mendations were generally favorable. Prior to your de-
parture from ABC, you recommended that ABC grant
the DEF an award under the program. ABC subsequently
approved the grant.

You now wish to work for a consulting firmin connec-
tion with the grant awarded by ABC to DEF. As we
understand it, if the firm is selected as consultant to write
the construction bid specifications, and tc make the
project bidder recommendations for DEF, you would be
interested in working for the firm to write the specifica-
tions,

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to work for the firmin
connection with the grant?

ANSWER:
No.
DISCUSSION:

Upon your departure from ABC, you became a
former state employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A.
Under G.L. c. 268A, §5(a), a former state employee is
prohibited from receiving compensation from a non-
state party in connection with any contract, decision or
other particular matter'/ in which he previously partici-



pated®/ as a state employee and in which the state is a
party or has a direct and substantial interest.

The ABC grant award to DEF is a particular matter
under G.L. c. 2684, §1(k), and if the firm is selected as
consultant, your work for the firm would provide you
compensation in connection with that grant award.
Specifically, you would be preparing specifications for a
construction bid to DEF in the implementation of the
same grant award in which you were previously involved
at ABC and would be performing services which were
contemplated in the award. See, EC-COI-87-31. These
design phase requirements were envisioned in ABC's
drafting of the grant proposal, and ABC officials will be
reviewing the implementation of the grant by DEF, in-
cluding the firm’s performance in carrying out the de-
sign phase work. The critical question for G.L. c. 268A, §5
purposes is whether your previous involvement in the
grant award prior to your departure constituted “per-
sonal and substantial participation” in the grant award.
We conclude that it did.

In prior rulings, the Ethics Commission has distin-
guished conduct which is ministerial, pro-forma or pre-
liminary from conduct which is deemed substantial. See,
In the Matter of James Geary, 1987 Ethics Commission;
In the Matter of John Hickey, 1983 Ethics Commission
158. What is clear from the Commission’s rulings is that
anemployee need not have given final approval toagrant
in order to have participated in the grant.

It is also wellsettled that a state employee who has
recommended awarding a grant may not be paid in
relation to the same grant. EG-COI-79-18; 79-34; 79-69;
81-172. On the other hand, if an employee had no
involvement in the development of grant specifications
orin the planning and preparation, or if the preparation
work was insignificant or Loo preliminary, the employee
will not be regarded as having participated. See, EC-COI-
79-4; 79-85; 81-159.

Upon reviewing these principles and applying them
toyour facts, we conclude thatyou participated asan ABC
employee in the grant award to DEF. This conclusion is
based on the substantive role which you played in initiat-
ing the DEF proposal, in personally reviewing the DEF
application and independent review committee process,
and in recommending that ABC grant an award to DEF.

While it is true that you did not make the final
decision, your recommendation, together with your prior
activities. in connection with the process, lead us to
conciude that your previous participation was personal
and substantial in the grant award. Consequently, you
may not consult for the firm in connection with the same
grant award. This does not mean that the firm cannot
apply for the contract, but rather that you may not work
for the firm under the DEF grant award.?/

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 6, 1988
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'/ "Particular mauer,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other dewermination, contract, claim, contres
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enacumen of genesal legislation by the general court and pettions of cities,
towns, counties and districts for special faws related o their governmenta)
organizations, powers, duties, linances and properiy. Gl c. 268, §H(k).

¥/ "Participate,” participate in agency action or in a particular matter
personally and substantially as a staie, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise. G.L. c. 2684, §1(j).

*/The Commission has recognized that “Section 3 is grounded on sovera)
policy considerations. The undivided loyalty due from a state emplovee while
serving is deemed to continue with respect 1o some matters after he leaves siate
service. Moreover, §5 precludes a state employee rom making official judgments
with an eye, wiuingly or unwittingly, consciously or subconsciously, toward his
personal furere interest. Finally, the law ensures that former employees do not
use their past friendships and associations within government or use confidential
information obtained while serving the government 1o derive unfair advaniage
for themselves or others.” In the Matter of Thomas Wharton, 1984 Ethics Com-
mission, 182, 183.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI1-88-15

FACTS:

You are an employee of state agency ABC. You are
also a partner in a private development company, and
have on occasion represented the development com-
pany.

The development company plans to solicit funding
from certain state agencies regarding various funding
programsrelating to affordable housing requirements of
a project sponsored by the DEF Redevelopment Author-
ity (DEF), a municipal agency. One such program, the
SHARP new construction program, is funded and ad-
ministered by the Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency
(MHFA). Another program, the so-called ¢. 707 residen-
tial rental subsidy program, is administered by the Execu-
tive Office of Communities and Development (EOCD)
and local housing authorities.!/ ABC has no official re-
sponsibility with respect to either the SHARP program or
the 707 program.

Eligibility for funding under the SHARP program
involves a competitive process which is advertised in the
real estate sections of ten or more newspapers, and legal
notices. MHFA maintains a computerized mailing list of
developers, prepares literature, and conducts a number
of public work shops. EOCD also advertises and main-
tains a mailing list for the c. 707 program.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A preclude your company’s partici-
pation in the affordable housing funding programs in
connection with the DEF project?

ANSWER:

No, but you are subject to certain restrictions dis-
cussed below.



DISCUSSION:

In your ABC position, you are a “state employee”
within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(q). Three sections
of the law are relevant to your situation.

1. Section4

Section 4 prohibits you from receiving compensa-
tion from or acting as agent or attorney for a non-state
party in relation to any particular matter which the
commonwealth or a state agencyis a party or has a direct
and substantial interest. For example, if your develop-
ment company were preparing an application to a state
agency, you could neither appear before the agency on
behalf of the entity as an agent or attorney, nor receive
compensation for your services in connection with the
application. The prohibitions of §4 will apply to your
activities on behalf of the company in connection with
the SHARP and c. 707 programs, inasmuch as the com-
monwealth is a party to, and has a direct and substantial
interest in, both the SHARP program and the c¢. 707
residential programs. Because the MHFA isastateagency,
§4 will also prohibit your involvement in matiers before
the MHFA relating to the issuance of bonds and other
financial determinations.

2. Section 7

Section 7 generally prohibits you from having a
financial interest in a contract made by a state agency. As
apartner in a development company, you will be deemed
to have a financial interest for §7 purposes in any state
contracts made by the company. The Commission has
previously concluded that the arrangement by which
MHFA provides programmatic funding pursuant to the
SHARP program, and the arrangement by which EOCD
provides programmatic funding pursuant to the ¢. 707
program, results in a contract between the state agency
and the development entity for purposes of §7. See, EC-
COI-87-14.

There is an exemption, however, which would per-
mit the development company to receive the specific
program funding provided certain conditions are satis-
fied. Specifically, §7(b) permits a state employee to have
a financial interest in a state grant provided that devel-
oper selection is made after public notice and provided
further that the state employee files with the Commission
a statement making full disclosure of his interest and the
interest of his immediate family in the funding. In the
SHARP and c. 707 programs, the developer selection
processissufficiently publicized toresultin fair and open
competition. See, EC-COI-83-37; 83-35. Therefore, the
development entity may compete for the funding neces-
sary to make the project financially feasible, provided
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that you file a disclosure pursuant 1o this section and
avoid working for the company in connection with the
funding application.?/

3. Section 23

Section 23 provides general standards of conduct
applicable to all public employees. Section 23(b) (3), for
example, prohibits you from appearing to be unduly
influenced in the performance of your official actions as
an ABC employee as a result of your private dealings with
the development entity. To the extent that you might
have overlapping public and private dealings with DEF,
MHFA, or EOCD officials, you should disclose to your
appointing official your private relationship with the
development entity so as to dispel any appearance of
undueinfluence or favoritism. This disclosure must be in
writing.

Further, §23(b) (2) prohibits a state employee from
using his official position to secure for himseif an unwar-
ranted privilege or exemption of substantial value. You
will comply with this paragraph by keeping your private
development company activities separate from your ABC
work schedule, and by refraining from using ABC re-
sources for your company's benefit. If you have any
questions as to the applicability of this subsection, or any
other subsection of §23, you may write to the legal
division for further verification.

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 15, 1988

'/You state that the company with which you are associated will not solicit
program funds from the Department of Public Welfare or the Depariment of
Social Services regarding the operation of transitional housing and child care
components of the DEF project. Since you will not be associated with soliciting
of program funds from these programs, it is unnecessary to discuss the applica-
tion of the conflict law regarding these funds. 17 the siwation changes and your
development company intends to solicit such funds, you should write for further
clarification,

?/We assume that your financial interest under §7 will accrue by virtue of
your ownership interest in the company. Ifyou plan 1o perform personal services
under these state contracts, additional conditions will apply to you under G.1.. c.
268A, §7(b), and you should therefore renew your opinion request with us,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-16*

FACTS:

You anticipate appointment as a member of the
Massachusetts Museum of Contemporary Art Cultural
Development Commission (MOCA Comumission). The
MOCA Commission will be established by the City of
North Adams (City) to act on behalf of the City in
entering into contracts for the design, construction and
operation of a museum of contemporary art. See, St.
1988, c. B. As proposed, the MOCA Commission will
consist of s ven members representing the public inter-



estwithout compensation. Appointments will be made by
the Mayor, with the consent of the City Council. The City
Council envisions that the establishment of a museum
will involve collaboration with Williams College (Col-
lege), a private higher education institution which cur-
rently operates a museum. It is also likely that employees
of the College will contract with the MOCA Commission
for the design and operation phases of the museum'’s
development.

You have served as the Director of the College
Museum of Art and will continue to hold that position
until July 1, 1988. After that date you will become an
adjunct professor and you will teach courses at the Col-
lege and receive compensation from the College for your
teaching activities. You state that your College compensa-
tion will be limited to your teaching and will not be attrib-
utable to any contracts between the Colliege and MOCA
Commission. Your primary employment will be as a
Guggenheim Foundation Director in New York City.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 26BA permit you to serve as a MOCA
Commission member while also serving as a teacher at
the College and as the Director of the Foundation?

ANSWER:

Yes, subject to the limitations described below.
DISCUSSION:

A. Jurisdiction

The MOCA Commission was established pursuant to
St. 1988, c. 8, an Act Assisting the City of North Adamsin
the Development of the Massachusetts Museum of Con-
temporary Art. Under ¢, 8, the Commonwealth is author-
ized to grant 35 million dollars to the City to acquire land
and buildings to be used for the construction of the
Museum. The City, in turn, has created and appointed
members to the MOCA Commission to act on its behalf
in carrying out the purposes of the act, pursuant to St.
1988, c. 8, §1. In view of the accountability of the MOCA
Commission to the City, and the authority which the
Commission will exercise on behalf of the City, the
MOCA Commission is a municipal agency of the City for
the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. See, EC-COI-83-74. Upon
your appointment as one of the seven members of the
MOCA Commission, you will be subject to the four
provisions of G.L. c. 268A which apply to municipal
employees.

B. Substantive Restrictions

I. Section 19
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As a municipal employee, you must abstain from
participating in any contract, decision, application or
other particular matter in which a business organization
which employs you has a financial interest. As a visiting
teacherat the College, you will be employed by a business
organization for the purposes of G.L. c. 2684, §19. See,
EC-COI-884 (corporations, whether established on a
for-profit or non-profit basis, are business organizations
under §19). Therefore, absent qualification for an ex-
emption to §19, you are required to abstain from partici-
pating asa MOCA Commission member in any particular
matter in which the college has a financial interest.

One exemption available to you which would permit
your participation in matters affecting the College is
contained in G.L. c. 268A, §19(b)(1). Following your
disclosure of the relevant financial interests to your
appointing official, that official may determine that the
College’s interest is not so substantial as to be deemed
likely to affect the integrity of the services which the city
expects from you.'!/ The same exemption procedure
would also be required if matters affecting the financial
interests of the Guggenheim Foundation came before
you on the MOCA Commission.

2. Section 17

This section places restrictions on your activities on
behalf of non-City parties. Specifically, §17 prohibits you
from receiving compensation from or acting as agent of
the College in connection with any particular matter in
which either the MOCA Commission or anyagencyof the
City is a party or has a direct and substantial interest. In
view of your statement that your activities for the College
will be limited to teaching, and that you will not be
working for the College on any aspect of the MOCA
Commission, this section should not pose problems for
you. You should keep the principles of §17 in mind,
however, with respect to your Guggenheim assignments
should those assignments involve the MOCA Commis-
sion. For example, you may not assist the Foundation in
applying for contracts with the MOCA Commission.

3. Section 20

Under §20, 2 municipal employee may not have a
financial interest, directly or indirectly, in a contract
made by any agency of the same municipality. As applied
to you, §20 prohibits you from having a financial interest
in any contract awarded by the MOCA Commission. For
example, if the College were awarded MOCA Commis-
sion contracts, your college compensation could not be
attributable to those contracts. For similar reasons, your
Guggenheim compensation may not be atributable to
contracts which the Foundation may have with the MOCA
Commission.



4, Section 23(b)(2)

This section establishes standards of conduct for
municipal employees. Under §23, a municipal employee
may not use his official position to secure for anyone an
unwarranted privilege of substantial value. To the extent
that current or former college employees may be per-
forming services for the MOCA Commission, issues under
§23 may come into play in your exercising your official
responsibilities as a MOCA Commission member. To
comply with §23(b) (2), you may not accord such employ-
ees special treatment, and you must evaluate their work
by the same objective standards by which other employ-
ees and applicants are evaluated.

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 14, 1988

*Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §3(g), the requesting
person has consented to the publication of this opinion
with identifying information.

'/We understand that the City Council, in its proposed ordinance relating
to the MOCA Commission, intends 1o grant written determinations on a limited
basis 10 College employees pursuant 1o G.L. c. 2684, §19, thereby permitting your
participation in some matters alfecting the College. We would note, however,
that the determination, in order 1o be effective, must be made by your appointing
official. See, EC-COI-8741. Because it appears that your appointing official
under the proposed ordinance is the Mayor, rather than the City Council, we
believe that the Mayor is the appropnate official to grant exemptions under
§19(b)(1).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-17

FACTS:

You are a full-time state employee of state agency
ABC. ABC has the provision of services to the homeless as
one of its priorities. When you began your employment
in this position, your supervisor requested that you be-
come a member of the Board of Trustees of an organiza-
tion for the homeless and represent ABC in this organi-
zation. The organization has a contract with a state
agency for funding of shelter expenses in operating a
shelter for homeless families. You have become an un-
paid member of the organization's Board of Trustees
and, in that capacity, you are chairperson and a member
of various commitiees.

QUESTIONS:

1. DoesG.L. c. 268A permityou to be a member of
the organization’s Board of Trustees?

2. Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to be a member of
the organization?

ANSWERS:
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1. Yes, subject to the limitations
discussed below.

2. Yes, subject to the limitations discussed helow.
DISCUSSION:
Section 4

Section 4(c) generally prohibits a state employee,
otherwise than in the proper discharge of her official
duties, from acting as agent or attorney for anyone other
than the Commonwealth or a state agency in connection
with any particular matter'/ in which the Common-
wealth or a state agency is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest. As long as you do not act as the
organization’s representative or spokesperson before a
state agency in relation to any particular mattersin which
the state has a direct and substantial interest, you will not
violate §4(c). See, EC-COI-83-145. The work that you
describe that you would currently like to do for the or-
ganization as a member of the Board of Trustees, and as
a committee member, involves matters internal to the
Board and to the organization. Itis permissible for a state
employee to participate in internal Board of Trustees
discussions relating to matters in which the state has a
direct and substantial interest. See, EC-COI-85-21; EC-
COI-85-16. However, you may not appear before any
state officials or agencies on behalf of the organization by
signing in your capacity as a member of the Board of
Trustees, documents or correspondence directed Lo state
officials or agencies, or by acting as a spokesperson for
the organization in its dealings with the state.

You have also asked us whether these appearances
before any state officials or agencies on behalf of the
organization would be permissible as acts done in the
proper discharge of of your official duties. Were your
dutiesasa member of the Board to expand or change, the
§4(c) exemption for acts done in the proper discharge of
official duties would not be applicable to your situation.
Your official job description requires that you serve as
office community liaison for the agency but does not
specifically authorize you to serve on the Board of Trus-
tees of a state vendor or state vendors in order to meet
these responsibilities. Section 4(c)’s exemption is best
applied in the case where a written job description
specifically authorizes the acts in question. See, EC-COI-
84-145; EC-COI-83-20. Although the siatute provides
some latitude to an employee’s appointing official to
determine what would constitute the proper discharge of
official duties, and the Commission will customarily defer
to the appointing official’s discretion, see, EC-COI-81-
89; EC-COI-80-96; see also, EC-COI-88-10 (where the
Commission deferred to a school committee’s construc-
tion of a teacher’s contract in the context of a §20 issue),
an appointing official's discretion under §4 is not
unlimited. EC-COI1-83-137; Commission Compliance



Letter 81-21. Your appointing official has indicated that
she considersyour service on the organization’s Board of
Trustees 1o be part of the proper discharge of your
official duties within the meaning of §4(c). She bases this
on reading your job responsibilities that includes Board
membership in your mandate to work with the commu-
nity. There is nothing in this responsibility that requires,
however, that you join the Board of Trustees for the or-
ganization in order to fulfill it.

Whether any particular determination by an ap-
pointing official would so far exceed the customary job
requirements for an employee as to frustrate the pur-
poses of the statute is a judgment which ultimately rests
with the Commission. EC-CO1-83-137. In view of the
absence of a distinct institutional interest of your state
agency in having you act as the spokesperson for the
Board of Trustees of the organization, in light of the fact
that the generalinstitutional interest of your state agency,
ABCG, in providing services to the homeless can be ful-
filled completely without your assuming this position on
the Board of Trustees, and in light of the purpose of §4,%/
we conclude that the §4(c) exemption would not be
applicable to you were you to act as agent or spokesper-
son with the state for the organization.

Section 6

You should also know that, were you to serve on this
organization's Board of Trustees, G.L. c. 2684, §6 would
also apply to your situation. Section 6 prohibits a state
employee from participating®/ as a public official in any
particular matter in which she, herimmediate families or
a partner or a business organization'/ which she is
serving as an officer, director trustee, pariner or em-
ployee, orany person with whom she is negotiating or has
any arrangement concerning prospective employment,
has a financial interest. Under this section, you may not
participate as a state employee in any particular matter in
which the organization has a financial interest so long as
you sit on the organization’s Board of Trustees,

Under §6, however, an exemption is available, The
provision is available to:

Any state employee whose duties would otherwise
require her to participate in such a particular mattershall
advise the official responsible for appointment to her
position and the State Ethics Commission of the nature
and circumstances of the particular matter and make full
disclosure of such financial interest, and the appointing
official shall thereupon either:

1) assign the particular matter to another em-

ployee; or

2} assume responsibility for the particular

matter; or

3) make a written determination that the

interest is not so substantial as to be deemed

likely to affect the integrity of the services
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which the Commonwealth may expect from

the employee, in which case, it shall not be a

violation for the employee io participate in the

particular matter, Copies of such a written de-
termination shall be forwarded to the em-

ployee and filed with the State Ethics Commis-

sion by the person who made the determina-

tion. Such copy shall be retained by the

Commission for a period of six years.

Were you to receive such a written exemption you could
participate, as a state employee who sits on the
organization’s Board of Trustees, in particular mattersin
which the organization had a financial interest.

We reiterate that membership on the organization’s
Board itself is not prohibited, provided that your activi-
tiesin thatrole comply with G.L. c. 268A, §4 and provided
thatyou are guided in your state work as a state employee
by G.L.c. 268A, §6. Similarly, general membership in the
organization itself is not prohibited, provided that your
activities in that role comply with G.L. c. 2684, §4.5/

DATE AUTHORIZED: August 25, 1988

'/ "Particular maner,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, coniro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and districis for special laws related 10 their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property. G.L. c. 2684, §1(k).

*/"Section 4, prohibiting assistance to outsiders, is the essence ol conflict
ofinterest legislation. 1usays, in effect, that the norm of government employment
is that the regular public employee should, in the usual case, be a public
cmployee first, last and only.” Buss, The Massachusetts Conflict of Interest
Statute: An Analysis, 45 B.U. Law. Rev. 200, 922 (19635).

'/ Participate,” participate in agency action or in a particular matter
personally and substantially as a sute, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise. G.L. c. 2684, §1{j).

*/A nonprofit organization is a business organization within the meaning
of the statute. See, ECCOIBSB4,

*/This opinion is limited 10 a discussiun solely of the application of G.L. ¢.
268A to your situation. Your agency may well have its own rules and policies on
this matter which you should investigare

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-8818

FACTS:

You are a member of the General Court and Chair-
man of a particular committee. You have been asked by
the an association of manufacturers to attend its 1988
conference for state legislative leaders. Youand 35 other
legislative leaders from around the country would be the
guests of the association. The association would pay for
your transportation and expenses. As we understand it,
association members have a direct interest in matters
before the committee.

QUESTION:



May you attend the convention and accept the pro-
vision of transportation, hotel, food and related expenses
from the association?

ANSWER:
No.
DISCUSSION:

[n your capacity as a member of the General Court,
you are a state employee for the purposes of the conflict
law. See, G.L. c. 2684, §1(q).

Section 3(b) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a state em-
ployee from soliciting or accepting anything of substan-
tial value'/ for or because of any official act performed or
to be performed. “Official act”is defined in the statute to
include “any decision or action in a particular matter or
in the enactment of legislation.™/ The receipt of some-
thing of substantial value violates §3 even if given out of
a desire to maintain a public employee’s goodwill, You
should be aware that the Commission has determined
that even in the absence of any specifically identifiable
matter that was, is or soon will be pending before the
official, §3 mayapply. Certainly where, as here, the donor
has a special interest in actions taken by your legislative
committee and where your position as Chairman would
permit you to act distinctly and directly to the benefit of
the association's members, §3 would be implicated.’/
See, EC-COI-83-37; 83-19.

The Commission has noted that if such a subsidized
trip is not being made for a legitimate speaking engage-
ment, §23 of the statute would also be violated, EC-COI-
83-87 at 3. This seclion prohibits a state employee from
using his official position to secure for himself unwar-
ranted privileges, or from engaging in conduct which
gives reasonable basis for the impression thatany person
can improperly influence him or unduly enjoy his favor
in the performance of his official duties, or that he is
unduly affected by the position or influence of any party
or position. Longstanding Commission precedent indi-
cates that the acceplance of expenses or fees by a legisla-
tor is permissible only where these itemsare either for, or
made necessary by, a legitimate speaking engagement.
Commission Guidelines for Legislators Accepting Ex-
penses and Fees for Speaking Engagements at 1. Where,
as here, the provision of transportation, hotel, food, and
related expenses is not for or because of a speaking
engagement, the receipt of these expenses is not permis-
sible.

Accordingly, you may not attend this convention by
accepting the provision of transportation, hotel, food
and related expenses by the association.

DATE AUTHORIZED: August 25, 1988
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'/ Substantial vidue has been determaned by the Commistion to he anything
of $30 or more in value

*/"Particular maver,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for aruling or other determination, contract, clam, controversy,
charge, accusation, arcest, decision, determination, finding, bin excluding enact
ment of general legislation by the general court and pettions of cities. towns,
countiesand districss for special laws related to their governmental arganizations,
powers, duties, finances and property G.1. c. 2684, §10k).

3/While §3(b) does contain an exemption where accepuance of a gift is
“provided by law for the proper discharge of official duty”, this exemption 1s not
applicable to your sination. Compare, In the Matter of Louis L. Logan, 1981 5EC
40.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
ECC-OI1-88-19

FACTS:

A Cable Company (Cable) and the Mayor of a city
(Mayor}, as theissuing authority, executed an agreement
whereby Cable was granted the renewal cable television
license for the City. Among other provisions, Cable
agreed to make available channels for public, educa-
tional and local municipal access programming. License
Agreement (hereinafier L.A.) Cable also agreed to
provide the City or its designated access agent with a
onetime cash grant in acknowledgement of the City's
acceptance of responsibility for all access and local pro-
gramming responsibilities. In addition, Cable provided
the City with a onetime equipment facilities grant.

The agreement provided that either the City or a
designated nonprofit access corporation’/ be respon-
sible for the management and operation of the access
channels. Cable agreed to cooperate with both the City
and the corporation in the operation of the access chan-
nels, Id.

Articles of Organization were filed with the Secretary
of State forming XYZ, a nonprofit corporation. The
Mayor chose the initial board of directors and the execu-
tive director. A new board was elected by the standing
board, pursuant to the corporate bylaws. The corporate
purposes as set forth in the Articles include assisting in
the provision of public and educational access on the
cable system in the City. Upon XYZ's incorporation, the
City transferred to it the two Cable grants for use in
setting up and operating the public and educational
access channels. You are the attorney for XYZ.

QUESTION:

Is XYZ a “municipal agency” as defined by Chapter
2684, §1(H)?

ANSWER:
No.

DISCUSSION:



The conflict of interest law defines municipal agency
as “any departmentor office of a city or town government
and any council, division, board, bureau, commission,
institution, tribunal or other instrumentality thereof or
thereunder.” G.L. c. 2684, §1(f) (1986 ed.). The Com-
mission has previously concluded that the application of
the conflict of interest law cannot be conditioned on the
organizational status of an entity. In the Matter of Louis
L. Logan, 1981 Ethics Commission 40, 45. Thus, XYZ's
corporate structure is not enough to exempt it from the
definition of municipal agency. Previously, the Commis-
sion has focused on the following four factors in deter-
mining an entity’s status for the purposes of Chapter
268A:

(1) the means by which it was created (e.g.,

legislative or administrative action);

(2) the entity’s performance of some essen-

tially governmental function;

(3) whether the entity receives and /or ex-

pends public funds; and

(4) the extent of control and supervision

exercised by government officials or agencies

over the entity. EC-COI-88-2; EC-COI-85-22;

EC-COI-84-65.

Based on the following consideration of these fac-
tors, we find the indicia of government insufficient to
render XYZ a municipal agency as defined in §1(f}.

1. Creation:

Balancing several factors, we conclude that XYZ was
not governmentally created. The Mayor's selection of
the Board of Directors and the Executive Director sug-
gests a degree of muricipal involvement in XYZ's organi-
zation. Also, the status of XYZ as a permanent entity
distinguishes it from those temporary, ad hoc advisory
committees which the Commission has regarded as ex-
empt from the definition of state or municipal agen-
cies.?/ Compare EC-COI-82-81 (taskforce formed with
guidelines outlining goals and timetables); EC-COI-80-
49 (advisory committee organized to complete objective
within 60 days). However, these factors go to the compo-
sition of XYZ, rather than the impetus for its creation. As
stated, the agreement contemplated the City's designa-
tion of a nonprofit corporation 1o manage the access
channels. Toward that end, XYZ was crganized. Thus,
the corporation stemmed from a contract between Cable
and the Mayor. The Commission has previously ad-
dressed the status of entities created by several methods,
although never one created pursuant to contract.

We exercised jurisdiction over entities formed pur-
suant to an Act of Congress, state legislation, resolution,
and Executive Order. EC-COI-83-74; EC-COI1-88-16; EC-
COI1-84-147; EC-COI-84-55. Compare EC-COI-84-65
(beneficial wrust created pursuant to an individual’s will
determined to be private, rather than public, entity}; EC-
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COI-83-3 (task force established by Executive Office de-
termined private entity}. Thus, the presence of alaw, rule
orregulation is necessary. EC-COI-82-81. We donotfind
that an entity sternming from a private contract rises to
that level, notwithstanding the participation of govern-
mental officials in organizational efforts,

2. Governmental Functions:

We conclude that XYZ does not perform functions
inherently governmental in nature. Previously, the
Commission found governmental functions where those
functions were contemplated by either state or federal
legislation. See EC-COI-83-74 (implementation of the
Federal Job Training and Partnership Act); EC-COI-84-
55 (implementation of National Health Planning and
Resources DevelopmentAct); EC-COI-85-147 (functions
required by Act establishing the University of Massachu-
setts). XYZ'sactivitiesare the fulfillment of an obligation
undertaken by the City through contract, rather than
one imposed by constitutional or legislative authority.
Indeed, Cable supplied the funds in acknowledgement
of the acceptance by the City or its agent of all program-
ming responsibilities. Thus, there is a strong argument
that XYZ is performing Cable’s, rather than the City's,
functions.

XYZassistsin the provision of public and educational
access in the City's cable television system. “Access” is
defined as the right of any City resident to use designated
facilities, equipmentand/or channels of the system. The
corporation providesinformation and instruction to City
citizens, coordinatesand schedules production and trans-
mission on the access channels, and implements new
programming as the need arises. In the first few months
of programming, XYZ broadcast various municipal
meetings and hearings, school sporting events, Memo-
rial Day ceremonies, and civic award banquets,

While broadcasts of such municipal activities can be
characterized as a public service, they are not mandated
activities, The fact that a private entity performs a
function which serves the public does not make its acts
governmental functions. See RendellBaker v. Kohn, 457
U.5.830, 842 (1982) (in decidingaclaimunder42U.S.C.
1983, court held that performance of public function
does not render entity a governmental actor). At the
federal level, governmental action is found when the
challenged entity performs functions that have been
traditionally the exclusive prerogative of the federal
government. San Francisco Arts and Athletics, Inc. v.
Olympics Committee, 107 S. Ct. 2971, 2985 (1987) (U.S,
Olympic Committee’s performance of public service
does notrender ita governmental actor, as coordination
of amateur sports not a traditional governmental func-
tion). Public television scheduling and production are
neither traditional nor exclusive roles of government.



3. Public Funds:

XYZ is currently funded by the two Cable grants
outlined above.?/ Upon execution of the agreement,
Cable paid the funds to the City, which held same until
the incorporation of XYZ. Thus, the City was a conduit
for the transfer of private funds to XYZ.4/

In addition, Cable paid other monies in the form of
license fees to the Issuing Authority under the Agree-
ment. Those fees can be likened to similar monies paid in
exchange for governmental privileges, the proceeds of
which are public funds. See e.g. G.L. c. 156B, §114(a)
(fee for incorporation); G.L. c. 159A, %9 (fee for driver’s
license). The Cabie grants were paid, not to the govern-
ment to obtain a privilege, but to a nonprofit corporation
inexchange forservices. Thus, the grantsare distinguish-
able from monies more typically regarded as represent-

ing public funds. See 47 U.S. c. 562(g)(b) (Federal'

Communications Act defining cable “franchise fees” and
providing that such fees do not include payments made
in support of public access).

4. Municipal Government Control:

There is little, if any, evidence of municipal govern-
mental control over XYZ's operations. The Mayor's
appointment of the original board of directors does not
in and of itself indicate that he has a supervisory role in
the activities of the corporation. The corporate bylaws
provide that subsequent directors and officers shall be
elected annually by the current Board. XYZ has full
discretion in the operation and management of the
access channels. The scope of the corporation’s powers
and purposes are delineated in its Articles of Organiza-
tion, which do not provide for reporting requirements to
the Mayor. Likewise, both the bylaws and the agreement
itself make no reference to government supervision of
the corporate activities. No formal contract or agree-
ment between XYZ and the City exists.’/ XYZ does not
use municipal staff or facilities in its daily operations.

In summary, we find that XYZ was neither govern-
mentally created or publicly funded. Moreover, there is
no exercise of governmental control or performance of
inherently governmental functions. Therefore, XYZ is
considered a private entity for the purposes of G.L. c.
268A and does not come within the jurisdiction of the
State Ethics Commission.

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 14, 1988

'/The corporation is defined a3 “the independent nonprofit corporation
established 10 manage public access in the Ciry and funded by licensee.”

*/Although XYZ was organized without a termination date, the lease 1erm
is len years,

3/ Afier depletion of grant funds, XYZ will generate its own operating costs
through promotions and advertising.

‘/Although the City was in initial receipt of the grants, there is no
indication of commingling. Compare EC-COI81-77 (where monies from
private funds are commingled and are by statute under control and management
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of agovernmental entity. they are 1o be treated as governmental funds) . Evidence
that the Ciry used the funds in the interim may lead to a different restlt,

*/Were there in fact XYZ/City correspondence which suggests a degree of
control over XYZ in exchange for transfer of the grants, our finding as 10
governmental control mav be altered.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-20

FACTS:

You are the manager of ABC Mental Health Center,
ABC Mental Health Center is a nonprofit mental health
clinic whose staff is composed of private employees and
“01" or *02" staff employed by either of two state agencies.
ABC Mental Health Center has a partnership agreement
with a state agency.

ABC Mental Health Center has a cashbased produc-
tivity incentive system for its own employees and would
like to create an incentive system for state employees
assigned to work there. ABC Mental Health Center
proposes to credit each state employee with $23.00 for
each hour in excess of 824 hours spent in direct service.
These credits could be used for four things: 1) payment
of conference fees and travel expenses, 2) books, 3)
Jjournals, and 4) office furnishings. The ownership of the
books, journals, and office furnishings would be retained
by ABC Mental Health Center. The goal of this program
is to increase the direct service hours attributable to the
clinic through increased productivity during the normal
workday by ABC's state employees.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A, §3 permit a state agency partner-
ship clinic to offer or a state employee to accept these
productivity incentive credits for increased direct service
work during the normal workday and to apply them
toward the cost of conference fees and conference travel
expenses for the individual state employee or toward the
cost of books, journals, and office furnishings to be used
for official state business?

ANSWER:

ABC Mental Health Center may offer and a state
employee may accept these credits for use in acquiring
the use of books, journals, and office furnishings for state
work but may not accept these credits for application
toward the expenses of conference fees and conference
travel expenses for the individual state employee.

DISCUSSION:

State agency employees assigned to ABC Mental
Health Centerare state employees within the meaning of



G.L.c.268A, 1(q). Section 3(a) of G.L. c.268A prohibits
anyone from giving anything of substantial value to a
present or former state, county or municipal employee
for or because of any official act performed or to be
performed by such an employee. Section 3(b) reverses
the prohibition and indicates a public official may not
accept an item of substantial value for or because of an
official act performed or to be performed.

The purpose of §3 is to prevent the giving or receiv-
ing of items of value to public employees in addition to
their salaries for performing their official duties. EC-
COI-84-101 at 2. All that is required to bring §3 into play
is a relationship between the motivation for the gift and
the employee’s public duties. Commission precedent in-
dicates that this section will not permit multiple remu-
neration for what state employees are already obliged to
do a good job. In the Maiter of George A. Michael, 1981
SEC 59, 68. In that the productivity incentive credit
awards you propose to give are clearly intended to pro-
vide state employees with multiple remuneration for
doing a good job and in that it is clear that these awards
involve items of substantial value, compare, Common-
wealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass. App, 584 (1976) ($50 is
something of substantial value under §3(b)), it would
appear to be aviolation of 3 for you to offer and for a state
employee to accept such an award. See, EC-COI-84-101;
EC-CO1-81-120 at fn. 3.

Not all of the proposed credit uses implicate this
section of the statute, however. In that the Commission
has indicated that gratuities given to state employees for
official use only do not fall within this prohibition, see,
EC-COI-84-114, the use of these credits by state employ-
ees to obtain the use of books, journals, and office fur-
nishings (title to all of these to be retained by ABC Mental
Health Center) to further their state business would not
be prohibited. Use of these credits toward the payment
of conference fees and travel expenses would be prohib-
ited, however. The Commission has indicated, in the
context of travel, that the privilege of substantial value
does not accrue to the state, but rather to the individual
traveller. See, EC-COI-88-5 at 2; In the Matter of Carl D.
Pitaro, 1986 SEC 271.!/

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 14, 1988

'/ Although gifis “provided by law for the proper discharge ol official duty”
are exempt from §3, we find no expreas statutory language or duly promulgated
regulation which authorizes individual staie employees to accept conference and
trave] expenses from a stale agency partnership clinic where they have been
asstgned. Were there any such statute or regulation, §3 would not be implicated
here.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-21

FACTS:
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You are an attorney with a state agency. You also
currently serve as a conservation commissioner for a city.
This position does not have special municipal employee
status. You are considering leaving state service and
becoming an associate in a private Jaw firm that repre-
sents clients before municipal agencies of the city you
serve and that represents clients before state agencies on
matters involving the city.

QUESTIONS:

1. May you, consistent with the conflict of interest
law, appear before the city’s conservation commission or
other municipal agencies on behalf of private clients?

2. May you, consistent with the conflict of interest
law, appear before state agencies such as the Appellate
Tax Board, the Alcoholic Beverages Control Commis-
sion, or the Massachusetts Housing Appeal Commission
on behalf of private clients who are appealing decisions
of the city’s municipal agencies?

8. Would the conflict of interest law constrain the
partners or other employees of the firm that would
employ you in their representation of clients before the
municipal agencies or before state agencies on behalf of
private clients on matters involving the city?

ANSWERS:

1. No, as the representation would inevitably involve
matters of direct and substantial interest to the city.

2. No, as the representation would inevitably involve
matters of direct and substantial interest to the city.

3. No, as the restrictions found in G.L. c. 268A, §85
and 1B extend only to the partnership relationship.

DISCUSSION:
1. Current Municipal Employee

In your capacity as a member of the city's conserva-
tion commission, you are a municipal employee for the
purposes of the conflict law. See, G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).
Sections 17, 19 and 23 would apply, therefore, to your
situation.

Section 17

This section prohibits you, in relevant part, from
directly or indirectly receiving or requesting compensa-
tion from anyone other than the city in relation to any
particular matter'/ in which the city is a party or has a
directand substantial interest. For example, you may not
represent clients before the city's conservation commis-
sion since those matters would be particular matters in
which the city is a party or has a direct and substantial



interest. This prohibition effectively precludes any case
work you mightlike to do, on behalfof anyone other than
the city, before city’s boards and agencies or any case
work on behalf of private entities you might like to do
before state agencies such as the Appellate Tax Board,
the Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission, or the Mas-
sachusetts Housing Appeal Commission where a deci-
sion of a municipal agency would be in controversy. “It
is hard to hypothesize a ‘particular matter’ involving
municipal action in which it can be said with assurance
that the municipal interest is indirect or insubstantial.”
Braucher, Conflict of Interest in Massachusetts, in Per-
spectives of Law: Essays for Austin Wakeman Scott 1, 16
(1964); EC-COI-84-117. In addition, this section of the
statute would require you to guard against the indirect
receipt, through your associate s salary, of compensation
in these matters. See, EC-COI1-83-128; EC-COI-81-12.

Section 19

Under§19, youare prohibited, in relevant part, from
participating?/ as a municipal employee in a particular
matter in which you, your immediate family’/ or a busi-
ness organization in which you are serving as an officer or
employee has a financial interest. This section would be
implicated if members of the law firm that employs you
represented parties before the conservation commission
while you were a member of the Commission. See, In the
Matter of Henry A. Brawley, 1982 Ethics Commission 84.

One of the §19(b)'s exemptions may be available to
you, however, if you advise your appointing authority of
the nature and circumstances of the particular matter
and disclose your financial interest. Your appointing
official may then make a written determination that the
interest is not so substantial as to be deemed likely to
affect the integrity of the services which the municipality
may expect from you. You must abstain from all matters
covered by this section unless and until such a determina-
tion is made.

2. Current State Employee

For the purposes of the conflict of interest law, as a
full time attorney with a state agency, you are a state
employee. See, G.L.c. 2684, §1(q). Accordingly, §4 is
applicable to your situation. This section indicates that
you may hold elective or appointive office in the city
provided that, in that office, you do notvote oract on any
matter which is within the purview of the state agency by
which you are employed or over which you have official
responsibility. See, EC-COI-8-62. You may not, for ex-
ample, participate in city’s conservation commission
decisions on G.L. c. 61 land in the city in that the state is
involved in the classification of forest lands and the
removal of lands from that classification.
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3. Former State Employee

Once you terminate your state employment, you will
be a former state employee for the purposes of G.L.c.
268A.

Section 5(a)

Section 5{a) prohibits a former stale employee from
acting as an agent for or receiving compensation direculy
or indirectly from anyone other than the state in connec-
tionwithany particular matter in which the state or astate
agency is a party or has a direct and substantial interest
and the matter was one in which the employee officially
participated. This section focuses on matters in which
you participated as a state employee. A particular matter
may include a recommendation, decision, or determina-
tion. For example, under this section, if prior to leaving
the state agency, you recommended litigation in a par-
ticular case, you would be forever barred from participat-
ing in any aspect of that matter. In addition, this section
of the statute would require you to guard against the
indirect receipt, through your associate’s salary, of com-
pensation in these matters.

Section 5(b}

Section 5(b} prohibits a former state employee from
personally appearing before any court or agency of the
Commeonwealth within one year after leaving state serv-
ice in connection with any particular matter in which the
state or a state agency is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest and that matter was under the official
responsibility of the employee within two years prior to
the termination of such state employment. In other
words, the date you terminate from state service would
determine the two year period in which particular mat-
tersunderyour official responsibility would count for the
purposes of this section. See, EC-COI-82-138. Youwould
be prohibited from personallyappearing, for one year, as
an agentof anyone other than the state, before any court
Or state agency in connection with any particular matter
which was under your responsibility at the state agency
for the two years prior to your leaving state employment.
For example, if you had official responsibility for several
attorneys or. paralegals who made litigation decisions,
you may not receive compensation from anyone other
than the state and you may not personally appear before
any state agency for one year after you terminate state
service, in connection with these matters.

Section 23
Section 23, the standards of conduct provision, would

also apply to you as a former state employee. Section
23(c) prohibits a former state employee from disclosing



confidential information which was acquired in his state
position or from using such information to further his
personal interest. EC-COI-85-23.

You should also be aware that issues under the
standards of conduct provision might be raised by your
appearance before your former agency, Section 23(b) (3)
applies to a current state employee who deals with you if
that employee’s actions could reasonably appear to be
improperly affected by a prior business relationship. For
example, this section might present issues for any state
employee who was your co-worker or subordinate if that
employee unduly favors you in his or her official acts.

4. Employer of a Current Municipal Employee and
a Former State Employee

Although G.L. c. 268A, §18 places restrictions on the
partners of a former or current municipal employee,
none of these restrictions are applicable to the employer
of a former or current municipal employee. The rela-
tionship you would have to this firmappears to have none
of the characteristics of partnership and, as a result,
§18(d)’s restrictions are not implicated in this situation.
Similarly, although G.L. c. 268A, 85 placesrestrictions on
the partners of a former state employee, they would not
be applicable here.?/

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 14, 1988

'/"Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enacument of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, countics and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property. G.L. c. 2684, §1(k).

!/ "Participate,” participate in agency aciion or in a particular mauer
personally and substantially as a state, county er municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise. G.L. c. 2684, §1(j).

3/ "Immediate family,” the employee and his spouse, and their parents,
children, brothers and sisters. G.L. ¢, 2684, §l1(c).

*/You should note that partnenship status may be easily acquired if, for
instance, a group creates a public appearance of a partnership. See, e.g., EG-
CO184-78; EG-COI-B0-43.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-22

FACTS:

State agency ABC, as the operator of the XYZ trans-
portation facility, is the landlord for several major car
rental companies. Each of these car rental tenants offers
some type of discount program for corporate travellers.
These programs are available to all business organiza-
tions, both public and private, on a nationwide basis.

Discount programs for corporate travellers involve
central corporate billing services, express rental and
return procedures, a modest reduction in the daily rental
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rate charged the business'/, unlimited free mileage and
a modest bonus of frequent flyer mileage. All but the last
of these is offered or given to the corporate client as an
entity, The frequent fiyer mileage award can only be
awarded to the individual traveller.

ABCwasapproachedrecentlybyone ofthe carrental
companies and invited to participate in that company’s
corporate program. ABC is aware that most, if not all, of
the car rental company’s competitors offer similar pro-
grams. ABC is attracted to the savings and convenience
participation in such a program would produce. ABC
would need to investigate all the available programs, and
not just this particular car rental company’s, to deter-
mine which company to choose as the exclusive ABC car
rental company, in order to seek the maximum volume
discount,

QUESTIONS:

1. DoG.L.c. 268A, §§3 and 23 permit ABC to enroll as
an entity in the corporate traveller car rental discount
programof one of its car rental tenants and to use that car
rental company as ABC's exclusive car rental company?
2. Do G.L.c. 268, §§3 and 23 permit ABC’s employees
to accept as individuals and have credited 1o their per-
sonal accounts the frequent flyer bonus points that ac-
company state-funded car rentals where the pointrecipi-
ent is not the chooser of the car rental company?

ANSWERS:

1. Yes.
2, No.

DISCUSSION:

1. ABC State Agency enrollment in a selected cor-
porate traveller car rental discount program

Section 3(b) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits anyone from
giving anything of substantial value toa presentor former
state, county or municipal employee for or because ofany
official act performed or to be performed by such an
employee. Section 3(b) reverses the prohibition and
indicates a public official may not accept an item of
substantial value for or because of an official act per-
formed or to be performed.

The Commission has determined that an item of
substantial value is anything valued at $50 or more.?/
Although each individual corporate traveller car rental
discount would be worth only a few dollars a day per
rental, the cumulative value of all of these discounts
would quickly exceed $50. The Commission has indi-
cated that regular, periodic gratuities thatare notin and
of themselves “substantial value” will be evaluated in the
cumulative ar.d found to constitute “substantial value”



where a course of conduct is involved. Commission
Advisory No. 8 on Free Passes at 2. This would be sucha
situation.

Although the cumulative value of the discount would
constitute something of substantial value, §3 would not
be applicable to this situation because the Commission
has held a gift from a private party for use by a govern-
mentagency does not violate §3. See, EC-COI1-88-20; EC-
COI1-84-114. In addition, we note that the discount’s
availability is based upon ABC's organizational status
rather than its landlord /tenant relationship with a given
car rental tenant,

Similarly, aithough §23(b)(2) of the conflict law
prohibits a public employee from using or attempting to
use his or her position to secure for his or herself or
others unwarranted privileges or exemptions which are
of substantial value and which are not properly available
to similarlysituated individuals, a gift from a private party
for use by agovernmentagency does notviolate §23. See,
EC-COI-87-38; EC-COI-84-114. Since the discount is not
aimed at an individual, there is no opportunity and no
incentive for an individual employee to use his or her
position to secure the award for individual benefit.3/

2. ABC State Agency’s employees’ acceptance of
frequent flyer bonus points produced by state-
funded car rentals

Section 3(b) of G.L. c. 268A, as indicated above,
prohibits a state employee from accepting or receiving
anything of substantial value, otherwise than as provided
by law for the proper discharge of official duty, for or
because of official acts or acts within that employee's
official responsibility. Section 3(b) is designed to prevent
the receipt of items of substantial value to public employ-
ees in addition to their salaries for performing their
official duties. Although the typical corporate car rental
frequent flyer bonus award has no immediate cash value,
ten such awards may be worth a first-class upgrade on a
domestic flight. We think that “substantial value” in its
cumulative sense might quickly be reached by the genu-
inely frequent state-financed car renter. “While the term
‘substantial value' has been frequently interpreted in the
context of cash payments to public employees, the
Commission has also held that the scope of §3 includes
gifts which lack an immediately ascertainable cash value
but which nonetheless possess substantial prospective
worth and utility value,” EC-COI-83-70 at 2. This is such
a case. The cash value of these points, in the cumulative
as they are paid out in frequent flyer bonus certificates, is
undisputed as witnessed by the flourishing coupon bro-
ker industry and the litigation surrounding thatindustry.

Itisclear, however, that ABCstate agency's severance
of the relationship between the rental car company
chooser and the prospective bonus point recipient serves
to make the grant of the bonus points completely beyond

215

the control of the recipient. The “official act” to be
targeted here is car rental company selection and those
employees who have done the choosing will not be the
recipients. In short, the manner in which the bonus
points are awarded vitiates the authority the state agency
travellers may have in their state positions in connection
with the car rental companies.!/ See, EC-COI-83-39. Ac-
cordingly, §3 of G.L. c. 268A is not implicated here,

Section 23(b)(2)'s prohibition on the use or at-
tempted use of official position o secure unwarranted
privileges or exemptions of substantial value which are
not properly available to similarly situated individuals is
applicable here, however. Although these points are
available to a large number of, although by no means
all,’/ private employees who travel on business, they are
not routinely available to large numbers of public sector
employees. Employees of the federal government, for
example, may not accrue for their personal use airline
promotional awards, frequent flyer points or frequent
flyer bonus pointsearned on official governmentbusiness.
Discount Coupons and Other Benefits Received in the
Course of Official Travel, 63 Comp. Gen. 229 (1984); B-
215826, January 23, 1985.

Although the phrases “similarly situated individuals”
and “unwarranted privilege”are notdefined in the conflict
of interest law, the Commission has defined these terms
by looking to “industry-wide practice” and “large private
and public sector employees.” See, EC-COI-87-37. Al-
though the Commission acknowledges that car rental
agencies in offering these bonus poeints, are engaging in
an industry-wide practice, itis not, by any means, univer-
sal practice to permit public or private business travellers
to accrue these poinis for personal use.®/ Therefore, we
conclude that it would be an unwarranted privilege of
substantial value not properly available to similarly situ-
ated individuals within the meaning of §23(b} (2) of the
conflict law to permit state employees to accept as indi-
viduals and have credited to their personal accounts the
frequent flyer bonus points thataccompany state-funded
car rentals.”/

DATE AUTHORIZED: November 21, 1988

!/The amouni saved varies from rental o rental depending upon locaton
and duration but the corporate rate, in general, is only a few dollars different
from the rale available 1o the genernl public.

*/See, Commonwealth v. Famiglietti, 4 Mass. App. 584 (1976).

*/Were an individual ABC state employee 10 abuse s or her access wo the
corporate rate program membership number to gain discounts on personal
trave]l falsely portrayed as business travel, this section of the law would be
implicated.

‘/Section 3 would be implicated by the receipt ol these points by those ABC
sate agency employees who aciually choose the car rental company that ABC will
use as its exclusive car rental company or those ABC employces who determine
the frequency with which travel will be undertaken. The enormous potential for
abuse af state travel by genuinely frequent iravellers whe could manipulate the
timing, frequency and route of their travel in order to accrue these points is
apparent.

*/Although a large number of privaie sector employers permit their
employees o accrue these points for personal use, some of the hurgest private
sector employers in the Commonwealth specifically prohibit this practice

“/Certain swtes, Florida and Minnesoua, for example, expressly prohibit



state employees from accruing these points for personal use.

*/Nothing in this opinion is intended 10 discourage ABC state agenty from
continuing to spend its travel budget in an economically efficient manner.
Agencies of the federal government and certain states, for example. maintain
governmental wravel offices where all arrangements for official travel are made
thraugh one central location. These offices work closely with airlines, raliroads,
hotels and motels, car rental companics and travel agencies to ensure that the
lowest possible prices are obtained and that volume discounts are awarded; ABC
state agency could explore this alternative. If ABC state agency decided to
continue with decentralized travel planning. it could require its government
[requent fyers 1o rewain government generated frequent flyer poinws and cou-
pons for later government travel use by that employee or by other ABC state
agency employees, The latter possibility is dependent upon the express terms of
some frequent ilyer program agreements and Federal Aviadon Administration
regulations,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-23

FACTS:

You are a full-time police officer with a state agency.
For a number of years, you have held the position of
traffic reporter. In this capacity, it has been your respon-
sibility to gather traffic information and to provide
commuter traffic information to the local media. Specifi-
cally, for the past year, you have been providing, consis-
tent with the station’s agreement with your state agency,
a local television station with traffic reports for their
evening newscast.!/ Your compensation for the position
of state agency traffic officer consists solely of your pay as
a state agency police officer. You work a split shift as a
traffic reporter, so that you are off duty for several hours
in the middle of the day. The local television station that
airs your reports has now offered you a part-time jobasa
traffic analyst where you would use your off-duty time to
gather information o1 and to produce reports for broad-
caston matters such as major construction projectsin the
Boston area and the effect they would have on traffic. You
propose to use your name in producing these reports as
well as to use only private vehicles, materials and equip-
ment in your private work.

QUESTIONS:

Does G.L. c. 268BA permit you to accept this offer of
part time employment as a private individual and wraffic
analyst for this local television station?

Yes, subject to certain limitations set forth below.

DISCUSSION:

In your capacity as a state agency police officer, you
are astate employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. See,
G.L. c. 268A, §1(q); EC-COI-84-124. Three sections of

G.L. c. 268A are relevant to your question.?/
1. Section 4

Section 4(a) generally prohibits a state employee,
otherwise than as provided by law for the proper dis-
charge of his official duties, from directly or indirectly
receiving or requesting compensation fromanyone other
than the Commonwealth or a state agency, in relation to
any particular mauer®/ in which the Commonwealth or
a state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest. Although the local television station is someone
other than the state, the compensation which you would
receive from the station would not be in relation to a
particular matter in which the state has a direct and
substantial interest. The compensation, rather, would be
in relaton to the reporting you would do on general
traffic issues in the area. The Commission has held that
general policy issues, EC-COI-85-16, and entire construc-
tion projects are not particular matters within the mean-
ing of the statute. EC-COI-85-22. Indeed, although the
state agency police department that employs you has a
direct interest in traffic information, as a result of its
traffic supervision function, we conclude that the interest
of the state agency in general traffic stories is not substan-
tial. Although the Commission has held that certain
matters which the state extensively regulates or super-
vises are of direct and substantial interest to the Com-
monwealth, e.g., cable television licenses (EC-COI-79-6)
and local liquor licensing {(EC-COI-79-6), the produc-
tion of general waffic stories is not one of these matters.
In addition, Commission precedent indicates that radio
broadcasts are not particular matters of direct and sub-
stantial interest to the Commonwealth merely because
theyare subjecttostate regulation. EC-COI-82-47. There-
fore, §4{a) does not apply.

2. Section 6

Section 6 prohibits a state employee from participat-
ing*/ as a public official in any particular matter in which
he, his immediate family*/ or partmer or business organi-
zation in which he is serving as officer, director, trustee,
partner or employee, or any person with whom he is
negotiating or hasany arrangement concerning prospec-
tive employment, has a financial interest. Under this
section, you would be prohibited from participating as a
state agency traffic reporter in any particular matter in
which the local television station had a financial interest.
Were a contract, submission or other particular matter
affecting the station's financial interest to come before
you in your state agency position, you would have to
advise your appointing official and this Commission in
writing of the nature and circumstances of the particular
matter and make full disclosure of the financial interest
involved. You may not thereafter participate in the mat-



ter unless your appointing official makes a written deter-
mination that the interest is not so substantial as to be
deemed likely to affect the integrity of the services which
the Commonwealth may expect from you.

3. Section 23

Two provisions in G.L. c. 2684, §23 are also relevant
to your question. First, §23(c) prohibits a state employee
from disclosing confidential information which he has
acquired in his state position or from using such informa-
tion to further his personal interest. See, EC-COI-85-23.

Section 23(b)(2) prohibits a state employee from
using or attempting to use his official position to secure
for himself or others unwarranted privileges or exemp-
tions of substantial value®/ which are not properly avail-
able to similarly situated individuals. To comply with this.
provision, you must keep your private traffic analyst
dutiesseparate from your state agencywork scheduleand
not use state resources Lo assist you in your capacity as a
local television station’s traffic analyst. You must also
avoid giving preferential treatment to the local television
station vis-a-vis other television and radio stations who
enter into agreements with the state agency for your
services as traffic reporter. See, EC-COI-87-13. Finally,
you must avoid using your status as a state agency police
officer to gain access to information or to individuals
which would be unavailable to you as an employee of a
local television station.

DATE AUTHORIZED: November 21, 1988

'/You also, at the direction of your agency, provide wraffic reports 1o a local
radio station under the same stage name.

*/Solong as your private employment with the local television station is not
intended 10 compensate or reward your prior state agency wraffic reporter work
and is intended 1o compensate you for separate traffic analysis work you will do
for the local television station, §3 of G.L. c. 268A is not implicated despite the fact
that your private work would reflect the expertise you have acquired as a stue
agency traffic reporter. See, EC-COI81-154. Your proposed salary is, as we
understand it, comparable to what other similarly situated individuals carn for
these services.

3/"Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, reguest for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
tawns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property. G.L. c. 2684, §1(k).

¢/ Participate,” participate in agency action of in a particufar matter
personaliy and substantially as a state, county or municipal employee, through
approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation or otherwise. G.L. c. 2684, §1{j).

3/"Immediate family,” the employee and his spouse, and their parents,
children, brothers and sisters. G.L. ¢, 268A, §1{¢).

$/An item of substantial value is anything valued at $50 or morc. See,
Commouwealth v. Famiglett], 4 Mass, App. 584 (1976).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
ECCOI88-24

FACTS:

The City Redevelopment Authority (Authority), in
order to further its urban renewal goals, has created ABC
Associates, Inc. (ABC) in conjunction with various com-
munity leaders. Three individuals from the financial
community, three community leaders and three Author-
ity board members constitute the uncompensated ABC
board. ABC’s Executive Director is also the Deputy Ex-
ecutive Director of the Authority, The ABC Board meets
rarely; decisions are generallyaccomplished through the
efforts of its project manager, an Authority employee
who polls directors by telephone. The ABC and the
Authority share the same offices. ABC does not employa
staff but rather borrows employees from both the Author-
ity and the City'’s Planning Board, and occasionally uses

consultants.

ABC was created in part because, as a non-profit
corporation, it is not subject to certain restrictions im-

posed upon the Authority. For example:

* The Authority is limited to using one contrac-
tor, while ABC may use several.

* Financing organizations which may be prohib-
ited from funding redevelopment authorities
are permitted to fund a non-profit corporation.
* ABC can manage properties for longer periods
of time than the Authority.

In addition, the Authority can expedite the home-
steading process by using ABC as an interim owner of
blighted property, therebyallowing construction to begin.
The Authority also directs ABC to submit proposals for

certain projects as a way to ensure proposal quality.

QUESTIONS:

1. Is ABC a “municipal agency” as defined in G.L. c.

268A, §1(H?!/

2. Howdoesthe conflictof interestlawapply to Author-

ity/ABC employees?
ANSWERS:

1. Yes.

2. The conflict of interest law applies as discussed be-

low.
DISCUSSION:

1. Mounicipal Agency

In considering whether a particular entity is a mu-
nicipal agency subject to our jurisdiction, the Commis-

sion focuses on the following four factors:
1. the means by which it was created (e.g., leg-
islative or administrative action);
2. whether the entity performs some essen-
tially governmental function;
3. whether the entity receivesand/or expends
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public funds; and

4. the extent of control and supervision exer-

cised by government officials or agencies over

the entity. EC-COI-88-2; 85-22; 84-65.

Certainly, municipal officials were responsible for
ABC's incorporation. However, in making a determina-
tion as to governmental creation, the Commission looks
to the impetus for the creation, rather than merely the
affiliation of the entity's organizers. EC-COI1-88-19. Previ-
ously, governmental creation was found where a state
agency, on its own initiative, resolved to form a non-profit
corporation tofurther itslegislatively mandated funcdons.
EC-COI-84-147. On the other hand, no governmental
creation was found where a municipality created a non-
profit corporation to fulfill obligations imposed by a
contract. EC-COI-88-19. The current situation more
closely resembles the former example than the latter,
The Authority's administrative decision to create ABC
was prompted by a desire to administer more effectively
its statutory mandate. Redevelopment authority powers
include the planning of workable programs for the devel-
opment of the community, general neighborhood re-
newal plans and community renewal plans. G.L. c. 121B,
§46. ABC was incorporated to promote public and pri-
vate participation in the revitalization of blighted City
neighborhoods. Thus, it can be fairly said that ABC is
performing functions traditionally performed by a rede-
velopment authority.

ABC receives funding from the Authority. Moreover,
use of Authority employees and faciliies constitutes
further substantial use of public funds. Finally, three
Autharity board members are on the ABC board and it is
clear that all directors take action only upon instruction
from Authority personnel. For example, proposals are
submitted and withdrawn at the instruction of the Au-
thority, and board consensus is reached through the
efforts of an Authority empioyee.

Upon consideration of the impetus for creation,
similarity of purpose, use of public funds, as well as the
substantial amount of governmental control, we con-
clude that ABC is a municipal agency and its Board
members are municipal employees for the purposes of
the conflict of interest law.

2. Application of the Conflict of Interest Law

ABC’s municipal agency status obviates several po-
tential conflict of interest violations which might ensue
from its dealings with the Authority. Section 17(a) pro-
hibits a municipal employee from receiving compensa-
tion from anyone other than a municipal agency in
reiation to any particular matter in which the City has a
direct and substantial interest. As ABC's employees re-
ceive compensation only from other municipal agencies,
most frequently the Authority, in connection with mu-
nicipal matters, §17(a) is not violated. Conversely, as
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Authorityemployeesreceive no compensation from ABC,
no violation occurs. Section 17(c) prohibits a municipal
employee from acting asagent for anyone other than the
municipality in connection with any particular matter in
which the municipality has a direct and substantial inter-
est. ABC and Authority employees do not violate this
provision as they act only on behalf of the municipality in
their respective capacities.

Section 20 prohibits a municipal employee from
having a financial interestin a contract made by a munici-
pal agency. Authority employees have no financial inter-
est in ABC municipal contracts; thus, there is no viola-
tion. ABC employees, however, do have a financial inter-
est in their Authority employment contracts. However,
all Authority-affiliated ABC employees are serving in that
capacity by virtue of their Authority positions. We find
that their service as municipal employees for both ABC
and the Authority is connected only to their Authority
employment contracts. Therefore, §20 is not applicable
to ABC/Authority employees. See EC-COI-84-147 (simi-
lar result reached with respect to state agencyand agency-
created non-profit corporation).?/

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 13, 1988

!/"Municipal agency,” any department or office of a city or town govern-
ment and any council, division, board, bureau, commission, institution, tribunal
or other instrumentality thereof or thereunder. Although, the Commission
previously reviewed conflict of inlerest provisions with respect to a similar entity
in 1985, EC-CO1-85-58, municipal agency jurisdiction was not considered at that
time in light of the represcntations made by the opinion fler.

1/Although the absiention requirements of §12 will not apply to official
dealings by Authority members in matters in which the ABC, a municipal agency,
has a financial interest, Authority members must observe the safeguards of §23.
Specifically, they may not use their official positions to secure unwarranted
privileges or exemptions of substantial value to the ABC, and may not create a
reasonable appearance of undue favoritism towards the ABC.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-88-25

FACTS:

You are a full-time employee of the District Court
Department. You have recently been offered a part-time
position as an instructor with a driver alcohol education
program at a private facility in the Commonwealth. The
position would require instruction of two classes, one
evening per week. This facility is one of several private
agencies which contracts with the Commonwealth to
service first offender “operating under” clients referred
by the Court, pursuant to G.L. c. 90, §24(d). You would
be paid with private funds and not from funds generated
by the state contract. Your class would be comprised of
clients referred from the District Court Department, but
notfrom the specific courtwhere you are employed. Your
work asa program instructor at the facility would include
teaching the course, recording the attendance informa-



tion that yields the pass or fail grade for the course, and
forwarding to the facility’s director any information on
the facility's clients that should be forwarded to the
District Court Department.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. ¢. 268A permit you to accept this offer of
part-time employmentasan instructor in a driver alcohol
education program where the class membership would
be composed of clients referred by state courts excluding
the division of the District Court Department where you
are employed?

ANSWER:

No, as the instruction would inevitably involve par-
ticipation in matters of direct and substantial interest to
the state.

DISCUSSION:

In your capacity as a full-time employee of one
division of the District Court Department, you are a state
employee for the purposes of the conflict of interest law.
See, G.L. c. 268A, §1(q); EC-COI-87-41. Section 4 of the
conflict of interest law is applicable to your situation.

Section 4(a) generally prohibits a state employee,
otherwise than as provided by law for the proper dis-
charge of his official duties, from directly or indirectly
receiving orrequesting compensation fromanyone other
than the Commonwealth or a state agency, in relation to
any particular matter'/ in which the Commonwealth or
a state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest. Long-standing Commission precedentindicates
that referrals from a state agency like the state court
system are particular matters in which the Common-
wealth has a directand substantial interest. See, EC-COI-
85-28; 83-101, 81-105.

The District Court Department is a state agency. EC-
COI-84-127. The division of the District Court Depart-
ment that employs you is part of that agency. See, EC-
CO01-84-53. Accordingly, your §4(a) problem is not cured
by the elimination of referral clients from the district
court that employs you from the classes you propose to
teach at this private education program.

The state has a direct and substantial interest in
referrals from all the divisions of the District Court
Department. See, EC-COI-8242. This is because the
agency made the referrals, the agency will be supervising
the referrals and the agency will be evaluating the out-
come of the referrals. Your role as instructor would
reguire your assistance in the attendance and coopera-
tion tracking of individual state court referred clients.
The state has a direct and substantial interest in the
information you would forward, through the facility’s
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program director, to the District Court Department's
probation officers on the compliance or non-compliance
of various individuals with the program. In short, your
compensation from the education program would be in
connection with the referral. Compare, EC-COI-82-176
(indicating that a state RMV inspector could be a class-
room instructor for a driving school because his compen-
sation was only in connection with his teaching and not
with the state exam, the particular matter at issue). Your
§4(a) problem is also not cured by the fact that the
education program facility proposes to compensate you
out of private funds and not out of funds received from
the Commonwealth.?/ Section 4(a) s restrictions specifi-
callytarget private compensation in relation to particular
matters like these in which the state has a direct and
substantial interest.

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 13, 1988

1/ Particular matter,” any judicial or sther preceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contre-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property. G.L. c. 268A, 1({k).

1/Section 7 ol G.L. c. 268A is not implicated in your situation because you
would not be compensated from funds reccived under the facility's contract with
the siate.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 13
AGENCY

INTRODUCTION

Municipal employees may not act on behalf of pri-
vate parties in matters which concern the municipality.
More specifically, section 17 of G.L. c. 268A, the conflict
of interest law, prohibits a municipal employee from
acting as the agent for a private party regarding any
particular matter in which the municipality has a direct
and substandal interest. The intent of this provision of
the conflictofinterestlaw is to eliminate the potential for
divided loyalties when a municipal employee serves two
masters, the municipality and a private party.

Thisrestriction on serving two mastersis a commonly
misunderstood part of the law because it prohibits
municipal officials from representing private parties not
only before their own board or agency, but also before
other boards or agencies in their municipality. The
restriction also applies to proceedings before state or
federal agencies if the municipality is a party to or hasa
direct and substantial interest in the proceedings. Dur-
ing the course of recent investigations, it has become
evident that many people do not appreciate what consti-
tutes acting as agent in violation of the conflict of interest
law. The purpose of this advisory is to assist municipal
employees and officials to recognize those situations
where it is impermissible to act as the representative for
another and to enumerate the exceptions to the law



where they exist.

MUNICIPAT EMPLOYEES MAYNOT BE THE AGENTS
FOR PRIVATE PARTIES.

An agent is one who acts on behalf of another. A
municipal employee acisasagentwhen he orshe appears
before or otherwise communicates with a municipal
board or agency on behalf of another, submits an appli-
cation, petition or other documentation for another, or
merely attends a municipal meeting and answers ques-
tions for another. One does not necessarily have to be
paid in order to be acting as an agent.

For example, a municipal official may not prepare
and submit an application to the zoning board of appeals
for his neighbor because he is more familiar with the
application procedures than she is. This action would
constitute acting as an agent, even if it is done merely as
a favor and for free, ‘

The Commission has ruled in several instances that
municipal employees may not represent certain organi-
zations or other entities before municipal boards and
departments if they are associated with those organiza-
tions. For example, the Commission has stated that a
municipal employee may not act as the agent for his or
her own partnership. Because actions which a partner
takes binds the other partner(s), the municipal em-
ployee will necessarily be acting on behalf of another
(either the other partner(s) or the legal entity of the
partnership).

The Commission has also decided that a municipal
employee may not act as the agent for a corporation of
which the employee is an owner. Any action which the
municipal employee takes on behalf of the corporation
for example, appearing before a town board is prohib-
ited.

A municipal employee also may not represent a trust
before a town board; this restriction applies even when
the employee is the trustee of a family trust (unless the
employee has received an exemption). Representing
any private party before town or city boards is prohibited
unless one of the exemptions to the law, described below,
applies.

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES MAY REPRESENT THEIR
OWN INTERESTSAND PERSONAL POINTS OF VIEW.

A municipal employee may represent his or her own
interests or points of view before municipal boards be-
cause acting for yourself is not considered acting as
agent. One can only be the agent for someone else.
Thus, municipal employees may always act on their own
behalf. For instance, a school committee member is
permitted to present his own application to the zoning
board for a variance to build an addition to his house.
Municipal employees may also represent themselves
before their own boards. Of course, an employee may
not take action as a board member on his or her own
petition. For example, if a ZBA member applied for a
variance to build an addition to her home, she may not
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participate as a Board member on this petition.

Municipal employees may also express their per-
sonal points of view concerning a matter pending before
municipal boards. The official mayintend the comments
to be made strictly in his or her capacity as a concerned
citizen. Nevertheless, such comments could be construed
to constitute acting as the agent for someone else who
shares the official’s point of view. A municipal employee
will not be restricted from stating his or her personal
opinion merely because the comments are consistent
with the views of other {non-municipal) entities or people.
However, in such a case, the municipal official should
clarify the situation by explaining that his or her com-
ments are not made on behalf of another but rather
constitute a personal opinion. Without such a clarifying
statement or disclaimer, the circumstances surrounding
the official’s comments might be interpreted to consti-
tute acting as an agent. (Of course, a false disclaimer
made by a municipal employee will never protect that
employee froma charge thathe or she wasacting asagent
and from being found in violation of the law.)

For example, ifaselectman attendsa planning board
meelting to speak in favor of a new zoning bylaw which
would permit increased commercial developmentand a
zoning board of appeals member speaks against that
bylaw, neither municipal official will necessarily be acting
as the agent for those who share the official’s views, such
as the local developer or local antidevelopment citizens’
group. However, to avoid encountering problems under
the conflict law, officials who attend municipal meetings
(other than their own board meetings) should make it
clear in the first instance that their actions are not taken
in the capacity as agent for another. When speaking at
their own meetings, municipal employees must also
observe the conflict law restriction that they may not
participate on matters which affect the financial interests
of themselves, their immediate family or businesses with
which they are closely associated.

EXCEPTIONS TO THE LAW: WHEN A MUNICIPAIL
EMPLOYEE MAYACTASTHEAGENTFORA PRIVATE
PARTY.

There are several specific exceptions to the general
prohibition that municipal employees may not act as the
agent for private parties in matters of concern to the
town. The firstallows appointed municipal employees to
act as the agent for their immediate family or for anyone
with whom they have a “fiduciary” relationship (if they
get permission from their appointing authoriry first).
The second exemption generally allows “special munici-
pal employees” to appear before town or city boards
other than their own. Third, municipal employees are
permitted to act as the agent for non-municipal parties if
their municipal job authorizes it.This applies to both ap-
pointed and elected officials performing constituency
work.



1. Appointed Municipal Employees May Repre-
sent Immediate Family

The conflict of interest law recognizes that municipal
employees may be asked to assist members of their
immediate family in dealing with town or city related
matters. Immediate family includes the employee, the
employee’s spouse, and both of their parents, brothers,
sisters and children. The conflict law permits appointed
municipal employees to act as the paid or unpaid agents
for members of their immediate family or for any person
for whom the employee serves as guardian, executor,
administrator or other personal fiduciary, so long as the
employee does not participate in, and does not have
responsibility over, the matter involved. (A fiduciary is
one whose duty is to act primarily for the benefit of
another and who owes that person a high standard of
care. An example of a fiduciary issomeone who manages
money for another, such as receiver who takes over the
assets of a bankrupt company to distribute them to
creditors.)

A municipal employee must meet the following cri-
teria to be allowed to represent an immediate family
member (or one with whom the employee has a fiduciary
relationship): 1.the municipal employee must be ap-
peinted (not elected); 2.the municipal employee must
be representing a family member or one for whom the
employee is a fiduciary on a matter in which the em-
ployee did not participate (asa municipal official) or had
official responsibility for; 3.the municipal employee
must receive written permission from the official who ap-
pointed the employee to his or her position before the
action occurs.

For example, the town health director mayrepresent
his mother in her application for a building permit if the
health director first receives written permission from his
appointing authority, the town manager. This exemp-
tion is available because the building permit is not a
matier in which the health director has participated or
for which the director has official responsibility.

2. “Special” Municipal Employees May Actas Agent
for Private Parties

A municipal employee’s position may be designated
asa “special municipal employee” by the board of select-
men or city council if the position meets certain require-
ments (such as being unpaid or part-time). (See the
Commission’s Fact Sheet on “Special Municipal Employ-
ees” for eligibility criteria and the process of designa-
tion). Ifa municipal employee has the “special” designa-
tion, the employee may represent private parties on
matters of direct and substantial interest to the munici-
pality if: 1.the employee has not participated at any time
as a municipal employee or special municipal employee
in the matter; 2.the matter is not and has not been the
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subjectof the employee’s official responsibility;and 3.the
matter is not pending in the municipal agency or board
for which the employee works.

For example, a finance committee member who isa
special municipal employee may represent a private
party before the liquor license commission as long as the
application for the license is not within the finance
committee member’s responsibility, the finance commit-
tee member has not participated in the determination
whether to grant the license and the application is not
pending in the finance committee’s agency (which a
liquor license would not be).

Thereisone narrow instance where a special munici-
pal employee may represent a private party before his or
her own board. This occurs when the special municipal
employee works less than 60 days in any 365 day period,
and has neither participated in the matter nor had
official responsibility for it. Thus, ifan engineer consults
with the town planning board on revising zoning bylaws
for 45 days spread out over a year and her position is
designated as a “special”, the engineer may act as the
agent fora private party on a subdivision proposal before
the board aslong as that proposal is not under her official
responsibility and she did not officially participate in it.

3. A. Municipal Employees May Represent Pri-
vate Parties if Their Jobs Authorize it

Certain municipal jobs authorize employees toact as
the agent for private parties concerning matters of inter-
est to the municipality. For example, a town housing
authority employee’s responsibility may include advocat-
ing on behalf of low income citizens to increase the
number of local affordable housing units. This kind of
constituency work is not only expected but demanded in
the employee's job description. Accordingly, itis permis-
sible for the employee to act as the agent for the private
party (in this case, the low income citizen).

The Commission has ruled that a municipal attor-
ney's obligation to defend a municipality also includes
the authority to represent employees whose acts are the
basis for the legal action against the municipality. Thisis
another case where it is “in the proper discharge of
official duties” for a municipal employee, town counsel
or the city solicitor, to represent someone other than the
municipality.

4. Permitted Constituency Work

It may be difficult for elected officials, such as city
councillors and selectmen, to determine what is permis-
sible constituency work and what is a prohibited act of
agency. Although it is impossible to give advice about
every conceivable situation, the following guidelines
should be considered.

An elected municipal official who acts on behalfof a
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private citizen will be considered to be performing con-
stituency work if the official receives no compensation
beyond his or her regular salary, the official has no
financial interest in the matter, the constituent is not a
relative, business associate, or corporate officer or direc-
tor of a business with which the official is associated, the
constituent lives or does business in the elected official’s
districtand the official is not taking action as the constitu-
ent’s attorney. On the other hand, if a municipal official
represents arelative, his employer or a business associate
before municipal agencies, is paid a fee by the constitu-
ent for the action taken or has a personal financial stake
in the matter, these actions will not be considered legiti-
mate constituency work and are prohibited.

The guidelines above also apply to municipal em-
ployees who are appointed. It is important for both
appointed and elected employees to realize that constitu-
ency work includes only those activities “within the
proper discharge of [the official’s] duties.” Therefore,
an appointed town planner is not performing permis-
sible constituency work when she calls the assessors to
lobby for her neighbor's tax abatement. The tax abate-
ment issue has nothing to do with the town planner’s
official duties. Alternatively, if a selectman pursues a
citizen's complaint against the building inspector, this is
a permissible constituency service where the inspector is
hired and ultimately supervised by the board of select-
men.

The Commission has stated in a prior advisory opin-
ion that a public employee’s appointing authority has
“some latitude...to determine what constitute[s] the
proper discharge of official duties ..." EC-COI-83-137.
Therefore, if an employee’s appointing authority makes
a decision that a particular activity is “in the proper
discharge of the {employee’s] official duties,” the Com-
mission will ordinarily defer to this judgment. However,
the Commission will review an appointing official'sdeter-
mination of what is in the proper discharge of official
dutiesif that determination“far exceed[s] the customary
Jjobrequirements for an employee [so] as to frustrate the
purposes of the [conflict of interest law] ...” Id.A

In those instances where it is unclear to the official
whether his or her action on behalf of a constituent is in
“the proper discharge of official duties,” the official
should seck legal advice from the municipal attorney or
the Legal Division of the State Ethics Commission.

It is important to keep in mind that this advisory is
general in nature and is not an exhaustive review of the
conflict law. For specific questions, public officials and
employees should contact their town counsel or city
solicitor or the Legal Division of the State Ethics Commis-
sion at (617) 7270060.

DATE AUTHORIZED: [anuary 6, 1988
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SUMMARIES OF ADVISORY OPINIONS (1988)

EC-COI-88-1: A part-time assistant city solicitor may not
represent, in his private capacity, an applicantin connec-
tion with matters pending in the city solicitor’s office. His
private corporation may enter inio a contract with the
city redevelopment authority since his financial interest
qualifies for an exemption under §20(c).

EC-COI-88-2: A Democratic city committee is not a state
or municipal agency for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A
because its members do not perform services for the

public.

EC-COI-88-3: A local assessment committee is a munici-
pal agency for the purposes of G.L. ¢. 268A. Accordingly,
a member of the Board of Selectmen who wishes to
accept a paid position with the committee is subject toa
six-month waiting period following the member’s resig-
nation as a selectman.

EC-COI-88-4: A non-profit organization which sells cer-
tain products to municipalities is a business organization
for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. Accordingly, a select-
man who serves as a member of a board of directors of a
non-profit organization must abstain from official par-
ticipation in matters in which the organization has a
financial interest.

EC-COI-88-5: State employees who are assigned to evalu-
ate a prospective vendor may not accept free or subsi-
dized transportation arrangements from the prospeciive
vendor in connection with the evaluation.

EC-COI-88-6: A town counsel may not privately represent
a selectman in defense of an enforcement action by the
Commission, since the town will inevitably have a direct
and substantial interest in the outcome of the Commis-
sion proceedings.

EC-COI-88-7: An assistant city solicitor may not privately
represent acriminal defendantarrested by the city police
department in connection with a motion to suppress
hearing, because the city has a direct and substantial
interest in the outcome of the hearing.

EC-COI-888: A former member of a state board may
represent his partnership in connection with an applica-
tion before the board inasmuch as the former member
neither participated in nor had official responsibility for
the application while serving on the board.

EC-COI-889: A parttime building inspector who is a
municipal employee is prohibited under §17 from per-
forming privately paid carpentry work in his town which
requires a permit from or is subject to inspection or

approval by a town agency. This opinion is based on
principles discussed in opinion EC-COI-87-31.

EC-COI-88-10: A municipal school teacher may be paid
by the school department for extracurricular education-
related activities which are authorized and contemplated
by the teachers’ primary employment contract.

EC-COI-88-11: A former undersecretary of a state agency
isa former state employee who is subject to §5(a) and (b)
and §23(c) with respect to future employment opportu-
nities. The former state employee’s brief discussion
advising acity official of aneed fora plan to develop a pier
was not personal and substantial participation in the
city's decision to develop a master plan for the harbor.
The constraints of §5(a) will not apply to partners in the
law firm as long as he is “of counsel” status in that firm,

EC-COIL-88-12: A former employee of a state agency who
has recently become a state official in a second state
agency mustcomply with the safeguards of §23, including
public disclosure, prior to his participation as a state
official in matters in which his former state agency is now
involved.

EC-COI88-13: A municipal employee suspended un-
der §25 is entitled to receive full compensation or salary
for that suspension period upon the resolution of any
administrative action by his appointing authority under
§23(b)(2). A §25 suspension requires that the public
officer or employee be under indictment for misconduct
in such office or employment or for misconduct in any
elective or appointive public office, trust or employment
at any time held by that individual. An indictment for
driving under the influence of alcohol is not an indict-
ment for misconduct in public office.

EC-COL88-14: A former state employee is prohibited
by §5(a) from accepting a position with a consulting firm
because he would be compensated in connection with
the same grant in which he participated as a state em-
ployee. Asastate employee, the individual’s participation
in the grant was personal and substantial even though he
did not make the final decision to award the grant.

EC-COI88-15: A state employee who also is a partner
and a part owner of a private development company is
subject to the following provisions: (1) Under §4 the
employee cannot act as an agent for or receive compen-
sation from the company in relation to any applications
for funds from state programs; (2) an exemption under
§7(b) must be filed with the Ethics Commission if the
company wishes to apply for funding under state pro-
grams; and (3) under §23(b) (3) the employee must not
beundulyinfluenced by his private business in his official
actions.



EC-COI-88-16: Membersof the Massachusetts Museum
of Contemporary Art (MOCA} Commission are consid-
ered municipal employees of the City of North Adams
because the Commission is an agency of the City. A
MOCA Commission member is thus subject to §§17, 19,
and 23 with respect to his private positions as adjunct
professor at Williams College and as Director of the Gug-
genheim Foundation.

EC-COL88-17: A full-time state employee may become
an unpaid board of trustees member for an organization
for the homeless subject to certain restrictions. Section
4{c) would prohibit the employee from acting as an
agent or representative for the organization before state
agencies on matters in which the state has a direct and
substantial interest. This section would not prohibit the
employee from participating in internal board of direc-
tor discussions including matters in which the state has
an interest.

An exemption from §4(c) would not be available
since the employee’s official duties do not specifically au-
thorize membership on the Board of trustees. If the state
employee’s duties require her to participate in a matter
which would financially affect the Board, she must com-
ply with a §6 exemption to avoid a violation of that
section.

EC-COI88-18: A member of the General Court and
also a committee chairman may not attend a conference
where the transportation, food, lodging and expenses
would be paid for by an association of companies who
have a direct interest in matters before his committee.

EC-COI-8819: A non-profit corporation which was
created to manage and operate cable television access
channels is not considered a “municipal agency” under
§1(f) of the conflict law. In determining whether an
entity is within the jurisdiction of c. 2684, the Commis-
sion has in past decisions considered the following fac-
tors:

(1) the means by which it was created (e.g.,

legislative or administrative action);

(2) the entity's performance of some essentially

governmental function;

(3) whether the entity receives and/or expends

public funds; and

(4) the extent of control and supervision exer-

cised by government officials or agencies over

the entity. EC-COI-88-2; EC-COI-85-22; EC-COI-

8465.
In balancing these factors, the Commission concluded
that the corporation was neither governmentally created
nor publicly funded and exercised no governmental
functions.

EC-COI-88-20: A non-profit mental health clinic that

has a partnership arrangement with the state may, sub-
ject to §3, offer to state employees who work at the clinic
productivity incentive credits for increased work during
a normal weekday for use towards acquiring books and
other items limited to their official state use but not for
conference fees or travel expenses for individual employ-
ees. However, where the incentive credit awards are of
substantial value and intended to provide multiple remu-
neration for a state employees’ good job, it would nor-
mally be a violation of §3.

EC-COI-88-21: Astate employee who isan attorney and
also serves as a city conservation commissioner is subject
to several provisions of c. 268A. Section 4 allows the state
employee to hold a municipal position provided that he
does not vote or act on any matter within the purview of
his state agency or over which he has official responsibil-
ity. As a municipal employee under §17 he may not
represent private clients: (1) before other municipal
agenciesor (2) on appeals of municipal decisions to state
agencies. Section 19 prohibits him from participating as
a commissioner in any matter which could directly or
indirectly affect the financial interest of his law firm.
Once he leaves his state job he would be subject to §§5
and 23 asa former state employee. His law firm would not
be subject to §18(d) and §5(c) since he would be an as-
sociate attorney in the firm.

EC-COI-B8-22: A state agency that operates a transporta-
tion facility would not violate §3 or §23 by: (1) enrolling
the agency in a corporate car rental discount program
where the car rental company is a tenant of the agency
and would be the only car company used by the agency
because the discount would not be an item of substantial
value given to an individual employee and would be
available because of the agency’s organizational status
rather than because of any landlord-tenant relationship.
(2) The agency's employees would viclate §23(b) (2) by
accepting “frequent flyer bonus points” accruing from
their state-funded car rentals because the cumulative
value of such points could constitute an item of substan-
tial value and would constitute an unwarranted privilege
not available to similarly situated individuals.

EC-COI-88-23: Afull-time police officer traffic-reporter
in a state agency whose official duties include gathering
and providing cormmmuter traffic data to the local media,
including a local television station, may accept a part-
time private consulting position with the television sta-
tion as a traffic analyst on major construction projects in
the Boston area. The private work will be done during the
officer’s private hours, using only private vehicles, equip-
ment and materials and would not under §4{a) be in
connection with particular matters in which his state
agency has a direct and substantizl interest. The state
employee would also be subject to the provisions of §6



and cannot participate as a state employee in any matter
which could affect the television station’s financial inter-
est.

EC-COI-88-24: A non-profit corporation created by a
city redevelopment autherity is considered a “municipal
agency” within the meaning of §1(f). In balancing the
factors stated in 88-19, above, the Commission con-
cluded that the corporation was primarily created to help
the authority in performing its functions, used public
funds, and was subject to substantial government control.
Employees of the authority who work for the corporation
are therefore subject to §§17 and 23.

EC-COI-88-25: A full-time state court employee is pro-
hibited under §4(a) from accepting part-time employ-
ment with a private alcohol education program because
the referrals of clients to the program would come from
the state courts. Section 4(a) prohibits the employee’s
receipt of compensation in connection with matters in
which the state has a direct and substantial interest.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 13
AGENCY

When Municipal Officials May Represent Themselves/
Others Before the Town. Summary

The Commission’s Advisory on Agency explains
Section 17 of the conflict law which generally prohibits
municipal officials from representing private parties
before the town they serve. Following isasummaryofthe
Advisory.

The restrictions:

You may not act on behalf of individuals (friends, neigh-
bors, clients, etc.), corporations (even if you are an
owner), partnerships (including your own partnerships)
and trusts (even family trusts) before the town by:

1. appearing personally before a town board or agency
or communicating with the board or agency in writing or
by phone;

2. submitting an application, petition or other docu-
mentation for a private party to a town board; or

3. attending a meeting and answering questions on
behalf of the private party. For example, a municipal
employee may not prepare and submit an application to
the ZBA for his neighbor, even if he is not paid.

Exception:

There is one major exception to these restrictions. If
your position is designated as a special municipal em-
ployee, you may represent private parties before town
boards and agencies if:

1. you have not participated at any time in the matter;

2. matter is not and has not been the subject of your
official responsibility; and

3. the matteris not pending in the agency or board you
work for,

For example, a finance committee member who isa
special municipal employee (and a lawyer in private
practice) may represent a client before the liquor license
commission. (See the Commission’s Fact Sheet “Special
Municipal Employees” for eligibility criteria and the
process of designation.)In addition, you may:

1. represent yourself before municipal boards, includ-
ing your own board. For example, a ZBA member may
apply to the ZBA foravariance to build an addition to her
home. (Of course, she may nottake actionasaZBA mem-
ber on her own petition.)

2. represent your own personal point of view before
other town boards. When you do represent your own
point ofview, make sure you explain thatyour comments
are not made on behalf of another but rather constitute
apersonal opinion. For example, a selectman may attend
aPlanning Board meeting tospeakin favor of (or against)
a new zoning bylaw which would permit increased com-
mercial development.

3. acton behalf of a private party if your job requires it.
For example, a town housing authority employee’s re-
sponsibility may include advocating on behalf of low
income citizens to increase the number of affordable
housing units.

4. actonbehalfofaconstituent. Youwill be considered
to be performing legitimate constituency work if you
receive no pay, you have no financial interest in the
matter, the constituent is not a relative, business associ-
ate, or corporate officer or director of a business you are
associated with, the constituent lives or does business in
your district and you are not acting as the constituent’s
attorney. Constituency work includes only those activi-
ties “within the proper discharge” of your “official du-
ties.” For example, a selectman may pursue a citizen's
complaint against the building inspector because the
inspector is hired and ultimately supervised by the board
of selectmen. An appointed town planner, however, is
not performing permissible constituency work when she
calls the assessors to lobby for her neighbors tax abate-
ment because the abatement has nothing to do with her
“official duties.”

5. represent members of your immediate family or any
person with whom you serve as guardian, executor or
administrator only if you are an appointed municipal
employee and if you receive written permission from
your boss. You may never, however, representyour family
on matters which you, asan official, participate in or have
official responsibility for. Elected officials may never
represent immediate family members (spouses, broth-
ers, sisters, children and parents) before the town. For
example, the appointed town health director may repre-
sent his mother in her application for a building permit;




however, the elected selectman may not represent her
mother in a request for a zoning variance. The Commis-
sion periodically issues Commission Advisories to inter-
pret various provisions of the conflict of interest law.
Advisories respond to issues which arise in the context of
a particular advisory opinion or enforcement action but
which have the potential for broad application. Copies of
this Advisory and other Advisories are available from the
Commission office.






